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GROUP STRATEGIC REPORT

The following discussion and analysis, which should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, is
intended to assist in providing an understanding of our results of operations and financial condition and is organized as follows:

*  Overview. This section provides a general description of our business and recent events.

*  Results of Operations. This section provides an analysis of our results of operations for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017.

»  Liquidity and Capital Resources. This section provides an analysis of our corporate and subsidiary liquidity, consolidated
statements of cash flows and contractual commitments.

»  Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimates. This section discusses those material accounting policies that
involve uncertainties and require significant judgment in their application.

*  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk. This section provides discussion and analysis of the foreign
currency, interest rate and other market risk that our company faces.

*  Risk Factors. This section provides discussion and analysis of risks the company faces, including competition, technology,
operating in overseas markets, financial and other risks.

The capitalized terms used throughout this annual report are defined in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for
year ended December 31, 2018 included herein (the Consolidated Financial Statements). In the following text, the terms “we,”

our,” “our company” and “us” may refer, as the context requires, to Liberty Global (or its predecessor) or collectively to Liberty
Global (or its predecessor) and its subsidiaries.

Unless otherwise indicated, convenience translations into U.S. dollars are calculated, and operational data (including subscriber
statistics) is presented, as of December 31, 2018, and the amounts presented relate only to our continuing operations.

Overview
General
Liberty Global is a public limited company organized under the laws of England and Wales.

We are an international provider of video, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony and mobile communications services to
residential customers and businesses in Europe. Our continuing operations currently provide residential and B2B communications
services in (i) the U.K. and Ireland through Virgin Media, (ii) Belgium through Telenet and (iii) Switzerland, Poland and Slovakia
through UPC Holding. In addition, following the December 31, 2016 completion of the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction, we own
a 50% noncontrolling interest in the VodafoneZiggo JV, which provides residential and B2B communications services in the
Netherlands.

As further described in note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we (i) completed the sale of our operations in Austria
on July 31, 2018, (ii) reached an agreement on May 9, 2018 to sell our operations in Germany, Romania, Hungary and the Czech
Republic (exclusive of our DTH operations), (iii) reached an agreement on December 21, 2018 to sell the operations of UPC DTH
and (iv) completed the Split-off Transaction on December 29,2017. Accordingly, (a) our operations in Austria, Germany, Romania,
Hungary and the Czech Republic and the operations of UPC DTH are presented as discontinued operations for all periods and (b)
the entities comprising the LILAC Group are presented as discontinued operations in our consolidated statement of profit or loss
and cash flows for 2017. In the following discussion and analysis, the operating statistics, results of operations, cash flows and
financial condition that we present and discuss are those of our continuing operations unless otherwise indicated.

Operations

At December 31, 2018, our continuing operations owned and operated networks that passed 25,106,900 homes and served
25,267,500 revenue generating units (RGUSs), consisting of 8,559,200 video subscribers, 9,270,400 broadband internet subscribers
and 7,437,900 fixed-line telephony subscribers. In addition, at December 31, 2018, our continuing operations served 6,001,500
mobile subscribers.



Video Services

Our video service is, and continues to be, one of the key foundations of our product offerings in our markets. Our cable
operations offer multiple tiers of digital video programming and audio services starting with a basic video service. Subscribers to
our basic video service pay a fixed monthly fee and receive digital or analog video channels (including a limited number of high
definition (HD) channels) and several digital and analog radio channels and an electronic programming guide. In Poland where
our basic digital service is unencrypted, the cost of our digital service is the same cost as the monthly fee of our analog service.
In the markets where we encrypt our basic digital service, our digital service is generally offered at an incremental cost equal to
or slightly higher than the monthly fee for our basic analog service. We tailor our video services in each country of operation based
on programming preferences, culture, demographics and local regulatory requirements.

We also offer a variety of premium channel packages to meet the special interests of our subscribers. For an additional monthly
charge, a subscriber may upgrade to one of our extended digital tier services and receive an increased number of video and radio
channels, including the channels in the basic tier service and additional HD channels. Digital subscribers may also subscribe to
one or more packages of premium channels for an additional monthly charge. Our channel offerings include general entertainment,
sports, movies, documentaries, lifestyles, news, adult, children and ethnic and foreign channels.

Subscribers to our digital services also receive the channels available through our analog service. We offer limited analog
video services in all of our broadband markets, except in the U.K. and Switzerland. In all of our broadband operations, we continue
to upgrade our systems to expand our digital services and encourage our analog subscribers to convert to a basic digital or premium
digital service.

Discounts to our monthly service fees are available to any subscriber who selects a bundle of two or more of our services
(bundled services): video, internet, fixed-line telephony and, in most of our markets, mobile services. Bundled services consist
of double-play for two services, triple-play for three services and, where available, quad-play for four services.

To meet customer demands, we have enhanced our video services with various products that enable our customers to control
when, where and how they watch their programming. These products range from digital video recorders (DVRs) to multimedia
home gateway systems such as "Horizon TV", as well as various mobile applications (apps). Horizon TV is a next generation
multimedia home gateway (decoder box) based on a digital television platform that is capable of distributing video, voice and
data content throughout the home and to multiple devices. It has a sophisticated user interface that enables customers to view and
share, across multiple devices, linear channels, video-on-demand (VoD) programming and personal media content and to pause,
replay and record programming. The Horizon TV gateway can act as an internet router that allows access to digital video content
available on the television via other devices, such as laptops, smart phones and tablets.

In 2018, we introduced our latest set top box, often referred to by its project name “Eos”, in Switzerland. The Eos set top box
is capable of delivering ultra-high definition 4K and enhanced high dynamic range or HDR video content. It carries the next
generation Horizon TV user interface that we call “Horizon 4”. Horizon 4 is a multiscreen platform that combines linear television,
VoD and mobile viewing. In addition to the features of Horizon TV, Horizon 4 allows customers to pause a program, series or
movie and seamlessly continue watching from where they left off on another device, whether a television, tablet, smart phone or
laptop. Customers also have access to cloud storage for up to 2,000 hours of recording, as well as our Repay TV service (described
below). Customers can control their Eos set-top box with voice commands using the accompanying remote control. Horizon 4 is
marketed under the name “UPC TV” in Switzerland, and it will be launched in other markets over the course of 2019, where it
will be marketed under different brand names.

For our Horizon TV and Horizon 4 subscribers, we offer various features and functionalities, including television apps for
various online services (such as YouTube, Netflix, social platforms, sports experience, music, news and games). In almost all of
our operations, we also offer an online mobile app for viewing on a second screen that is based on our “Horizon Go” platform.
Horizon Go is available on mobile devices (i0S, Android and Windows) and via an internet portal and allows video customers to
view linear channels, VoD and Replay TV, with a substantial part of this content available outside of the home. In a number of
markets, Horizon Go also has a “Download to Go” feature that allows the consumer to take content with them on their device.
For Horizon TV and Horizon 4 customers, when in the home the second screen device can act as a remote control. Through Horizon
Go, customers have the ability to remotely schedule the recording of a television program on their Horizon TV or Horizon 4 box
at home.

We offer Horizon TV in Switzerland, Ireland and Poland. In most of our other European operations, we provide a Horizon
TV-like experience through a remotely upgraded version of the software on the customer’s set-top box. After the upgrade, these
boxes offer several features of the Horizon TV product. We refer to this upgrade as “Horizon Lite”, although it is locally marketed
as Horizon TV, except in Belgium where it is marketed as “Digital TV”. Some of the Horizon TV features are not available on
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our Horizon Lite systems, such as recommendation-based content and the ability to access video content on other devices in the
home. We intend to continue to improve the Horizon TV user experience with new functionality and software updates.

In the U.K., we offer a multimedia home gateway based on the TiVo platform under a strategic partnership agreement with
TiVo Inc. Through the TiVo platform, we offer our U.K. customers a basic set-top box or the Virgin Media V6 box. Both boxes
provide television and broadband internet capabilities. Similar to Horizon 4, the Virgin Media V6 box combines ultra high-definition
4K video, including high dynamic range, with improved streaming functionalities and more processing power. The Virgin Media
V6 box allows customers to record six channels simultaneously while watching a seventh. Customers can also start watching
programming on one television and pick up where they left off on other TiVo boxes in another room or through an app on their
smart phones and tablets. Over 50% of our U.K. customers have the Virgin Media V6 box. In addition to the video service on their
TiVo gateway device, our customers in the U.K. also have access to a comprehensive internet streaming video service called
“Virgin TV Go”. This service, which is available via a mobile app or an internet portal, allows our video customers to stream real-
time TV channels and watch VoD content anywhere they have an internet connection. Our enhanced video customers can also
download certain on-demand programs to their compatible devices for off-line viewing via the Virgin TV Go app.

In Belgium, Telenet is planning to deploy Horizon 4 in 2019, as well as an enhanced multiscreen service based on Horizon
Go. Its current digital video product “Digital TV” functions similar to our Horizon Lite service. Telenet also offers customers
access to live TV streaming and various other content sources such as VoD via its “Yelo Play” app, which is available via iOS,
Android and Windows smart phones and tablets. Digital TV set-top boxes and Yelo Play offer a Horizon TV-like user interface
that allow Telenet's enhanced video customers to remotely manage their DVR, view programs remotely (up to seven days after
the original broadcast) and access VoD with a laptop, smart phone or tablet in or out of the home.

One of our key video services is “Replay TV”. Replay TV records virtually all programs across numerous linear channels in
the countries where this service is available. The recordings are available up to seven days after the original broadcast. This allows
our customers to catch up on their favorite television shows without having to set their DVR or browse separate menus on their
set-top boxes. Instead, customers can open the electronic programing guide, scroll back and replay linear programming instantly.
Replay TV also allows our customers to replay a television program from the start even while the live broadcast is in progress. Replay
TV is one of the most used and appreciated features on our platforms. It is accessible in all of our markets, except in the U.K.,
through our Horizon services, and in some of our markets also via Horizon Go.

In most of our markets, we offer transactional VoD giving subscribers access to thousands of movies and television series. In
several of our markets, our subscription VoD service is included in our enhanced video services accessed through the Horizon TV
platform. This service is tailored to the specific market based on available content, consumer preferences and competitive offers
and includes various programming, such as music, kids, documentaries, adult, sports and TV series. In Belgium, the service is
marketed as “Play” and “Play More”. We continue to develop our VoD services to provide a growing collection of programming
from local and international suppliers, such as ABC/Disney, A+E Networks, NBC/Universal, CBS/Paramount, Discovery, the
BBC, Warner and Sony, among others. Customers who subscribe to an extended digital tier generally receive a VoD enabled set-
top box without an additional monthly charge.

Subscribers access our enhanced video service by renting a set-top box with a smart card from our operators, or without a
set-top box if a subscriber is only using our basic video service. Where Horizon TV is available, a subscriber to our enhanced
video services has the option, for an incremental monthly charge, to upgrade the standard digital set-top box to a Horizon TV box
or Horizon 4 for our Switzerland customers (both of which have HD DVR capabilities and other additional features). No set-top
box or smart card, however, is required to receive our basic digital services in our unencrypted footprint in Poland. In addition,
expanded channel packages and premium channels and services are available for an incremental monthly fee in all of our markets.

WiFi and Internet Services

Connectivity is a building block for vibrant communities. Our fiber-rich broadband network is the backbone of our business
and the basis of our connectivity strategy. To meet our customers’ expectations to be seamlessly connected, we are investing in
the expansion of our broadband network, mobile and WiFi solutions and customer premises equipment.

Internet speed is of crucial importance to our customers, as they spend more time streaming video and other bandwidth-heavy
services on multiple devices. Our extensive broadband network enables us to deliver ultra high-speed internet service across our
markets. Our residential subscribers access the internet via cable modems connected to their internet capable devices, or wirelessly
via a WiFi gateway device. We offer multiple tiers of broadband internet service ranging from a basic service of 50 Mbps in
Slovakia to an ultra high-speed internet service of 500 Mbps in Switzerland, Poland and Slovakia.



The speed of service depends on the location and the tier of service selected. In addition, by leveraging our existing fiber-
rich broadband networks and our Network Extensions, we are in position to deliver gigabit services by deploying the next generation
DOCSIS 3.1 technology. In 2018, we launched this technology in Warsaw, Poland. Customers in Warsaw may subscribe to our
ultra high-speed internet service of 1 Gbps. We intend to expand this technology in additional markets in 2019. By using DOCSIS
3.1, we can extend our download speeds to at least 1 Gbps where deployed. DOCSIS 3.1 technology improves not only our internet
speed offers but also to allows for network growth. DOCSIS technology is an international standard that defines the requirements
for data transmission over a cable system. Currently, our ultra high-speed internet service is based primarily on DOCSIS 3.0
technology.

Our internet service generally includes email, address book and parental controls. We offer value-added broadband services
in certain of our markets for an incremental charge. These services include security (e.g., anti-virus, anti-spyware, firewall and
spam protection) and online storage solutions and web spaces. In many of our markets, we offer mobile broadband services with
internet access as described below. Subscribers to our internet service pay a monthly fee based on the tier of service selected. In
addition to the monthly fee, customers pay an activation service fee upon subscribing to an internet service. This one-time fee
may be waived for promotional reasons. We determine pricing for each different tier of internet service through an analysis of
speed, market conditions and other factors.

Our "Connect Box" is a dedicated connectivity device that delivers superior in-home WiFi coverage. It is our next generation
WiFi and telephony gateway that enables us to maximize the impact of our ultrafast broadband networks by providing reliable
wireless connectivity anywhere in the home. It has an automatic WiFi optimization function, which selects the best possible
wireless frequency at any given time. This gateway can be self-installed and allows customers to customize their home WiFi
service. Our Connect Box is available in all our markets and currently over 60% of our customers have a Connect Box. In addition
to our markets, we distribute Connect Box to other markets in Europe, Latin America and the Caribbean, connecting almost 12
million homes. Robust wireless connectivity is increasingly important with our customers spending more and more time using
bandwidth-heavy services on multiple devices. In Belgium, Switzerland and the U.K., we also offer a connect app that allows our
customers to find their best WiFi access. In addition, WiFi boosters are available in all our markets to optimize connectivity. We
are also moving forward to bring to market our new Gigabit Connect Box based on DOCSIS 3.1 technology that will provide even
better in-home WiFi service to customers.

In all of our markets, we have deployed community WiFi via routers in the home (the Community WiFi), which provides a
secure access to the internet for our customers. Community WiFi is enabled by a cable modem WiFi access point (WiFi modem)
in the Connect Box, the set-top box or a Horizon box of our internet customers. The Community WiFi is created through the
sharing of access to the public channel of our customers’ home wireless routers. The public channel is a separate network from
the secure private network used by the customer within the home and is automatically enabled when the WiFi modem is installed.
Public WiFi access points (covering train stations, hotels, bars, restaurants and other public places) are also available for no
additional cost.

Mobile Services

Mobile services are another key building block for us to provide customers with seamless connectivity. We offer mobile
services as an MVNO over third-party networks in the U.K., Switzerland, Ireland and Poland. Following the February 2016
acquisition of BASE, Telenet became a mobile network provider in Belgium. Where appropriate, we will add MVNO arrangements
or acquire or partner with mobile service providers with their own networks in all our broadband communication markets.

In Switzerland and Ireland, we provide our mobile telephony services as full MVNOs through partnerships with a third-party
mobile network operator in their respective footprints of our country operations. These operations lease the third-party’s radio
access network and own the core network, including switching, backbone and interconnections. These arrangements permit us to
offer our customers in these markets mobile services without having to build and operate a cellular radio tower network. In 2017,
our mobile operations in the U.K. moved from a light MVNO to a full MVNO arrangement due to a revised agreement with the
third-party network provider. The migration of our U.K. mobile customers to the full MVNO arrangement is expected to be
completed in 2019. In Poland, we provide mobile telephony as a light MVNO to certain legacy subscribers. In this case, we lease
the core network as well as the radio access network from a mobile network operator. This arrangement permits our Poland
customers to have access to the third-party mobile communications services while we maintain the customer relationship. We plan
to launch a new mobile service in Poland as a full MVNO in mid-2019.



Our MVNO partners are:

Country Partner
UK. EE

Switzerland Swisscom (1)
TECIANA ...ttt ettt ettt e et te et e te et e eae et e ete e beeraebeeneeeteereesteenteareas Three (Hutchison)
0] 21 1 Lo PSPPSR Orange/Play

(1) Our Switzerland operations migrated to the Swisscom AG (Swisscom) network the beginning of 2019.

Where mobile services are available, subscribers pay varying monthly fees depending on whether the mobile service is
combined with our cable services or includes mobile data services via mobile phones, tablets or laptops. We offer our customers
the option to purchase mobile handsets and, in most of our markets, make such purchase pursuant to a contract independent of
their mobile services contract. We refer to these arrangements as split contracts. In Belgium, for those subscribers on Telenet’s
own network, it is offering more flexible bundles adjusted to customers’ needs so they can use the full capacity of their package,
regardless of their appetite to use either more data, minutes or text messages. As a mobile network provider, Telenet also has
agreements with other mobile providers to use its mobile network for their mobile offerings.

Our mobile services typically include voice, short message service (or SMS) and internet access. Calls, both within and out
of network, incur a charge or are covered under a postpaid monthly service plan. Our mobile services are primarily on a postpaid
basis with customers subscribing to services for periods ranging from activation for a SIM-only contract to up to 24 months (or
36 months in the U.K.), with the latter often taken with a subsidized mobile handset. In Belgium and Switzerland, however, our
postpaid service is offered without a minimum contract term. In the U.K. and Belgium, we also offer a prepaid service, where the
customers pay in advance for a pre-determined amount of airtime or data and generally have no minimum contract term. In almost
all of our markets, subscribers to a double- or triple-play bundle receive a discount on their mobile service fee.

Telephony Services

Multi-feature telephony services are available through voice-over-internet-protocol (VoIP) technology in most of our
broadband communication markets. In the U.K., we also provide traditional circuit-switched telephony services. We pay
interconnect fees to other telephony and internet providers when calls by our subscribers terminate on another network and receive
similar fees from providers when calls by their users terminate on our network through interconnection points.

Our telephony service may be selected in several of our markets on a standalone basis and in all of our markets in combination
with one or more of our other services. Our telephony service includes a basic fixed-line telephony product for line rental and
various calling plans, which may consist of any of the following: unlimited network, national or international calling, unlimited
off-peak calling and minute packages, including calls to fixed and mobile phones. We also offer value added services, such as a
personal call manager, unified messaging and a second or third phone line at an incremental cost.

Multiple Dwelling Units and Partner Networks

Pursuant to an agreement executed on June 28,2008 (the PICs Agreement) with four associations of municipalities in Belgium
(the pure intercommunales or PICs), Telenet leases the PICs broadband communications network and, accordingly, makes its
services available to all of the homes passed by the cable network owned by the PICs. Telenet has a direct customer relationship
with the basic and enhanced video subscribers on the PICs network. Pursuant to the PICs Agreement, Telenet has full rights to
use substantially all of the PICs network under a long-term capital lease. Unless extended, the PICs Agreement will expire on
September 23, 2046, and cannot be terminated earlier (except in the case of non-payment or bankruptcy of Telenet). For additional
information on the PICs Agreement, see note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Foroverhalfofthe basic video subscribers of UPC Switzerland, UPC Switzerland maintains billing relationships with landlords
or housing associations and provides basic video service to the tenants. The landlord or housing association administers the billing
for the basic video service with their tenants and manages service terminations for their rental units. When tenants select triple-
play bundles with or without mobile service from UPC Switzerland, they then migrate to a direct billing relationship with us.

UPC Switzerland offers enhanced video, broadband internet and telephony services directly to the video cable subscribers of
those partner networks that enter into service operating contracts with UPC Switzerland. UPC Switzerland has the direct customer
billing relationship with these subscribers. By permitting UPC Switzerland to offer some or all of its enhanced video, broadband
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internet and telephony products directly to those partner network subscribers, UPC Switzerland’s service operating contracts have
expanded the addressable markets for UPC Switzerland’s digital products. In exchange for the right to provide digital products
directly to the partner network subscribers, UPC Switzerland pays to the partner network a share of the revenue generated from
those subscribers. UPC Switzerland also provides network maintenance services and engineering and construction services to its
partner networks.

Business Services

In addition to our residential services, we offer business services in all of our operations. For business and public sector
organizations, we provide a complete range of voice, advanced data, video, wireless and cloud-based services, as well as mobile
and converged fixed-mobile services. Our business customers include SOHO (generally up to five employees), small business
and medium and large enterprises. We also provide business services on a wholesale basis to other operators.

Our business services are designed to meet the specific demands of our business customers with a wide range of services,
including increased data transmission speeds and virtual private networks. These services fall into five broad categories:

*  VoIP and circuit-switch telephony, hosted private branch exchange solutions and conferencing options;

» data services for internet access, virtual private networks and high capacity point-to-point services;

» wireless services for mobile voice and data, as well as managed WiFi networks;

»  video programming packages and select channel lineups for targeted industries; and

»  value added services, including webhosting, managed security systems and storage and cloud enabled software.

Our intermediate to long-term strategy is to enhance our capabilities and offerings in the business sector so we become a
preferred provider in the business market. To execute this strategy, customer experience and strategic marketing play a key role.

Our business services are provided to customers at contractually established prices based on the size of the business, type of
services received and the volume and duration of the service agreement. SOHO and small business customers pay business market
prices on a monthly subscription basis to receive enhanced service levels and business features that support their needs. For more
advanced business services, these customers generally enter into a service agreement. For medium to large business customers,
we enter into individual agreements that address their needs. These agreements are generally for a period of at least one year.

Investments—VodafoneZiggo JV

We own a 50% interest in the VodafoneZiggo JV, which is a leading Dutch company that provides fixed, mobile and integrated
communication and entertainment services to consumers and businesses in the Netherlands. In connection with the formation of
the VodafoneZiggo JV, we entered into a shareholders agreement with Vodafone providing for the governance of the VodafoneZiggo
JV, including decision-making process, information access, dividend policy and non-compete provisions. It also provides for
restrictions on transfer of interests in the VodafoneZiggo JV and exit arrangements. Under the dividend policy, the VodafoneZiggo
JV is required to distribute all unrestricted cash to Vodafone and us, subject to minimum cash requirements and financing
arrangements. We also entered into a framework agreement with the VodafoneZiggo JV to provide access to each partner’s expertise
in the telecommunications business. For additional information on the above agreements, see note 8 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The fiber-rich broadband network of the VodafoneZiggo JV passes 7.2 million homes. The VodafoneZiggo JV also offers
nationwide mobile coverage. At December 31, 2018, the VodafoneZiggo JV had 9.7 million RGUs of which 3.9 million were
video, 3.3 million were fixed broadband internet and 2.5 million were fixed-line telephony. In addition, the VodafoneZiggo JV
had 5.0 million mobile (including 0.8 million prepaid) customers. Besides its residential services, the VodafoneZiggo JV offers
extensive business services throughout the Netherlands. The operations of the VodafoneZiggo JV are subject to various regulations,
which are described below under Regulatory Matters—The Netherlands.

The VodafoneZiggo JV’s customers continue to have access to Horizon TV and its functionalities (marketed as “Ziggo TV”),
including Replay TV, the Ziggo Go app, pause live TV and VoD, 400 Mbps nationwide broadband internet and an extensive WiFi
Community network. The VodafoneZiggo JV also has its own sports channel, Ziggo Sport, and offers exclusive programming,
such as HBO. Approximately 1.2 million customers use the Connect Box for their in-home WiFi service. They also have access
to Vodafone’s nationwide long-term evolution wireless service, also called “4G” (referred to herein as LTE) services, under either
a prepaid or postpaid service plan. The VodafoneZiggo JV provides its mobile services under various licenses. The license for its
3G services expires in 2020. The bandwidth under this license will be re-auctioned in late 2019. With its mobile services, the
VodafoneZiggo JV is able to offer quad-play bundles and converged services to its residential and business customers.



For all its services, the VodafoneZiggo JV competes primarily with the provision of similar services from the incumbent
telecommunications operator Koninklijke KPN N.V. (KPN). KPN offers (1) internet protocol television (IPTV) over fiber optic
lines where the fiber is to the home, cabinet, or building or to the node networks (fiber-to-the-home/-cabinet/-building/-node is
referred to herein as FTTx) and through broadband internet connections using digital subscriber lines (DSL) or very high-speed
DSL technology (VDSL) or an enhancement to VDSL called “vectoring”, (2) digital terrestrial television (DTT), and (3) LTE
services. Where KPN has enhanced its VDSL system, it offers broadband internet with download speeds of up to 200 Mbps and
on its FTTx networks, it offers download speeds of up to 500 Mbps. Its ability to offer a bundled triple-play of video, broadband
internet and telephony services and fixed-mobile convergence services creates significant competitive pressure on the
VodafoneZiggo JV’s operations, including the pricing and bundling of its video products. KPN’s video services include many of
the interactive features that the VodafoneZiggo JV offers its subscribers, including pausing live TV, replay and third party apps.
Portions of the VodafoneZiggo JV’s network have been overbuilt by KPN’s and other providers’ FTTx networks and expansion
of these networks is expected to continue. Another significant competitor is the Netherlands operations of Deutsche Telekom.

Discontinued Operations

We currently own and manage the Vodafone Disposal Group operations (Germany, Hungary, Romania and the Czech Republic).
On May 9, 2018, we entered into an agreement with Vodafone pursuant to which Vodafone would acquire the Vodafone Disposal
Group, subject to various conditions. We expect the disposition of the Vodafone Disposal Group to be completed in mid-2019 and,
accordingly, we have reported it as discontinued operations for financial reporting purposes. Below is a description of the Vodafone
Disposal Group business in 2018.

The Vodafone Disposal Group consists of, in terms of video subscribers, the largest cable network in each of the Czech
Republic and Hungary and the second largest cable network in each of Germany and Romania. In each of these operations, the
core offer is triple-play services. Customers who subscribe to triple play services or double-play services receive a discount to
their monthly service fees. The broadband network of the Vodafone Disposal Group passes 19.7 million homes. The operations
in Germany and Hungary also offer mobile services. In addition to the residential services, each of the operations in the Vodafone
Disposal Group offers business services in their respective countries.

The Vodafone Disposal Group cable operations offer multiple tiers of digital video programming and audio services starting
with a basic video service. In each market, the basic digital service is unencrypted. Extended digital tiers are available for an
additional monthly charge and include additional video and radio channels, including those in the basic tier services, and additional
HD channels. Vodafone Disposal Group customers have access to Horizon TV or Horizons Lite, depending on location, Horizon
Go and, except in Germany, Replay TV. The operations have an extensive WiFi Community network, and the maximum broadband
speeds available are 400 Mbps in Germany and 500Mbps in the other countries. In addition, up to 1 Gbps is available in select
cities of Germany. Through MVNO arrangements, customers in Germany and Hungary have access to LTE services and postpaid
service plans. With these mobile services, the German and Hungarian operations are able to offer quad-play bundles and converged
services to residential and business customers.

Approximately two-thirds of Unitymedia’s video customers are in multiple dwelling units where Unitymedia has the billing
relationship with the landlord or housing association or with a third-party (Professional Operator) that operates and administers
the in-building network on behalf of housing associations. Many of these agreements, such as the one with Tele Columbus
Multimedia GmbH, allow Unitymedia to market its digital video, broadband internet and fixed-line telephony services directly to
the Professional Operator’s subscriber base. Professional Operators may procure the basic video signals from Unitymedia at
volume-based discounts and will generally resell them to housing associations with whom the operator maintains the customer
relationship.

Unitymedia has entered into various long-term agreements with the incumbent telecommunications operator, Deutsche
Telekom for the lease of cable duct space and hubs, as well as use of fiber optic transmission systems, towers and facility space.
In addition, Unitymedia purchases a portion of the electricity required for the operation of its networks through Deutsche Telekom
under such agreements. Unitymedia’s ability to offer its broadband communications services to customers is dependent on the
agreements with Deutsche Telekom. These agreements are long-term and may only be terminated under certain limited exceptions.
Any termination, however, would have a material adverse effect on the operations of Unitymedia. For information on a legal action
that Unitymedia commenced against Deutsche Telekom’s affiliate in December 2012 regarding these agreements, see note 20 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.



Strategy and management focus

From a strategic perspective, we are seeking to build broadband communications and mobile businesses that have strong
prospects for future growth. As discussed further under Liquidity and Capital Resources — Capitalization below, we also seek to
maintain our debt at levels that provide for attractive equity returns without assuming undue risk.

We strive to achieve organic revenue and customer growth in our operations by developing and marketing bundled
entertainment and information and communications services, and extending and upgrading the quality of our networks where
appropriate. As we use the term, organic growth excludes foreign currency translation effects (FX) and the estimated impact of
acquisitions and dispositions. While we seek to increase our customer base, we also seek to maximize the average revenue we
receive from each household by increasing the penetration of our digital video, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony and mobile
services with existing customers through product bundling and upselling.

We currently are engaged in certain network extension programs across our footprint, which we collectively refer to as the
“Network Extensions.” During 2018, pursuant to the Network Extensions, our continuing operations connected approximately
657,000 additional residential and commercial premises (excluding upgrades) to our two-way networks, including approximately
481,000 residential and commercial premises connected by Virgin Media in the U.K. and Ireland. We expect to continue the
Network Extensions in 2019. Depending on a variety of factors, including the financial and operational results of our new build
programs, the Network Extensions may be continued, modified or cancelled at our discretion.

The capital costs associated with the Network Extensions, which include the costs to build out the networks and the purchase
and installation of related customer premises equipment, are expected to be significant. For information regarding our expected
property and equipment additions during 2019, see Liquidity and Capital Resources — Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
below.

Our assessment of the impacts of the Network Extensions are subject to competitive, economic, regulatory and other factors
outside of our control.

Competition and Other External Factors

We are experiencing significant competition from incumbent telecommunications operators, DTH operators and/or other
providers in all of our markets. The significant competition we are experiencing, together with macroeconomic and regulatory
factors, has adversely impacted our revenue, RGUs and/or average monthly subscription revenue per average cable RGU or mobile
subscriber, as applicable (ARPU), particularly in Switzerland and Belgium. In addition, the VodafoneZiggo JV is facing significant
competition in the Netherlands, particularly with respect to its mobile operations. For additional information regarding the revenue
impact of changes in the RGUs and ARPU of our consolidated reportable segments, see Discussion and Analysis of our Reportable
Segments below.

In addition to competition, our operations are subject to macroeconomic, political and other risks that are outside of our
control. For example, on June 23, 2016, the U.K. held a referendum in which U.K. citizens voted in favor of, on an advisory basis,
an exit from the E.U. commonly referred to as “Brexit.” Following the failure to reach a separation deal by the original deadline
of March 29, 2019, the E.U. granted the U.K. an extension until October 31, 2019. Uncertainty remains as to what kind of
separation agreement, if any, may be agreed and approved by the U.K. Parliament. It is possible that the U.K. will again fail to
agree to a separation agreement with the E.U. by the new October 31, 2019 deadline which, absent another extension, would
require the U.K. to leave the E.U. under a so-called “hard Brexit” or “no-deal Brexit” without agreements on trade, finance and
other key elements. The foregoing has caused considerable uncertainty as to Brexit’s impact on the free movement of goods,
services, people, data and capital between the U.K. and the E.U., customer behavior, economic conditions, interest rates, currency
exchange rates and availability of capital. The effects of Brexit could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial
condition and liquidity. For additional information regarding the potential impact of Brexit on our company, see Risk Factors
included elsewhere in this annual report.

Results of Operations

We have completed a number of transactions that impact the comparability of our 2018 and 2017 results of operations, the
most notable of which is the SFR BeLux Acquisition on June 19, 2017. For further information, see note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In the following discussion, we quantify the estimated impact of acquisitions (the Acquisition Impact) on our operating
results. The Acquisition Impact represents our estimate of the difference between the operating results of the periods under
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comparison that is attributable to an acquisition. In general, we base our estimate of the Acquisition Impact on an acquired entity’s
operating results during the first three to twelve months following the acquisition date, as adjusted to remove integration costs
and any other material unusual or nonoperational items, such that changes from those operating results in subsequent periods are
considered to be organic changes. Accordingly, in the following discussion, (i) organic variances attributed to an acquired entity
during the first 12 months following the acquisition date represent differences between the Acquisition Impact and the actual
results and (ii) the calculation of our organic change percentages includes the organic activity of an acquired entity relative to the
Acquisition Impact of such entity.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates have a significant impact on our reported operating results as all of our operating
segments have functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Our primary exposure to FX risk during the year ended December 31,
2018 was to the British pound sterling and euro as 53.2% and 32.0% of our reported revenue during the period was derived from
subsidiaries whose functional currencies are the British pound sterling and euro, respectively. In addition, our reported operating
results are impacted by changes in the exchange rates for certain other local currencies in Europe. The portions of the changes in
the various components of our results of operations that are attributable to changes in FX are highlighted under Discussion and
Analysis of our Reportable Segments and Discussion and Analysis of our Consolidated Operating Results below. For information
regarding our foreign currency risks and the applicable foreign currency exchange rates in effect for the periods covered by this
annual report, see Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk — Foreign Currency Risk below.

The amounts presented and discussed below represent 100% of each of our consolidated reportable segment’s revenue and
Adjusted EBITDA. As we have the ability to control Telenet, we consolidate 100% ofits revenue and expenses in our consolidated
statements of profit or loss despite the fact that third parties own a significant interest. The noncontrolling owners’ interests in the
operating results of Telenet and other less significant majority-owned subsidiaries are reflected in net profit or loss attributable to
noncontrolling interests in our consolidated statements of profit or loss.

As further described in note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we adopted IFRS 15 on January 1, 2018 using the
cumulative effect transition method. As such, the information included in the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto
for 2017 has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for 2017. In order to provide
a more meaningful comparison of our results of operations, in the following discussion and analysis of our results of operations
for 2018, as compared to 2017, we present our revenue, expenses and Adjusted EBITDA for 2017 on a pro forma basis that gives
effect to the adoption of IFRS 15 as if such adoption had occurred on January 1, 2017.

The following table presents (i) the impact of the adoption of IFRS 15 on the revenue and Adjusted EBITDA of our consolidated
reportable segments for the year ended December 31,2018 and (ii) the pro forma impact of the adoption of IFRS 15 on the revenue
and Adjusted EBITDA of our consolidated reportable segments for the year ended December 31, 2017 as if such adoption had
occurred on January 1, 2017.

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

pro forma

in millions

Increase (decrease) to revenue:

UKUITRIANA. ...ttt sttt ettt ettt et e be et st sbe b b e e e ne e $ 343 §  (12)9)
BEIZIUIM ...ttt ettt 9.0) 3.7
SWILZEITAN ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et eb e bt bt se et naen 1.0 (3.9)
Central and Eastern EUTOPE..........cc.oiuiriiiiieieieiee sttt (0.2) (1.0)

Total increase (deCrease) t0 TEVEIUE. ......c..eueereruiruirtirtertenteteteteteteteneett et eaeere et sresae st reseeseenenee $ 261 $§ (215

Increase (decrease) to Adjusted EBITDA:

ULKUIECLANA. ...ttt ettt ettt st se et b e s e b e st et e st et eneeseneeseneesenens $ 27.1 $§ (26.1)
BEIZIUIN ...ttt ettt et b ettt ettt et eat bbbt et be b e nnen 9.0) 3.7
SWIZETIAIA ...ttt ettt ettt ettt (0.2) 2.9)
Central and Eastern EUTOPE..........cccoiriiiiiiieiiieieinentc ettt ettt s (0.5) 0.8
Total increase (decrease) to Adjusted EBITDA..........ooiiiiiiiiieeee e $ 174 $ (319



Discussion and Analysis of our Reportable Segments
General

All of our reportable segments derive their revenue primarily from residential and B2B communications services, including
video, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony and mobile services. For detailed information regarding the composition of our
reportable segments and how we define and categorize our revenue components, see note 18 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. For information regarding the results of operations of the VodafoneZiggo JV, refer to Discussion and Analysis of our
Consolidated Operating Results - Share of results of affiliates below.

The tables presented below in this section provide the details of revenue and Adjusted EBITDA of our consolidated reportable
segments for 2018, as compared to 2017. As discussed above, amounts for 2017 are presented on a pro forma basis that gives
effect to the adoption of IFRS 15 as if such adoption had occurred on January 1, 2017. These tables present (i) the amounts reported
for the current and comparative periods, (ii) the reported U.S. dollar change and percentage change from period to period and (iii)
the organic U.S. dollar change and percentage change from period to period. For our organic comparisons, which exclude the
impact of FX, we assume that exchange rates remained constant at the prior-period rate during all periods presented. We also
provide a table showing the Adjusted EBITDA margins of our consolidated reportable segments for 2018 and 2017 at the end of
this section.

Most of our revenue is derived from jurisdictions that administer VAT or similar revenue-based taxes. Any increases in these
taxes could have an adverse impact on our ability to maintain or increase our revenue to the extent that we are unable to pass such
tax increases on to our customers. In the case of revenue-based taxes for which we are the ultimate taxpayer, we will also experience
increases in our operating costs and expenses and corresponding declines in our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins
to the extent of any such tax increases.

We pay interconnection fees to other telephony providers when calls or text messages from our subscribers terminate on
another network, and we receive similar fees from such providers when calls or text messages from their customers terminate on
our networks or networks that we access through MVNO or other arrangements. The amounts we charge and incur with respect
to fixed-line telephony and mobile interconnection fees are subject to regulatory oversight. To the extent that regulatory authorities
introduce fixed-line or mobile termination rate changes, we would experience prospective changes and, in very limited cases, we
could experience retroactive changes in our interconnect revenue and/or costs. The ultimate impact of any such changes in
termination rates on our Adjusted EBITDA would be dependent on the call or text messaging patterns that are subject to the
changed termination rates.

We are subject to inflationary pressures with respect to certain costs and foreign currency exchange risk with respect to costs
and expenses that are denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currencies of our consolidated reportable
segments. Any cost increases that we are not able to pass on to our subscribers through rate increases would result in increased
pressure on our operating margins. For additional information regarding our foreign currency exchange risks see Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk — Foreign Currency Risk below.
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Revenue of our Reportable Segments

General. While not specifically discussed in the below explanations of the changes in the revenue of our consolidated reportable
segments, we are experiencing significant competition in all of our markets. This competition has an adverse impact on our ability
to increase or maintain our RGUs and/or ARPU.

Variances in the subscription revenue that we receive from our customers are a function of (i) changes in the number of RGUs
or mobile subscribers outstanding during the period and (ii) changes in ARPU. Changes in ARPU can be attributable to (a) changes
in prices, (b) changes in bundling or promotional discounts, (c) changes in the tier of services selected, (d) variances in subscriber
usage patterns and (e) the overall mix of cable and mobile products within a segment during the period. In the following discussion,
we discuss ARPU changes in terms of the net impact of the above factors on the ARPU that is derived from our video, broadband
internet, fixed-line telephony and mobile products.

Revenue — 2018 compared to 2017

Organic
Year ended December 31, Increase (decrease) increase (decrease)
2018 2017 $ % $ %
pro forma
in millions, except percentages

UK /Ireland......cooooeeviiiniiiiniiienccenceeee $ 6,8751 $ 6,385.8 $§ 4893 77 $ 2495 3.9
Belgium .....ccoocveiieieieieee e 2,991.6 2,853.3 138.3 4.8 (29.7) (1.0)
Switzerland........ccocoooeviiiiniiniiee 1,326.0 1,366.2 (40.2) 2.9 (50.6) 3.7
Central and Eastern Europe........c..ccccevuvenennen. 492.2 466.5 25.7 5.5 4.5 1.0
Central and Corporate (a).......ccccoceerveerveereeennnn. 274.2 189.4 84.8 44.8 59.9 28.9
Intersegment eliminations ............ccoceceeveueruenenn (3.2) (14.6) 11.4 N.M. 11.4 N.M.

TOtal . $ 11,9559 $11,246.6 $ 709.3 63 $ 2450 2.2

N.M. — Not Meaningful.

(a)  Amounts primarily include the revenue earned from transition and other services provided to the VodafoneZiggo JV and,
during 2018, Deutsche Telekom and Liberty Latin America. For additional information, see notes 6 and 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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U.K./Ireland. The details of the pro forma increase in U.K/Ireland’s revenue during 2018, as compared to 2017, are set forth

below:

Non-
Subscription  subscription
revenue revenue Total

in millions

Increase in residential cable subscription revenue due to change in:

Average numMber Of RGUS (@).......c.cooviuiiveiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 709 $ — 70.9
ARPU (D).t e et 493 — 493
Increase in residential cable non-subscription revenue (C).........ccoecvevvereeriereerneenenns — 6.6 6.6
Total increase in residential cable TEVENUE ........c.coueveiiieirininirrceeeecee 120.2 6.6 126.8
Increase (decrease) in residential mobile revenue (d)..........ccoevvevveeieviiieenieiieneeienens (3.9) 86.6 82.8
Increase in B2B reVENUE (€)......cc.eccviiiiieiiieeiiieieeeee ettt ettt eve e eveeseneeaneens 28.3 4.1 324
Increase in other revenue () ........cccooieiiiieiiiieicceeceeeeee e — 7.5 7.5
Total OTZANIC INCTEASE ......eeveeeeeiieeieiieieeieeieeeteteetesteseeeseesae e easesseensesseensesseensenns 144.7 104.8 249.5
IMPACt OF FX .ottt ettt ettt 187.7 52.1 239.8
TOLAL .. $ 3324 § 1569 § 4893

(a)  The increase in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in the average number of RGUs is attributable to
increases in the average number of broadband internet, video and fixed-line telephony RGUs.

(b)  The increase in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in ARPU is attributable to (i) a net increase due
to (a) higher ARPU from broadband internet services, (b) lower ARPU from fixed-line telephony services and (c) higher
ARPU from video services and (ii) an improvement in RGU mix.

(¢)  The increase in residential cable non-subscription revenue is primarily driven by changes in the U.K., including the net
effect of (i) increases in interconnect revenue and late fees and (ii) a decrease in cancellation revenue.

(d)  The decrease in residential mobile subscription revenue is primarily attributable to the net effect of (i) a decrease in the
U.K., due primarily to lower ARPU, and (ii) an increase in Ireland, mainly due to an increase in the average number of
mobile subscribers. The increase in residential mobile non-subscription revenue is primarily due to an increase in revenue
from mobile handset sales in the U.K., which typically generate relatively low margins.

(e)  The increase in B2B subscription revenue is primarily due to an increase in the average number of broadband internet
SOHO subscribers in the U.K. The increase in B2B non-subscription revenue is primarily driven by changes in the U.K.,
including the net effect of (i) higher revenue related to business network services, (ii) a decrease in interconnect revenue,
(iii) lower revenue from wholesale fixed-line telephony services and (iv) lower revenue from data services.

(f)  The increase in other revenue is primarily due to an increase in broadcasting revenue in Ireland.
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Belgium. The details of the pro forma increase in Belgium’s revenue during 2018, as compared to 2017, are set forth below:

Non-
Subscription  subscription
revenue revenue Total

in millions

Increase (decrease) in residential cable subscription revenue due to change in:

Average numMber Of RGUS (@).......c.cooviuiiveiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ (57.3) $ — 3 (57.3)
ARPU (D)t 18.1 — 18.1
Decrease in residential cable non-subscription revenue (C)...........oceevveeeerreeverveeeennns — (5.5 5.5
Total decrease in residential cable 1eVENUE ...........coceevierieriirieeeeeee e (39.2) (5.5 44.7)
Decrease in residential mobile revenue (d)..........cceeieviieieviieieniecieie e (26.9) (26.5) (53.4)
Increase in B2B reVENUE (€)......cc.eccuiiiiieiiieeiiieieeeie ettt ettt et eve e eveesaneeanee s 26.3 42.1 68.4
Total organic iNCrease (AECICASE)........ccuirieruieieriierierreereesieeee e eere e ese e eresseensees (39.9) 10.1 (29.7)
IMPACt OF ACQUISTEIONS .....veeuvieieiieiiesie ettt et et e e seeeseesneeeesneensesseensens 27.7 41.5 69.2
Impact 0f diSPOSALS .......ccueeiieiiiicieie ettt (17.4) (11.6) (29.0)
IMPACE OF FX ..ottt et et ae e e seeneennens 97.9 29.9 127.8
TORAL ..ttt ettt sttt ns $ 684 $ 699 § 138.3
(a)  The decrease in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in the average number of RGUs is attributable
to declines in the average number of video, broadband internet and fixed-line telephony RGUs.
(b)  The increase in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in ARPU is attributable to (i) the net effect of (a)
higher ARPU from broadband internet and video services and (b) lower ARPU from fixed-line telephony services and (ii)
an improvement in RGU mix.
(¢)  The decrease in residential cable non-subscription revenue is primarily attributable to the net effect of (i) a decrease of $5.6
million related to adjustments recorded during 2017 to reflect the expected recovery of certain prior-period VAT payments,
(ii) an increase in distribution revenue, (iii) a decrease in late fees and (iv) a decrease in revenue from equipment sales.
(d)  The decrease in residential mobile subscription revenue is primarily due to the net effect of (i) lower ARPU and (ii) an
increase in the average number of mobile subscribers. The decrease in residential mobile non-subscription revenue is
primarily attributable to decreases in (a) revenue from the sales of mobile handsets and other devices and (b) interconnect
revenue.
(¢)  Theincrease in B2B subscription revenue is attributable to (i) higher ARPU, as increases in mobile and video SOHO services

were only partially offset by a decrease in broadband internet SOHO services, and (ii) an increase in the average number
of SOHO subscribers, as increases in broadband internet and video SOHO subscribers were only partially offset by a
decrease in mobile subscribers. The increase in B2B non-subscription revenue is primarily due to (a) higher revenue from
wholesale services and (b) an increase in interconnect revenue.

For information concerning certain regulatory developments that could have an adverse impact on our revenue in Belgium,

see “Belgium Regulatory Developments” in note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Switzerland. The details of the pro forma decrease in Switzerland’s revenue during 2018, as compared to 2017, are set forth
below:

Non-
Subscription  subscription
revenue revenue Total

in millions

Decrease in residential cable subscription revenue due to change in:

Average numMber Of RGUS (@).......c.ooviviiiuieeieeeiceeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ (46.3) $ — (46.3)

ARPU (D) ettt sttt (42.5) — (42.5)
Increase in residential cable non-subscription revenue (C).........cceceevveeeerreeeereenennns — 4.5 4.5

Total increase (decrease) in residential cable revenue............ccocveeeeiecienieneneenenne. (88.8) 4.5 (84.3)
Increase in residential mobile revenue (d).........cccocvevvieciiiieciieieieceee e 14.9 0.9 15.8
Increase in B2B reVENUE (€)......cc.ecvuiiiiieiiieiiieiiieeieeiee ettt et ve et e e eveeeaveere s 1.6 12.6 14.2
Increase in Other TEVENUE .........ccvieiiiiieiiieeie ettt e sae e — 3.7 3.7

Total organic increase (AECIEASE).......cccvrverrerieeriereerreeteteeeesteeee e eee e eeeseeeneeenes (72.3) 21.7 (50.6)
IMpact Of ACQUISTHIONS .......ccveeuiiiiieiiireete ettt ettt te e s e eeesseereesaeeraesaeessesaeas 1.0 — 1.0
IMPACT OF FX ..ottt ettt st saesneesseensenneas 7.5 1.9 9.4

TOLAL ..ttt ettt se et nee s $ (63.8) $ 23.6 $ (40.2)

(a)  The decrease in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in the average number of RGUs is attributable

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

to the net effect of (i) declines in the average number of video and broadband internet RGUs and (ii) an increase in the
average number of fixed-line telephony RGUs.

The decrease in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in ARPU is primarily attributable to lower ARPU
from video, fixed-line telephony and broadband internet services.

The increase in residential cable non-subscription revenue is primarily attributable to the net effect of (i) a $13.6 million
increase in distribution revenue associated with the September 2017 launch of our Swiss sports channels and (ii) a decrease

of $6.4 million due to the impact of unclaimed customer credit accruals that were released during the first half of 2017.

The increase in residential mobile subscription revenue is primarily due to an increase in the average number of mobile
subscribers.

The increase in B2B non-subscription revenue is primarily due to (i) an increase in interconnect revenue and (ii) higher
revenue from data services.
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Central and Eastern Europe. The details of the pro forma increase in Central and Eastern Europe’s revenue during 2018, as
compared to 2017, set forth below:

Non-
Subscription  subscription
revenue revenue Total

in millions

Increase (decrease) in residential cable subscription revenue due to change in:

Average numMber Of RGUS (@).......c.cooviuiiveiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 27 % — 2.7
ARPU (D)t (4.4) — (4.9
Decrease in residential cable non-subscription reVenue ............cceeeeeveeeerreeeveneevennns — (2.6) (2.6)
Total decrease in residential cable 1eVENUE ..........ccoceevierieriirieieecee e (1.7) (2.6) 4.3)
Increase in B2B reVENUE (C).....ccvicieiiieiiiiieiiiieeieeieeteete et saeeae e saeesnenneas 5.0 3.8 8.8
Total OTZANIC INCTEASE ......eeveeeeeiieeieieeteeiteieetteteetesteseeeseesaesseesessesnsesseensesseensenns 33 1.2 4.5
IMPACE OF FX ..ottt et re e s aeeaesaeebeesnenbeas 19.8 1.4 21.2

TOAL ..ttt ettt ettt ettt et et et e er et e eaeeae e $ 23.1 $ 26 $ 25.7

(a)  The increase in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in the average number of RGUs is attributable to
an increase in the average number of broadband internet, video and fixed-line telephony RGUSs, primarily in Poland.

(b)  The decrease in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in ARPU is primarily due to our operations in
Poland, attributable to the net effect of (i) lower ARPU from fixed-line telephony and broadband internet services and (ii)
higher ARPU from video services.

(¢)  The increase in B2B subscription revenue is attributable to an increase in the average number of broadband internet SOHO

subscribers, primarily in Poland. The increase in B2B non-subscription revenue is largely attributable to an increase in
interconnect revenue, primarily in Poland.
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Adjusted EBITDA of our Consolidated Reportable Segments

Adjusted EBITDA is the primary measure used by our chief operating decision maker to evaluate segment operating
performance. For the definition of this performance measure and for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA from continuing
operations to profit (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, see note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Adjusted EBITDA — 2018 compared to 2017

Organic
Year ended December 31, Increase (decrease) increase (decrease)
2018 2017 $ Y% $ %
pro forma
in millions, except percentages

U.K/Ireland.......c.oocvevieeenieieieeeee e $ 3,0542 $ 2859.0 $ 195.2 6.8 $ 94.3 33
Belgium ....coooiiiiiiiiieie 1,498.1 1,304.1 194.0 14.9 116.6 8.8
Switzerland..........coceceeverviiieninininineee 725.2 839.4 (114.2) (13.6) (119.8) (14.3)
Central and Eastern Europe.........c.ccocceveeeenen. 249.1 234.3 14.8 6.3 4.6 2.0
Central and Corporate ...........cccoecervevrecnnennn (371.7) (415.8) 44.1 10.6 37.2 8.6
Intersegment eliminations .............ccoceeveeveuennene (11.8) ©.D 2.7 N.M. 2.7 N.M.

TOtAL et $ 51431 $ 48119 $ 331.2 69 $ 130.2 2.7

N.M. — Not Meaningful.
Adjusted EBITDA Margin — 2018 and 2017

The following table sets forth the Adjusted EBITDA margins (Adjusted EBITDA divided by revenue) of each of our
consolidated reportable segments:

Year ended December 31,

2018 2017
%
UKUIEEIANA ...ttt sttt et et 44 4 45.1
BIGIUIML. ...ttt ettt b et b e sttt et ettt oot ebeebe bt besbenae 50.1 45.8
SWIEZEITANM ...ttt ettt e 54.7 61.5
Central and Eastern EUTOPE .........coccoiiiririiniiicietcictctecete sttt ettt 50.6 49.9

In addition to organic changes in the revenue, cost of services, G&A and selling expenses of our consolidated reportable
segments, the Adjusted EBITDA margins presented above include the impact of acquisitions. For discussion of the factors
contributing to the changes in the Adjusted EBITDA margins of our consolidated reportable segments, see the analysis of our
revenue included in Discussion and Analysis of our Reportable Segments above and the analysis of our expenses included in
Discussion and Analysis of our Consolidated Operating Results below.
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Discussion and Analysis of our Consolidated Operating Results

General

For more detailed explanations of the changes in our revenue, see Discussion and Analysis of our Reportable Segments above.

2018 compared to 2017

Revenue

Our revenue by major category is set forth below:

Organic
Year ended December 31, Increase (decrease) increase (decrease)
2018 2017 $ % $ %
pro forma
in millions, except percentages
Residential revenue:
Residential cable revenue (a):
Subscription revenue (b):
VIdEO.c.eoiieiieieieiieeecte e $ 2,861.2 § 2,8049 § 56.3 20 $ (531 (1.9)
Broadband internet.............ccccoeveeriennnnnn. 3,226.6 2,998.4 228.2 7.6 111.2 3.7
Fixed-line telephony .........c.cccceveruveenennen. 1,607.8 1,614.7 (6.9) 0.4) (67.5) 4.2)
Total subscription revenue.................... 7,695.6 7,418.0 277.6 3.7 9.4) 0.1
Non-subscription revenue ......................... 279.1 268.9 10.2 3.8 5.1 1.9
Total residential cable revenue........... 7,974.7 7,686.9 287.8 3.7 4.3) 0.1
Residential mobile revenue (c):
Subscription revenue (b).........cccoceveeveereenenn. 983.5 978.7 4.8 0.5 (15.8) (1.6)
Non-subscription revenue..............c..ceene... 694.8 621.8 73.0 11.7 60.8 10.0
Total residential mobile revenue............... 1,678.3 1,600.5 77.8 4.9 45.0 2.9
Total residential revenue......................... 9,653.0 9,287.4 365.6 39 40.7 0.4
B2B revenue (d):
Subscription revenue.............c.eeeerveeevereeenennnns 446.4 368.6 77.8 21.1 61.2 16.6
Non-subscription revenue................ccccveevvenn.. 1,537.1 1,370.7 166.4 12.1 73.8 5.2
Total B2B revenue.........ccccoeeeevveeeeeeeeeeeenn. 1,983.5 1,739.3 244.2 14.0 135.0 7.6
Other revenue (€) .....ccocvvvereererieriesiesieeenes 319.4 219.9 99.5 45.2 69.3 29.1
Total .o $ 11,9559 $11,246.6 § 709.3 63 $§ 2450 2.2
(a)  Residential cable subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services and the recognition

(b)

(©)

of deferred installation revenue over the associated contract period. Residential cable non-subscription revenue includes,
among other items, channel carriage fees, late fees and revenue from the sale of equipment.

Residential subscription revenue from subscribers who purchase bundled services at a discounted rate is generally allocated
proportionally to each service based on the standalone price for each individual service. As a result, changes in the standalone
pricing of our cable and mobile products or the composition of bundles can contribute to changes in our product revenue
categories from period to period.

Residential mobile subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services. Residential
mobile non-subscription revenue includes, among other items, interconnect revenue and revenue from sales of mobile
handsets and other devices. Residential mobile interconnect revenue was $253.6 million and $253.0 million during 2018
and 2017, respectively.
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(d)  B2B subscription revenue represents revenue from SOHO subscribers. SOHO subscribers pay a premium price to receive
expanded service levels along with video, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony or mobile services that are the same or
similar to the mass marketed products offered to our residential subscribers. A portion ofthe increases in our B2B subscription
revenue is attributable to the conversion of certain residential subscribers to SOHO subscribers. B2B non-subscription
revenue includes revenue from business broadband internet, video, fixed-line telephony, mobile and data services offered
to medium to large enterprises and, on a wholesale basis, to other operators.

(e)  Other revenue includes, among other items, revenue earned from the JV Services, broadcasting revenue in Ireland and
revenue from Central and Corporate’s wholesale handset program. In addition, the amount for 2018 includes revenue earned
from (i) sales of customer premises equipment to the VodafoneZiggo JV and (ii) transitional and other services provided to
Deutsche Telekom and Liberty Latin America.

Total revenue. Our consolidated revenue increased $709.3 million or 6.3% during 2018, as compared to 2017. This increase
includes (i) an increase of $70.4 million attributable to the impact of acquisitions and (ii) a decrease of $29.1 million attributable
to the impact of dispositions. On an organic basis, our consolidated revenue increased $245.0 million or 2.2%.

Residential revenue. The details of the pro forma changes in our consolidated residential revenue for 2018, as compared to
2017, are as follows (in millions):

Increase (decrease) in residential cable subscription revenue due to change in:

Average NUMDET OF RGUS ........ooviiiiiicececceee ettt ettt e e te et et e et e e e e seeaserseaeeaeenis $ (14.7)
ARPU .ttt bttt ettt h bbbt bbbttt b b ettt ea e s b e bt eb e ebe bbb b 53
Increase in residential cable NON-SUDSCIIPLION TEVENUE .......c..ccveeiieteeiierieieeteeie ettt ste e e teesseste s e sreenseereenns 5.1
Total decrease in residential Cable TEVEINUE...........c.ccouiiiiiieiiieiii ettt ettt ettt eve et ereeeteeeareeereeeebeereeeareas 4.3)
Decrease in residential mobile SUDSCIIPLION TEVEINUE...........cviiveeiietieiiereeteeteeie et et e e saeeeesteesaesteessesteessesseensesreenns (15.8)
Increase in residential mobile NON-SUDSCIIPHION TEVENUE...........eecverrieiierieieeieieeeete e steeaesreeae e esesseessesseensesseenns 60.8
Total organic increase in reSidential TEVENUE...........cceeiuieiiiiieiietieieete ettt ettt ste e sae e e teeesesteessesteesseereenns 40.7
Net impact of acquisitions and diSPOSALS...........c.erieiierieiiirieietee ettt e ete b eseessesseesseesnesseeneas (1.3)
IMPACE OF FX oottt ettt ettt e e te e e et e eabeeteeaseeteesseeteesbeeseeaeessesbeesseseesseteenseseenseereenns 326.2

Total increase in reSIAENTIAL TEVEIMUE ............cooviiiiieeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeae e et e e et e e eeraeeeeteeeeaeeeserneeesnseeeeseeeennes $ 365.6

On an organic basis, our consolidated residential cable subscription revenue decreased $9.4 million or 0.1% during 2018, as
compared to 2017. This decrease is attributable to the net effect of (i) an increase from broadband internet services of $111.2
million or 3.7%, attributable to higher ARPU and an increase in the average number of RGUs, (ii) a decrease from fixed-line
telephony services of $67.5 million or 4.2%, attributable to the net effect of lower ARPU and an increase in the average number
of RGUs, and (iii) a decrease from video services of $53.1 million or 1.9%, attributable to the net effect of a decrease in the average
number of RGUs and higher ARPU.

On an organic basis, our consolidated residential cable non-subscription revenue increased $5.1 million or 1.9% during 2018,
as compared to 2017. This increase is primarily attributable to the net effect of (i) increases in the U.K. and Switzerland and (ii)
a decrease in Belgium.

On an organic basis, our consolidated residential mobile subscription revenue decreased $15.8 million or 1.6% during 2018,
as compared to 2017. This decrease is primarily due to the net effect of (i) declines in Belgium and the U.K. and (ii) an increase
in Switzerland.

On an organic basis, our consolidated residential mobile non-subscription revenue increased $60.8 million or 10.0% during
2018, as compared to 2017. This increase is primarily due to an increase in revenue from low-margin sales of mobile handsets and

other devices, as an increase in the U.K. was only partially offset by a decrease in Belgium.

B2B revenue. On an organic basis, our consolidated B2B subscription revenue increased $61.2 million or 16.6% during 2018,
as compared to 2017. This increase is primarily due to increases in SOHO revenue in the U.K., Belgium and Poland.

On an organic basis, our consolidated B2B non-subscription revenue increased $73.8 million or 5.2% during 2018, as compared
to 2017. This increase is primarily due to increases in Belgium and Switzerland.
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Other revenue. On an organic basis, our consolidated other revenue increased $69.3 million or 29.1% during 2018 respectively,
as compared to 2017. This increase is primarily due to (i) revenue of $57.2 million that was earned from the sale of customer
premises equipment to the VodafoneZiggo JV, which began during the second quarter of 2018 and typically generate low margins,
and (ii) an increase in broadcasting revenue in Ireland.

Cost of services

Cost of services include programming and copyright costs, interconnect and access costs, costs of mobile handsets and other
devices, network operations, customer operations, customer care, share-based compensation and other costs related to our
operations. We do not include share-based compensation and depreciation and amortization in the following discussion and analysis
of the cost of services of our reportable segments as these items are not included our performance measures. Share-based
compensation expense and depreciation and amortization are discussed separately below.

Our cost of services (exclusive of share-based compensation expense and depreciation and amortization) increased $344.5
million or 7.5% during 2018, as compared to 2017. This increase includes (i) an increase of $32.8 million attributable to the impact
of acquisitions and (ii) a decrease of $20.8 million attributable to the impact of dispositions. On an organic basis, our cost of
services increased $161.5 million or 3.5%. This increase includes the following factors:

* Anincrease in programming and copyright costs of $65.2 million or 4.3%, primarily due to increases in U.K./Ireland and
Switzerland. This increase is primarily due to higher costs for certain premium and/or basic content, including (i) a $27.8
million increase in costs associated with sports rights in Switzerland and (ii) a $10.3 million increase in costs associated
with broadcasting rights in Ireland. The increase in the costs for sports rights in Switzerland is due to the acquisition of
the rights to carry live sporting events in connection with the September 2017 launch of our Swiss sports channels.
Approximately half of the annual programming costs and the operating and capital costs associated with the production
of the related Swiss sports channels are recovered from the revenue earned from the distribution of these sports channels
to other cable operators;

*  Higher cost of sales of $51.2 million in Central and Corporate related to customer premises equipment sold to the
VodafoneZiggo JV;

* An increase in mobile handset and other device costs of $35.9 million or 11.0%, primarily due to the net effect of (i) a
higher average cost per handset sold in U.K./Ireland and (ii) lower mobile handset and other device sales volumes,
primarily due to decreases in U.K./Ireland and Belgium;

*  An increase in personnel costs of $32.3 million or 6.8%, primarily due to the net effect of (i) a higher average cost per
employee, primarily due to increases in U.K./Ireland and Switzerland, (ii) lower staffing levels, as decreases in U.K./
Ireland and Belgium were only partially offset by an increase in Central and Corporate, and (iii) higher incentive
compensation costs, primarily in U.K./Ireland. A portion of the lower staffing levels in Belgium is attributable to the
transfer of certain employees to a newly-formed joint venture that provides network maintenance and customer-facing
services to Telenet. Effective with the July 1, 2018 formation of this non-consolidated joint venture, the costs associated
with these services are included within our core network and outsourced labor operating expense categories;

* Anincrease in network infrastructure charges in U.K./Ireland of $22.5 million following an increase in the rateable value
of existing assets. For additional information, see “Other Regulatory Issues” in note 20 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements;

* A decrease in core network and information technology-related costs of $17.3 million or 5.2%, primarily due to the net
effect of (i) a decrease in network maintenance and energy costs, primarily in Central and Corporate, U.K./Ireland and
Belgium, (ii) an increase in outsourced data center costs, primarily in Central and Corporate, and (iii) a decrease in
information technology-related expenses, primarily in Belgium;
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*  Anincrease in interconnect and access costs of $16.5 million or 1.9%, primarily due to the net effect of (i) lower MVNO
costs, as a decrease in Belgium of $46.5 million was only partially offset by an increase in Switzerland of $9.0 million,
(ii) a $34.3 million increase in U.K./Ireland resulting from the net impact of credits recorded during the second quarter
0f2017 ($28.8 million), the fourth quarter of 2017 ($10.5 million) and the second quarter of 2018 ($5.0 million), primarily
associated with a telecommunications operator’s agreement to compensate communications providers, including Virgin
Media, for certain contractual breaches related to network charges, and (iii) higher interconnect and roaming costs,
primarily due to increases in U.K./Ireland and Switzerland. The lower MVNO costs in Belgium are primarily attributable
to the impact of the migration of mobile subscribers from Telenet’s MVNO arrangement to Telenet’s mobile network,
which was completed during the first quarter of 2018. For additional information, see note 15 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements;

*  Adecrease in business service costs of $12.7 million or 6.2%, primarily due to (i) decreased vehicle expenses due to the
impact of the conversion of certain operating leases on company vehicles to capital leases, primarily in Belgium, (ii)
lower energy costs, primarily in Belgium, and (iii) lower consulting costs, primarily in U.K./Ireland;

*  Adecrease of $7.3 million in the U.K. associated with the fourth quarter 2017 modification of a software agreement that
resulted in the acquisition of a perpetual license and related conversion of the operating costs to capitalized costs;

*  Adecrease in customer service costs of $5.3 million or 2.0%, primarily due to the net effect of (i) lower call center costs,
primarily in Belgium, U.K./Ireland and Switzerland, and (ii) an increase in customer premises equipment refurbishment,
inventory management and other supply chain costs, as increases in Central and Corporate and Belgium were only partially
offset by a decrease in U.K./Ireland;

*  Adecrease in encryption costs of $4.6 million in the U.K. associated with the 2018 modification of a service agreement
that resulted in the acquisition of a time-based license and related conversion of the operating costs to capitalized costs;
and

* Anincrease in outsourced labor costs of $4.4 million or 3.7%, primarily associated with customer-facing activities. This
increase is largely attributable to the aforementioned July 1,2018 formation of a non-consolidated joint venture in Belgium.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses include human resources, information technology, general services, management, finance,
legal, share-based compensation and other general expenses related to our administrative functions. We do not include share-based
compensation and depreciation and amortization in the following discussion and analysis of the general and administrative expenses
of our reportable segments as these items are not included in our performance measures. Share-based compensation expense and
depreciation and amortization are discussed separately below.

Our general and administrative expenses (exclusive of share-based compensation expense and depreciation and amortization)
increased $12.5 million or 1.5% during 2018, as compared to 2017. This increase includes an increase of $7.9 million attributable
to the impact of acquisitions. On an organic basis, our general and administrative expenses decreased $21.9 million or 2.7%. This
decrease includes the following factors:

* A decrease in personnel costs of $27.2 million or 7.7%, primarily due to the net effect of (i) a lower average cost per
employee, primarily due to decreases in Belgium, U.K./Ireland, Switzerland and Central and Corporate, (ii) lower incentive
compensation costs, primarily in Central and Corporate and U.K./Ireland, (iii) higher staffing levels, as increases in U.K./
Ireland, Central and Corporate and Switzerland were only partially offset by a decrease in Belgium, and (iv) a decrease
in temporary personnel costs, primarily in Central and Corporate and Belgium. The lower incentive compensation costs
are attributable to the expected settlement of a portion of our annual incentive compensation with Liberty Global ordinary
shares through a shareholding incentive program that was implemented in the fourth quarter of 2017. This shareholding
incentive program resulted in lower incentive compensation expense of $29.1 million during 2018 as compared to 2017,
primarily in Central and Corporate. For additional information, see note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements;

e Anincrease in core network and information technology-related costs of $20.3 million or 11.8%, primarily due to higher
information technology-related expenses in Central and Corporate and U.K./Ireland; and

*  Adecrease in business service and certain other costs of $14.6 million or 8.8%, primarily due to the net effect of (i) lower
consulting costs, primarily due to decreases in Belgium, Central and Corporate and U.K./Ireland and (ii) a $9.1 million
increase related to the settlement of an operational contingency in U.K./Ireland during 2018.
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Selling expenses
Selling expenses include costs associated with our sales and marketing function.

Our selling expenses (exclusive of share-based compensation expense) increased $21.1 million or 2.1% during 2018, as
compared to 2017. This increase includes an increase of $6.1 million attributable to the impact of acquisitions. On an organic
basis, our selling expenses decreased $24.8 million or 2.4%. This decrease includes the following factors:

*  Adecrease in external sales and marketing costs of $58.5 million or 14.7%, primarily due to lower costs associated with
advertising campaigns in U.K./Ireland and Belgium;

* Anincrease in personnel costs of $18.6 million or 4.4%, primarily due to (i) a higher average cost per employee, primarily
duetoincreases in U.K./Ireland and Switzerland and (ii) slightly higher staffing levels, as increases in Belgium, Switzerland
and Poland were largely offset by a decrease in U.K./Ireland; and

* Anincrease in customer service costs of $3.0 million or 7.6%, primarily due to lower call center costs, as an increase in
U.K./Ireland was only partially offset by a decrease in Belgium.

Share-based compensation expense (included in cost of services and G&A expenses)

Our share-based compensation expense primarily relates to the share-based incentive awards issued by Liberty Global to its
employees and employees of its subsidiaries. A summary of the aggregate share-based compensation expense is set forth below:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Liberty Global:
Performance-based incentive aWards () ......c.ccceeeveiuieriieieiicieeieceeere ettt $ 508 $ 23.9
Non-performance based share-based incentive awards ............cceevecieriecienierieneeneeseeeeseeve e 90.0 110.0
(071153 O (o) USROSt 43.4 13.7
Total LIDerty GIODaL .......cc.ociiiieieiieiesit ettt ettt e seessesseensessaensenseas 184.2 147.6
Telenet share-based INCENtIVE AWATAS (C) ....ecviivieiiirieiiiiieie ettt ettt ere e sre b ereas 19.6 20.7
OBRCT ..ttt b bbb bbbttt a e bbbt b e bt bbb et ee 2.1 10.1
TOTAL. ..ottt ettt ettt ettt s ettt b et st s ettt b et ae s bt et e e s st anae et setean s $ 2059 $ 178.4

Included in:

COSE OF SETVICES .....vcvieviiecietetceee ettt ettt ettt s et e s s ss s s st e s st s b et e e s s esesn s s esees $ 44 8 52
GELA EXPCISES....c.veeevetieereetieteesteteeetesseatesseassesseessesseesseassenseassesseessenssassesseensesssensesssessesssensenssensenns 201.5 173.2
TOAL ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt b et e ettt ettt ettt b et e ee s st ete et et ebeteae s s tesnan s $ 2059 $ 178.4

(a)  Includes share-based compensation expense related to (i) PSUs and (ii) through March 2017, the PGUs held by our Chief
Executive Officer.

(b)  Represents annual incentive compensation and defined contribution plan liabilities that have been or are expected to be
settled with Liberty Global ordinary shares. In the case of the annual incentive compensation, shares will be issued to senior
management and key employees pursuant to a shareholding incentive program that was implemented in the fourth quarter
0f2017. The shareholding incentive program allows these employees to elect to receive up to 100% of their annual incentive
compensation in ordinary shares of Liberty Global in lieu of cash.

(c)  Represents the share-based compensation expense associated with Telenet’s share-based incentive awards, which, at
December 31, 2018, included performance- and non-performance-based stock option awards with respect to 4,494,002

Telenet shares. These stock option awards had a weighted average exercise price of €42.50 ($48.67).

For additional information concerning our share-based compensation, see note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Depreciation and amortization expense (included in cost of services and G&A expenses)

Our depreciation and amortization expense was $3,896.2 million and $3,823.3 million during 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Excluding the effects of FX, depreciation and amortization expense decreased $64.6 million or 1.7% during 2018, as compared
to 2017. This decrease is primarily due to the net effect of (i) a decrease associated with certain assets becoming fully depreciated,
primarily in U.K./Ireland, Central and Corporate, Belgium and, to a lesser extent Switzerland, (ii) an increase associated with
property and equipment additions related to the installation of customer premises equipment, the expansion and upgrade of our
networks and other capital initiatives.

Impairment, restructuring and other operating items, net

We recognized impairment, restructuring and other operating items, net, of $270.5 million during 2018, as compared to $113.8
million during 2017.

The total for 2018 primarily includes (i) provisions for litigation of $135.0 million related to certain VAT matters in the U.K.
recorded during the third quarter of 2018, (ii) restructuring charges of $64.7 million, including employee severance and termination
costs related to certain reorganization and integration activities of $23.7 million in U.K./Ireland and $14.2 million in Central and
Corporate and (iii) $40.5 million in Belgium related to the migration of Telenet’s mobile subscribers from an MVNO arrangement
to Telenet’s mobile network. For additional information regarding Telenet’s exit from its MVNO arrangement, see note 16 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. For additional information regarding VAT matters in the U.K., see note 20 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The total for 2017 primarily includes (i) restructuring charges of $82.3 million, including employee severance and termination
costs related to certain reorganization and integration activities of $20.1 million in U.K./Ireland and $10.0 million in Central and
Corporate, and (ii) a $40 million legal settlement recorded during the third quarter of 2017.

If, among other factors, (i) our equity values were to decline significantly or (ii) the adverse impacts of economic, competitive,
regulatory or other factors were to cause our results of operations or cash flows to be worse than anticipated, we could conclude
in future periods that impairment charges are required in order to reduce the carrying values of our goodwill and, to a lesser extent,
other non-current assets. Any such impairment charges could be significant.

For additional information regarding our restructuring charges, see note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net finance costs

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

INEETESE EXPEIISE....veuvevrerieeietietietieteeresteetesessestessessessesseseeseeseeseaseesessessessessassessessessessassasaasseseeseasensessensensenes $ (1,536.4) $ (1,419.5)
Realized and unrealized losses due to changes in fair values of certain investments and debt, net ....... (381.3) —
Losses on debt modification and extinguishment, Net.............cccooveeierieiiiriereree e (65.0) (252.2)
Realized and unrealized losses on derivative INSrUMENtS, NET ..........cccueevvviiiiiieeiiieeeeeeeeeieeeeeeee e — (1,052.8)
Foreign currency transaction LOSSES, NET .........ccuieieriirierieierieete sttt te ettt eneesae e seeeaesseennesneas — (181.5)
TOLAL TINANCE COSES.cnnnnirieeteeeeeeeee e e et ee e e e et e e eeee et eeeeeseeaaeeesseeeaeeeeeseaeaseeeesesesnaeeeessessaeeessasanaeeeeeaanns (1,982.7) (2,906.0)
Realized and unrealized gains on derivative inStruments, NEt ..........c.oceevveeeeriieienreeeenieeeesie e seeene e 1,125.8 —
Foreign currency transaction SaiNS, NET .........c.ecveeierieriereriiereeeeseetesteetesseeeesseesesseessesseesseesessessesses 90.4 —
Interest and dividend INCOME ............ccuivuiiviiiiiiecieie ettt ete e e e b s ae b e s tsebeessesbeesseseens 13.4 31.0
Realized and unrealized gains due to changes in fair values of certain investments and debt, net ........ — 39.8
TOtal fINANCE IMCOIME ... ..oeiieiieieiie ettt e et e et eeeateeeeaaeeesteeeeeaeeesenseeesnteeesnseesnnneas 1,229.6 70.8
INEE FINANCE COSES ...uviiuriitiiiietiieti et ettt e ettt ettt e et e teete e teett e te e s eeteesseeseenbeeseenseesseseessebeessenseessenreens $ (753.1) $ (2,835.2)
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Interest expense

We recognized interest expense of $1,536.4 million and $1,419.5 million during 2018 and 2017, respectively. Excluding the
effects of FX, interest expense increased $65.8 million or 4.6% during 2018, as compared to 2017. This increase is primarily
attributable to slightly higher weighted average interest rates, partially offset by lower average outstanding debt balances. For
additional information regarding our outstanding indebtedness, see note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

It is possible that the interest rates on (i) any new borrowings could be higher than the current interest rates on our existing
indebtedness and (ii) our variable-rate indebtedness could increase in future periods. As further discussed in note 9 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and under Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk below, we use derivative
instruments to manage our interest rate risks.

Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments, net

Our realized and unrealized gains or losses on derivative instruments include (i) unrealized changes in the fair values of our
derivative instruments that are non-cash in nature until such time as the derivative contracts are fully or partially settled and (ii)
realized gains or losses upon the full or partial settlement of the derivative contracts. The details of our realized and unrealized
gains (losses) on derivative instruments, net, are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Cross-currency and interest rate derivative CONtracts (@) ........coceeeeerereenienienienieeeeeneeenenesesrennenne $ 905.8 $§ (1,145.6)
Equity-related derivative instruments:
ITV COLLAT .ot ettt 176.7 215.0
LionSAte FOIWAI........oouiiiiiiiiiiicieicciecee ettt s e 30.1 (11.4)
SUMILOINIO COIIAT ...ttt sttt sttt ettt ebeebe bbb naea (11.8) (77.4)
ORET ..t a et b e bt ettt et et et et et e e e n b et et et n e ne e st bt bt b eteenas 2.5 3.9)
Total equity-related derivative Instruments (b).........ccccceeeevreeirirnineieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 197.5 122.3
Foreign currency forward and Option CONIACTS..........cceeuiriririerierierteriee ettt 22.7 (30.2)
OBRET ...ttt ettt sttt (0.2) 0.7
TOLAL ...ttt ettt naenes $§  1,1258 § (1,052.8)

(a)  The gain during 2018 is primarily attributable to the net effect of (i) a net gain associated with changes in the relative value
of certain currencies and (ii) a net loss associated with changes in certain market interest rates. In addition, the gain during
2018 includes a net loss of $71.1 million resulting from changes in our credit risk valuation adjustments. The loss during
2017 is primarily attributable to the net effect of (a) a net loss associated with changes in the relative value of certain
currencies and (b) a net gain associated with changes in certain market interest rates. In addition, the loss during 2017
includes a net gain of $168.4 million resulting from changes in our credit risk valuation adjustments.

(b)  For information concerning the factors that impact the valuations of our equity-related derivative instruments, see note 10
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

For additional information concerning our derivative instruments, see notes 9 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
and Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk below.

Losses on debt modification and extinguishment, net

We recognized net losses on debt modification and extinguishment of $65.0 million and $252.2 million during 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

The loss during 2018 is primarily attributable to the net effect of (i) the payment of $49.5 million of redemption premiums,
(ii) the write-off of $28.2 million of net unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts and (iii) a gain associated with the
settlement of the final tranche of the Sumitomo Collar, as described in note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The loss during 2017 is primarily attributable to (i) the payment of $138.4 million of redemption premiums and (ii) the write-
off of $115.4 million of net unamortized deferred financing costs, discounts and premiums.

For additional information concerning our losses on debt modification and extinguishment, net, see note 15 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Realized and unrealized gains (losses) due to changes in fair values of certain investments and debt, net

Our realized and unrealized gains or losses due to changes in fair values of certain investments and debt include unrealized
gains or losses associated with changes in fair values that are non-cash in nature until such time as these gains or losses are realized
through cash transactions. For additional information regarding our investments, fair value measurements and debt, see notes 8,
10 and 15, respectively, to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The details of our realized and unrealized gains (losses) due to
changes in fair values of certain investments and debt, net, are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Investments:
ITV bbb $§  (257.8) $§ (1235
LIONSZALE ...ttt sttt ettt st et sttt sttt ettt et be bt bt en e h e b e (86.4) 353
ITI INEOVISION ..ottt ettt ettt ettt sttt sttt st etttk et e et sa bt sa bt sa st saenesaeneenenees (24.9) 15.8
CASA .t a e et a e e s ae e st ae s et eaee 9.2) 479
SUMILOINO ...ttt ettt ettt sttt st s b st sb et bbbt b et be e b e b e 34 238.2
(013153 o 4 1< ) TSRS S (8.3) 10.8
TOtAl INVESTIMEIIES ....veveiiieiirieiericcrtc ettt st sttt sttt (390.0) 224.5
DIEDL. ...ttt ettt 8.7 (184.7)
TOLAL. .ttt $§ (3813) $ 39.8

(a)  Amounts in 2017 include gains of $12.7 million related to investments that were sold during the year.
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses), net

Our foreign currency transaction gains or losses primarily result from the remeasurement of monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in currencies other than the underlying functional currency of the applicable entity. Unrealized foreign
currency transaction gains or losses are computed based on period-end exchange rates and are non-cash in nature until such time
as the amounts are settled. The details of our foreign currency transaction gains (losses), net, are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Intercompany payables and receivables denominated in a currency other than the entity’s

FUNCHIONAL CUITENCY () v.veveveeeeeeeeteete ettt ettt et ete et et e eteeae et e s e s e e eneeseeneeneeseeneereereenes $ 4943 §  (874.3)
U.S. dollar denominated debt issued by British pound sterling functional currency entities............. (258.0) 351.9
U.S. dollar denominated debt issued by euro functional currency entities ...........c.ccceeeveeeevreeeeenennen. (222.1) 551.2
British pound sterling denominated debt issued by a U.S. dollar functional currency entity ............ 83.3 (125.5)
Cash and restricted cash denominated in a currency other than the entity’s functional currency...... (5.5 (105.9)
Euro denominated debt issued by British pound sterling functional currency entities ..................... 53 20.2
Yen denominated debt issued by a U.S. dollar functional currency entity ............cceeeeeveeeecreereennennen. 5.D (20.9)
ONCT e ettt ettt ettt e aa e et e e et e e ae e etee e teeete e e teeeaaeeteeebeetaeetreentaeeareentes (1.8) 21.8

TOLAL ..ttt b et b et bt b e $ 90.4 $§  (181.5)




a Amounts primarily relate to (i) loans between certain of our non-operating and operating subsidiaries in Europe, which
p y P g P g P
generally are denominated in the currency of the applicable operating subsidiary and (ii) loans between certain of our non-
operating subsidiaries in the U.S. and Europe.

For information regarding how we manage our exposure to foreign currency risk, see Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
about Market Risk — Foreign Currency Risk below.

Share of results of affiliates, net

The following table sets forth the details of our share of results of affiliates, net:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

VOdafoneZigZ0 JV (@)....eoueiuiriirtiiieteee ettt ettt ettt $ 114 § (70.1)
OBRCT .ttt et ettt b e bbbt h e bbbttt et eae et ae et eae b nae e 8.2 (24.0)
TOLAL ..ttt ettt ettt $ 196 $ (94.1)

(a)  Amounts include the net effect of (i) interest income of $59.6 million and $64.3 million, respectively, representing 100%
of the interest income earned on the VodafoneZiggo JV Receivable, (ii) 100% of the share-based compensation expense
associated with Liberty Global awards held by VodafoneZiggo JV employees who were formerly employees of Liberty
Global, as these awards remain our responsibility, and (iii) our 50% share of the remaining results of operations of the
VodafoneZiggo JV. The summarized results of operations of the VodafoneZiggo JV are set forth below:

Year ended December 31,

2018 2017 (1)
in millions

REVEIIUEC......eiiieiie ettt e et e et e e e tb e e esbeeessbaeesstseeesssaeessseaesssseeannns $ 46022 $ 44889
AdJUSted EBITDA ........ooovoieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 20097 $ 19126
OPEerating INCOMIE (2) ....evevereeuirieiirieiirieietee ettt sttt ettt ee e e s eseeneseenens $ 130.6 $ 2194
NON-0PETating EXPENSE (3)..eeverurertiriieiieienieeieetterteette e ete st ete st et sbe e e sbe ettt enbeeaeesaeeneenaes $  (5984) $  (580.3)
N L0SS .-ttt ettt ettt b e et b e bttt be bt et e s $ (91.6) $ (257.3)

(1) Amounts have been presented on a pro forma basis that gives effect to the adoption of IFRS 15 as if such adoption had
occurred on January 1, 2017.

(2) Includes depreciation and amortization of $1,833.6 million and $1,678.5 million, respectively.
(3) Includes interest expense of $678.3 million and $650.1 million, respectively.

The VodafoneZiggo JV is experiencing significant competition. In particular, the mobile operations of the VodafoneZiggo
JV continue to experience competitive pressure on pricing, characterized by aggressive promotion campaigns, heavy marketing
efforts and increasing or unlimited data bundles. In light of this competition, as well as regulatory and economic factors, we could
conclude in future periods that our investment in the VodafoneZiggo JV is impaired or management of the VodafoneZiggo JV
could conclude that an impairment of the VodafoneZiggo JV goodwill and, to a lesser extent, non-current assets, is required. Any
such impairment of the VodafoneZiggo JV’s goodwill or our investment in the VodafoneZiggo JV would be reflected as a component
of share of results of affiliates, net, in our consolidated statement of profit or loss. Our share of any such impairment charges could
be significant.

For additional information regarding our equity method investments, see note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Other income, net

We recognized other income, net, of $14.0 million and $11.3 million during 2018 and 2017, respectively. The 2018 amount
includes a $12.3 million gain related to the formation of a joint venture in Belgium, representing the excess of the fair value of
our ownership interest in the joint venture over the carrying value of the assets that we contributed. The 2017 amount includes a
$4.5 million pre-tax gain related to the finalization of the equalization payment from Vodafone associated with the VodafoneZiggo
JV Transaction. For additional information, see note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income tax benefit (expense)
We recognized income tax expense of $1,527.5 million and $181.4 million during 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The income tax expense during 2018 differs from the expected income tax expense of $9.7 million (based on the U.K. statutory
income tax rate of 19.00%), primarily due to the net negative impact of (i) the Mandatory Repatriation Tax, (ii) certain permanent
differences between the financial and tax accounting treatment of items associated with investments in subsidiaries and affiliates
and (iii) certain permanent differences between the financial and tax accounting treatment of interest and other items. The net
negative impact of these items was partially offset by the net positive impact of non-deductible or non-taxable foreign currency
exchange results.

The income tax expense during 2017 differs from the expected income tax benefit of $421.5 million (based on the U.K.
statutory income tax rate of 19.25%) primarily due to the net negative impact of (i) an increase in unrecognized deductible temporary
deferred items, (ii) non-deductible or non-taxable foreign currency exchange results and (iii) certain permanent differences between
the financial and tax accounting treatment of items associated with investments in subsidiaries and affiliates. The net negative
impact of these items was partially offset by the net positive impact of statutory tax rates in certain jurisdictions in which we
operate that are different than the U.K. statutory income tax rate.

For additional information concerning our income taxes, see note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Loss from continuing operations

During 2018 and 2017, we reported losses from continuing operations of $1,476.5 million and $2,371.1 million, respectively,
consisting of (i) operating profit of $770.5 million and $728.3 million, respectively, (ii) net non-operating expense of $719.5 million
and $2,918.0 million, respectively, and (iii) income tax expense of $1,527.5 million and $181.4 million, respectively.

Gains or losses associated with (i) changes in the fair values of derivative instruments, (i) movements in foreign currency
exchange rates and (iii) the disposition of assets and changes in ownership are subject to a high degree of volatility and, as such,
any gains from these sources do not represent a reliable source of income. In the absence of significant gains in the future from
these sources or from other non-operating items, our ability to generate profits is largely dependent on our ability to increase our
aggregate Adjusted EBITDA to a level that more than offsets the aggregate amount of our () share-based compensation expense,
(b) depreciation and amortization, (c) impairment, restructuring and other operating items, (d) interest expense, (e) other non-
operating expenses and (f) income tax expenses.

Due largely to the fact that we seek to maintain our debt at levels that provide for attractive equity returns, as discussed under
Liquidity and Capital Resources — Capitalization below, we expect that we will continue to report significant levels of interest
expense for the foreseeable future. For information concerning our expectations with respect to trends that may affect certain
aspects of our operating results in future periods, see the discussion under Overview above. For information concerning the reasons
for changes in specific line items in our consolidated statements of profit or loss, see Discussion and Analysis of our Reportable
Segments and Discussion and Analysis of our Consolidated Operating Results above.

Profit (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes

Our profit (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes, of $1,158.6 million and ($380.3 million) during 2018 and 2017,
respectively, relates to the operations of UPC Austria, the Vodafone Disposal Group, UPC DTH and, for 2017, the LiLAC Group.
In addition, we recognized a gain on the sale of UPC Austria of $975.3 million during the third quarter of 2018 and the 2017
amount includes a $242.9 million gain associated with the Split-off Transaction. For additional information, see note 6 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Net profit attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net profit attributable to noncontrolling interests includes the noncontrolling interests’ share of the results of our continuing
and discontinued operations. Our net profit attributable to noncontrolling interests was $146.5 million and $43.0 million during
2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase is primarily attributable to improvements in the results of operations of Telenet and the
impact of the Split-off Transaction.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Cash

We are a holding company that is dependent on the capital resources of our subsidiaries to satisfy our liquidity requirements
at the corporate level. Each of our significant operating subsidiaries is separately financed within one of our three subsidiary
“borrowing groups.” These borrowing groups include the respective restricted parent and subsidiary entities within Virgin Media,
UPC Holding and Telenet. Although our borrowing groups typically generate cash from operating activities, the terms of the
instruments governing the indebtedness of these borrowing groups may restrict our ability to access the liquidity of these
subsidiaries. In addition, our ability to access the liquidity of these and other subsidiaries may be limited by tax and legal
considerations, the presence of noncontrolling interests and other factors.

Cash and cash equivalents

The details of the U.S. dollar equivalent balances of our consolidated cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2018 are
set forth in the following table (in millions):

Cash and cash equivalents held by:
Liberty Global and unrestricted subsidiaries:

LIDEILY GIODAL (Q)....vevieeiiiieiieiieiieeesie ettt ettt ettt ettt e e e te e b e e st esbe e st esbeeseesseessesseessesssessesssensanssensenssansenssensenses $ 10.8
Unrestricted SUbSIAIATIES (D) ....c.covioiiiiiiiiieiiiciecec e 1,333.2
Total Liberty Global and unrestricted SUDSIAIATIES .......c.coveririeririiriririeiinieene ettt W
Borrowing groups (c): -
TEIBNET ... 100.5
Y8710 T0LY (<74 Nt T ) T ST 21.2
UPC HOIAING .....cevieeiiiteie ettt ettt ettt et et e et e saeesaesseesbesseesbaessesseessasseessesssesseassessesssesseassesseessesseessensanns 14.8
TOtal DOITOWING SIOUPS ...eveuvieutetientietieteeiterteetesteentesteentesseeneeeseaneeeseeseeneesseensesseensesseensesseensesseenseeneanseeneenseenes T 1365
Total cash and cash qUIVAIENLS ........c.coeoiiiiiiniiiiiicre ettt m

(a)  Represents the amount held by Liberty Global on a standalone basis.
(b)  Represents the aggregate amount held by subsidiaries that are outside of our borrowing groups.

(c)  Except as otherwise noted, represents the aggregate amounts held by the parent entity and restricted subsidiaries of our
borrowing groups.

(d)  The Virgin Media borrowing group includes certain subsidiaries of Virgin Media, but excludes the parent entity, Virgin
Media Inc.

Liquidity of Liberty Global and its unrestricted subsidiaries

The $10.8 million of cash and cash equivalents held by Liberty Global and, subject to certain tax and legal considerations,
the $1,333.2 million of aggregate cash and cash equivalents held by unrestricted subsidiaries, represented available liquidity at
the corporate level at December 31, 2018. Our remaining cash and cash equivalents of $136.5 million at December 31,2018 were
held by our borrowing groups as set forth in the table above. As noted above, various factors may limit our ability to access the
cash of our borrowing groups. For information regarding certain limitations imposed by our subsidiaries’ debt instruments at
December 31, 2018, see note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our current sources of corporate liquidity include (i) cash and cash equivalents held by Liberty Global and, subject to certain
tax and legal considerations, Liberty Global’s unrestricted subsidiaries, (ii) interest and dividend income received on our and,
subject to certain tax and legal considerations, our unrestricted subsidiaries’ cash and cash equivalents and investments, including
dividends received from the VodafoneZiggo JV, (iii) principal and interest payments received with respect to the VodafoneZiggo
JV Receivable and (iv) cash received with respect to transitional services provided to the VodafoneZiggo JV, Deutsche Telekom
and Liberty Latin America.
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From time to time, Liberty Global and its unrestricted subsidiaries may also receive (i) proceeds in the form of distributions
or loan repayments from Liberty Global’s borrowing groups or affiliates (including amounts from the VodafoneZiggo JV) upon
(a) the completion of recapitalizations, refinancings, asset sales or similar transactions by these entities or (b) the accumulation
of excess cash from operations or other means, (ii) proceeds upon the disposition of investments and other assets of Liberty Global
and its unrestricted subsidiaries and (iii) proceeds in connection with the incurrence of debt by Liberty Global or its unrestricted
subsidiaries or the issuance of equity securities by Liberty Global, including equity securities issued to satisfy subsidiary obligations.
No assurance can be given that any external funding would be available to Liberty Global or its unrestricted subsidiaries on
favorable terms, or at all. For information regarding the liquidity impacts of the disposition of UPC Austria and the pending
dispositions of the Vodafone Disposal Group and UPC DTH, see note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. For information
regarding the liquidity impact of the pending sale of our operations in Switzerland, see note 28 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

At December 31, 2018, our consolidated cash and cash equivalents balance included $1,455.1 million held by entities that
are domiciled outside of the U.K. Based on our assessment of our ability to access the liquidity of our subsidiaries on a tax efficient
basis, our expectations with respect to our corporate liquidity requirements and our preliminary assessment of the 2017 U.S. Tax
Act, we do not anticipate that tax considerations will adversely impact our corporate liquidity over the next 12 months. Our ability
to access the liquidity of our subsidiaries on a tax efficient basis is a consideration in assessing the extent of our share repurchase
program.

In addition, the amount of cash we receive from our subsidiaries to satisfy U.S. dollar-denominated liquidity requirements is
impacted by fluctuations in exchange rates, particularly with regard to the translation of British pounds sterling and euros into
U.S. dollars. In this regard, the strengthening (weakening) of the U.S. dollar against these currencies will result in decreases
(increases) in the U.S. dollars received from the applicable subsidiaries to fund the repurchase of our equity securities and other
U.S. dollar-denominated liquidity requirements.

Our corporate liquidity requirements include (i) corporate general and administrative expenses, (ii) interest payments on our
secured borrowing arrangement with respect to the ITV Collar Loan and (iii) principal payments on the ITV Collar Loan and our
secured borrowing arrangement with respect to the Lionsgate Loan to the extent not settled through the delivery of the underlying
shares. In addition, Liberty Global and its unrestricted subsidiaries may require cash in connection with (a) the repayment of third-
party and intercompany debt, (b) the satisfaction of contingent liabilities, (c) acquisitions, (d) the repurchase of equity and debt
securities, (e) other investment opportunities, (f) any funding requirements of our subsidiaries and affiliates or (g) income tax
payments. In addition, our parent entity uses available liquidity to make interest and principal payments on notes payable to certain
of our unrestricted subsidiaries (aggregate outstanding principal of $13.0 billion at December 31, 2018 with varying maturity
dates). For information regarding our commitments and contingencies, see note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

During 2018, the aggregate amount of our share repurchases was $2,010.0 million, including direct acquisition costs. In July
2018, our board of directors authorized an additional $500.0 million of share repurchases through July 2019. At December 31,
2018, the remaining amount authorized for share repurchases was $566.2 million. As a U.K. incorporated company, we may only
elect to repurchase shares or pay dividends to the extent of our Distributable Reserves. For additional information regarding our
share repurchase programs and Distributable Reserves, see note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Liquidity of borrowing groups

The cash and cash equivalents of our borrowing groups are detailed in the table above. In addition to cash and cash equivalents,
the primary sources of liquidity of our borrowing groups are cash provided by operations and borrowing availability under their
respective debt instruments. For the details of the borrowing availability of our borrowing groups at December 31, 2018, see note
15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The aforementioned sources of liquidity may be supplemented in certain cases by
contributions and/or loans from Liberty Global and its unrestricted subsidiaries. The liquidity of our borrowing groups generally
is used to fund property and equipment additions, debt service requirements and income tax payments. From time to time, our
borrowing groups may also require liquidity in connection with (i) acquisitions and other investment opportunities, (ii) loans to
Liberty Global, (iii) capital distributions to Liberty Global and other equity owners or (iv) the satisfaction of contingent liabilities.
No assurance can be given that any external funding would be available to our borrowing groups on favorable terms, or at all. For
information regarding our borrowing groups’ commitments and contingencies, see note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

For additional information regarding our consolidated cash flows, see the discussion under Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows below.
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Capitalization

We seek to maintain our debt at levels that provide for attractive equity returns without assuming undue risk. In this regard,
we generally seek to cause our operating subsidiaries to maintain their debt at levels that result in a consolidated debt balance
(excluding the ITV Collar Loan and Lionsgate Loan and measured using subsidiary debt figures at swapped foreign currency
exchange rates, consistent with the covenant calculation requirements of our subsidiary debt agreements) that is between four and
five times our consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, although the timing of our acquisitions and financing transactions and the interplay
of average and spot foreign currency rates may impact this ratio. The ratio of our December 31, 2018 consolidated debt to our
annualized consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the quarter ended December 31, 2018 was 5.0x. In addition, the ratio of our
December 31, 2018 consolidated net debt (debt, as defined above, less cash and cash equivalents) to our annualized consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA for the quarter ended December 31, 2018 was 4.8x. Consistent with how we calculate our leverage ratios under
our debt agreements, these ratios are presented on a basis that includes the debt and Adjusted EBITDA of both our continuing and
discontinued operations.

Our ability to service or refinance our debt and to maintain compliance with the leverage covenants in the credit agreements
and indentures of our borrowing groups is dependent primarily on our ability to maintain or increase the Adjusted EBITDA of our
operating subsidiaries and to achieve adequate returns on our property and equipment additions and acquisitions. In addition, our
ability to obtain additional debt financing is limited by the incurrence-based leverage covenants contained in the various debt
instruments of our borrowing groups. For example, if the Adjusted EBITDA of one of our borrowing groups were to decline, our
ability to obtain additional debt could be limited. No assurance can be given that we would have sufficient sources of liquidity,
or that any external funding would be available on favorable terms, or at all, to fund any such required repayment. At December 31,
2018, each of our borrowing groups was in compliance with its debt covenants. In addition, we do not anticipate any instances of
non-compliance with respect to the debt covenants of our borrowing groups that would have a material adverse impact on our
liquidity during the next 12 months.

At December 31, 2018, the outstanding principal amount of our consolidated debt, together with our finance lease obligations,
aggregated $29.9 billion, including $3.6 billion that is classified as current in our consolidated statement of financial position and
$22.7 billion that is not due until 2024 or thereafter. All of our consolidated debt and finance lease obligations have been borrowed
or incurred by our subsidiaries at December 31, 2018. For additional information concerning our debt maturities, see note 15 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Notwithstanding our negative working capital position at December 31, 2018, we believe that we have sufficient resources
to repay or refinance the current portion of our debt and finance lease obligations and to fund our foreseeable liquidity requirements
during the next 12 months. However, as our maturing debt grows in later years, we anticipate that we will seek to refinance
or otherwise extend our debt maturities. No assurance can be given that we will be able to complete these refinancing transactions
or otherwise extend our debt maturities. In this regard, it is not possible to predict how political and economic conditions, sovereign
debt concerns or any adverse regulatory developments could impact the credit and equity markets we access and, accordingly, our
future liquidity and financial position. Our ability to access debt financing on favorable terms, or at all, could be adversely impacted
by (i) the financial failure of any of our counterparties which could (a) reduce amounts available under committed credit facilities
and (b) adversely impact our ability to access cash deposited with any failed financial institution and (ii) tightening of the credit
markets. In addition, any weakness in the equity markets could make it less attractive to use our shares to satisfy contingent or
other obligations, and sustained or increased competition, particularly in combination with adverse economic or regulatory
developments, could have an unfavorable impact on our cash flows and liquidity.

For additional information concerning our debt and finance lease obligations, see note 15 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

General. Our cash flows are subject to significant variations due to FX. See related discussion under Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk — Foreign Currency Risk below.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — 2018 compared to 2017

Summary. The 2018 and 2017 consolidated statements of cash flows of our continuing operations are summarized as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017 Change
in millions

Net cash provided by operating activities ..........ccevevveirieerreeireeireeeeeerennn $ 39705 $ 34644 $ 506.1
Net cash provided by investing actiVities...........ccvevverriereeieerieieereseesreeeenens 583.8 758.7 (174.9)
Net cash used by financing aCtivities .........c.ecveeveriecierierienieree e (6,286.6) (4,504.2) (1,782.4)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and
restricted Cash ..o (43.2) 114.1 (157.3)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash..................... $ (1,775.5) $ (167.0) $ (1,608.5)

Operating Activities. The increase in net cash provided by our operating activities is primarily attributable to the net effect of
(i) an increase in cash provided by our Adjusted EBITDA and related working capital items, (ii) an increase in cash provided due
to higher cash receipts related to derivative instruments and (iii) a decrease in reported net cash provided by operating activities
due to FX.

Investing Activities. The decrease in net cash provided by our investing activities is primarily attributable to the net effect of
(i) an increase in cash provided of $2,058.2 million in connection with net proceeds received from the sale of UPC Austria, (ii) a
decrease in cash provided of $1,569.4 million related to distributions received from affiliates during 2017, (iii) a decrease in cash
provided of $845.3 million associated with the equalization payment received during 2017 in connection with the completion of
the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction, (iv) an increase in cash provided of $331.4 million associated with lower cash paid in connection
with acquisitions and (v) a decrease in cash provided of $198.4 million due to higher capital expenditures. Capital expenditures
increased from $1,272.3 million during 2017 to $1,470.7 million during 2018 due to the net effect of (a) an increase in our net
local currency capital expenditures and related working capital movements, including the impact of lower capital-related vendor
financing, (b) a decrease in proceeds received for transfers to related parties and (c) an increase resulting from FX.
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The capital expenditures that we report in our consolidated statements of cash flows do not include amounts that are financed
under capital-related vendor financing or finance lease arrangements. Instead, these amounts are reflected as non-cash additions
to our property and equipment when the underlying assets are delivered and as repayments of debt when the principal is repaid.
In this discussion, we refer to (i) our capital expenditures as reported in our consolidated statements of cash flows, which exclude
amounts financed under capital-related vendor financing or finance lease arrangements, and (ii) our total property, equipment and
intangible asset additions, which include our capital expenditures on an accrual basis and amounts financed under capital-related
vendor financing or finance lease arrangements. For further details regarding our property, equipment and intangible asset additions,
see note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. A reconciliation of our consolidated property, equipment and intangible
asset additions to our consolidated capital expenditures, as reported in our consolidated statements of cash flows, is set forth below:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Property, equipment and intangible asset additionsS ...........c..ccveeieviieieviieeecie et $ 3,7233 § 3,725.8
Assets acquired under capital-related vendor financing arrangements.............coceeeeereereeeeencnenennenn. (2,175.5) (2,336.2)
Assets acquired under fINANCE 1CASES ..........eccviiuiiiiiiiiiiicieteee ettt ettt (102.4) (106.7)
Changes in current liabilities related to capital eXpenditures............cecevveevierierierieeneeieneeeeeeeee e 25.3 (10.6)
Capital EXPENAITUTES, TIEL ........cveiviieiieiceeeeeeteet ettt ettt ete et eteete et e eteeaeeeees e seseseneeneeneeneereeneerea $ 14707 $ 12723

Capital expenditures, net:

TRITA-PATLY PAYIMENLS. ......ocvviviivietiitietietiete ettt ettt et ettt eteeteeteeteeteeseebeesessessessessessessessessessessessassereas $ 15704 $ 1,608.8
Proceeds received for transfers to related parties (Q).........c.ccveeeereeieirieieereeieere et (99.7) (336.5)
Total capital eXPEenditUures, NEL..........ccuervierierieieiieieeieteetesteeeesreetesreeaeseeesaesseessesssessesssesseessenseenes $ 14707 $ 1,2723

(a)  Primarily relates to transfers of centrally-procured property and equipment to our discontinued operations and the
VodafoneZiggo JV.

The increase in our property, equipment and intangible asset additions during 2018 is primarily due to the net effect of (i) an
increase due to FX and (ii) a decrease in local currency expenditures of our subsidiaries, primarily due to the net effect of (a) a
decrease in expenditures for new build and upgrade projects, (b) an increase in baseline expenditures, including network
improvements and expenditures for property and facilities and information technology systems, (c) an increase in expenditures
for the purchase and installation of customer premises equipment, (d) an increase in software expenditures and (e) an increase in
expenditures to support new customer products and operational efficiency initiatives. During 2018 and 2017, our property,
equipment and intangible asset additions represented 31.1% and 33.1% of revenue, respectively.

We expect our 2019 property, equipment and intangible asset additions to decline significantly as compared to our 2018
property, equipment and intangible asset additions. The actual amount of our 2019 property, equipment and intangible asset
additions may vary from our expectations for a variety of reasons, including (i) changes in (a) the competitive or regulatory
environment, (b) business plans, (c) our expected future operating results or (d) foreign currency exchange rates and (ii) the
availability of sufficient capital. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that our actual property, equipment and intangible asset
additions will not vary materially from our expectations.

Financing Activities. The increase in net cash used by our financing activities is primarily attributable to the net effect of (i)
an increase in cash used of $2,812.0 million related to higher net repayments and repurchases of debt and finance lease obligations,
(ii) a decrease in cash used of $966.3 million due to lower repurchases of Liberty Global ordinary shares, (iii) an increase in cash
used of $277.3 million related to higher distributions by subsidiaries to noncontrolling interests and (iv) a decrease in cash used
of $250.9 million due to higher cash receipts related to derivative instruments.
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Adjusted Free Cash Flow

We define adjusted free cash flow as net cash provided by our operating activities of our continuing operations, plus (i) cash
payments for third-party costs directly associated with successful and unsuccessful acquisitions and dispositions and (ii) expenses
financed by an intermediary, less (a) capital expenditures, as reported in our consolidated statements of cash flows, (b) principal
payments on amounts financed by vendors and intermediaries and (c) principal payments on finance leases (exclusive of the
portions of the network lease in Belgium and the duct leases in Germany that we assumed in connection with an acquisition), with
each item excluding any cash provided or used by our discontinued operations. We believe that our presentation of adjusted free
cash flow provides useful information to our investors because this measure can be used to gauge our ability to service debt and
fund new investment opportunities. Adjusted free cash flow should not be understood to represent our ability to fund discretionary
amounts, as we have various mandatory and contractual obligations, including debt repayments, which are not deducted to arrive
at this amount. Investors should view adjusted free cash flow as a supplement to, and not a substitute for, E.U.-IFRS measures of
liquidity included in our consolidated statements of cash flows.

The following table provides the details of our adjusted free cash flow:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Net cash provided by operating activities of our continuing operations (2) ...........cceeeverveeveeruerceeruennns $ 3,970.5 $ 3.464.4
Cash payments for direct acquisition and diSpOSItion COSES............ccoivuiiruiiiiiiniiiiriiieieeee e 23.0 8.7
Expenses financed by an intermediary (D) .......coeoveueiriiiriiinieneriesesteesere ettt 1,883.7 1,343.9
Capital EXPENAItUIES, TEL......ccevuiriiriirtirtitetert ettt ettt sttt et eae et et b ebesbenaen (1,470.7)  (1,272.3)
Principal payments on amounts financed by vendors and intermediaries............cccoeeeveercrenenenennen (4,258.0)  (2,721.5)
Principal payments on certain finance 1eases...........cccuevieiriririninieneninenecrceeeeeeeee e (72.9) (78.6)
Adjusted free Cash FlOW .......c.oovcirieiiniiiniiiice et $ 756 $§ 7446

(a)  Amounts include interest payments related to debt that has been or may be repaid in connection with the completion of the
dispositions of UPC Austria, the Vodafone Disposal Group and UPC DTH. These interest payments have not been allocated
to discontinued operations.

(b)  For purposes of our consolidated statements of cash flows, expenses financed by an intermediary are treated as hypothetical
operating cash outflows and hypothetical financing cash inflows when the expenses are incurred. When we pay the financing
intermediary, we record financing cash outflows in our consolidated statements of cash flows. For purposes of our adjusted
free cash flow definition, we add back the hypothetical operating cash outflow when these financed expenses are incurred
and deduct the financing cash outflows when we pay the financing intermediary.
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Contractual Commitments

The following table sets forth the U.S. dollar equivalents of our commitments as of December 31, 2018:

Payments due during:
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total
in millions

Debt (excluding interest) ............ $ 35375 § 2698 § 23202 $§ 6733 $§ 1087 $224058 $ 29,3153
Finance leases (excluding
INEETESE) ..o 78.2 74.0 66.0 67.7 70.2 265.2 621.3
Network and connectivity
COMMItMENtS........coveveeerernenen. 629.4 282.1 243.6 60.3 44.1 776.4 2,035.9
Programming commitments........ 858.0 558.7 286.2 52.1 14.2 449 1,814.1
Purchase commitments................ 742.8 2439 88.5 31.9 20.4 45.5 1,173.0
Operating [eases.........ccccevevuernnne. 123.9 85.4 66.6 543 46.8 178.6 555.6
Other commitments .................... 27.0 32 0.5 0.3 — — 31.0
Total (a) c.ovveeveeeicereceenne $ 5996.8 § 1517.1 § 3,071.6 § 9399 § 3044 § 23,7164 § 35,546.2

Projected cash interest payments
on debt and finance lease

obligations (b) ......ccccecereruenene $ 1,2499 § 13302 § 1,2862 § 12192 § 11,1984 § 3,531.8 §$§ 948157

(@)  The commitments included in this table do not reflect any liabilities that are included in our December 31, 2018 consolidated
statement of financial position other than debt and finance lease obligations. Our liability for uncertain tax positions in the
various jurisdictions in which we operate ($553.5 million at December 31, 2018) has been excluded from the table as the
amount and timing of any related payments are not subject to reasonable estimation.

(b)  Amounts are based on interest rates, interest payment dates, commitment fees and contractual maturities in effect as of
December 31, 2018. These amounts are presented for illustrative purposes only and will likely differ from the actual cash
payments required in future periods. In addition, the amounts presented do not include the impact of our interest rate
derivative contracts, deferred financing costs, original issue premiums or discounts.

For information concerning our debt and finance lease obligations, see note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. For
information concerning our commitments, see note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition to the commitments set forth in the table above, we have significant commitments under (i) derivative instruments
and (ii) defined benefit plans and similar agreements, pursuant to which we expect to make payments in future periods. For
information regarding projected cash flows associated with these derivative instruments, see Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk — Projected Cash Flows Associated with Derivative Instruments below. For information regarding
our derivative instruments, including the net cash paid or received in connection with these instruments during 2018 and 2017,
see note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. For information concerning our defined benefit plans, see note 17 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimates

In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, we make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
Critical accounting policies are defined as those policies that are reflective of significant judgments, estimates and uncertainties,
which would potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. We believe the following
accounting policies are critical in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements because of the judgment necessary to
account for these matters and the significant estimates involved, which are susceptible to change:

*  Impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets (including goodwill);
»  Costs associated with construction and installation activities;

e Fair value measurements; and

* Income tax accounting.

We have discussed the selection of the aforementioned critical accounting policies with the audit committee of our board of
directors. For additional information concerning our significant accounting policies, see note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Impairment of Property and Equipment and Intangible Assets

Carrying Value. The aggregate carrying value of our property and equipment and intangible assets (including goodwill) that
was held for use comprised 67.3% of the total assets of our continuing operations at December 31, 2018.

When circumstances warrant, we review the carrying amounts of our property and equipment and our intangible assets (other
than goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets) to determine whether such carrying amounts continue to be recoverable.
Such changes in circumstance may include (i) an expectation of a sale or disposal of a non-current asset or asset group, (ii) adverse
changes in market or competitive conditions, (iii) an adverse change in legal factors or business climate in the markets in which
we operate and (iv) operating or cash flow losses. For purposes of impairment testing, non-current assets are grouped at the lowest
level for which cash flows are largely independent of other assets and liabilities, generally at or below the reporting unit level (see
below). If the carrying amount of the asset or asset group is greater than the expected undiscounted cash flows to be generated by
such asset or asset group, an impairment adjustment is recognized. Such adjustment is measured by the amount that the carrying
value of such asset or asset group exceeds its fair value. We generally measure fair value by considering (a) sale prices for similar
assets, (b) discounted estimated future cash flows using an appropriate discount rate and/or (c) estimated replacement cost. Assets
to be disposed of are recorded at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

We evaluate goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment at least annually on October 1 and whenever
facts and circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For impairment evaluations with respect to
both goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangibles, we first make a qualitative assessment to determine if the goodwill or other
indefinite-lived intangible may be impaired. In the case of goodwill, if a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying value,
we then compare the fair value of the reporting unit to its respective carrying amount. Any excess of the carrying amount over the
fair value would be charged to operations as an impairment loss. A reporting unit is an operating segment or one level below an
operating segment (referred to as a “component”). With respect to other indefinite-lived intangible assets, if the fair value of an
indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying value, we then estimate its fair value and any excess of the carrying value
over the fair value is also charged to operations as an impairment loss.

When required, considerable management judgment is necessary to estimate the fair value of reporting units and underlying
non-current and indefinite-lived assets. The equity of one of our reporting units, Telenet, is publicly traded in an active market.
For this reporting unit, our fair value determination is based on quoted market prices. For other reporting units, we typically
determine fair value using an income-based approach (discounted cash flows) based on assumptions in our long-range business
plans and, in some cases, a combination of an income-based approach and a market-based approach. With respect to our discounted
cash flow analysis used in the income-based approach, the timing and amount of future cash flows under these business plans
require estimates of, among other items, subscriber growth and retention rates, rates charged per product, expected gross margins
and Adjusted EBITDA margins and expected property and equipment additions. The development of these cash flows, and the
discount rate applied to the cash flows, is subject to inherent uncertainties, and actual results could vary significantly from such
estimates. Our determination of the discount rate is based on a weighted average cost of capital approach, which uses a market
participant’s cost of equity and after-tax cost of debt and reflects the risks inherent in the cash flows. Based on the results of our
2018 qualitative assessment of our reporting unit carrying values, we determined that fair value exceeded carrying value for all
of our reporting units.
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During the three years ended December 31, 2018, we did not record any significant impairment charges with respect to our
property and equipment and intangible assets. For additional information regarding our non-current assets, see note 7 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

If, among other factors, (i) our equity values were to decline significantly or (ii) the adverse impacts of economic, competitive,
regulatory or other factors were to cause our results of operations or cash flows to be worse than anticipated, we could conclude
in future periods that impairment charges are required in order to reduce the carrying values of our goodwill and, to a lesser extent,
other non-current assets. Any such impairment charges could be significant.

Costs Associated with Construction and Installation Activities

We capitalize costs associated with the construction of new cable and mobile transmission and distribution facilities and the
installation of new cable services. Installation activities that are capitalized include (i) the initial connection (or drop) from our
cable system to a customer location, (ii) the replacement of a drop and (iii) the installation of equipment for additional services,
such as digital cable, telephone or broadband internet service. The costs of other customer-facing activities, such as reconnecting
customer locations where a drop already exists, disconnecting customer locations and repairing or maintaining drops, are expensed
as incurred.

The nature and amount of labor and other costs to be capitalized with respect to construction and installation activities involves
significant judgment and estimate. In addition to direct external and internal labor and materials, we also capitalize other costs
directly attributable to our construction and installation activities, including dispatch costs, quality-control costs, vehicle-related
costs and certain warechouse-related costs. The capitalization of these costs is based on time sheets, time studies, standard costs,
call tracking systems and other verifiable means that directly link the costs incurred with the applicable capitalizable activity. We
continuously monitor the appropriateness of our capitalization policies and update the policies when necessary to respond to
changes in facts and circumstances, such as the development of new products and services and changes in the manner that
installations or construction activities are performed.

Fair Value Measurements

E.U.-IFRS provides guidance with respect to the recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements and for a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. Level 1 inputs are
quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the
measurement date. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Recurring Valuations. We perform recurring fair value measurements with respect to our derivative instruments, our fair value
method investments and certain instruments that we classify as debt, each of which are carried at fair value. We use (i) cash flow
valuation models to determine the fair values of our interest rate and foreign currency derivative instruments and (ii) a Black
Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair values of our equity-related derivative instruments. We use quoted market
prices when available and, when not available, we use a combination of an income approach (discounted cash flows) and a market
approach (market multiples of similar businesses) to determine the fair value of our fair value method investments. For a detailed
discussion of the inputs we use to determine the fair value of our derivative instruments and fair value method investments, see
note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. See also notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information
concerning our fair value method investments and derivative instruments, respectively.

Changes in the fair values of our derivative instruments, fair value method investments and certain instruments that we classify
as debt have had, and we believe will continue to have, a significant and volatile impact on our results of operations. During 2018
and 2017, we recognized a net gain (loss) of $744.5 million and ($1,013.0 million), respectively, attributable to changes in the fair
values of these items.

As further described in note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, actual amounts received or paid upon the settlement
or disposition of these investments and instruments may differ materially from the recorded fair values at December 31, 2018.

For information concerning the sensitivity of the fair value of certain of our more significant derivative instruments to changes
in market conditions, see Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk — Sensitivity Information below.

Nonrecurring Valuations. Our nonrecurring valuations are primarily associated with (i) the application of acquisition
accounting and (ii) impairment assessments, both of which require that we make fair value determinations as of the applicable
valuation date. In making these determinations, we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the recorded amounts,
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including, but not limited to, expected future cash flows, market comparables and discount rates, remaining useful lives of non-
current assets, replacement or reproduction costs of property and equipment and the amounts to be recovered in future periods
from acquired net operating losses and other deferred tax assets. To assist us in making these fair value determinations, we may
engage third-party valuation specialists. Our estimates in this area impact, among other items, the amount of depreciation and
amortization, impairment charges and income tax expense or benefit that we report. Our estimates of fair value are based upon
assumptions we believe to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain. A significant portion of our non-current assets were
initially recorded through the application of acquisition accounting and all of our non-current assets are subject to impairment
assessments. For additional information, see note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. For information regarding our
acquisitions and non-current assets, see notes 5 and 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively.

Income Tax Accounting

We are required to estimate the amount of tax payable or refundable for the current year and the deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and income
tax basis of assets and liabilities and the expected benefits of utilizing net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, using enacted
or substantially enacted tax rates in effect for each taxing jurisdiction in which we operate for the year in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. This process requires our management to make assessments regarding the
timing and probability of the ultimate tax impact of such items.

Net deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that the realization of them is considered probable. Recognizing deferred
tax assets requires us to make assessments about the timing of future events, including the probability of expected future taxable
income and available tax planning strategies. At December 31,2018, the aggregate of unrecognized deferred tax assets was $4,055.9
million. The actual amount of deferred income tax benefits realized in future periods will likely differ from the net deferred tax
assets reflected in our December 31, 2018 consolidated balance sheet due to, among other factors, possible future changes in
income tax law or interpretations thereof in the jurisdictions in which we operate and differences between estimated and actual
future taxable income. Any such factors could have a material effect on our current and deferred tax positions as reported in the
consolidated financial statements. A high degree of judgment is required to assess the impact of possible future outcomes on our
current and deferred tax positions.

Tax laws in jurisdictions in which we have a presence are subject to varied interpretation, and many tax positions we take are
subject to significant uncertainty regarding whether the position will be ultimately sustained after review by the relevant tax
authority. We recognize the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is considered probable that the position will be
sustained upon examination. The determination of whether the tax position meets the probable threshold requires a facts-based
judgment using all information available. In a number of cases, we have concluded that the probable threshold is not met and,
accordingly, the amount of tax benefit recognized in the consolidated financial statements is different than the amount taken or
expected to be taken in our tax returns.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk in the normal course of our business operations due to our investments in various foreign
countries and ongoing investing and financing activities. Market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and stock prices. The risk of loss can be assessed from the perspective of adverse
changes in fair values, cash flows and future profits. As further described below, we have established policies, procedures and
processes governing our management of market risks and the use of derivative instruments to manage our exposure to such risks.

Cash and Investments

We invest our cash in highly liquid instruments that meet high credit quality standards. We are exposed to exchange rate risk
to the extent that the denominations of our cash and cash equivalent balances, revolving lines of credit and other short-term sources
of liquidity do not correspond to the denominations of our and our subsidiaries’ short-term liquidity requirements. In order to
mitigate this risk, we actively manage the denominations of our cash balances in light of our and our subsidiaries’ forecasted
liquidity requirements. At December 31, 2018, $670.2 million or 45.3%, $646.0 million or 43.6% and $151.3 million or 10.2%
of our consolidated cash balances were denominated in euros, U.S. dollars and British pounds sterling, respectively.

We are exposed to market price fluctuations related to our investments in ITV and Lionsgate shares. At December 31, 2018,
the aggregate fair value of these investments was $634.2 million and $77.5 million, respectively. All of our ITV shares are held
through the ITV Collar, and 50% of our Lionsgate shares are held through the Lionsgate Forward. For information concerning
the terms of (1) the ITV Collarand ITV Collar Loan and (ii) the Lionsgate Forward and Lionsgate Loan, see note 9 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. For those shares that are held through the ITV Collar and the Lionsgate Forward, our exposure to market
risk is limited. For additional information concerning our investments in ITV and Lionsgate shares, see note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect to our consolidated debt in situations where our debt is
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations whose cash flows support our ability to repay or
refinance such debt. Although we generally match the denomination of our and our subsidiaries’ borrowings with the functional
currency of the operations that are supporting the respective borrowings, market conditions or other factors may cause us to enter
into borrowing arrangements that are not denominated in the functional currency of the underlying operations (unmatched debt).
In these cases, our policy is to provide for an economic hedge against foreign currency exchange rate movements by using derivative
instruments to synthetically convert unmatched debt into the applicable underlying currency. At December 31, 2018, substantially
all of our debt was either directly or synthetically matched to the applicable functional currencies of the underlying operations.
For additional information concerning the terms of our derivative instruments, see note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition to the exposure that results from the mismatch of our borrowings and underlying functional currencies, we are
exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that we enter into transactions denominated in currencies other than our or our
subsidiaries’ respective functional currencies (non-functional currency risk), such as equipment purchases, programming contracts,
notes payable and notes receivable (including intercompany amounts). Changes in exchange rates with respect to amounts recorded
in our consolidated statements of financial position related to these items will result in unrealized (based upon period-end exchange
rates) or realized foreign currency transaction gains and losses upon settlement of the transactions. Moreover, to the extent that
our revenue, costs and expenses are denominated in currencies other than our respective functional currencies, we will experience
fluctuations in our revenue, costs and expenses solely as a result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.Generally, we will
consider hedging non-functional currency risks when the risks arise from agreements with third parties that involve the future
payment or receipt of cash or other monetary items to the extent that we can reasonably predict the timing and amount of such
payments or receipts and the payments or receipts are not otherwise hedged. In this regard, we have entered into foreign currency
forward contracts to hedge certain of these risks. For additional information concerning our foreign currency forward contracts,
see note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We also are exposed to unfavorable and potentially volatile fluctuations of the U.S. dollar (our reporting currency) against
the currencies of our operating subsidiaries when their respective financial statements are translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion
in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Cumulative translation adjustments are recorded in foreign currency translation reserve
as a separate component of equity. Any increase (decrease) in the value of the U.S. dollar against any foreign currency that is the
functional currency of one of our operating subsidiaries will cause us to experience unrealized foreign currency translation losses
(gains) with respect to amounts already invested in such foreign currencies. Accordingly, we may experience a negative impact
on our comprehensive income or loss and equity with respect to our holdings solely as a result of FX. Our primary exposure to
FX risk during the year ended December 31, 2018 was to the British pound sterling and euro as 53.2% and 32.0% of our reported
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revenue during the period was derived from subsidiaries whose functional currencies are the British pound sterling and euro,
respectively. In addition, our reported operating results are impacted by changes in the exchange rates for the Swiss franc and
other local currencies in Europe. We do not hedge against the risk that we may incur non-cash losses upon the translation of the
financial statements of our subsidiaries and affiliates into U.S. dollars. For information regarding certain currency instability risks
with respect to the British pound sterling and euro, see Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations — Overview above.

The relationships between the primary currencies of the countries in which we operate and the U.S. dollar, which is our
reporting currency, are shown below, per one U.S. dollar:

As of December 31,
2018 2017
Spot rates:

201 ¢ o OSSR 0.8732 0.8318
British pound StEILING.......c.cociiiiiiiiiice s 0.7846 0.7394
SWISS TTATIC 1..vvieivieiie ettt ettt ettt et et e e e e et e e beestbeesbeessbeesbeeseesnseenseesnsaesssessseensseanseeseeanseensnennes 0.9828 0.9736
Hungarian fOTINt..........cooiiiiiiii et 280.21 258.41
POLISI ZIOTY ...ttt s et et ekt be btttk besh et e be s e tentennens 3.7454 3.4730
Czech koruna... 22.471 21.243
ROMANIAN 101 ...ttt ettt et b e e s e e te e b e sreesbeese e beessesbeessesseessesseensenns 4.0640 3.8830

Year ended December 31,

2018 2017
Average rates:
UL ettt ettt sttt et b e et be e ene 0.8472 0.8852
British pound StEITING ........cc.eoveiiiiiiiiiire ettt s 0.7498 0.7767
SWISS TTAIIC ...ttt ettt et eb bbbt e bt e bt s bbb e et et b et ennene 0.9781 0.9847
HUNGATTAN OTINL. ...ttt ettt ettt s sr e s st eenennene 270.21 274.34
POLISI ZIOTY ...ttt b bbb e sttt ettt 3.6108 3.7766
(04<T0] 1 1001 1 13- TSSOSO 21.734 23.374
ROMANIAN 181 ...ttt ettt ettt sttt b et sttt b et ea e ennene 3.9430 4.0514

Inflation and Foreign Investment Risk

We are subject to inflationary pressures with respect to labor, programming and other costs. While we attempt to increase our
revenue to offset increases in costs, there is no assurance that we will be able to do so. Therefore, costs could rise faster than
associated revenue, thereby resulting in a negative impact on our operating results, cash flows and liquidity. The economic
environment in the respective countries in which we operate is a function of government, economic, fiscal and monetary policies
and various other factors beyond our control that could lead to inflation. We are unable to predict the extent that price levels might
be impacted in future periods by the current state of the economies in the countries in which we operate.

Interest Rate Risks

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as a result of our borrowing activities, which include fixed-rate and
variable-rate borrowings by our borrowing groups. Our primary exposure to variable-rate debt is through the EURIBOR-indexed
and LIBOR-indexed debt of our borrowing groups and the variable-rate debt of certain of our other subsidiaries.

In general, we enter into derivative instruments to protect against increases in the interest rates on our variable-rate debt.
Accordingly, we have entered into various derivative transactions to manage exposure to increases in interest rates. We use interest
rate derivative contracts to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable interest rates calculated by
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. We also use interest rate cap and collar agreements and swaptions that
lock in a maximum interest rate if variable rates rise, but also allow our company to benefit, to a limited extent in the case of
collars, from declines in market rates. Under our current guidelines, we use various interest rate derivative instruments to mitigate
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interest rate risk, generally for five years, with the later years covered primarily by swaptions. As such, the final maturity dates of
our various portfolios of interest rate derivative instruments generally fall short of the respective maturities of the underlying
variable-rate debt. In this regard, we use judgment to determine the appropriate composition and maturity dates of our portfolios
of interest rate derivative instruments, taking into account the relative costs and benefits of different maturity profiles in light of
current and expected future market conditions, liquidity issues and other factors. For additional information concerning the impacts
of these interest rate derivative instruments, see note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In July 2017, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (the authority that regulates LIBOR) announced that it intends to stop
compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. Currently, it is not possible to predict the exact transitional
arrangements for calculating applicable reference rates that may be made in the U.K., the U.S., the Eurozone or elsewhere given
thatanumber of outcomes are possible, including the cessation of the publication of one or more reference rates. Our loan documents
contain provisions that contemplate alternative calculations of the base rate applicable to our LIBOR-indexed debt to the extent
LIBOR is not available, which alternative calculations we do not anticipate will be materially different from what would have
been calculated under LIBOR. Additionally, no mandatory prepayment or redemption provisions would be triggered under our
loan documents in the event that the LIBOR rate is not available. It is possible, however, that any new reference rate that applies
to our LIBOR-indexed debt could be different than any new reference rate that applies to our LIBOR-indexed derivative instruments.
We anticipate managing this difference and any resulting increased variable-rate exposure through modifications to our debt and/
or derivative instruments, however future market conditions may not allow immediate implementation of desired modifications
and/or the company may incur significant associated costs.

Weighted Average Variable Interest Rate. At December 31, 2018, the outstanding principal amount of our variable-rate
indebtedness aggregated $11.7 billion, and the weighted average interest rate (including margin) on such variable-rate indebtedness
was approximately 4.2%, excluding the effects of interest rate derivative contracts, deferred financing costs, original issue premiums
or discounts and commitment fees, all of which affect our overall cost of borrowing. Assuming no change in the amount outstanding,
and without giving effect to any interest rate derivative contracts, deferred financing costs, original issue premiums or discounts
and commitment fees, a hypothetical 50 basis point (0.50%) increase (decrease) in our weighted average variable interest rate
would increase (decrease) our annual consolidated interest expense and cash outflows by $58.5 million. As discussed above and
in note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we use interest rate derivative contracts to manage our exposure to increases
in variable interest rates. In this regard, increases in the fair value of these contracts generally would be expected to offset most
of the economic impact of increases in the variable interest rates applicable to our indebtedness to the extent and during the period
that principal amounts are matched with interest rate derivative contracts.

Counterparty Credit Risk

We are exposed to the risk that the counterparties to the derivative instruments, undrawn debt facilities and cash investments
of our subsidiary borrowing groups will default on their obligations to us. We manage these credit risks through the evaluation
and monitoring of the creditworthiness of, and concentration of risk with, the respective counterparties. In this regard, credit risk
associated with our derivative instruments and undrawn debt facilities is spread across a relatively broad counterparty base of
banks and financial institutions. With the exception of a limited number of instances where we have required a counterparty to
post collateral, neither party has posted collateral under the derivative instruments of our subsidiary borrowing groups. Collateral
is generally not posted by either party under the derivative instruments of our subsidiary borrowing groups. Most of our cash
currently is invested in either (i) AAA credit rated money market funds, including funds that invest in government obligations, or
(i1) overnight deposits with banks having a minimum credit rating of A by Standard & Poor’s or an equivalent rating by Moody’s
Investor Service. To date, neither the access to nor the value of our cash and cash equivalent balances have been adversely impacted
by liquidity problems of financial institutions.

At December 31, 2018, our exposure to counterparty credit risk included (i) derivative assets with an aggregate fair value of
$617.3 million, (ii) cash and cash equivalent and restricted cash balances of $1,498.3 million and (iii) aggregate undrawn debt
facilities of $2,503.8 million.

Each of our subsidiary borrowing groups have entered into derivative instruments under master agreements with each
counterparty that contain master netting arrangements that are applicable in the event of early termination by either party to such
derivative instrument. The master netting arrangements are limited to the derivative instruments, and derivative-related debt
instruments, governed by the relevant master agreement within each individual borrowing group and are independent of similar
arrangements of our other subsidiary borrowing groups.

Under our derivative contracts, it is generally only the non-defaulting party that has a contractual option to exercise early
termination rights upon the default of the other counterparty and to set off other liabilities against sums due upon such termination.
However, in an insolvency of a derivative counterparty, under the laws of certain jurisdictions, the defaulting counterparty or its
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insolvency representatives may be able to compel the termination of one or more derivative contracts and trigger early termination
payment liabilities payable by us, reflecting any mark-to-market value of the contracts for the counterparty. Alternatively, or in
addition, the insolvency laws of certain jurisdictions may require the mandatory set off of amounts due under such derivative
contracts against present and future liabilities owed to us under other contracts between us and the relevant counterparty.
Accordingly, it is possible that we may be subject to obligations to make payments, or may have present or future liabilities owed
to us partially or fully discharged by set off as a result of such obligations, in the event of the insolvency of a derivative counterparty,
even though it is the counterparty that is in default and not us. To the extent that we are required to make such payments, our
ability to do so will depend on our liquidity and capital resources at the time. In an insolvency of a defaulting counterparty, we
will be an unsecured creditor in respect of any amount owed to us by the defaulting counterparty, except to the extent of the value
of any collateral we have obtained from that counterparty.

In addition, where a counterparty is in financial difficulty, under the laws of certain jurisdictions, the relevant regulators may
be able to (i) compel the termination of one or more derivative instruments, determine the settlement amount and/or compel,
without any payment, the partial or full discharge of liabilities arising from such early termination that are payable by the relevant
counterparty or (ii) transfer the derivative instruments to an alternative counterparty.

While we currently have no specific concerns about the creditworthiness of any counterparty for which we have material
credit risk exposures, we cannot rule out the possibility that one or more of our counterparties could fail or otherwise be unable
to meet its obligations to us. Any such instance could have an adverse effect on our cash flows, results of operations, financial
condition and/or liquidity.

Although we actively monitor the creditworthiness of our key vendors, the financial failure of a key vendor could disrupt our
operations and have an adverse impact on our revenue and cash flows.

Sensitivity Information

Information concerning the sensitivity of the fair value of certain of our more significant derivative instruments to changes
in market conditions is set forth below. The potential changes in fair value set forth below do not include any amounts associated
with the remeasurement of the derivative asset or liability into the applicable functional currency. For additional information, see
notes 9 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Virgin Media Cross-currency and Interest Rate Derivative Contracts
Holding all other factors constant, at December 31, 2018, an instantaneous increase (decrease) of 10% in the value of the
British pound sterling relative to the U.S. dollar would have decreased (increased) the aggregate fair value of the Virgin Media
cross-currency and interest rate derivative contracts by approximately £560 million ($714 million).
UPC Holding Cross-currency and Interest Rate Derivative Contracts

Holding all other factors constant, at December 31, 2018:

(1) an instantaneous increase (decrease) of 10% in the value of the Swiss franc, Polish zloty, Hungarian forint, Czech
koruna and Romanian lei relative to the euro would have decreased (increased) the aggregate fair value of the UPC
Holding cross-currency and interest rate derivative contracts by approximately €420 million ($481 million);

(il)  an instantaneous increase (decrease) of 10% in the value of the euro relative to the U.S. dollar would have decreased
(increased) the aggregate fair value of the UPC Holding cross-currency and interest rate derivative contracts by
approximately €242 million ($277 million); and

(iii) an instantaneous increase (decrease) of 10% in the value of the Swiss franc relative to the U.S. dollar would have

decreased (increased) the aggregate fair value of the UPC Holding cross-currency and interest rate derivative contracts
by approximately €92 million ($105 million).
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Telenet Cross-currency and Interest Rate Derivative Contracts
Holding all other factors constant, at December 31, 2018:

(1) an instantaneous increase (decrease) of 10% in the value of the euro relative to the U.S. dollar would have decreased
(increased) the aggregate fair value of the Telenet cross-currency derivative contracts by approximately €330 million
($378 million); and

(il)  aninstantaneousincrease (decrease)in the relevant base rate of 50 basis points (0.50%) would have increased (decreased)
the aggregate fair value of the Telenet cross currency, interest rate cap and swap contracts by approximately €106
million ($121 million).

Projected Cash Flows Associated with Derivative Instruments

The following table provides information regarding the projected cash flows associated with our derivative instruments. The
U.S. dollar equivalents presented below are based on interest rates and exchange rates that were in effect as of December 31, 2018.
These amounts are presented for illustrative purposes only and will likely differ from the actual cash payments required in future
periods. For additional information regarding our derivative instruments, see note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. For
information concerning the counterparty credit risk associated with our derivative instruments, see the discussion under
Counterparty Credit Risk above.

Payments (receipts) due during:
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total

in millions

Projected derivative cash payments
(receipts), net:

Interest-related () ........ccervnenenee. $ (@7.1) $ (1163) $§ (9400 $ (113.8) $ (131.2) $ (163.1) $ (645.5)
Principal-related (b) ......ccccveeenene 5.7 62.5 (155.7) (243.7) (129.3) (787.4) (1,247.9)
(o1 TS A P 19.3 (553)  (489.2)  (183.6) — — (708.8)

L] | T $ 2.1) $ (109.1) $ (7389) $ (541.1) § (260.5) $ (950.5) $ (2,602.2)

(a)  Includes (i) the cash flows of our interest rate cap, swaption, collar and swap contracts and (ii) the interest-related cash
flows of our cross-currency and interest rate swap contracts.

(b)  Includes the principal-related cash flows of our cross-currency swap contracts.
(¢)  Includes amounts related to our equity-related derivative instruments and foreign currency forward contracts. We may elect

to use cash or the collective value of the related shares and equity-related derivative instrument to settle the ITV Collar
Loan and the Lionsgate Loan.
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RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report, you should consider the following risk factors in evaluating
our results of operations, financial condition, business and operations or an investment in the shares of our company.

The risk factors described in this section have been separated into four groups:

»  risks that relate to the competition we face and the technology used in our businesses;

»  risks that relate to our operating in overseas markets and being subject to foreign regulation;
» risks that relate to certain financial matters; and

»  other risks, including risks that, among other things, relate to the obstacles that may be faced by anyone who may seek
to acquire us.

Although we describe below and elsewhere in this annual report the risks we consider to be the most material, there may be
other unknown or unpredictable economic, business, competitive, regulatory or other factors that also could have material adverse
effects on our results of operations, financial condition, business or operations in the future. In addition, past financial performance
may not be a reliable indicator of future performance and historical trends should not be used to anticipate results or trends in
future periods.

If any of the events described below, individually or in combination, were to occur, our businesses, prospects, financial
condition, results of operations and/or cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Factors Relating to Competition and Technology

We operate in increasingly competitive markets, and there is a risk that we will not be able to effectively compete with other
service providers. The markets for cable television, broadband internet, telephony and mobile services are highly competitive. In
the provision of video services, we face competition from FTA and DTT broadcasters, video provided via satellite platforms,
networks using DSL, VDSL or vectoring technology, multi-channel multipoint distribution system operators, FTTx networks,
OTT video content aggregators, and, in some countries where parts of our systems are overbuilt, cable networks, among others.
Our operating businesses are facing increasing competition from video services provided by, or over the networks of, incumbent
telecommunications operators and other service providers. As the availability and speed of broadband internet increases, we also
face competition from OTT video content providers utilizing our or our competitors’ high-speed internet connections. In the
provision of telephony and broadband internet services, we are experiencing increasing competition from the incumbent
telecommunications operators and other service providers in each country in which we operate, as well as mobile providers of
voice and data. The incumbent telecommunications operators typically dominate the market for these services and have the
advantage of nationwide networks and greater resources than we have to devote to the provision of these services. Many of the
incumbent operators offer double-play, triple-play and quadruple-play bundles of services. In many countries, we also compete
with other operators using LLU to provide these services, other facilities-based operators and wireless providers. Developments
in the DSL and other technology used by the incumbent telecommunications operators and alternative providers have improved
the attractiveness of our competitors’ products and services and strengthened their competitive position. Developments in wireless
technologies, such as LTE and WiFi, are creating additional competitive challenges.

In some of our markets, national and local government agencies may seek to become involved, either directly or indirectly,
in the establishment of FTTx networks, DTT systems or other communications systems. We intend to pursue available options to
restrict such involvement or to ensure that such involvement is on commercially reasonable terms. There can be no assurance,
however, that we will be successful in these pursuits. As a result, we may face competition from entities not requiring a normal
commercial return on their investments. In addition, we may face more vigorous competition than would have been the case if
there were no government involvement.

We expect the level and intensity of competition to continue to increase from both existing competitors and new market
entrants as a result of changes in the regulatory framework of the industries in which we operate, advances in technology, the
influx of new market entrants and strategic alliances and cooperative relationships among industry participants. Increased
competition could result in increased customer churn, reductions of customer acquisition rates for some products and services and
significant price and promotional competition in our markets. In combination with difficult economic environments, these
competitive pressures could adversely impact our ability to increase or, in certain cases, maintain the revenue, ARPU, RGUs,
mobile subscribers, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margins and liquidity of our operating segments.
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Changes in technology may limit the competitiveness of and demand for our services. Technology in the video,
telecommunications and data services industries is changing rapidly, including advances in current technologies and the emergence
of new technologies. New technologies, products and services may impact consumer behavior and therefore demand for our
products and services. The ability to anticipate changes in technology and consumer tastes and to develop and introduce new and
enhanced products and services on a timely basis will affect our ability to continue to grow, increase our revenue and number of
subscribers and remain competitive. New products and services, once marketed, may not meet consumer expectations or demand,
can be subject to delays in development and may fail to operate as intended. A lack of market acceptance of new products and
services that we may offer, or the development of significant competitive products or services by others, could have a material
adverse impact on our revenue and Adjusted EBITDA.

Our significant property and equipment additions, namely in connection with our Network Extensions, may not generate
a positive return. Significant additions to our property and equipment are, or in the future may be, required to add customers to
our networks and to upgrade or expand our broadband communications networks and upgrade customer premises equipment to
enhance our service offerings and improve the customer experience. Additions to our property and equipment, which are currently
underway, including in connection with our Network Extensions, require significant capital expenditures for equipment and
associated labor costs to build out and/or upgrade our networks as well as for related customer premises equipment. Additionally,
significant competition, the introduction of new technologies, the expansion of existing technologies, such as FTTx and advanced
DSL technologies, the impact of natural disasters, or adverse regulatory developments could cause us to decide to undertake
previously unplanned builds or upgrades of our networks and customer premises equipment.

No assurance can be given that any rebuilds, upgrades or extensions of our network (including the Network Extensions) will
increase penetration rates, increase average monthly subscription revenue per average cable RGU or mobile subscriber, as
applicable, or otherwise generate positive returns as anticipated, or that we will have adequate capital available to finance such
rebuilds, upgrades or extensions. Additionally, costs related to our Network Extensions and property and equipment additions
could end up being greater than originally anticipated or planned. If this is the case, we may require additional financing sooner
than anticipated or we may have to delay or abandon some or all of our development and expansion plans or otherwise forego
market opportunities. Additional financing may not be available on favorable terms, if at all, and our ability to incur additional
debt will be limited by our debt agreements. If we are unable to, or elect not to, pay for costs associated with adding new customers,
expanding, extending or upgrading our networks or making our other planned or unplanned additions to our property and equipment,
or are delayed in making such investments, our growth could be limited and our competitive position could be harmed.

We depend almost exclusively on our relationships with third-party programming providers and broadcasters for
programming content, and a failure to acquire a wide selection of popular programming on acceptable terms could adversely
affect our business. The success of our video subscription business depends, in large part, on our ability to provide a wide selection
of popular programming to our subscribers. We generally do not produce our own content and we depend on our agreements,
relationships and cooperation with public and private broadcasters and collective rights associations to obtain such content. If we
fail to obtain a diverse array of popular programming for our pay television services, including a sufficient selection of HD channels
as well as non-linear content (such as a selection of attractive VoD content and rights for ancillary services such as DVR and catch
up or 'Replay’ services), on satisfactory terms, we may not be able to offer a compelling video product to our customers at a price
they are willing to pay. Additionally, we are frequently negotiating and renegotiating programming agreements and our annual
costs for programming can vary. There can be no assurance that we will be able to renegotiate or renew the terms of our programming
agreements on acceptable terms or at all. We expect that programming and copyright costs will continue to rise in future periods
as a result of (i) higher costs associated with the expansion of our digital video content, including rights associated with ancillary
product offerings and rights that provide for the broadcast of live sporting events, (ii) rate increases and (iii) growth in the number
of our enhanced video subscribers.

If we are unable to obtain or retain attractively priced competitive content, demand for our existing and future video services
could decrease, thereby limiting our ability to attract new customers, maintain existing customers and/or migrate customers from
lower-tier programming to higher-tier programming, thereby inhibiting our ability to execute our business plans. Furthermore, we
may be placed at a competitive disadvantage if certain of our competitors obtain exclusive programming rights, particularly with
respect to popular sports and movie programming, and as certain entrants in the OTT market, for example Netflix, Amazon and
even Disney, increasingly produce their own exclusive content.

We depend on third-party suppliers and licensors to supply necessary equipment, software and certain services required
for our businesses. We rely on third-party vendors for the equipment, software and services that we require in order to provide
services to our customers. Our suppliers often conduct business worldwide and their ability to meet our needs is subject to various
risks, including political and economic instability, natural calamities, interruptions in transportation systems, terrorism and labor
issues. As a result, we may not be able to obtain the equipment, software and services required for our businesses on a timely basis
or on satisfactory terms. Any shortfall in customer premises equipment could lead to delays in completing extensions to our
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networks and in connecting customers to our services and, accordingly, could adversely impact our ability to maintain or increase
our RGUs, revenue and cash flows. Also, if demand exceeds the suppliers’ and licensors’ capacity or if they experience financial
difficulties, the ability of our businesses to provide some services may be materially adversely affected, which in turn could affect
our businesses’ ability to attract and retain customers. Although we actively monitor the creditworthiness of our key third-party
suppliers and licensors, the financial failure of a key third-party supplier or licensor could disrupt our operations and have an
adverse impact on our revenue and cash flows. We rely upon intellectual property that is owned or licensed by us to use various
technologies, conduct our operations and sell our products and services. Legal challenges could be made against our use of our
or our licensed intellectual property rights (such as trademarks, patents and trade secrets) and we may be required to enter into
licensing arrangements on unfavorable terms, incur monetary damages or be enjoined from use of the intellectual property rights
in question.

Certain of our businesses that offer mobile telephony and data services rely on the radio access networks of third-party
wireless network providers to carry our mobile communications traffic. Our services to mobile customers in many jurisdictions
in which we operate rely on the use of MVNO arrangements in which we utilize the radio access networks of third-party wireless
network providers to carry our mobile communications traffic. If any of our MVNO arrangements are terminated, or if the respective
third-party wireless network provider fails to provide the services required under an MVNO arrangement, or if a third-party wireless
network provider fails to deploy and maintain its network, and we are unable to find a replacement network operator on a timely
and commercially reasonable basis or at all, we could be prevented from continuing the mobile services relying on such MVNO
arrangement. Additionally, as our MVNO arrangements come to term, we may not be able to renegotiate renewal or replacement
MVNO arrangements on the same or more favorable terms.

Failure in our or third-party technology or telecommunications systems or leakage of sensitive customer data could
significantly disrupt our operations, reduce our customer base and resultin fines, litigation or lost revenue. Our success depends,
in part, on the continued and uninterrupted performance of our information technology and network systems, including internet
sites, data hosting and processing facilities and other hardware, software and technical applications and platforms, as well as our
customer service centers. Some of these are managed, hosted, provided or used by third-party service providers or their vendors,
to assist in conducting our business. In addition, the hardware supporting a large number of critical systems for our cable network
in a particular country or geographic region is housed in a relatively small number of locations. Our and our third-party service
providers’ systems and equipment (including our routers and set-top boxes) are vulnerable to damage or security breach from a
variety of sources, including telecommunications failures, power loss, malicious human acts, security flaws, and natural disasters.
Moreover, despite security measures, our and our third-party service providers’ servers, systems and equipment are potentially
vulnerable to physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses, worms, phishing attacks and similar disruptive actions. We and
our third party service providers may not be able to anticipate or respond in an adequate and timely manner to attempts to obtain
authorized access to, disable or degrade our or our third party service providers’ systems because the techniques for doing so
change frequently, are increasingly complex and sophisticated and are difficult to detect for periods of time. In addition, the security
measures and procedures we and our third-party service providers have in place to protect sensitive consumer data and other
information may not be sufficient to counter all data security breaches, cyber-attacks, or system failures. In some cases, mitigation
efforts may depend on third parties who may not deliver products or services that meet the required contractual standards or whose
hardware, software or network services may be subject to error, defect, delay, or outage.

Furthermore, our operating activities could be subject to risks caused by misappropriation, misuse, leakage, falsification or
accidental release or loss of information maintained in our information technology systems and networks and those of our third-
party vendors, including customer, personnel and vendor data. As a result of the increasing awareness concerning the importance
of safeguarding personal information, the potential misuse of such information and legislation that has been adopted or is being
considered across all of our markets regarding the protection, privacy and security of personal information, information-related
risks are increasing, particularly for businesses like ours that handle a large amount of personal customer data. Failure to comply
with these data protection laws may result in, among other consequences, fines, litigation or regulatory actions by state, federal
or non-U.S. authorities.

Despite the precautions we have taken, unanticipated problems affecting our systems could cause business disruptions such
as failures in our information technology systems, disruption in the transmission of signals over our networks or similar problems.
Further, although we devote significant resources to our cybersecurity programs and have implemented security measures to protect
our systems and data, and to prevent, detect and respond to data security incidents, there can be no assurance that our efforts will
prevent these threats. Any disruptive situation that causes loss, misappropriation, misuse or leakage of data could damage our
reputation and the credibility of our operations, and could subject us to potential liability, including litigation or other legal actions
against us or the imposition of penalties, fines, fees or liabilities, which may not be covered by our insurance policies. Further,
sustained or repeated system failures that interrupt our ability to provide service to our customers or otherwise meet our business
obligations in a timely manner could adversely affect our reputation and result in a loss of customers and an adverse impact on
revenue. Also, a cybersecurity breach could require us to devote significant management resources to address the problems
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associated with the breach and to expend significant additional resources to upgrade further the security measures we employ to
protect personal information against cyber-attacks and other wrongful attempts to access such information, which could result in
a disruption of our operations.

The “Virgin” brand is used by our subsidiary Virgin Media under licenses from Virgin Enterprises Limited and is not
under the control of Virgin Media. The activities of the group of companies utilizing the “Virgin” brand and other licensees
could have a material adverse effect on the goodwill of customers towards Virgin Media as a licensee and the licenses from
Virgin Enterprises Limited can be terminated in certain circumstances. The “Virgin” brand is integral to Virgin Media’s corporate
identity. Virgin Media is reliant on the general goodwill of consumers towards the Virgin brand. Consequently, adverse publicity
in relation to the group of companies utilizing the “Virgin” brand or its principals, particularly Sir Richard Branson, who is closely
associated with the brand, or in relation to another licensee of the “Virgin” name and logo (particularly in the U.K., where Virgin
Media does business) could have a material adverse effect on Virgin Media’s reputation and on Virgin Media’s and our business
and results of operations. In addition, the licenses from Virgin Enterprises Limited can be terminated in certain circumstances.
For example, Virgin Enterprises Limited can terminate the licenses, after providing Virgin Media with an opportunity to cure, (i)
if Virgin Media or any of its affiliates commits persistent and material breaches or a flagrant and material breach of the licenses,
(i) if Virgin Enterprises Limited has reasonable grounds to believe that the use (or lack of use) of the licensed trademarks by
Virgin Media has been or is likely to result in a long-term and material diminution in the value of the “Virgin” brand, or (iii) if a
third-party who is not (or one of whose directors is not) a “fit and proper person”, such as a legally disqualified director or a
bankrupt entity, acquires “control” of Liberty Global. Such a termination could have a material adverse effect on Virgin Media’s
and our business and results of operations.

Factors Relating to Overseas Operations and Foreign Regulation

Our businesses are conducted almost exclusively outside of the U.S., which gives rise to numerous operational risks. Our
businesses operate almost exclusively in countries outside the U.S. and are thereby subject to the following inherent risks:

» fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

+ difficulties in staffing and managing international operations;

»  potentially adverse tax consequences;

» export and import restrictions, custom duties, tariffs and other trade barriers;

* increases in taxes and governmental fees;

» economic and political instability; and

» changes in foreign and domestic laws and policies that govern operations of foreign-based companies.

Operational risks that we may experience in certain countries include disruptions of services or loss of property or equipment
that are critical to overseas businesses due to expropriation, nationalization, war, insurrection, terrorism or general social or political
unrest.

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk. We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect
to our consolidated debt in situations where our debt is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations whose cash flows support our ability to repay or refinance such debt. Although we generally seek to match the
denomination of our and our subsidiaries’ borrowings with the functional currency of the operations that are supporting the
respective borrowings, market conditions or other factors may cause us to enter into borrowing arrangements that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the underlying operations (unmatched debt). In these cases, our policy is to provide for
an economic hedge against foreign currency exchange rate movements by using derivative instruments to synthetically convert
unmatched debt into the applicable underlying currency. At December 31, 2018, substantially all of our debt was either directly
or synthetically matched to the applicable functional currencies of the underlying operations.

In addition to the exposure that results from the mismatch of our borrowings and underlying functional currencies, we are
exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that we enter into transactions denominated in currencies other than our or our
subsidiaries’ respective functional currencies (non-functional currency risk), such as equipment purchases, programming contracts,
notes payable and notes receivable (including intercompany amounts). Changes in exchange rates with respect to amounts recorded
in our consolidated statements of financial position related to these items will result in unrealized (based upon period-end exchange
rates) or realized foreign currency transaction gains and losses upon settlement of the transactions. Moreover, to the extent that
our revenue, costs and expenses are denominated in currencies other than our respective functional currencies, we will experience
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fluctuations in our revenue, costs and expenses solely as a result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Generally, we
will consider hedging non-functional currency risks when the risks arise from agreements with third parties that involve the future
payment or receipt of cash or other monetary items to the extent that we can reasonably predict the timing and amount of such
payments or receipts and the payments or receipts are not otherwise hedged. In this regard, we have entered into foreign currency
forward contracts to hedge certain of these risks. For additional information concerning our foreign currency forward contracts,
see note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We also are exposed to unfavorable and potentially volatile fluctuations of the U.S. dollar (our reporting currency) against
the currencies of our operating subsidiaries when their respective financial statements are translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion
in the consolidated financial statements. Cumulative translation adjustments are recorded in foreign currency translation reserve
as a separate component of equity. Any increase (decrease) in the value of the U.S. dollar against any foreign currency that is the
functional currency of one of our operating subsidiaries will cause us to experience unrealized foreign currency translation losses
(gains) with respect to amounts already invested in such foreign currencies. Accordingly, we may experience a negative impact
on our comprehensive income or loss and equity with respect to our holdings solely as a result of foreign currency translation.
Our primary exposure to FX risk during the year ended December 31, 2018 was to the British pound sterling and euro as 53.2%
and 32.0% of our reported revenue during the period was derived from subsidiaries whose functional currencies are the British
pound sterling and euro, respectively. In addition, our reported operating results are impacted by changes in the exchange rates
for the Swiss franc and other local currencies in Europe. We do not hedge against the risk that we may incur non-cash losses upon
the translation of the financial statements of our subsidiaries and affiliates into U.S. dollars.

Our businesses are subject to risks of adverse regulation. Our businesses are subject to the unique regulatory regimes of the
countries in which they operate. Video distribution, broadband internet, telephony and mobile businesses are subject to licensing
or registration eligibility rules and regulations, which vary by country. The provision of electronic communications networks and
services requires our licensing from, or registration with, the appropriate regulatory authorities and, for telephony services, entrance
into interconnection arrangements with other phone companies, including the incumbent phone company. Itis possible that countries
in which we operate may adopt laws and regulations regarding electronic commerce, which could dampen the growth of the
internet services being offered and developed by these businesses. In a number of countries, our ability to increase the prices we
charge for our cable television service or make changes to the programming packages we offer is limited by regulation or conditions
imposed by competition authorities or is subject to review by regulatory authorities or is subject to termination rights of customers.
In addition, regulatory authorities may grant new licenses to third parties and, in any event, in most of our markets new entry is
possible without a license, although there may be registration eligibility rules and regulations, resulting in greater competition in
territories where our businesses may already be active. More significantly, regulatory authorities may require us to grant third
parties access to our bandwidth, frequency capacity, facilities or services to distribute their own services or resell our services to
end customers. Consequently, our businesses must adapt their ownership and organizational structure as well as their pricing and
service offerings to satisfy the rules and regulations to which they are subject. A failure to comply with applicable rules and
regulations could result in penalties, restrictions on our business or loss of required licenses or other adverse conditions.

Adverse changes in rules and regulations could:
*  impair our ability to use our bandwidth in ways that would generate maximum revenue and Adjusted EBITDA,;

»  create a shortage of capacity on our networks, which could limit the types and variety of services we seek to provide our
customers;

*  impact our ability to access spectrum for our mobile services;
» strengthen our competitors by granting them access and lowering their costs to enter into our markets; and
* have a significant adverse impact on our results of operations.

Businesses, including ours, that offer multiple services, such as video distribution as well as internet, telephony, and/or mobile
services, or that are vertically integrated and offer both video distribution and programming content, often face close regulatory
scrutiny from competition authorities in several countries in which they operate. This is particularly the case with respect to any
proposed business combinations, which will often require clearance from national competition authorities. The regulatory
authorities in several countries in which we do business have considered from time to time what access rights, if any, should be
afforded to third parties for use of existing cable television networks and have imposed access obligations in certain countries.
This has resulted, for example, in obligations with respect to call termination for our telephony business in Europe, video must
carry obligations in many markets in which we operate and video and broadband internet access obligations in Belgium.
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When we acquire additional communications companies, these acquisitions may require the approval of governmental
authorities (either at country or, in the case of the E.U., European level), which can block, impose conditions on, or delay an
acquisition, thus hampering our opportunities for growth. In the event conditions are imposed and we fail to meet them in a timely
manner, the governmental authority may impose fines and, if in connection with a merger transaction, may require restorative
measures, such as mandatory disposition of assets or divestiture of operations.

New legislation may significantly alter the regulatory regimes applicable to us, which could adversely affect our competitive
position and profitability, and we may become subject to more extensive regulation if we are deemed to possess significant
market power in any of the markets in which we operate. Significant changes to the existing regulatory regimes applicable to
the provision of cable television, telephony, internet and mobile services have been and are still being introduced. For example,
in the E.U. a large element of regulation affecting our business derives from a number of Directives that are the basis of the
regulatory regimes concerning many of the services we offer across the E.U. The various Directives require Member States to
harmonize their laws on communications and cover issues such as access, user rights, privacy and competition. These Directives
are reviewed by the E.U. from time to time and any changes to them could lead to substantial changes in the way in which our
businesses are regulated and to which we would have to adapt. In addition, we are subject to review by competition or national
regulatory authorities in certain countries concerning whether we exhibit Significant Market Power. A finding of Significant Market
Power can result in our company becoming subject to pricing, open access, unbundling and other requirements that could provide
a more favorable operating environment for existing and potential competitors.

The U.K. referendum advising for the exit of the U.K. from the E.U. could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. On June 23, 2016, the U.K. held a referendum in which voters approved,
on an advisory basis, an exit from the E.U., commonly referred to as “Brexit”. Following the failure to reach a separation deal by
the original deadline of March 29, 2019, the E.U. granted the U.K. an extension until October 31, 2019. Uncertainty remains as
to what kind of separation agreement, if any, may be agreed and approved by the U.K. Parliament. It is possible that the U.K. will
again fail to agree to a separation agreement with the E.U. by the new October 31, 2019 deadline which, absent another extension,
would require the U.K. to leave the E.U. under a so-called “hard Brexit” or “no-deal Brexit” without agreements on trade, finance
and other key elements. The foregoing has caused considerable uncertainty as to Brexit’s impact on the free movement of goods,
services, people and capital between the U.K. and the E.U., customer behavior, economic conditions, interest rates, currency
exchange rates, and availability of capital. Examples of the potential impact Brexit could have on our business, financial condition
or results of operations include:

» changes in foreign currency exchange rates and disruptions in the capital markets. For example, a sustained period of
weakness in the British pound sterling or the euro could have an adverse impact on our liquidity, including our ability to
fund repurchases of our equity securities and other U.S. dollar-denominated liquidity requirements;

» shortages of labor necessary to conduct our business, including our Network Extensions in the U.K.;
»  disruption to our U.K. supply chain and related increased cost of supplies;
» aweakened U.K. economy resulting in decreased consumer demand for our products and services in the U.K.;

* legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations as the U.K. determines which E.U. laws and
directives to replace or replicate, or where previously implemented by enactment of U.K. laws or regulations, to retain,
amend or repeal; and

»  various geopolitical forces may impact the global economy and our business, including, for example, other E.U. member
states (in particular those member states where we have operations) proposing referendums to, or electing to, exit the
E.U.

We cannot be certain that we will be successful with respect to acquisitions, dispositions, partnerships or other similar
transactions, or that we will achieve the anticipated benefits thereof. Historically, our businesses have grown, in part, through
selective acquisitions that enabled them to take advantage of existing networks, local service offerings and region-specific
management expertise, and we have also taken advantage of attractive opportunities to sell select businesses. We expect to seek
to continue improving our company through attractive acquisitions, dispositions, partnerships or other similar transactions in
selected markets, such as the SFR BeLux acquisition in June 2017, the UPC Austria disposition in July 2018 and the pending sales
of the Vodafone Disposal Group, the operations of UPC DTH and UPC Switzerland. Our ability to complete any such transaction
may be limited by many factors, including government regulation, availability of financing, our or our counterparty’s debt
covenants, the prevalence of complex ownership structures among potential targets, acquirers, or partners, and competition from
other potential acquirers, including private equity funds. Even if we are successful in completing such transactions, integration
and separation activities may present significant costs and challenges. We cannot be assured that we will be successful with respect
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to acquisitions, dispositions, partnerships or other similar transactions or realizing the anticipated benefits thereof, including for,
example, the sale of the Vodafone Disposal Group.

In addition, we anticipate that most, if not all, companies acquired by us will be located outside the U.S. Foreign companies
may not have disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting that are as thorough or effective as
those required by U.S. securities laws. While we intend to conduct appropriate due diligence and to implement appropriate controls
and procedures as we integrate acquired companies, we may not be able to certify as to the effectiveness of these companies’
disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting until we have fully integrated them.

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilities. We are subject to income taxes as well as non-income based taxes, such
as VAT in the U.K., the U.S. and many other jurisdictions around the world. In addition, most tax jurisdictions that we operate in
have complex and subjective rules regarding the valuation of intercompany services, cross-border payments between affiliated
companies and the related effects on income tax, VAT and transfer tax. Significant judgment is required in determining our
worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. In the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions
and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We are regularly under audit by tax authorities in many of the
jurisdictions in which we operate. Although we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable, any material differences as a result
of final determinations of tax audits or tax disputes could have an adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations
in the period or periods for which determination is made.

We are subject to changing tax laws, treaties and regulations in and between countries in which we operate, including treaties
between and among the U.K., the U.S. and many other jurisdictions in which we have a presence. Also, various income tax
proposals in the jurisdictions in which we operate could result in changes to the existing laws on which our deferred taxes are
calculated. A change in these tax laws, treaties or regulations, or in the interpretation thereof, could result in a materially higher
income or non-income tax expense, and any such material changes could cause a material change in our effective tax rate. In this
regard, there have been significant changes or proposed changes to the tax laws in numerous jurisdictions in which we operate,
the impacts of which have been reflected accordingly in our financial statements.

Further changes in the tax laws of the foreign jurisdictions in which we operate could arise as a result of the base erosion and
profit shifting project that has been undertaken by the OECD or the European Commission Anti-Tax Avoidance Package. The
OECD, which represents a coalition of member countries that encompass most of the jurisdictions in which we operate, and the
European Commission have undertaken studies and are publishing action plans that include recommendations aimed at addressing
what they believe are issues within tax systems that may lead to tax avoidance by companies. It is possible that jurisdictions in
which we do business could react to these initiatives or their own concerns by enacting tax legislation that could adversely affect
us or our shareholders through increasing our tax liabilities.

Factors Relating to Certain Financial Matters

Our substantial leverage could limit our ability to obtain additional financing and have other adverse effects. We seek to
maintain our debt at levels that provide for attractive equity returns without assuming undue risk. In this regard, we generally seek
to cause our operating subsidiaries to maintain their debt at levels that result in a consolidated debt balance that is between four
and five times our consolidated Adjusted EBITDA. As a result, we are highly leveraged. At December 31, 2018, the outstanding
principal amount of our consolidated debt, together with our finance lease obligations, aggregated $29.9 billion, including $3.6
billion that is classified as current in our consolidated statement of financial position and $22.7 billion that is not due until 2024
or thereafter. We believe that we have sufficient resources to repay or refinance the current portion of our debt and finance lease
obligations and to fund our foreseeable liquidity requirements during the next 12 months. However, as our maturing debt grows
in later years, we anticipate that we will seek to refinance or otherwise extend our debt maturities. In this regard, we completed
refinancing transactions during 2018 that, among other things, resulted in the extension of certain of our subsidiaries’ debt maturities.
No assurance can be given that we will be able to complete these refinancing transactions or otherwise extend our debt maturities.
In this regard, it is not possible to predict how political and economic conditions, sovereign debt concerns or any adverse regulatory
developments could impact the credit and equity markets we access and, accordingly, our future liquidity and financial position.

Our ability to service or refinance our debt and to maintain compliance with the leverage covenants in the credit agreements
and indentures of our borrowing groups is dependent primarily on our ability to maintain or increase the Adjusted EBITDA of our
operating subsidiaries and to achieve adequate returns on our property and equipment additions and acquisitions. In addition, our
ability to obtain additional debt financing is limited by the incurrence-based leverage covenants contained in the various debt
instruments of our borrowing groups. For example, if the Adjusted EBITDA of our subsidiary, UPC Holding were to decline, our
ability to obtain additional debt could be limited. Accordingly, if our cash provided by operations declines or we encounter other
material liquidity requirements, we may be required to seek additional debt or equity financing in order to meet our debt obligations
and other liquidity requirements as they come due. In addition, our current debt levels may limit our ability to incur additional
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debt financing to fund working capital needs, acquisitions, property and equipment additions, or other general corporate
requirements. We can give no assurance that any additional debt or equity financing will be available on terms that are as favorable
as the terms of our existing debt or at all. Further, our board of directors has approved share repurchase programs for Liberty
Global. Any cash used by our company in connection with any future purchases of our ordinary shares would not be available for
other purposes, including the repayment of debt. For additional information concerning our share repurchase programs, see note
13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Certain of our subsidiaries are subject to various debt instruments that contain restrictions on how we finance our operations
and operate our businesses, which could impede our ability to engage in beneficial transactions. Certain of our subsidiaries are
subject to significant financial and operating restrictions contained in outstanding credit agreements, indentures and similar
instruments of indebtedness. These restrictions will affect, and in some cases significantly limit or prohibit, among other things,
the ability of those subsidiaries to:

* incur or guarantee additional indebtedness;

*  pay dividends or make other upstream distributions;

* make investments;

» transfer, sell or dispose of certain assets, including subsidiary stock;
» merge or consolidate with other entities;

*  engage in transactions with us or other affiliates; or

» create liens on their assets.

As a result of restrictions contained in these debt instruments, the companies party thereto, and their subsidiaries, could be
unable to obtain additional capital in the future to:

» fund property and equipment additions or acquisitions that could improve their value;
* meet their loan and capital commitments to their business affiliates;

* invest in companies in which they would otherwise invest;

» fund any operating losses or future development of their business affiliates;

*  obtain lower borrowing costs that are available from secured lenders or engage in advantageous transactions that monetize
their assets; or

»  conduct other necessary or prudent corporate activities.

In addition, most of the credit agreements to which these subsidiaries are parties include financial covenants that require them,
in certain circumstances, to maintain certain leverage and other financial ratios. Their ability to meet these financial covenants
may be affected by adverse economic, competitive, or regulatory developments and other events beyond their control, and we
cannot assure you that these financial covenants will be met. In the event of a default under such subsidiaries’ credit agreements
or indentures, the lenders may accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness under those agreements or indentures, which could
result in a default under other outstanding credit facilities or indentures. We cannot assure you that any of these subsidiaries will
have sufficient assets to pay indebtedness outstanding under their credit agreements and indentures. Any refinancing of this
indebtedness is likely to contain similar restrictive covenants.

We are exposed to interest rate risks. Shifts in such rates may adversely affect the debt service obligation of our subsidiaries.
We are exposed to the risk of fluctuations in interest rates, primarily through the credit facilities of certain of our subsidiaries,
which are indexed to EURIBOR, LIBOR or other base rates. Although we enter into various derivative transactions to manage
exposure to movements in interest rates, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to do so at a reasonable cost
or at all. If we are unable to effectively manage our interest rate exposure through derivative transactions, any increase in market
interest rates would increase our interest rate exposure and debt service obligations, which would exacerbate the risks associated
with our leveraged capital structure.

In July 2017, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (the authority that regulates LIBOR) announced that it intends to stop
compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. Currently, it is not possible to predict the exact transitional
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arrangements for calculating applicable reference rates that may be made in the U.K., the U.S., the Eurozone or elsewhere given
thatanumber of outcomes are possible, including the cessation of the publication of one or more reference rates. Our loan documents
contain provisions that contemplate alternative calculations of the base rate applicable to our LIBOR-indexed debt to the extent
LIBOR is not available, which alternative calculations we do not anticipate will be materially different from what would have
been calculated under LIBOR. Additionally, no mandatory prepayment or redemption provisions would be triggered under our
loan documents in the event that the LIBOR rate is not available. It is possible, however, that any new reference rate that applies
to our LIBOR-indexed debt could be different than any new reference rate that applies to our LIBOR-indexed derivative instruments.
We anticipate managing this difference and any resulting increased variable-rate exposure through modifications to our debt and/
or derivative instruments, however future market conditions may not allow immediate implementation of desired modifications
and/or the company may incur significant associated costs.

We are subject to increasing operating costs and inflation risks, which may adversely affect our results of operations. While
our operations attempt to increase our subscription rates to offset increases in programming and operating costs, there is no
assurance that they will be able to do so. In certain countries in which we operate, our ability to increase subscription rates is
subject to regulatory controls. Also, our ability to increase subscription rates may be constrained by competitive pressures.
Therefore, operating costs may rise faster than associated revenue, resulting in a material negative impact on our cash flow and
net earnings (loss). We are also impacted by inflationary increases in salaries, wages, benefits and other administrative costs in
certain of our markets.

Continuing uncertainties and challenging conditions in the global economy and in the countries in which we operate may
adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. The current macroeconomic environment is highly
volatile, and continuing instability in global markets, including the ongoing struggles in Europe related to sovereign debt issues,
the risk of deflation and the stability of the British pound sterling and the euro, has contributed to a challenging global economic
environment. Future developments are dependent upon a number of political and economic factors, including the effectiveness of
measures by the E.U. Commission to address debt burdens of certain countries in Europe and the overall stability of the eurozone.
As a result, we cannot predict how long challenging conditions will exist or the extent to which the markets in which we operate
may deteriorate. Additional risks arising from the ongoing economic challenges in Europe are described below under the Risk
Factor titled: We are exposed to sovereign debt and currency instability risks that could have an adverse impact on our liquidity,
financial condition and cash flows.

Unfavorable economic conditions may impact a significant number of our subscribers and/or the prices we are able to charge
for our products and services, and, as a result, it may be (i) more difficult for us to attract new subscribers, (ii) more likely that
subscribers will downgrade or disconnect their services and (iii) more difficult for us to maintain ARPUs at existing levels. Countries
may also seek new or increased revenue sources due to fiscal deficits. Such actions may further adversely affect our company.
Accordingly, our ability to increase, or, in certain cases, maintain, the revenue, ARPUs, RGUs, mobile subscribers, Adjusted
EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margins and liquidity of our operating segments could be adversely affected if the macroeconomic
environment remains uncertain or declines further. We are currently unable to predict the extent of any of these potential adverse
effects.

We are exposed to sovereign debt and currency instability risks that could have an adverse impact on our liquidity, financial
condition and cash flows. Our operations are subject to macroeconomic and political risks that are outside of our control. For
example, high levels of sovereign debt in the U.S. and several countries in which we or our affiliates operate, combined with weak
growth and high unemployment, could potentially lead to fiscal reforms (including austerity measures), tax increases, sovereign
debt restructurings, currency instability, increased counterparty credit risk, high levels of volatility and disruptions in the credit
and equity markets, as well as other outcomes that might adversely impact our company. With regard to currency instability issues,
concerns exist in the eurozone with respect to individual macro-fundamentals on a country-by-country basis, as well as with respect
to the overall stability of the European monetary union and the suitability of a single currency to appropriately deal with specific
fiscal management and sovereign debt issues in individual eurozone countries. The realization of these concerns could lead to the
exit of one or more countries from the European monetary union and the re-introduction of individual currencies in these countries,
or, in more extreme circumstances, the possible dissolution of the European monetary union entirely, which could result in the
redenomination of a portion or, in the extreme case, all of our euro-denominated assets, liabilities and cash flows to the new
currency of the country in which they originated. This could result in a mismatch in the currencies of our assets, liabilities and
cash flows. Any such mismatch, together with the capital market disruption that would likely accompany any such redenomination
event, could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity and financial condition. Furthermore, any redenomination event would
likely be accompanied by significant economic dislocation, particularly within the eurozone countries, which in turn could have
an adverse impact on demand for our products and services, and accordingly, on our revenue and cash flows. Moreover, any
changes from euro to non-euro currencies within the countries in which we operate would require us to modify our billing and
other financial systems. No assurance can be given that any required modifications could be made within a time frame that would
allow us to timely bill our customers or prepare and file required financial reports. In light of the significant exposure that we have
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to the euro through our euro-denominated borrowings, derivative instruments, cash balances and cash flows, a redenomination
event could have a material adverse impact on our company.

We may not freely access the cash of our operating companies. Our operations are conducted through our subsidiaries. Our
current sources of corporate liquidity include (i) our cash and cash equivalents and (ii) interest and dividend income received on
our cash and cash equivalents and investments. From time to time, we also receive (a) proceeds in the form of distributions or
loan repayments from our subsidiaries or affiliates, (b) proceeds upon the disposition of investments and other assets and
(c) proceeds in connection with the incurrence of debt or the issuance of equity securities. The ability of our operating subsidiaries
to pay dividends or to make other payments or advances to us depends on their individual operating results and any statutory,
regulatory or contractual restrictions to which they may be or may become subject and in some cases our receipt of such payments
or advances may be limited due to tax considerations or the presence of noncontrolling interests. Most of our operating subsidiaries
are subject to credit agreements or indentures that restrict sales of assets and prohibit or limit the payment of dividends or the
making of distributions, loans or advances to shareholders and partners, including us. In addition, because these subsidiaries are
separate and distinct legal entities they have no obligation to provide us funds for payment obligations, whether by dividends,
distributions, loans or other payments.

We are exposed to the risk of default by the counterparties to our derivative and other financial instruments, undrawn debt
facilities and cash investments. Although we seek to manage the credit risks associated with our derivative and other financial
instruments, cash investments and undrawn debt facilities, we are exposed to the risk that our counterparties will default on their
obligations to us. While we regularly review our credit exposures and currently have no specific concerns about the creditworthiness
of any counterparty for which we have material credit risk exposures, we cannot rule out the possibility that one or more of our
counterparties could fail or otherwise be unable to meet its obligations to us. Any such instance of default or failure could have
an adverse effect on our cash flows, results of operations, financial condition and/or liquidity. In this regard, (i) we may incur
losses to the extent that we are unable to recover debts owed to us, including cash deposited and the value of financial losses, (ii)
we may incur significant costs to recover amounts owed to us, and such recovery may take a long period of time or may not be
possible at all, (iii) our derivative liabilities may be accelerated by the default of our counterparty, (iv) we may be exposed to
financial risks as a result of the termination of affected derivative contracts, and it may be costly or impossible to replace such
contracts or otherwise mitigate such risks, (v) amounts available under committed credit facilities may be reduced and
(vi) disruption to the credit markets could adversely impact our ability to access debt financing on favorable terms, or at all.

At December 31, 2018, our exposure to counterparty credit risk included (i) derivative assets with an aggregate fair value of
$617.3 million, (ii) cash and cash equivalent and restricted cash balances of $1,498.3 million and (iii) aggregate undrawn debt
facilities of $2,503.8 million. For additional information on our derivative contracts, see note 9 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Our interest in the VodafoneZiggo JV is held pursuant to a Shareholders Agreement that contains provisions relating to
governance as well as transfer and exit rights, which, depending on the circumstances, may not be in the best interest of our
company. Our non-controlling interest in the VodafoneZiggo JV is held pursuant to a shareholders’ agreement (the Shareholders
Agreement), which provides the terms of the governance of the VodafoneZiggo JV, including among others, decision-making
process, information access, dividend policy and non-compete provisions. These provisions may prevent the VodafoneZiggo JV
from making decisions or taking actions that would protect or advance the interests of our company, and could even result in the
VodafoneZiggo JV making decisions or taking actions that adversely impact our company. Further, our ability to access the cash
of the VodafoneZiggo JV pursuant to the dividend policy contained in the Shareholders Agreement may be restricted in certain
circumstances. The Shareholders Agreement also provides for restrictions on the transfer of interests in the VodafoneZiggo JV,
which could adversely affect our ability to sell our interest in the VodafoneZiggo JV and/or the prices at which our interest may
be sold, as well as certain exit arrangements, which could force us to sell our interest. For additional information on the
VodafoneZiggo JV and the Shareholders Agreement, see note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We may not report net profit. We reported net losses from continuing operations of $1,476.5 million and $2,371.1 million
during 2018 and 2017, respectively. In light of our historical financial performance, we cannot assure you that we will report net
profit in the near future.

Other Factors

We have not historically paid any cash dividends, and we may not pay dividends equally or at all on any class of our
ordinary shares. We do not presently intend to pay cash dividends on any class of our ordinary shares for the foreseeable future.
However, we have the right to pay dividends, effect securities distributions or make bonus issues on Liberty Global Shares. In
addition, any dividends or distributions on, or repurchases of Liberty Global Shares will reduce our “distributable reserves” (defined
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as our accumulated, realized profits less accumulated, realized losses, as measured for U.K. statutory purposes) legally available
to be paid as dividends by our company under English law on any of our ordinary shares.

Our share price may change significantly, and you may not be able to resell our ordinary shares at or above the price you
paid or at all, and you could lose all or part of your investment as a result. In addition to the factors discussed in this Annual
Report, the trading price of each class of our ordinary shares may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many
of which are beyond our control, including:

» actual or anticipated fluctuations in our revenue and other operating results;
* actual operating or financial results that vary from our guidance or the expectations of securities analysts and investors;

» changes in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates by securities analysts and
investors;

» actual or anticipated future sales of our ordinary shares by us, our senior management or our other existing shareholders?
* investor sentiment with respect to our competitors, our business partners, and our industry in general?

* announcements by us or our competitors of significant services or features, technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic
partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments?

» changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of companies in our industry, including our competitors?
+ price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market, including as a result of trends in the economy as a whole?
* media coverage of our business and financial performance?and

» general domestic and international economic and political conditions.

The stock market has recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect
the market prices of equity securities of many companies. In particular, price and volume fluctuations in the stock market as a
whole may affect the market price of our ordinary shares in ways that may be unrelated or disproportionate to our operating
performance. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our ordinary shares, regardless
of our actual operating performance.

Securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the overall
market and in the market price of a company’s securities. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs,
divert our management’s attention and resources and have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The loss of certain key personnel could harm our business. We have experienced employees at both the corporate and
operational levels who possess substantial knowledge of our business and operations. We cannot assure you that we will be
successful in retaining their services or that we would be successful in hiring and training suitable replacements without undue
costs or delays. As a result, the loss of any of these key employees could cause significant disruptions in our business operations,
which could materially adversely affect our results of operations.

John C. Malone has significant voting power with respect to corporate matters considered by our shareholders. John C.
Malone beneficially owns outstanding ordinary shares of Liberty Global representing 29.3% of our aggregate voting power as of
February 13, 2019. By virtue of Mr. Malone’s voting power in our company, as well as his position as Chairman of our board of
directors, Mr. Malone may have significant influence over the outcome of any corporate transaction or other matters submitted to
our shareholders for approval. For example, under English law and our articles of association, certain matters (including
amendments to the articles of association) require the approval of 75% of the shareholders who vote (in person or by proxy) on
therelevantresolution, and other certain corporate transactions or matters may require the approval of atleast 75% of the outstanding
shares of each class of our ordinary shares. Because Mr. Malone beneficially owns approximately 29.3% of our aggregate voting
power and more than 75% of the outstanding Class B ordinary shares of Liberty Global, he has the ability to prevent the requisite
approval threshold from being met even though the other shareholders may determine that such action or transaction is beneficial
for the company. Mr. Malone’s rights to vote or dispose of his equity interests in our company are not subject to any restrictions
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in favor of us other than as may be required by applicable law and except for customary transfer restrictions pursuant to equity
award agreements.

It may be difficult for a third-party to acquire us, even if doing so may be beneficial to our shareholders. Certain provisions
of our articles of association and of English law may discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of our company that a
shareholder may consider favorable. These provisions include the following:

« authorizing a capital structure with multiple classes of ordinary shares; a Class B that entitles the holders to 10 votes per
share; a Class A that entitles the holders to one vote per share; and a Class C that, except as otherwise required by applicable
law, entitles the holders to no voting rights;

» authorizing the issuance of “blank check™ shares (both ordinary and preference), which could be issued by our board of
directors to increase the number of outstanding shares and thwart a takeover attempt;

» classifying our board of directors with staggered three-year terms, which may lengthen the time required to gain control
of our board of directors, although under English law, shareholders of our company can remove a director without cause
by ordinary resolution;

»  prohibiting sharecholder action by written resolution, thereby requiring all shareholder actions to be taken at a meeting of
the shareholders;

»  requiring the approval of 75% in value of the shareholders (or class of shareholders) and/or English court approval for
certain statutory mergers or schemes of arrangements; and

» establishing advance notice requirements for nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted upon by shareholders at shareholder meetings.

Change in control provisions in our incentive plans and related award agreements or in executive employment agreements
may also discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of our company, even if such change of control would be in the best
interests of our shareholders.

The enforcement of civil liabilities against us may be more difficult. Because we are a public limited company incorporated
under the laws of England and Wales, investors could experience more difficulty enforcing judgments obtained against us in U.S.
courts than would currently be the case for U.S. judgments obtained against a U.S. company. It may also be more difficult (or
impossible) to bring some types of claims against us in courts sitting in England than it would be to bring similar claims against
a U.S. company in a U.S. court. In particular, English law significantly limits the circumstances under which shareholders of
English companies may bring derivative actions. Under English law generally, only the company can be the proper plaintiff in
proceedings in respect of wrongful acts committed against us. Our articles of association provide for the exclusive jurisdiction of
the English courts for shareholder lawsuits against us or our directors.

The Group Strategic Report was approved by our board of directors and was signed on its behalf on April 25, 2019 by:

/s/ Bryan H. Hall
Bryan H. Hall

Executive Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Company registered number: 8379990
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GROUP DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Political Donations

We did not make any political contributions during 2018. Our code of business conduct prohibits the use of company funds
and assets for political contributions to political parties, political party officials and candidates for office, unless approved by our
general counsel. Additionally, our charitable giving programs available to employees prohibit political contributions by our
company.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares, and we have no present intention of so doing. Payment of cash
dividends, if any, in the future will be determined by our board of directors in light of our earnings, financial condition and other
relevant considerations, including applicable laws in England and Wales. Except as noted below, there are currently no contractual
restrictions on our ability to pay dividends in cash or shares. The credit facilities to which certain of our subsidiaries are parties
restrict our ability to access their cash for, among other things, our payment of cash dividends.

Share Repurchases

The following table provides details of our share repurchases:

Class A ordinary shares Class C ordinary shares
Average price Average price
Shares paid per Shares paid per
repurchased share (a) repurchased share (a) Total cost (a)
in millions
Liberty Global Shares:
2018, 15,649,900 $ 29.67 54,211,059 $ 2851 § 2,010.0
2017 et 34,881,510 $ 33.73 52,523,651 $ 3271 § 2,894.7
LiLAC Shares:
2017 e 2,062,233 § 22.84 285,572 $ 2225 § 535

(a)  Includes direct acquisition costs and the effects of derivative instruments.
Payment to Creditors - Policy and Practice

We follow the requirements of our vendors for payment, which normally requires payment within 30 to 90 days. We also
owe amounts pursuant to interest-bearing vendor financing arrangements that are generally due within one year.

Corporate Responsibility

The internet is one of the most powerful tools ever invented but it’s what you do with it that counts. That’s why we are focused
on the positive potential of connectivity, digital entertainment and technology. It’s where we invest, innovate and help to empower
people to make the most of the digital revolution.

Our goal will always be to take people further, supporting and inspiring digital imagination by encouraging everyone to be
more informed and more ambitious. We equip people with the digital skills needed for the future. We support and invest in original
thinkers with their bright new business ideas. We also champion the power of digital technology to bring people together to find
collective solutions to the most pressing challenges that impact society.

Connectivity is essential for today’s economies, communities and people’s everyday lives. This creates an important
responsibility to make sure that digital technology works in everyone’s best interests. It is our responsibility to deliver outstanding
service, protect children while online and watching TV and protect our customers’ privacy, as well as to ensure that as the bandwidth
we provide grows that our impact on the planet does not.
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Everything we do is underpinned by our belief in the liberating potential of technology. We will use it to help people be at
their best, to be a business that everyone can trust, to fuel imagination and to empower all of us to realize our full potential.

Our Approach

Our Corporate Responsibility (CR) approach is focused on addressing the most significant impacts of our business as they
affect our stakeholders and society in general, as well as our business strategy and the feedback we receive from our stakeholders.
We believe this approach provides an opportunity for us to strengthen our company and positively contribute to advancing the
communities in which we operate.

In2014, we conducted a detailed analysis of our most significant (material) impacts, engaging with a wide range of stakeholders
including industry peers, media, investors, sustainability experts, employees and customers, and consultation with senior
management. In 2017, we re-assessed this set of issues to ensure our strategic direction continues to reflect the changing interests
and expectations of our business leaders and stakeholders. We intend to do further re-assessments every few years to ensure we
stay aligned with our stakeholders on material issues to the business.

To do this, we conducted an analysis of factors that affect our material impacts including:

»  The material priorities generated through engagement with local stakeholders by our operating companies: Virgin Media,
Unitymedia and Telenet;

*  General and sector priorities defined by sustainability frameworks such as the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB);

*  Reputational impacts across the European markets where Liberty Global is active;

»  Areview of leading telecommunications companies and the issues they present as material for their businesses and their
associated social impacts; and

*  Employee feedback collected as part of a survey on CR and employee priorities.

This analysis confirmed that the six material topics originally identified continue to be the most relevant for our business, our
industry and our stakeholders. These are:

*  Protection of privacy and data security;

»  Improving energy efficiency;

*  Protection of children while online and watching TV;

»  Digital inclusion and education;

. Electronic waste reduction; and

*  Reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.

In addition, two topics were identified as equally important:
*  Customer experience and service quality; and

*  Employee engagement and equality.

These material issues have been grouped into two key pillars, as laid out in our CR Framework:
» Digital imagination; and

*  Responsible connectivity.

Further details are available at www.libertyglobal.com/responsibility/reporting-and-performance.
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Our Corporate Responsibility Framework
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Community Investments

We measure the impact of our community investment programs using the globally recognized London Benchmarking Group
model. This methodology records the inputs, outputs and positive community impacts of our investments in cash, time and in-
kind contributions.

During 2018, our total community contribution was $6.7 million, of which $5.3 million was in the form of cash donations.
These figures cover our corporate organization and all of our operations across Europe.

Sustainable Growth

We are working to ensure that as our business grows, our environmental impact does not. Our biggest source of carbon
emissions is the energy that powers our networks; therefore, we are focused on deploying solutions that drive down energy use,
from our data centers to the equipment in our customers’ homes. At the same time, we are adding solar capabilities across our
markets and procuring renewable energy in order to reduce our carbon emissions.

Our global environmental statement, published in 2014 and revisited in 2018, sets out our commitment to enhancing the
energy efficiency of our operations, with a focus on energy use, carbon emissions and the management of electronic waste. Our
corporate goal is to improve energy efficiency by 15% every year through 2020 using our 2012 emissions as our base year.

Meanwhile, we have committed to Science Based Targets to enable us drive efficiencies through to 2030 and beyond. During
2018, our energy consumption remained relatively flat, falling by 1% compared to 2017. Our total location-based carbon emissions
(scope 1, 2 & 3) fell by 8%, and we decreased our total market-based carbon emissions (scope 1, 2 & 3) by 36%, which takes into
account the GHG intensity of the electricity we source. We also improved our overall energy efficiency by 27% during 2018.

Further details on Liberty Global’s environmental statement and performance are available at www.libertyglobal.com/
responsibility/reporting-and-performance.
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Energy Consumption

Gigawatt-hours

Year ended December 31,
2012

2018 2017 2016 2015 (base year)
Non-renewable fuel
DAESCL....ieeeiieeee e s 117.73 115.55 115.29 115.47 60.01
POLrol ... 12.13 11.95 12.69 16.66 19.68
NAUTAL GAS...veeeeiieeieieeeee e 34.94 38.00 36.29 38.74 47.49
Aviation Fuel .........ccooooiiiiiiiiccceeeeeee e 0.03 0.04 0.01 0.01 0.05
GaS Ol 1.60 1.59 1.84 2.06 2.52
FUCT Ol 0.37 0.31 0.41 0.44 2.67
Burning Oil........ccoooiiiiiiiieieeeeeeee e 6.09 9.47 11.07 11.10 12.70
CNG ettt sttt et e aae e 0.01 0.01 — — —
TOtAL ... e 172.90 176.92 177.60 184.48 145.12
Electricity, heating & cooling
ELECHICILY oouvvenieiieiiciieicee ettt 1,051.94 1,065.49 1,054.87 1,034.44 990.52
Heating & COOLING .......c.ccovevvieiiciieiieieie et 4.10 3.38 2.12 2.29 —
Electricity SOId.......ocoieiiieieiieieeiee et (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.05)
Total energy consumption (a)...........cccccceevveeveenceeenieeneennne. 1,228.93 *  1,245.78 1,234.58 1,221.20 1,135.59

(a)  Represents the total energy consumption from non-renewable fuel and electricity, heating and cooling, minus electricity
sold.

(*)  Within KPMG's independent limited assurance scope. Please see below for further information.
GHG Emissions
In line with the GHG Protocol, our GHG emissions are calculated in carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) using the most relevant

emission conversion factors according to the countries in which we operate. CO2e is a universal measure that allows the global
warming potential of different GHGs to be compared.

Metric tons of CO2e

2012
2018 2017 2016 2015 (base year)
Scope 1 (DIreCt) ...cueveueereeeieieieirieneneeeeeese e 60,200 * 59,200 55,100 54,600 68,300
Scope 2 market-based (Indirect).........c.cceveeieernierennen. 137,400 * 283,800 386,900 418,000 435,900
Scope 2 location-based (Indirect) ..........ccccevvevereeennnnne. 311,100 * 351,000 379,400 351,400 418,000
Total Scope 1 & 2 market-based emissions.................. 197,700 342,900 442,000 472,600 504,300
Total Scope 1 & 2 location-based emissions................ 371,300 410,100 434,600 406,000 486,400
Total market-based emissions per terabyte (TB) of
data USAZE (@) ..vevvevererreceeeereeisieeeesee e 0.006 * 0.013 0.028 0.040 0.142
Scope 3 emissions (Indirect) (b)......cccevvevrreverreevennne. 61,300 * 59,900 59,700 57,800 16,600
Total Scope 1, 2 & 3 market-based emissions.............. 258,900 402,900 501,700 530,400 520,800
Total Scope 1, 2 & 3 location-based emissions............ 432,600 470,100 494,200 463,800 502,900
Carbon CreditS.......cveeririierieieeeee e (8,600) (8,500) (8,600) (12,300) —
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(a) In order to provide a meaningful target to measure our energy usage against our business operations, we measure our Scope
1 and 2 market-based GHG emissions per terabyte of data traffic generated as we run our networks and our customers use
our services. This calculation reflects internet protocol (IP) based data traffic from fixed broadband services, such as web
browsing, IP streaming voice and video services, from all of our market operations that we can reliably measure. In 2018,
approximately 55% of our total revenue was IP based. For more information, please see our full ‘Environmental Reporting
Criteria’ at www.libertyglobal.com/responsibility/reporting-and-performance.

(b) Our Scope 3 indirect emissions include business air and land travel (including the use of employee-owned vehicles for business
purposes, flights taken by employees, travel in rental cars, taxis and public transportation); emissions arising from water
consumption, waste management (which includes the impact of recycling customer premises equipment) and travel by our
third-party logistics, service and installation vehicles. Beginning in 2014, we broadened our Scope 3 emissions reporting to
include travel by third-party logistics, service and installation vehicles. This data was excluded in our 2013 and 2012 reporting.
Beginning in 2017, we included emissions from travel by third-party ‘network expansion’ vehicles at Virgin Media in the
U.K. This data has not been reported for our other operations.

(*)  Within KPMG's independent limited assurance scope. Please see below for further information.

Environmental reporting criteria

All data in this annual report covers the period January 1 to December 31, 2018, unless otherwise stated. For comparative
purposes, and to create new base-year values for our environmental targets, we have made adjustments to our environmental results
for 2012 to include representative pre-acquisition values for Virgin Media (U.K.), which we acquired on June 7, 2013, for BASE
in Belgium for 2012 through 2015, which we acquired in February 2016, and for SFR BeLux for 2012 through 2016, which we
acquired on June 19, 2017. We have excluded VodafoneZiggo Holding in the Netherlands from our reporting due to the formation
of the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction with Vodafone in 2016.

Liberty Global’s reported environmental data follows the World Resources Institute and World Business Council on Sustainable
Development’s GHG Protocol Corporate Standard using the operational control approach. This covers our European operations
under the consumer brands Virgin Media, Unitymedia, Telenet and UPC. We have reported 100% of the emissions from Telenet,
in which we had an ownership interest of 59.7%, as of December 31, 2018. Emissions from businesses in which we have non-
controlling equity stakes are not included within our reported figures.

Acquisition and disposals
Our policy is to include any new subsidiaries that have been acquired in the first six months of the reporting period.

In terms of disposals, our policy is to exclude any subsidiaries where we no longer have operational control during the reporting
period. During 2018, we sold our operations in Austria and, accordingly, such operations are excluded from our 2018 reporting.
During 2017, we completed the Split-off Transaction, which included C&W, VTR and Liberty Puerto Rico. Therefore, we have
excluded these operations from our 2017 reporting.

In terms of our presentation of Virgin Media, BASE and SFR BeLux, please see the comparative performance information
above.

For more information, please see our full ‘Environmental Reporting Criteria’ at https://www.libertyglobal.com/responsibility/
reporting-and-performance.

External assurance

We engaged KPMG LLP to undertake independent limited assurance, reporting to Liberty Global, using the assurance standards
ISAE 3000 and ISAE 3410, for the selected energy consumption and GHG emissions that have been highlighted above with an
* KPMG’s full statement is available on our website at www.libertyglobal.com/responsibility/reporting-and-performance. KPMG
LLP has provided an unqualified opinion over this selected data.

The level of assurance provided for a limited assurance engagement is substantially lower than a reasonable assurance
engagement. Inordertoreach theiropinion, KPMG performed arange of procedures, which included interviews with management,

59



examination of reporting systems, site visits to three of our operating companies, as well as specific data testing at our corporate
offices. A summary of the work that they performed is included within their assurance opinion. Non-financial performance
information, GHG quantification in particular, is subject to more inherent limitations than financial information. It is important
to read the GHG emissions information in the context of the full KPMG LLP limited assurance statement and our reporting criteria
as setoutin our ‘Environmental Reporting Criteria’ available at www.libertyglobal.com/responsibility/reporting-and-performance.

Qualifying Indemnity Provisions

Under our articles of association, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, we may, broadly, (i) indemnify to any extent
any person who is or was a director, or a director of any associated company, directly or indirectly against any liability incurred
by him or her whether in connection with negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust or otherwise by him or her in
relation to Liberty Global or any associated company, or in connection with that company’s activities as a trustee of an occupational
pension scheme and (ii) purchase and maintain insurance for any person who is or was a director, or a director of an associated
company, against any loss or liability or any expenditure he or she may incur, whether in connection with any proven or alleged
negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust by him or her, in relation to Liberty Global or any associated company.

We enter into deeds of indemnity with directors, executive officers and certain other officers and employees (including
directors, officers and employees of subsidiaries and other affiliates). These deeds of indemnity require that we indemnify such
persons, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, against all losses suffered or incurred by them in the event that they are
a party to or involved in any claim arising in connection with their appointment as director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary
of Liberty Global or another corporation at the request of Liberty Global.

Employees

The details of our full-time equivalent directors, senior managers and employees by gender as of December 31, 2018, are as
follows:

Director (a):

10
1
11

Senior manager (a):
IMLALE ..ttt h e bbbt h e h b bttt et a bt e bt bt bt e bt bt bbbt st e bt enaennen 4

Employee (a):

IMLE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et teeab e he e st e te e b e ett e b e ett et e etteeheeaaeeheeraeeteerbeetsesbeess e beessenbeesseareenseereenteeres 17,700
FOMALE ...ttt ettt ettt e et e et e e s b e e bee st e e beeeabe e bt e eaae e beeeabeebeeeabe e beeeabeebaeeabeeteeerbeenreens 8,900
26,600

(a) Employees are included in each category, if applicable. Our senior manager group is comprised of our chief executive
officer and our executive vice presidents.

Our employees’ development, motivation, health and wellbeing are critical to our business. We aim to create a dynamic,
talented workforce that reflects our diverse customers and a culture of innovation in which our 26,600 employees can grow and
feel supported. At the heart of this commitment to our employees is ‘The People Agenda,” Liberty Global’s multi-year people
strategy. The People Agenda sets forth our vision for developing and investing in our people across four key areas: Talent,
Leadership, Reward and Culture. The People Agenda ensures our employees are supported in their careers, have the tools to work
and develop and are engaged in our business, because engaged employees deliver superior business performance. Through the
activities of The People Agenda, we aim to provide all our employees with the skills, opportunities, rewards and support they need
to reach their full potential at all levels of the organization.

We have a range of employee development programs and provide graduate training and ongoing personal development
programs, reflecting our commitment to employee development as a top priority. At Liberty Global, we encourage an inspiring
and supportive culture that enables our employees to give their best. We strive to ensure that all of our employees are engaged,
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informed and aligned with our corporate development goals by communicating often with all employees through email, newsletters
and employee meetings.

We give full and fair consideration to all applications for employment, including those from persons with disabilities where
the requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled by a person with disabilities. Where existing employees become disabled,
to the extent practicable, we provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and provide training and career
development and promotion as appropriate.

Directors of the Company during 2018

The following persons were directors of Liberty Global during the year ended December 31, 2018 and up to the date of
issuance of this annual report. There we no changes in the directors’ interests during 2018.

John C. Malone (Chairman)
Michael T. Fries (Vice Chairman)
Andrew J. Cole

Miranda Curtis

John W. Dick

Paul A. Gould

Richard R. Green

David E. Rapley

Larry E. Romrell

JC Sparkman

J. David Wargo

Directors’ Remuneration Report

Details of the directors’ compensation (remuneration) and their interests in the shares of Liberty Global are set out in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and sections of the 2019 proxy statement (including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis
section). For additional information, see Table of Contents.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which Liberty Global’s auditors are unaware; and each director has taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that Liberty Global’s
auditors are aware of that information.

Re-Appointment of the Auditors

In accordance with Section 489 of the Companies Act, a resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG LLP (U.K.) as statutory
auditors of the company has been proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Group Directors’ Report was approved by our board of directors and was signed on its behalf on April 25, 2019 by:

/s/ Bryan H. Hall
Bryan H. Hall

Executive Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Company registered number: 8379990
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE 2018 U.K. COMPANIES ACT ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for preparing the Group Strategic Report, the Group Directors’ Report and the group and parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they are required to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (E.U.-IFRS) and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements
in accordance with U.K. accounting standards and applicable law (U.K. Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS
101, Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the
group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

»  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
* make judgments and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;
»  for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with E.U.-IFRS;

»  for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable U.K. accounting standards have been followed, subject
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

* assess the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and

* use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent company and enable them to
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a Group Strategic Report and a Group
Directors’ Report that complies with that law and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s

website. Legislation in the U.K. governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
1 Our opinion is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Liberty Global plc (“the Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2018 which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
comprehensive earnings, consolidated statement of equity, consolidated statement of cash flows, parent company statement of
financial position, parent company statement of equity and the related notes, including the accounting policies in note 3 in the
consolidated financial statements and note 2 in the parent company financial statements.

In our opinion:

+ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs as at December
31, 2018 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended,;

» the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union (IFRS adopted by the EU);

» the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including
FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards
the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

2 Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us,
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing
the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In arriving at our audit opinion
above, the key audit matters, in decreasing order of audit significance, were as follows (unchanged from 2017):

Group: Capitalization of costs associated with construction and installation activities

Refer to page 82 (accounting policy)

The risk - Accounting treatment:

Capitalization of both internal and external costs incurred (part of which is included in Property and equipment, net of $12,294.6m
(2017: $17,403.4 m)) associated with the capital projects undertaken by the group involve estimation of the amount of time and
costs that should be capitalised. The most significant risk is that the group may inappropriately capitalize construction and
installation costs. The key risks in determining if construction and installation costs qualify for recognition as an asset, include
whether the costs are directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the group; it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the group, and if the cost can be measured reliably.

Our response
Our procedures included:

Control operations - We evaluated the design, implementation and tested operating effectiveness of key internal controls in place
used for identifying which construction and installation costs should be capitalized.
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Personnel interviews - We challenged the amount of internal costs capitalized during the year by comparing to budgets, interviewing
department heads to determine the level of time individuals have spent on capital items, and analysed the changes to significant
estimates utilized by the group to determine the amount of internal costs to be capitalized (if any), and other changes in the business
with a potential impact on cost capitalization during the year.

Tests of details - For both internal and external costs capitalised we selected a sample of PP&E additions on costs capitalized and

assessed the nature of the costs thereby assessing the appropriateness of the group’s cost capitalization conclusions.

Group: Recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions
($857.8 million; 2017 $528.5 million)

Refer to page 83 (accounting policy) and page 118 (financial disclosures)

The risk - Dispute outcome:

The Group operates in a multiple international jurisdictions with complex tax environments subject to varied interpretations and
has a number of uncertain tax positions. The tax matters are at various stages, from preliminary discussions with tax authorities
through to tax tribunal or court proceedings where the matters can take many years to resolve. Tax provisioning for uncertain tax
positions is judgmental and requires estimates to be made in relation to existing and potential tax matters. The group uses facts-
based judgments in determining tax reserves for uncertain tax positions.

Our response
Our procedures included:

Control operations - We evaluated the design, implementation and tested operating effectiveness of key internal controls in place
within the income tax process for controls related to the determination of provisions for uncertain tax positions.

Tests of details - We performed substantive procedures, including testing calculations and underlying supporting data for uncertain
tax positions.

Our tax expertise - We utilized our international and local tax specialists to assist with the evaluation and challenge of the group’s
tax calculations and tax provisions. We also utilized our tax specialists’ knowledge of local tax rulings and current tax audits for
similar situations in jurisdictions in which the group operates.

Assessing transparency - We assessed the adequacy of the group’s disclosures in respect of tax and uncertain tax positions.

Group: Deferred tax assets
($2,984.7 million; 2017 $5,103.5 million)

Refer to page 83 (accounting policy) and page 117 (financial disclosures)

The risk - Forecast-based valuation:

The group has significant deferred tax assets recognised in respect of tax losses. There is inherent uncertainty involved in forecasting
future taxable profits, which determines the extent to which deferred tax assets are or are not recognised.

Our response
Our procedures included:

Control operations - We evaluated the design, implementation and tested operating effectiveness of key internal controls in place
within the income tax process relating to the recognition of deferred tax assets.

Our experience: - We evaluated assumptions used in determining deferred tax asset balances, particularly those relating to the
group’s forecasts of future taxable profits.
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Sensitivity analysis: We considered reasonably possible changes in assumptions including forecast profit and their impact on the
outcome of the deferred tax assets.

Assessing transparency - We assessed the adequacy of the group’s disclosures about the sensitivity of the recognition of deferred
tax assets to changes in key assumptions reflected in the inherent risk.

Group: Derivative instruments
Assets: ($2,496.7m; 2017 $ 2,309.0 m)
Liabilities: ($ 1,370 m; 2017 $ 2,118.8 m)

Refer to page 82 (accounting policy) and page 104 (financial disclosures)

The risk - Subjective Valuation:

The fair value of the group’s derivative instruments is determined through a variety of valuation techniques within the treasury
process including cash flow valuation models and binomial option pricing models which requires the exercise of judgment.

Our response

Our procedures included:

Control operations - We evaluated the design, implementation and tested operating effectiveness of key internal controls within
the treasury process, including controls over data input to valuation models, reconciliations between internal valuations and external

(i.e., third-party) valuations and review of final valuation adjustments recorded.

Our valuation expertise - We utilized our own valuation specialists to independently calculate the fair value of a sample of the
derivatives and investigated differences outside our expected acceptable range in the context of our materiality.

Assessing transparency - We assessed whether the disclosures appropriately disclose fair value considerations and inherent
uncertainties related to the group’s derivative instruments.

Parent Company: Recoverability of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries
($43,161.8 million; 2017 $40,376.7 million)

Refer to page 174 (accounting policy) and page 175 (financial disclosures)

The risk - low risk/high value:

The carrying amount of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries ($43.2 billion) represents 97% of the company’s total assets.
The recoverability is not at a high risk of significant misstatement or subject to significant judgment. However, due to their
materiality in the context of the financial statements, this is considered to be the area that had the greatest effect on our overall
audit of the parent company.

Our response

Our procedures included:

Tests of detail: We compared the carrying amount of material investments with the relevant subsidiaries’ balance sheet to identify
whether their net assets, being an approximation of their minimum recoverable amount, were in excess of their carrying amount

and assessing whether those subsidiaries have historically been profit-making.

Assessing subsidiary audits: We assessed the work performed by the subsidiary audit teams of those subsidiaries where audits are
performed and considering the results of that work on those subsidiaries’ profits and net assets.
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3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit

Materiality for the group financial statements as a whole was set at $60,000,000 (2017: $70,000,000), determined with reference
to a benchmark of revenue adjusted for discontinued operations of $12,343m, of which it represents 0.48% (2017: 0.47%).

Materiality for the parent Company financial statements as a whole was set at $55,000,000 (2017: $60,000,000), determined with
reference to a benchmark of Company total assets, of which it represents 0.12% (2017: 0.14%).

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any corrected or uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding $3,000,000, in
addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Of the group’s 17 (2017: 19) reporting components, we subjected 5 (2017: 7) to full scope audits for group purposes and 2 (2017:
0) to specified risk-focused audit procedures.

The components within the scope of our work accounted for the following percentages of the Group:

Number of Group Group loss
2018 (2017) components revenue before tax Total assets
Audits for group reporting purposes 5(7) 80% (81%) 42% (81%) 82% (87%)
Specified risk-focused audit procedures 2(0) 1% (0%) 33% (0%) 10% (0%)
Total 7(7) 81% (81%) 75% (81%) 92% (87%)

The remaining 19% (2017: 19%) of total group revenue, 25% (2017: 19%) of group loss before tax and 8% (2017: 13%) of total
group assets is represented by ten reporting components (2017: 12), none of which individually represented more than 5% (2017:
10%) of any of total group revenue, group profit before tax or total group assets. For these residual components, we performed
analysis at an aggregated group level to re-examine our assessment that there were no significant risks of material misstatement
within these.

The Group team instructed component auditors as to the significant areas to be covered, including the relevant risks detailed above
and the information to be reported back. The Group team approved the component materialities, which ranged from $22m to
$50m, having regard to the mix of size and risk profile of the Group across the components. The work on 6 of the 7 components
(2017: 6 of the 7 components) was performed by component auditors and the rest, including the audit of the parent company, was
performed by the Group team.

The Group team visited 7 (2017: 7) component locations in the United Kingdom, United States, Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands,
and Switzerland (2017: United Kingdom, United States, Belgium, Germany, the Netherlands, and Switzerland) to assess the audit
risk and strategy. During these visits and meetings, the findings reported to the Group team were discussed in more detail, and
any further work required by the Group team was then performed by the component auditor.

4 We have nothing to report on going concern

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Company
or the Group or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Company’s and the Group’s financial position means
that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over
their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going
concern period”).

Our responsibility is to conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ conclusions and, had there been a material uncertainty
related to going concern, to make reference to that in this audit report. However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions
and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were
made, the absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the group or the company
will continue in operation.

In our evaluation of the Directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s and Company’s business model
and analysed how those risks might affect the Group’s and Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over

the going concern period. In our evaluation of the Directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s and
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Company’s business model, including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how those risks might affect the Group’s and Company’s
financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We evaluated those risks and concluded that
they were not significant enough to require us to perform additional audit procedures

Based on this work, we are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting
is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that basis for a period
of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We have nothing to report in these respects, and we did not identify going concern as a key audit matter.
5 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial statements. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or,
except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements audit work,
the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely
on that work we have not identified material misstatements in the other information.

Strategic report and directors’ report

Based solely on our work on the other information:

» we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

* in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and
*  in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ remuneration report
In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

6 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

» the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Director’s Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns; or

» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

*  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
7 Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 62, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
statements including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing
the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern;
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
ofassurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
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when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

8 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume

responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders, as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.

/s TUDOR AW

Tudor Aw (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square, London, United Kingdom
April 25,2019
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

Property and equipment, NEt .........coceririiriienieieneeee e
GOOAWILL...vieeieeiiccee ettt e s b e e be e s ebeeaeenenas
Intangible assets subject to amortization, Net...........ceceecverveecverreerrerreenenne
Equity-method InVeStMEents..........ccoceeririiriiienieieseesee e

Other investments (including $1,145.2 million and $2,280.2 million,

respectively, measured at fair value on a recurring basis)........ccccceceeueenne
Non-current assets held for sale ........c.ccoeoeviiiiinininineceee
(01 1 1< T TN 1 1 AU
Total NON-CUITENTE ASSELS........coveeerreririeerieierereete ettt

Current assets:

Other CUITENT ASSELS.....ecvievierieiieeierrieeeerteeeesteetesteeaesteesesseessesseesseeseesenns
Current assets held for Sale.........ccvvvieiiieiieeieeece e
Derivative INSIUMENES........ccvevieieieeierieeiesteeee st eaesreesesieeeesseeseeeseeseens
Trade receivables and unbilled revenue, Net...........ccceevvvveevviiivceeeinnnee
Cash and cash equivalents ...........coccoeieriiiiniieeeeee e
TOtal CUITENTE ASSCLS ...vveuvieeeieienrieiieie e rteete st e et eeeeseete s eeeeneesseennennas
TOAL ASSELS ...vveuvieeietieeieeieeteete et et eteeteesbeeraesbeesaesbeessessaessesseenseeseensenns

Note December 31,
References 2018 2017
in millions

7 $§ 12,2946 § 17,4034
7 13,727.1 18,561.9
7 2,679.4 3,594.1
8 3,995.7 4,347.4
8 1,145.2 2,311.4
6 9,644.6 1,187.3
7,9,10, 11 and 12 5,031.4 5,393.7
48,518.0 52,799.2
10 546.8 483.6
6 356.5 34.9
9 and 10 394.2 576.0
10 and 12 1,342.1 1,540.4
10 1,480.5 1,672.4
4,120.1 4,307.3
$ 52,638.1 $ 57,106.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION — (Continued)

Note December 31,

References 2018

2017

in millions

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity:
Liberty Global shareholders:
Share capital:
Liberty Global Shares — Class A, $0.01 nominal value. Issued and

outstanding 204,450,499 and 219,668,579 shares, respectively .......... 13 $ 20 § 2.2
Liberty Global Shares — Class B, $0.01 nominal value. Issued and
outstanding 11,099,593 and 11,102,619 shares, respectively .............. 13 0.1 0.1
Liberty Global Shares — Class C, $0.01 nominal value. Issued and

outstanding 531,174,389 and 584,332,055 shares, respectively......... 13 5.3 5.8
Share PremMium FESEIVE.....ecueeuerrieierrieieeeieteeeteteeseesseeeesseeeesseensesseensesseens 13 1,121.5 1,1154
IMIEIZEI TESETVE....ccuuveeueeeireeieeniieeieesreeteeseteeseessseeseenssesnseessseenseesssesnsessssen 13 4,749.3 4,749.3

OthET TESEIVES....eetvieieeiiiieieeetie et e s te et e sebeesteesebeesteessaeesseessseeseessseeseensseas 13 (941.7) (58.6)
Retained earnings (10SS) ....eecvevveerveriieienieieeteie ettt 13 (266.7) 1,024.3

Treasury Shares, at COSt ......cvvriiiiiriiiierieieesie e ste ettt b e be e e saeeeeas 13 (0.1) (0.1)
Total Liberty Global shareholders............ccceoieieiieiinieiiieceeee, 4,669.7 6,838.4

NoNcoNtrolling INEEIESES. ......ccuververieierierieeiese et et e e seesaeennes (526.3) (425.7)
TOtAl EQUILY ...vevieerieeietietiete ettt ettt te b ea e beees e seessesaeenes 4,143.4 6,412.7

Liabilities:
Non-current debt and finance lease obligations...........ccceceeveveeeeeriercvennennn. 10 and 15 26,190.0 37,371.1
Long-term portion of ProviSions...........ccecceerververieseesreseesieesesreesesseessesseenns 16 736.6 581.9
Non-current liabilities held for Sale ..........cooovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 6 9,498.7 77.8
Other non-current Habilities..........cccveeeiiieeerieieeee e 9,10, 11,16 and 17 1,678.5 2,697.2
Total non-current lHabilitieS........cccveivvviiiiiieieieecieeceeeeee e 38,103.8 40,728.0
Current liabilities:

Other accrued and current lHabiliti€S..........cc.ocovvvveeeirireeeeee e 9 and 19 1,574.5 1,755.3
Current liabilities held fOr Sale ..........ooovivvviiiiiiiiciieeeee e 6 1,932.4 78.5
PrOVISIONS ..viouviiiiiieiiieeieeciie ettt ettt et e e veeseb e e ae e taeesteesaseesseeseseesseenssean 16 219.6 146.1
ACCIUC INCOME TAXES ..cuveeurerieieitieieeiieteeteeseeeetesseeeesseeaesseesesseesesseensenseans 11 378.6 472.3
Accrued capital eXpenditures..........ccoccveevieieniieienieiese e 543.2 718.9
Current portion of debt and finance lease obligations.............cceceveeriennnne. 10 and 15 4,021.2 4,647.0
DEferre@d TEVENUE ........ooeveiieieieeeee e 847.1 1,101.1
ACCOUNLS PAYADIC........eoivieiiiitieiiciieieceet ettt ettt eraens 10 and 19 874.3 1,046.6
Total current HabilitIes ........covvuviiiiiiiiiiie e 10,390.9 9,965.8
TOtal THADIIITIES ...vevvevveeieeieeieiieiieii ettt ettt eeeeeeeae et e e 48,494.7 50,693.8
Total equity and Habilities ............ccevereeeericecieeeeeeeeee e $ 52,638.1 $ 57,106.5

The financial statements were approved by our board of directors and were signed on its behalf on April 25, 2019 by:

/s/ Michael T. Fries
Michael T. Fries
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Company registered number: 8379990

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Note Year ended December 31,
References 2018 2017
in millions, except per share
amounts

REVEIUE .....oooiiiieeie ettt et s e e et e e sseaeessaeeesseeenns 18 $ 11,9559 $ 11,268.1

COSE OF SEIVICES ..vevvevieniieiieiieiierteete st ete st ete st ebesteesbeesae b e esaesseessesseesseeseensesseensas 7,14 and 21 8,539.2 8,161.9

General and administrative (G&A) EXPENSES .......cvevvrereeireeeeereereereereereeereereennes 7,14, 21 and 22 1,346.7 1,257.4

SEIlING EXPEISES ....eveririiirtinterienteterie ettt ettt eb ettt sb e sb ettt see b et et et ese b eae 1,029.0 1,006.7

Impairment, restructuring and other operating items, net ...........ccceceeververercnne. 5,16 and 17 270.5 113.8

11,185.4 10,539.8

OPerating Profit........ccocerieiirierienieieieieeeeeteeee ettt 770.5 728.3
FINAINCE COSES ...veviiiniiiiriiierierteteet ettt sttt ettt et 23 (1,982.7) (2,906.0)

FINANCE INCOIMIE ...evieiiieiiieiiecit ettt ettt e et eesaaeesbeessaeebeessbeenseennseens 23 1,229.6 70.8
INEt fINANCE COSES ..ovvuiiertiriiriirtirtertertet ettt ettt ettt st ettt evea (753.1) (2,835.2)
Share of results of affiliates, Net..........cccoevievieiiiiiiiiiniccce 8 19.6 (94.1)

Other INCOME, NEL .......eeiviieiieciiieiieeie ettt et e et e s e eebeesteeeveesbeereesaseeseesaseens 14.0 11.3
(719.5) (2,918.0)
Profit (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes ............cccceu..... 51.0 (2,189.7)
INCOME tAX EXPEIISE ...eovvivierieriiteeeteeteete et ete et eeteeteesteeeeeteessesteeasesteeaseeseenseereennas 11 (1,527.5) (181.4)
Loss from continuing OPerations ............ccceceeruereeriereesreeieesieesenseessesseesseseennes (1,476.5) (2,371.1)
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes..........coceeveevevveveveveennene 6 1,158.6 (380.3)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of taxes .........coceeveveereeeeerennene 6 975.3 242.9
Nt PrOfit (I0SS)...icueeiiceieiieieeieee ettt ettt et et ettt eaeenns 657.4 (2,508.5)
Net profit attributable to noncontrolling interests .........c.covevververerieieiereeenennenn 3and 6 (146.5) (43.0)
Net profit (loss) attributable to Liberty Global shareholders .......................... $ 5109 § (2,551.5)

Basic and diluted loss from continuing operations attributable to Liberty

Global shareholders per Share.............cccvvveveveeirieiereiiecieeeeeee e 3 $ (2.10) $ (2.86)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Note Year ended December 31,
References 2018 2017
in millions

NEE PIOTIE (10SS) .veviivvirieictieiet ittt ettt ettt ettt ettt st s et ea et b s s aseaeas $ 6574 § (2,508.5)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes: 24

Continuing operations:

Foreign currency translation adjustments .............cccceceverenenenienienenneieinceeeene, (896.9) 1,981.0
Reclassification adjustments included in net profit...........ccccocevevvevieneceinccncnene. 6 23.5 0.8
Pension-related adjustments and other............cccocoeiiininininininiiiccee, (7.1) 16.3
Other comprehensive income (loss) from continuing operations........................ (880.5) 1,998.1
Other comprehensive income (loss) from discontinued operations ..............c.......... 16.4 (80.2)
Other comprehensive inCome (10SS).....c.ceceveririeririneneninieeeeteeeeeeeeeeeean (864.1) 1,917.9
ComPIeReNSIVE L0SS....ccveriruirieiirieiiricirieertc ettt (206.7) (590.6)
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests ............c.cccceceeuennene. (145.5) (44.7)
Comprehensive loss attributable to Liberty Global shareholders........................ $ (352.2) $ (635.3)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Liberty Global shareholders

Foreign
Share Capital currency Treasury  Total Liberty Non-
Note Share premium Merger redemption translation Other Retained  shares, at Global controlling Total
References capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves earnings cost shareholders interests equity
in millions
Balance at January 1, 2017 ......... $ 106 $1,103.5 $10,083.5 $ 1.5 $ (2,099.5) $ 31 $46987 §$ (03) $ 13,801.1 $ 972.0 $14,773.1

Net 10SS...c.eiueeeirieeeeieeeene — — — (2,551.5) — (2,551.5) 43.0 (2,508.5)
Other comprehensive income,

net of taxes .......ooeveeeerirnnnes 6 and 24 — — — 1,951.8 (2.3) (33.3) — 1,916.2 1.7 1,917.9
Impact of the Split-off

Transaction...........ccceeeereeene. 5 (1.7) — (4,488.9) 86.6 (0.6) 930.3 — (3,474.3)  (1,361.3)  (4,835.6)
Repurchase and cancellation of

Liberty Global ordinary

Shares.......cocovevveenecieeene 13 0.8) — — 0.8 (2,948.2) — (2,948.2) — (2,948.2)
Equalization payment related

to the VodafoneZiggo JV

Transaction (@).............cuev... 6 — — (845.3) — — — 845.3 — — — —
Share-based compensation....... 14 — — — 176.2 — 176.2 — 176.2
Adjustments due to changes in

subsidiaries’ equity and

other, net.........ccocevveirencnenee — 11.9 — — — — 93.2) 0.2 (81.1) (81.1) (162.2)

Balance at December 31, 2017 ... $ 81 $L1,1154 §$ 47493 § 23§ (61.1) $ 02 $1,0243 § (0.1) $ 6,8384 $§ (425.7) § 6,412.7

(@)  During 2017, in connection with the completion of the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction, our company received an equalization payment from Vodafone of €806.8 million
($845.3 million at the applicable rates). This payment realized an element of the merger reserve related to the 2014 acquisition of the shares of Ziggo Holding B.V. that
we did not already own. During 2017, we released all realized values in merger reserves, including both the $845.3 million and the $4,488.9 million related to the
VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction and Split-off Transaction, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY — (Continued)

Liberty Global shareholders

Foreign
Share Capital currency Retained  Treasury  Total Liberty Non-
Notes Share premium Merger redemption translation Other earnings  shares, at Global controlling Total
References capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves (loss) cost shareholders interests equity
in millions
Balance at January 1, 2018,
before effect of accounting
change.......cccoveevrirecens $ 81 $ 1,1154 §$ 47493 3 23§ 61.1) $ 02 $1,0243 $§ (0.1) $ 6,8384 $ (425.7) $ 64127
Accounting change 2 — — — — — — 320.1 — 320.1 4.4 3245
Balance at January 1, 2018, as
adjusted for accounting
change ........cccooevvveieinienenn. 8.1 1,1154 4,749.3 2.3 (61.1) 0.2 1,344.4 0.1) 7,158.5 (421.3) 6,737.2
Net earnings — — — — — — 510.9 — 510.9 146.5 657.4
Other comprehensive loss,
net of taxes ..........ccocevenee. 6 and 24 — — — — (883.5) 0.3) 20.7 — (863.1) (1.0) (864.1)
Repurchase and cancellation
of Liberty Global
ordinary shares.................. 13 0.7) — — 0.7 — —  (2,010.0) — (2,010.0) — (2,010.0)
Distributions by subsidiaries
to noncontrolling interest
OWIETS ..venveneeeeveeneeneenen — — — — — — — — — (298.4) (298.4)
Repurchases by Telenet of
its outstanding shares ....... — — — — — — (294.0) — (294.0) 35.4 (258.6)
Share-based compensation... 14 — — — — — — 162.6 — 162.6 — 162.6
Adjustments due to changes
in subsidiaries’ equity and
other, net.........ccoeveuvenenn. — 6.1 — — — — (1.3) — 4.8 12.5 17.3
Balance at December 31,
2018 e $ 74 $ 1,121.5 $ 47493 $ 30 $ (944.6) $ ©0.1) $ (266.7) $ (0.1) $§ 4,669.7 $ (5263) $ 4,1434

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Note Year ended December 31,
References 2018 2017
in millions

Cash flows from operating activities:

NEt PIOTIE (T0SS) c.vviuvviieriireeeeteee ettt ettt ettt et et v et et es s re s sessens $ 6574 $§  (2,508.5)
Profit (loss) from discontinued Operations.............cccceeveevuieeereeieseeiesreereeneens 6 2,133.9 (137.4)
Loss from continuing OPerations .............ceeeeceeriervereesieseesseseensessessessenseens (1,476.5) (2,371.1)

Adjustments to reconcile loss from continuing operations to net cash
provided by operating activities of continuing operations:

Share-based compPeNSation EXPENSE.......ccveververieieieieiereeierieeieeeeeie e 14 205.9 178.4
Depreciation and amortiZation............ceceeerueeerenenienienieeeneeeeeese e 7 and 21 3,896.2 3,823.3
Impairment, restructuring and other operating items, net............c.cceceeuennee. 5,16 and 17 270.5 113.8
Net fINANCE COSIS ....uviiinriiiitiee e e 23 753.1 2,835.2
Gain on VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction..........ccoceeerereeeeiecnenenencsennenee 6 — 4.5)
Share of results of affiliates, net ............cccooeiriiiinninicccce 8 (19.6) 94.1
Deferred income tax expense (benefit).........cccoeceveenecenecininnnineeineeennene 11 447.6 (10.8)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of
acquisitions and dispositions:

Payables and acCruals ...........ccooovveiiiuieieeiieiieiecrceeeeeee e 708.1 (321.6)
Receivables and other operating assets...........ccoceevevvieeerieeeeneneennennnns 580.8 401.2
Dividends from affiliates and others............ccoceeoeiiiiiiieiiieeeee 8 252.8 299.5

INtETESt PALA......evititirieeee et e (1,405.7) (1,380.6)
INtEIest TECEIVEA ... ettt ettt 66.3 77.2

INCOME tAXES PAIA ..euvereenieiieieiieiieiee ettt (309.0) (269.7)
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations ............... 3,970.5 3,464.4
Net cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations............. 1,978.1 2,235.3
Net cash provided by operating activities ........c.ccoceeeevercererenrcnerienenennens 5,948.6 5,699.7

Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds received upon disposition of discontinued operations, net.................. 6 2,058.2 —
Capital EXPENAITUIES.......ceeveieiriiiiriietieere ettt 7 (1,470.7) (1,272.3)
Investments in and loans to affiliates and others ...........cccecveeviiinniiininenne 8 (88.8) (118.3)
Cash paid in connection with acquisitions, net of cash acquired.............cccc.... 5 (82.5) (413.9)

Sale Of INVESHMENLS ......eoveuirienirieiriiieieieereeeree ettt 8 36.2 25.5

Distributions received from affiliates.........ccceccveveeeciienieiciieciece e 6 — 1,569.4

Equalization payment related to the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction................. 6 — 845.3

Other INvesting actiVities, NET........ccceieirererientenerieierereeeree et 131.4 123.0

Net cash provided by investing activities of continuing operations................. 583.8 758.7

Net cash used by investing activities of discontinued operations, including

deconsolidated CaSh .........c.ovveivririeeieee s (514.2) (1,910.1)
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities..........cceceeeerererinenennens $ 696 $§ (1,151.4)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (Continued)

Note Year ended December 31,
References 2018 2017

in millions

Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayments and repurchases of debt and finance lease obligations................... 15 $ (8,170.6) $§ (8,177.5)

Borrowings of debt.........ccoooiiiiiiiiiii e 15 4,396.5 7,215.4
Repurchase of Liberty Global ordinary shares...........cccccceovecirvinenenencncnicnennens 13 (2,009.9) (2,976.2)
Distributions by subsidiaries to noncontrolling interest OWners............c..cccoueee. (290.3) (13.0)
Repurchase by Telenet of its outstanding shares...........c.cccecveevveneninicnncncnnene (244.7) (36.5)
Net cash received (paid) related to derivative instruments..........cccceceeeeerennenne. 9 112.8 (138.1)
Payment of financing costs and debt premiums.........c..ccceceecveverenieniencnenenennens 15 (73.1) (249.6)
Value-added taxes (VAT) paid on behalf of the VodafoneZiggo JV .................. 6 — (162.6)

Other financing activities, NET .........coceeereririerierenieietetetetee e (7.3) 33.9
Net cash used by financing activities of continuing operations ...........c..c..c..... (6,286.6) (4,504.2)

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities of discontinued

OPCIALIONS 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt et ettt ettt eb e et st ebeseebenaenenbenea 129.0 (145.1)
Net cash used by financing activities ..........ccceeerereereeriereeineneneneneneee (6,157.6) (4,649.3)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted

cash:
CONtINUING OPETALIONS .....evvieeiietieterteeteete st steste et e te e teeesteneeseebeebessesaesbesbeneens (43.2) 114.1
Discontinued OPEIatiONS. ........ccceeuereruirrirerertentenienteteteteeeiteeereerestesreseesrenseneens (1.9) 1.1
TOMAL .ot (45.1) 115.2

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash:

Continuing OPETALIONS. .......c.ceveueriiieieieierieieeeee et (1,775.5) (167.0)
Discontinued OPEIAtIONS ........ccceeerteruirterierierteieterteeeteteieeseete ettt e e e e 1,591.0 181.2
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash..... (184.5) 14.2

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Beginning 0f YEAT .......cccoviiiiririniiirtcrereeteceet e 1,682.8 1,668.6
BN OF YEAT ..ottt sttt b et b et s e ns $ 1,4983 $ 1,682.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017

a Basis of Presentation

Liberty Global plc (Liberty Global) is a public limited company organized under the laws of England and Wales. In these
notes, the terms “we,” “our,” “our company” and “us” may refer, as the context requires, to Liberty Global or collectively to
Liberty Global and its subsidiaries. We are an international provider of video, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony and mobile

communications services to residential customers and businesses in Europe.

Our continuing operations comprise businesses that provide residential and business-to-business (B2B) communications
services in (i) the United Kingdom (U.K.) and Ireland through Virgin Media Inc. (Virgin Media), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Liberty Global, (ii) Belgium through Telenet Group Holding N.V. (Telenet), a 59.7%-owned subsidiary of Liberty Global, (iii)
Switzerland and Poland through UPC Holding B.V. and (iv) Slovakia through UPC Broadband Slovakia s.r.o. UPC Holding B.V.
and UPC Broadband Slovakia s.r.o., which are each wholly-owned subsidiaries of Liberty Global, are collectively referred to
herein as “UPC Holding.” In addition, following the December 31, 2016 completion of the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction (as
defined in note 18), we own a 50% noncontrolling interest in the VodafoneZiggo JV, which provides residential and B2B
communication services in the Netherlands. During 2016, we provided residential and B2B communications services in the
Netherlands through our wholly-owned subsidiary, VodafoneZiggo Holding B.V. (VodafoneZiggo Holding).

In addition, we currently provide (i) residential and B2B communication services in (a) Germany through Unitymedia GmbH
(Unitymedia) and (b) Hungary, the Czech Republic and Romania through UPC Holding B.V. and (ii) direct-to-home satellite
(DTH) services to residential customers in Hungary, the Czech Republic, Romania and Slovakia through a Luxembourg-based
subsidiary of UPC Holding B.V. that we refer to as “UPC DTH.” We also provided residential and B2B communication services
in Austria through July 31, 2018, the date we completed the sale of such operations. On May 9, 2018, we reached an agreement
to sell our operations in Germany, Romania, Hungary and the Czech Republic (exclusive of our DTH operations) and on December
21, 2018, we reached an agreement to sell the operations of UPC DTH. In these consolidated financial statements, our operations
in Austria, Germany, Romania, Hungary and the Czech Republic and the operations of UPC DTH are presented as discontinued
operations for all periods. For additional information regarding these pending and completed dispositions, see note 6. Subsequent
to December 31, 2018, we entered into an agreement to sell our operations in Switzerland. For additional information, see note
28.

Prior to the December 29, 2017 completion of the Split-off Transaction (as defined and described in note 6), we also provided
residential and B2B communications services in (i) various countries in Latin America and the Caribbean, through Cable & Wireless
Communications Limited (C&W)), (ii) Chile through VTR.com SpA (VTR) and (iii) Puerto Rico through Liberty Cablevision of
Puerto Rico LLC (Liberty Puerto Rico). C&W and VTR were each wholly-owned subsidiaries of Liberty Global, and Liberty
Puerto Rico was an entity in which we held a 60.0% ownership interest. C&W also provided (a) B2B services in certain other
countries in Latin America and the Caribbean and (b) wholesale services over its sub-sea and terrestrial networks. The operations
of C&W, VTR, Liberty Puerto Rico and certain other entities that were associated with our businesses in Latin America and the
Caribbean are collectively referred to herein as the “LiLAC Group.” As a result of the Split-off Transaction, the entities attributed
to the LiLAC Group are presented as discontinued operations in our consolidated statements of profit or loss and cash flows for
2017 and 2016.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Union (E.U.-IFRS) and
applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 (the Companies Act). Our significant accounting principles are summarized
in note 3, which have been applied consistently throughout the periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and are presented in United States (U.S.)
dollars, which is our functional currency. Unless otherwise indicated, the amounts presented in these notes relate only to our
continuing operations, and ownership percentages and convenience translations into U.S. dollars are calculated as of December 31,
2018.

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by our board of directors on April 25, 2019.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017

Accounting Changes and Recent Pronouncements

First-time Application of Accounting Standards

The following new accounting standards and amendments to accounting standards have been initially applied:

Applicable for Date of
fiscal years endorsement
Standard Title beginning on or after by the E.U.

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment

(amendments) Transactions January 1, 2018 (a) February 26, 2018
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments January 1, 2018 (b)  November 22, 2016
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers January 1,2018 (¢)  September 22, 2016
IFRS 15 Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

(amendments) Customers January 1, 2018 (c) October 31, 2017

(2)

(b)

(©)

In June 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2, Share-based Payments (IFRS 2), which includes new requirements
for the accounting of share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations. The
amendments to IFRS 2 require that certain transactions be classified as equity-settled share-based payment transactions.
We adopted the amendments to IFRS 2 on January 1, 2018. The amendments to IFRS 2 did not have a material impact on
the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (IFRS 9), which introduces a single approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets according to their cash flow characteristics and the business model they
are managed in, and provides a new impairment model based on expected credit losses. IFRS 9 includes new regulations
regarding the application of hedge accounting to better reflect an entity’s risk management activities, especially with regard
to managing non-financial risks. We adopted IFRS 9 effective January 1, 2018 on a retrospective basis. The application of
IFRS 9 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15), which requires an entity to
recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of goods or services to customers. We
adopted IFRS 15 effective January 1, 2018 by recording the cumulative effect of the adoption to our retained earnings. We
applied the new standard to contracts that were not complete at January 1, 2018. The comparative information for the year
ended December 31, 2017 contained within these consolidated financial statements and notes has not been restated and
continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for such periods.

The most significant impacts of IFRS 15 on our revenue recognition policies relates to our accounting for (i) time-limited
discounts and free service periods provided to our customers and (ii) certain upfront fees charged to our customers, as
follows:

*  When we enter into contracts to provide services to our customers, we often provide time-limited discounts or free
service periods. Under current accounting standards, we recognize revenue net of discounts during the promotional
periods and do not recognize any revenue during free service periods. Under IFRS 15, revenue recognition for those
contracts that contain substantive termination penalties will be accelerated, as the impact of the discounts or free service
periods will be recognized uniformly over the contractual period. For contracts that do not have substantive termination
penalties, we will continue to record the impacts of partial or full discounts during the applicable promotional periods.

*  When we enter into contracts to provide services to our customers, we often charge installation or other upfront fees.
Under previous accounting rules, installation fees related to services provided over our cable networks were recognized
as revenue during the period in which the installation occurred to the extent these fees were equal to or less than direct
selling costs. Under IFRS 15, these fees are generally deferred and recognized as revenue over the contractual period,
or longer if the upfront fee results in a material renewal right.
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IFRS 15 also impacted our accounting for certain upfront costs directly associated with obtaining and fulfilling customer
contracts. Under our previous policy, these costs were expensed as incurred unless the costs were in the scope of another
accounting topic that allowed for capitalization. Under IFRS 15, certain upfront costs associated with contracts that have
substantive termination penalties and a term of one year or more are recognized as assets and amortized to operating costs
and expenses over the applicable period benefited.

For additional information regarding the impact of our adoption of IFRS 15, see note 4.

The cumulative effect of the adoption of IFRS 15 on the summary statement of financial position information as of January 1,
2018 is as follows:

Balance at Balance at
December 31, IFRS 15 January 1,
2017 Adjustments 2018
in millions
Assets:
Equity-method investments (2) ...........cccevveeeerrierieneeieneeie e 4,347.4 1912 § 4,538.6
Other @SSELS, TIEL .....cv.cveeeeeeeeeeeteeeeeteete ettt 5,393.7 345 § 5,428.2
Other CUITENT ASSELS......vivvevieeriieriereteeteeeeteae ettt s se e seevene e 483.6 1773 $ 660.9
Trade receivables and unbilled revenue, net............cccoeveeeveeueecieereenennen. 1,540.4 32 § 1,537.2
Equity:
Retained CarniNgs .......cccecveieieieiriierieieriesiet et etesteeres e eseesesseeseesessessennas 1,024.3 320.1 $ 1,344.4
NONCONTOING INTETESTS ......cvoveeeeieeetieeetieeeteeeete ettt $ (425.7) 44 S (421.3)
Liabilities:
Other non-current Habiliti€S ..........covvevviiiiiiiiiiieeieeieeee e $ 2,697.2 418 $ 2,739.0
Accrued INCOME LAXES .....cveevvieeeeiieiieiteeresieere e ere st re e s reeseeree s ees $ 472.3 12 $ 473.5
DETEITEd TEVENUE. ..o e $ 1,101.1 323 $ 1,133.4

(@)  ThelIFRS 15 adjustment amounts include the impact of our share of the VodafoneZiggo JV’s adjustment to its owners’
equity.

The impact of our adoption of IFRS 15 on the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2018 was
not materially different from the impacts set forth in the above January 1, 2018 summary statement of financial position
information. Similarly, the adoption of IFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended December 31, 2018.

New Accounting Standards, Not Yet Effective
Except for the following accounting standards that are relevant for the company, there were no additional standards and

interpretations issued by the IASB that are not yet effective for the current reporting period that we see as relevant for the company.
We have not early adopted the accounting standards that are relevant for us.

Applicable for Date of
Standard/ fiscal years endorsement
Interpretation Title beginning on or after by the E.U.
IFRS 16 Leases January 1, 2019 (a) October 31, 2017
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments January 1, 2019 (b) October 23, 2018
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In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases (IFRS 16), which supersedes IAS 17 Leases (IAS 17). IFRS 16 will
result in lessees recognizing right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position with additional
disclosures about leasing arrangements. IFRS 16 also eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or
finance leases by a lessee. IFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to recognize and measure leases retrospectively to each
prior reporting period presented (full retrospective approach) or retrospectively through a cumulative effect adjustment to
equity on the effective date (modified retrospective approach). The modified retrospective approach also includes a number
of optional practical expedients that may be applied. IFRS 16 also replaces the straight-line operating lease expense for
those leases accounted for under IAS 17 with a depreciation charge for the lease asset and an interest expense on the lease
liability. This change aligns the lease expense treatment for all leases. The new standard is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, while early adoption is permitted if IFRS 15 is applied.

We will adopt IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019 by using the modified retrospective approach. We intend to apply the following
practical expedients and options:

* Intransition, we will not reassess which existing contracts are or contain leases. In addition, we will not use hindsight
during transition;

»  We will not apply the practical expedient that permits a lessee to account for lease and non-lease components in a
contract as a single lease component and, accordingly, we will continue to account for these components separately;

*  We will not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of 12 months or less; and
*  We will apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

The main impacts of the adoption of this standard will be (i) the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in
the consolidated statements of financial position for leases previously accounted for as operating leases and (ii) the
replacement of operating lease expense with a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease
liabilities. This change will result in a front-loaded total lease expense versus the previous straight-line operating lease
expense.

We have implemented a new lease accounting system and related internal controls to meet the requirements of IFRS 16.
We expect to record significant right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities upon adoption. We expect that the
adoption of IFRS 16 will increase Adjusted EBITDA as aresult of operating lease expense being replaced with a depreciation
charge for right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease liabilities. We also expect that the adoption of IFRS 16 will
increase cash flows from operating activities and decrease cash flows from financing activities on the consolidated statement
of cash flows, as all principal payments on lease liabilities will be presented within the cash flows from financing activities.

For a summary of our undiscounted future minimum lease payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2018, see
note 20.

We evaluated the impact of applying this accounting standard on the consolidated financial statements and do not believe
the impact of the adoption of this standard to be material.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Estimates and Judgments

In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, we make estimates and assumptions that affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
Critical accounting policies are defined as those policies that are reflective of significant judgments, estimates and uncertainties,
which would potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. We believe the following
accounting policies are critical in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements because of the judgment necessary to
account for these matters and the significant estimates involved, which are susceptible to change:

*  Impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets (including goodwill);
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»  Costs associated with construction and installation activities;
e Fair value measurements; and
* Income tax accounting.

We have discussed the selection of the aforementioned critical accounting policies with the audit committee of our board of
directors.

Impairment of Property and Equipment and Intangible Assets

Carrying Value. The aggregate carrying value of our property and equipment and intangible assets (including goodwill) that
was held for use comprised 67.3% of our total assets at December 31, 2018.

When circumstances warrant, we review the carrying amounts of our property and equipment and our intangible assets (other
than goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets) to determine whether such carrying amounts continue to be recoverable.
Such changes in circumstance may include (i) an expectation of a sale or disposal of a non-current asset or asset group, (ii) adverse
changes in market or competitive conditions, (iii) an adverse change in legal factors or business climate in the markets in which
we operate and (iv) operating or cash flow losses. For purposes of impairment testing, non-current assets are grouped at the lowest
level for which cash flows are largely independent of other assets and liabilities, generally at or below the reporting unit level (see
below). If the carrying amount of the asset or asset group is greater than the expected undiscounted cash flows to be generated by
such asset or asset group, an impairment adjustment is recognized. Such adjustment is measured by the amount that the carrying
value of such asset or asset group exceeds its fair value. We generally measure fair value by considering (a) sale prices for similar
assets, (b) discounted estimated future cash flows using an appropriate discount rate and/or (c) estimated replacement cost. Assets
to be disposed of are recorded at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

We evaluate goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment at least annually on October 1 and whenever
facts and circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For impairment evaluations with respect to
both goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangibles, we first make a qualitative assessment to determine if the goodwill or other
indefinite-lived intangible may be impaired. In the case of goodwill, if a the fair value of one of our cash-generating units, or
“CGUs,” is less than its carrying value, we then compare the fair value of the reporting unit to its respective carrying amount.
Any excess of the carrying amount over the fair value would be charged to operations as an impairment loss. A cash-generating
unit is an operating segment or one level below an operating segment (referred to as a “component”). With respect to other
indefinite-lived intangible assets, if the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying value, we then
estimate its fair value and any excess of the carrying value over the fair value is also charged to operations as an impairment loss.

When required, considerable management judgment is necessary to estimate the fair value of cash-generating units and
underlying non-current and indefinite-lived assets, the most significant of which relate to the determination of EBITDA (earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) multiples for recent transactions and publicly-traded peer companies. For
additional information regarding our 2018 quantitative goodwill impairment assessment, see note 7.

During the three years ended December 31, 2018, we did not record any significant impairment charges with respect to our
property and equipment and intangible assets. For additional information regarding our non-current assets, see note 9.

If, among other factors, (i) our equity values were to decline significantly or (ii) the adverse impacts of economic, competitive,
regulatory or other factors were to cause our results of operations or cash flows to be worse than anticipated, we could conclude
in future periods that impairment charges are required in order to reduce the carrying values of our goodwill and, to a lesser extent,
other non-current assets. Any such impairment charges could be significant. Impairment of goodwill is not reversed. For other
assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
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Costs Associated with Construction and Installation Activities

We capitalize costs associated with the construction of new cable and mobile transmission and distribution facilities and the
installation of new cable services. Installation activities that are capitalized include (i) the initial connection (or drop) from our
cable system to a customer location, (ii) the replacement of a drop and (iii) the installation of equipment for additional services,
such as digital cable, telephone or broadband internet service. The costs of other customer-facing activities, such as reconnecting
and disconnecting customer locations and repairing or maintaining drops, are expensed as incurred.

The nature and amount of labor and other costs to be capitalized with respect to construction and installation activities involves
significant judgment and estimates. In addition to direct external and internal labor and materials, we also capitalize other costs
directly attributable to our construction and installation activities, including dispatch costs, quality-control costs, vehicle-related
costs and certain warechouse-related costs. The capitalization of these costs is based on time sheets, time studies, standard costs,
call tracking systems and other verifiable means that directly link the costs incurred with the applicable capitalizable activity. We
continuously monitor the appropriateness of our capitalization policies and update the policies when necessary to respond to
changes in facts and circumstances, such as the development of new products and services and changes in the manner that
installations or construction activities are performed.

Fair Value Measurements

E.U.-IFRS provides guidance with respect to the recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements and for a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. Level 1 inputs are
quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the
measurement date. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Recurring Valuations. We perform recurring fair value measurements with respect to our derivative instruments, our fair value
method investments and certain instruments that we classify as debt, each of which are carried at fair value. We use (i) cash flow
valuation models to determine the fair values of our interest rate and foreign currency derivative instruments and (ii) a binomial
option pricing model to determine the fair values of our equity-related derivative instruments. We use quoted market prices when
available and, when not available, we use a combination of an income approach (discounted cash flows) and a market approach
(market multiples of similar businesses) to determine the fair value of our fair value method investments. For a detailed discussion
of the inputs we use to determine the fair value of our derivative instruments and fair value method investments, see note 8. See
notes 6 and 7 for information concerning our fair value method investments and derivative instruments, respectively.

Changes in the fair values of our derivative instruments, fair value method investments and certain instruments that we classify
as debt have had, and we believe will continue to have, a significant and volatile impact on our results of operations. During 2018
and 2017, we recognized a net gain (loss) of $744.5 million and ($1,013.0 million), respectively, attributable to changes in the fair
values of these items.

As further described in note 8, actual amounts received or paid upon the settlement or disposition of these investments and
instruments may differ materially from the recorded fair values at December 31, 2018.

Nonrecurring Valuations. Our nonrecurring valuations are primarily associated with (i) the application of acquisition
accounting and (ii) impairment assessments, both of which require that we make fair value determinations as of the applicable
valuation date. In making these determinations, we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the recorded amounts,
including, but not limited to, expected future cash flows, market comparables and discount rates, remaining useful lives of non-
current assets, replacement or reproduction costs of property and equipment and the amounts to be recovered in future periods
from acquired net operating losses and other deferred tax assets. To assist us in making these fair value determinations, we may
engage third-party valuation specialists. Our estimates in this area impact, among other items, the amount of depreciation and
amortization, impairment charges and income tax expense or benefit that we report. Our estimates of fair value are based upon
assumptions we believe to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain. A significant portion of our non-current assets were
initially recorded through the application of acquisition accounting and all of our non-current assets are subject to impairment
assessments. For additional information, including the specific weighted average discount rates that we used to complete certain
nonrecurring valuations, see note 8. For information regarding our acquisitions and non-current assets, see notes 3 and 9,
respectively.
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Income Tax Accounting

We are required to estimate the amount of tax payable or refundable for the current year and the deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and income
tax basis of assets and liabilities and the expected benefits of utilizing net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, using enacted
or substantially enacted tax rates in effect for each taxing jurisdiction in which we operate for the year in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. This process requires our management to make assessments regarding the
timing and probability of the ultimate tax impact of such items.

Net deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that the realization of them is considered probable. Recognizing deferred
tax assets requires us to make assessments about the timing of future events, including the probability of expected future taxable
income and available tax planning strategies. At December 31,2018, the aggregate of unrecognized deferred tax assets was $4,055.9
million. The actual amount of deferred income tax benefits realized in future periods will likely differ from the net deferred tax
assets reflected in our December 31, 2018 consolidated balance sheet due to, among other factors, possible future changes in
income tax law or interpretations thereof in the jurisdictions in which we operate and differences between estimated and actual
future taxable income. Any such factors could have a material effect on our current and deferred tax positions as reported in the
consolidated financial statements. A high degree of judgment is required to assess the impact of possible future outcomes on our
current and deferred tax positions.

Tax laws in jurisdictions in which we have a presence are subject to varied interpretation, and many tax positions we take are
subject to significant uncertainty regarding whether the position will be ultimately sustained after review by the relevant tax
authority. We recognize the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is considered probable that the position will be
sustained upon examination. The determination of whether the tax position meets the probable threshold requires a facts-based
judgment using all information available. In a number of cases, we have concluded that the probable threshold is not met and,
accordingly, the amount of tax benefit recognized in the consolidated financial statements is different than the amount taken or
expected to be taken in our tax returns.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of all entities controlled by the
company. Liberty Global controls an entity if we are exposed to variable returns from our involvement with the entity and we
have the ability to affect those returns through our power over the respective entity. Such entities are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. All significant intra-group balances
and transactions have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

When control over an entity is lost, we derecognize the assets and liabilities of the entity, and any related non-controlling
interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the
entity is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash equivalents consist of money market funds and other investments that are readily convertible into cash and have maturities
of three months or less at the time of acquisition. We record money market funds at the net asset value reported by the investment
manager as there are no restrictions on our ability, contractual or otherwise, to redeem our investments at the stated net asset value
reported by the investment manager.

Restricted cash consists of cash held in restricted accounts, including cash held as collateral for debt and other compensating
balances. Restricted cash amounts that are required to be used to purchase non-current assets or repay non-current debt are classified
as non-current assets. All other cash that is restricted to a specific use is classified as current or non-current based on the expected
timing of the disbursement.

Our significant non-cash investing and financing activities are disclosed in our consolidated statements of equity and in notes
5,7,9 and 15.
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Trade Receivables

Our trade receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently reported at amortized cost, net of an allowance for
impairment of trade receivables. The allowance for impairment of trade receivables is estimated based upon our assessment of
anticipated loss related to uncollectible accounts receivable. We use a number of factors in determining the allowance, including,
among other things, collection trends, prevailing and anticipated economic conditions, and specific customer credit risk. The
allowance is maintained until either payment is received or the likelihood of collection is considered to be remote. For additional
information regarding our trade receivable and allowance for impairment of trade receivables, see note 12.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the large number of residential and business
customers. We also manage this risk by disconnecting services to customers whose accounts are delinquent.

Associates and Joint Ventures

Associates are entities where the company has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the relevant activities
of the entity. Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement.

Interests in associates and joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method, and are initially recognized at cost, which
includes transaction costs. These consolidated financial statements include the company’s share of the total recognized gains and
losses of associates and joint ventures using the equity method, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences
to the date that it ceases, based on present ownership interests and excluding the possible exercise of potential voting rights, less
any impairment losses. Intercompany profits on transactions with associates or joint ventures for which assets remain on our or
our investee's statement of financial position are eliminated to the extent of our ownership in the investee. When the company’s
investment in an associate or joint venture has been reduced to zero because the company’s share of losses exceeds its investment
inthe associate or joint venture, the company only provides for additional losses to the extent that it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations to fund such losses, or where the company has made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture. Where the
disposal of an investment in an associate or joint venture is considered to be highly probable, the investment ceases to be equity
accounted and, instead, is classified as held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Other Investments

We account for our other investments at fair value through profit or loss as these investments are managed and evaluated on
a fair value basis. Under the fair value method, other investments are recorded at fair value and any changes in fair value are
reported in realized and unrealized gains or losses due to changes in fair values of certain investments, net, in our consolidated
statements of profit or loss.

Other investments are recognized and derecognized on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an investment is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially
measured at fair value. All costs directly associated with the acquisition of an investment to be accounted for under the fair value
method are expensed as incurred.

Dividends from publicly-traded investees that are not accounted for under the equity method are recognized when declared
as dividend income in our consolidated statements of profit or loss. Dividends from our equity method investees and all of our
privately-held investees are reflected as reductions of the carrying values of the applicable investments. Dividends that are deemed
to be (i) returns on our investments are included in cash flows from operating activities in our consolidated statements of cash
flows and (ii) returns of our investments are included in cash flows from investing activities in our consolidated statements of
cash flows.

Realized gains and losses are determined on an average cost basis.

Non-Derivative Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, current trade and other receivables, related-party receivables and payables, certain other current
assets, accounts payable, certain accrued liabilities and value-added taxes (VAT) payable represent financial instruments that are
initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at amortized cost. Due to their relatively short maturities, the carrying
values of these financial instruments approximate their respective fair values.
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Loans and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Such loans and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment
losses.

The company initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date they are originated. All other financial assets (including
assets designated as fair value through the statement of profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date, which is the date
that the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers
the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the company is
recognized as a separate asset or liability.

The company initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All
other financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date, which is the date that the company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

The company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

For information concerning the fair values of certain of our investments, derivatives and debt, see notes 8,9 and 15, respectively.
For information concerning how we arrive at certain of our fair value measurements, see note 10.

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial
recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognized respectively in interest
income or expense. Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set off against the
borrowings to which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amortized over the term of the related debt using the effective interest
method.

Derivative Instruments

All derivative instruments, whether designated as hedging relationships or not, are recorded on the statement of financial
position at fair value. Ifthe derivative instrument is not designated as a hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument
are recognized in earnings. If the derivative instrument is designated as a fair value hedge, the changes in the fair value of the
derivative instrument and of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings. If the derivative instrument
is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative instrument are recorded in
other comprehensive earnings or loss and accumulated in other reserves, and subsequently reclassified into our consolidated
statements of profit or loss when the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. Ineffective portions of changes in the fair
value of cash flow hedges are recognized in earnings. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the company revokes the hedging
relationship, when the hedging instruments expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortized to profit
or loss from that date. With the exception of a limited number of our foreign currency forward contracts, we do not apply hedge
accounting to our derivative instruments.

The net cash received or paid related to our derivative instruments is classified as an operating, investing or financing activity
in our consolidated statements of cash flows based on the objective of the derivative instrument and the classification of the
applicable underlying cash flows. For derivative contracts that are terminated prior to maturity, the cash paid or received upon

termination that relates to future periods is classified as a financing activity in our consolidated statement of cash flows.

For information regarding our derivative instruments, see note 9.

85



LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are measured at initial cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major
components) of property and equipment. We capitalize costs associated with the construction of new cable and mobile transmission
and distribution facilities and the installation of new cable services. Capitalized construction and installation costs include materials,
labor and other directly attributable costs. Installation activities that are capitalized include (i) the initial connection (or drop) from
our cable system to a customer location, (ii) the replacement of a drop and (iii) the installation of equipment for additional services,
such as digital cable, telephone or broadband internet service. The costs of other customer-facing activities, such as reconnecting
and disconnecting customer locations and repairing or maintaining drops, are expensed as incurred. Financing costs capitalized
with respect to construction activities was not material during any of the periods presented.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each major component of an item
of property and equipment. Assets held under finance leases are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
term or estimated useful life of the asset. Useful lives used to depreciate our property and equipment are reviewed at each reporting
date and are adjusted if appropriate. The useful lives of cable and mobile distribution systems that are undergoing a rebuild are
adjusted such that property and equipment to be retired will be fully depreciated by the time the rebuild is completed. For information
regarding the useful lives of our property and equipment, see note 7.

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will be achieved and when the cost can be measured
reliably. All other expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Gains and losses due to disposals are included in impairment, restructuring and other operating items, net.

Intangible Assets

Our primary intangible assets relate to goodwill, customer relationships, cable television franchise rights and software costs.
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired in a business combination.
Customer relationships and cable television franchise rights are initially recorded at their fair values in connection with business
combinations.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but instead are tested for impairment at
least annually. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful lives,
and reviewed for indications of impairment at each reporting date. Amortization methods and useful lives are reviewed at each
reporting date and are adjusted if appropriate.

Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the company,
and that are expected to generate economic benefits beyond one year, are recognized as intangible assets. Capitalized internal-
use software costs include only external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining the software
and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with the project. Capitalization of these costs
ceases no later than the point at which the project is substantially complete and ready for its intended purpose. Internally-generated
intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Costs associated with maintaining computer software
are recognized as an expense as incurred.

We do not amortize our cable television franchise rights and certain other intangible assets as these assets have indefinite
lives. For information regarding the useful lives of our intangible assets, see note 7.

Subsequent expenditures related to intangible assets are capitalized only when the expenditures increase the future economic
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures, including expenditures on internally generated
brands, are expensed as incurred.
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Provisions

A provision is recognized when a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event exists, it is probable (more
likely than not) that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a pre-tax rate reflecting, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized
as finance cost.

A provision for restructuring is recognized when management has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan and the
restructuring has either commenced or has been announced to the parties concerned. For additional information on our restructuring
provisions, see note 16.

A provision for asset retirement obligations is recognized related to dismantling and removing items at leased property and
restoring the site on which these items are located after termination of the lease agreement.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived from a contract are lower than the
unavoidable costs of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established,
we recognize an impairment loss on the assets associated with the respective contract. For additional information on onerous
contract provisions, see note 16.

A provision for payroll taxes incurred in connection with the vesting or exercise of our share-based incentive awards is
recognized as the awards vest in relation to the services as they are received during the vesting period. For additional information
on share-based incentive awards, see “Share-based Compensation” discussion below and note 14.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and income tax basis of assets
and liabilities and the expected benefits of utilizing net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, using enacted or substantively
enacted tax rates in effect for each taxing jurisdiction in which we operate for the year in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. We recognize the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is probable, based on
technical merits, that the position will be sustained upon examination. Net deferred tax assets are then recognized to the extent
that realization is considered probable. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the
period that includes the enactment or substantive enactment date. Deferred tax liabilities related to investments in foreign
subsidiaries and foreign corporate joint ventures that are essentially permanent in duration are not recognized until it becomes
apparent that such amounts will reverse in the foreseeable future. In order to be considered essentially permanent in duration,
sufficient evidence must indicate that the foreign subsidiary has invested or will invest its undistributed earnings indefinitely, or
that earnings will be remitted in a tax-free manner.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

The reporting currency of our company is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of our foreign operations generally is the
applicable local currency for each foreign subsidiary and equity method investee. Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries
(including intercompany balances for which settlement is not anticipated in the foreseeable future) are translated at the spot rate
ineffectatthe applicable reporting date. With the exception of certain material transactions, the amounts reported in our consolidated
statements of profit or loss are translated at the average exchange rates in effect during the applicable period. The resulting
unrealized cumulative translation adjustment, net of applicable income taxes, is recorded as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive earnings or loss in our consolidated statements of equity. With the exception of certain material transactions, the
cash flows from our operations in foreign countries are translated at the average rate for the applicable period in our consolidated
statements of cash flows. The impacts of material transactions generally are recorded at the applicable spot rates in our consolidated
statements of profit or loss and cash flows. The effect of exchange rates on cash balances held in foreign currencies are separately
reported in our consolidated statements of cash flows.
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Transactions denominated in currencies other than our or our subsidiaries’ functional currencies are recorded based on exchange
rates at the time such transactions arise. Changes in exchange rates with respect to amounts recorded in our consolidated statements
of financial position related to these non-functional currency transactions result in transaction gains and losses that are reflected
in our consolidated statements of profit or loss as unrealized (based on the applicable period end exchange rates) or realized upon
settlement of the transactions.

Revenue Recognition

Service Revenue — Cable Networks. We recognize revenue from the provision of video, broadband internet and fixed-line
telephony services over our cable network to customers in the period the related services are provided, with the exception of
revenue recognized pursuant to certain contracts that contain promotional discounts, as described below. Installation fees related
to services provided over our cable network are generally deferred and recognized as revenue over the contractual period, or longer
if the upfront fee results in a material renewal right.

Sale of Multiple Products and Services. We sell video, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony and, in most of our markets,
mobile services to our customers in bundled packages at a rate lower than if the customer purchased each product on a standalone
basis. Revenue from bundled packages generally is allocated proportionally to the individual products or services based on the
relative standalone selling price for each respective product or service.

Mobile Revenue — General. Consideration from mobile contracts is allocated to the airtime service component and the handset
component based on the relative standalone selling prices of each component. In markets where we offer handsets and airtime
services in separate contracts entered into at the same time, we account for these contracts as a single contract.

Mobile Revenue — Airtime Services. We recognize revenue from mobile services in the period in which the related services
are provided. Revenue from pre-pay customers is deferred prior to the commencement of services and recognized as the services
are rendered or usage rights expire.

Mobile Revenue — Handset Revenue. Revenue from the sale of handsets is recognized at the point in which the goods have
been transferred to the customer. Some of our mobile handset contracts that permit the customer to take control of the handset
upfront and pay for the handset in installments over a contractual period may contain a significant financing component. For
contracts with terms of one year or more, we recognize any significant financing component as revenue over the contractual period
using the effective interest method. We do not record the effect of a significant financing component if the contractual period is
less than one year.

B2B Revenue. We defer upfront installation and certain nonrecurring fees received on B2B contracts where we maintain
ownership of the installed equipment. The deferred fees are amortized into revenue on a straight-line basis, generally over the
longer of the term of the arrangement or the expected period of performance.

Contract Costs. Incremental costs to obtain a contract with a customer, such as incremental sales commissions, are generally
recognized as assets and amortized to SG&A expenses over the applicable period benefited, which generally is the contract life.
If, however, the amortization period is less than one year, we expense such costs in the period incurred. Contract fulfillment costs,
such as costs for installation activities for B2B customers, are recognized as assets and amortized to other operating costs over
the applicable period benefited, which is generally the substantive contract term for the related service contract.

Promotional Discounts. For subscriber promotions, such as discounted or free services during an introductory period, revenue
is recognized uniformly over the contractual period if the contract has substantive termination penalties. If a contract does not
have substantive termination penalties, revenue is recognized only to the extent of the discounted monthly fees charged to the
subscriber, if any.

Subscriber Advance Payments. Payments received in advance for the services we provide are deferred and recognized as
revenue when the associated services are provided.

Sales, Use and Other VAT. Revenue is recorded net of applicable sales, use and other value-added taxes.
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For additional information regarding our revenue recognition and related costs, see note 4. For a disaggregation of our revenue
by major category and by reportable and geographic segment, see note 18.

Share-based Compensation

We recognize all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee share-based incentive awards, based on
their grant-date fair values and our estimates of forfeitures. We recognize the grant-date fair value of outstanding awards as a
charge to operations over the vesting period. The cash benefits of tax deductions in excess of deferred taxes on recognized share-
based compensation expense are reported as cash flows from operating activities. Payroll taxes incurred in connection with the
vesting or exercise of our share-based incentive awards are recorded as a component of share-based compensation expense in our
consolidated statements of profit or loss.

The grant date fair values for options and share appreciation rights (SARs) are estimated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model, and the grant date fair values for restricted share units (RSUs) and performance-based restricted share units (PSUs)
are based upon the closing share price of Liberty Global ordinary shares on the date of grant. We consider historical exercise trends
in our calculation of the expected life of options and SARs granted by Liberty Global to employees. The expected volatility for
options and SARs related to our ordinary shares is generally based on a combination of (i) historical volatilities for a period equal
to the expected average life of the awards and (ii) volatilities implied from publicly-traded options for our shares.

We generally issue new Liberty Global ordinary shares when Liberty Global options or SARs are exercised and when RSUs
and PSUs vest. Although we repurchase Liberty Global ordinary shares from time to time, the parameters of our share purchase
and redemption activities are not established with reference to the dilutive impact of our share-based compensation plans.

For additional information regarding our share-based compensation, see note 14.

Litigation Costs
Legal fees and related litigation costs are expensed as incurred.
Earnings or Loss per Share

Basic earnings or loss per share (EPS) is computed by dividing net earnings or loss by the weighted average number of shares

outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS presents the dilutive effect, if any, on a per share basis of potential shares (e.g., options,

SARs, RSUs and PSUs) as if they had been exercised, vested or converted at the beginning of the periods presented.

The details of our net profit (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty Global shareholders are set forth below:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

LosSs from cONtINUING OPETALIONS ......c.veveierieeieierrerietieteetessestessessessessessessessessessesesseesessensessessessensenss $ (1,476.5) $ (2,371.1)
Net profit from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests..............c..ccoevvenneee. (131.9) (57.8)
Net loss from continuing operations attributable to Liberty Global shareholders........................ $ (1,608.4) § (2,428.9)

Weighted average shares outstanding:

BSIC ...ttt 778,675,957 847,894,601
DIIULEA. ...ttt e 778,675,957 847,894,601

We reported losses from continuing operations attributable to Liberty Global shareholders during 2018 and 2017. Therefore,
the potentially dilutive effect at December 31,2018 and 2017 of the following items was not included in the computation of diluted
loss from continuing operations attributable to Liberty Global shareholders per share because their inclusion would have been
anti-dilutive to the computation or, in the case of certain PSUs, because such awards had not yet met the applicable performance
criteria, including (i) the aggregate number of shares issuable pursuant to outstanding options, SARs and RSUs of 58.7 million
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and 53.7 million, respectively, and (ii) the aggregate number of shares issuable pursuant to PSUs of 9.2 million and 6.2 million,
respectively.

“) Revenue Recognition and Related Costs

Contract Balances

If we transfer goods or services to a customer but do not have an unconditional right to payment, we record a contract asset.
Contract assets typically arise from the uniform recognition of introductory promotional discounts over the contract period and
accrued revenue for handset sales. Our contract assets were $44.3 million and $42.0 million as of December 31,2018 and January
1,2018, respectively. The non-current and current portions of our contract asset balance at December 31, 2018 are included within
other assets, net, and other current assets, respectively, in our consolidated statement of financial position.

We record deferred revenue when we receive payment prior to transferring goods or services to a customer. We primarily
defer revenue for (i) installation and other upfront services and (ii) other services that are invoiced prior to when services are
provided. Our deferred revenue balances were $877.9 million and $1,160.6 million as of December 31,2018 and January 1, 2018,
respectively. The decrease in deferred revenue during 2018 is primarily due to $901.4 million of revenue recognized that was
included in our deferred revenue balance at January 1, 2018, partially offset by advanced billings in certain markets. The non-
current and current portions of our deferred revenue balance at December 31, 2018 are included within other non-current liabilities
and deferred revenue, respectively, in our consolidated statement of financial position.

Contract Costs

Our aggregate assets associated with incremental costs to obtain and fulfill our contracts were $73.0 million and $182.1 million
at December 31, 2018 and January 1, 2018, respectively. The current and non-current portions of our assets related to contract
costs at December 31,2018 are included within other current assets and other assets, net, respectively, in our consolidated statement
of financial position. We amortized $99.8 million to operating costs and expenses during 2018 related to these assets.

Unsatisfied Performance Obligations

A large portion of our revenue is derived from customers who are not subject to contracts. Revenue from customers who are
subject to contracts is generally recognized over the term of such contracts, which is typically 12 months for our residential service
contracts, one to three years for our mobile service contracts and one to five years for our B2B service contracts.

5) Acquisitions
2017 Acquisition

SFR BeLux. On June 19, 2017, Telenet acquired Coditel Brabant sprl, operating under the SFR brand (SFR BeLux), for a
cash and debt free purchase price of €369.0 million ($410.3 million at the applicable rates) (the SFR BeLux Acquisition) after
post-closing adjustments. SFR BeLux provides cable and mobile services to households and businesses in Belgium and Luxembourg
and offers mobile services in Belgium through a mobile virtual network operator (MVNO) agreement with BASE, as defined and
described below. The SFR BeLux Acquisition was funded through a combination 0f€210.0 million ($234.3 million at the transaction
date) of borrowings under the Telenet Credit Facility (as defined and described in note 15) and existing liquidity of Telenet.

(6) Dispositions
Pending and Completed Dispositions
Vodafone Disposal Group
On May 9, 2018, we reached an agreement (the Vodafone Agreement) to sell our operations in Germany, Hungary, the Czech
Republic and Romania to Vodafone Group plc (Vodafone). The cash proceeds that we receive from the transaction will be calculated
on the basis of the agreed enterprise value adjusted for the net debt and working capital of such businesses as of the closing date

of the transaction, as well as other post-closing adjustments. Based on the net debt and working capital of such businesses as of
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December 31,2017, the cash proceeds would be approximately €10.6 billion ($12.1 billion). The operations of Germany, Romania,
Hungary and the Czech Republic are collectively referred to herein as the “Vodafone Disposal Group.”

Closing of the transaction is subject to various conditions, including regulatory approval, which we expect will be obtained
in mid-2019. The Vodafone Agreement contains certain termination rights for both our company and Vodafone, including if closing
has not occurred by November 9, 2019, or May 9, 2020 in certain limited circumstances. If the Vodafone Agreement terminates
because the condition to obtain antitrust approval is not met, Vodafone has agreed to pay us a compensatory payment of €250.0
million ($286.3 million). Pursuant to the Vodafone Agreement, our company will retain all cash generated from the Vodafone
Disposal Group through the closing of the transaction.

In connection with the sale of the Vodafone Disposal Group, we have agreed to provide certain transitional services for a
period of up to four years. These services principally comprise network and information technology-related functions. The annual
charges will depend on the actual level of services required by Vodafone.

UPC Austria

On July 31, 2018, we completed the sale of our Austrian operations, “UPC Austria,” to Deutsche Telekom AG (Deutsche
Telekom). After considering debt, working capital and noncontrolling interest adjustments and $35.5 million (equivalent at the
transaction date) of cash paid by our company to settle centrally-held vendor financing obligations associated with UPC Austria,
we received net cash proceeds of $2,058.2 million (equivalent at the applicable rates). A portion of the net proceeds were used to
repay or redeem an aggregate $1.5 billion (equivalent at the applicable dates) principal amount of our outstanding debt, including
(i) the repayment of $913.4 million (equivalent at the repayment date) principal amount under the UPC Holding Bank Facility,
(ii) the redemption of $69.6 million (equivalent at the redemption date) principal amount of the UPCB SPE Notes and (iii) the
redemption of $515.5 million (equivalent at the redemption date) principal amount of the VM Notes. The remaining net proceeds
from the sale of UPC Austria were made available for general corporate purposes, including an additional $500.0 million of share
repurchases, as further described in note 13.

In connection with the sale of UPC Austria, we recognized a gain of $975.3 million that includes cumulative foreign currency
translation losses of $43.2 million. No income taxes were required to be provided on this gain, which is included in gain on disposal
of discontinued operations, net of taxes, in our consolidated statement of operations.

In connection with the sale of UPC Austria, we have agreed to provide certain transitional services to Deutsche Telekom for
aperiod of up to four years. These services principally comprise network and information technology-related functions. The annual
charges will depend on the actual level of services required by Deutsche Telekom. During 2018, we recorded revenue of $17.9
million associated with these transitional services.

A summary of the carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities of UPC Austria that were transferred to
Deutsche Telekom in connection with the completion of the sale on July 31, 2018 is as follows (in millions):

Property and €qUIPIMENE, NEt.........ccuiiieriiiiiiieiieitieie ittt ettt ettt ebe e e e saeeseesteessesaeessesssessesssessesssessenssenseenes $ 463.0
GOOAWILL. ..ttt bttt b et bt b et b et s e e st et e et e st et et et be e ene 707.7
(014153 g Tyt TN 1 1 SRS 29.8
Current assets Other than CaSN ...........coooiiiiiiieee et 334
Other NON-CUITENt LHADIIITIES .....c.eoviiiiieiiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt eee e st e s e s teesbesbeesbesesesbeessesseeseenseenes (86.6)
Current portion of debt and finance lease obliatioNS..........coceveriririririninercceeete e 0.7)
Other accrued and current HabIlIties ...........ccoccveiuiiiiiieiicieeteeeet ettt ettt s eb e te b te e e esesbeeaeereens (76.2)
INEE ASSELS ..ttt eete et e et e e et e e e et e s et e e s eeeeeaaeeseaaeeeaaaeeeaeaseeseaaeeeaaseeesaneeeseaseesaneeeeeneeesanneesaraeeeeneeeaneas $ 1,070.4
UPC DTH

On December 21, 2018, we reached an agreement to sell the operations of UPC DTH to M7 Group (M7) for an enterprise
value of approximately €180.0 million ($206.1 million), subject to customary debt and working capital adjustments at completion.
Closing of the transaction is subject to regulatory approval, which is expected in the first half of 2019. The proceeds from the sale
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of UPC DTH are expected to be used for general corporate purposes, which may include leverage reduction for the remaining
UPC Holding borrowing group, re-investment into our business and support for our share repurchase program.

In connection with the sale of UPC DTH, we have agreed to provide certain transitional services to M7 for a period of up to
two years. These services principally comprise network and information technology-related functions. The annual charges will
depend on the actual level of services required by the purchaser.

Subsequent event

Subsequent to December 31, 2018, we entered into an agreement to sell our operations in Switzerland. For additional
information, see note 28.

Discontinued Operations

On December 29, 2017, in order to effect the split-off of the LiLAC Group (the Split-off Transaction), we distributed 100%
of the common shares (the Distribution) of Liberty Latin America Ltd. (Liberty Latin America) to the holders of the then
outstanding LiLAC Shares. Just prior to the completion of the Split-off Transaction, all of the businesses, assets and liabilities of
the LiLAC Group were transferred to Liberty Latin America, which was then a wholly-owned subsidiary of Liberty Global.
Following the Distribution, the LiLAC Shares were redesignated as deferred shares (which had virtually no economic rights) and
Liberty Latin America became an independent publicly-traded company that is no longer consolidated by Liberty Global.

In connection with the Split-off Transaction, we recognized a gain of $242.9 million, representing the difference between the
fair value and the carrying value of the net assets distributed. This gain is included in loss from discontinued operations, net of
taxes, in our 2017 consolidated statement of profit and loss.

In connection with the Split-off Transaction, we entered into several agreements that govern certain transactions and other
matters between our company and Liberty Latin America (the Split-off Agreements). The following summarizes the material
agreements:

*  areorganization agreement (the Reorganization Agreement), which provides for, among other things, the principal
corporate transactions (including the internal restructuring) required to effect the Split-off Transaction, certain conditions
to the Split-off Transaction and provisions governing the relationship between Liberty Global and Liberty Latin America
with respect to and resulting from the Split-off Transaction;

»  atax sharing agreement (the Tax Sharing Agreement), which governs the parties’ respective rights, responsibilities and
obligations with respect to taxes and tax benefits, the filing of tax returns, the control of audits and other tax matters;

» aservices agreement (the Services Agreement), pursuant to which, for up to two years following the Split-off Transaction,
with the option to renew for a one-year period, Liberty Global will provide Liberty Latin America with specified services,
including access to Liberty Global’s procurement team and tools to leverage scale and take advantage of joint purchasing
opportunities, certain management services, other services to support Liberty Latin America’s legal, tax, accounting and
finance departments, and certain technical and information technology services (including software development services
associated with Horizon TV, our next generation multimedia home gateway, management information systems, computer,
data storage, and network and telecommunications services);

» a sublease agreement (the Sublease Agreement), pursuant to which Liberty Latin America will sublease office space
from Liberty Global in Denver, Colorado until May 31, 2031, subject to customary termination and notice provisions;
and

» a facilities sharing agreement (the Facilities Sharing Agreement), pursuant to which, for as long as the Sublease

Agreement remains in effect, Liberty Latin America will pay a fee for the usage of certain facilities at the office space in
Denver, Colorado.
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Presentation of Discontinued Operations

The operations of the Vodafone Disposal Group, UPC Austria and UPC DTH are presented as discontinued operations in our
consolidated financial statements for all periods. In connection with the signing of each respective sale agreement, we ceased to
depreciate or amortize the non-current assets of (i) UPC Austria on December 22, 2017, (ii) the Vodafone Disposal Group on May
9,2018 and (iii)) UPC DTH on December 21, 2018. Our operations in Romania, Hungary and the Czech Republic and the operations
of UPC DTH are held through UPC Holding, as was UPC Austria prior to its sale on July 31, 2018. No debt, interest expense or
derivative instruments of the UPC Holding borrowing group, other than with respect to certain borrowings that are direct obligations
of the entities to be disposed, has been allocated to discontinued operations. Conversely, all of Unitymedia’s debt, interest expense
and derivative instruments are included in discontinued operations as its debt and derivative instruments are direct obligations of
entities within the Vodafone Disposal Group. As discussed above, a portion of the proceeds from the disposition of UPC Austria
was used to reduce the outstanding debt of the UPC Holding borrowing group, and we expect that a portion of the proceeds from
the pending disposition of the Vodafone Disposal Group will be used to further reduce the outstanding debt of the UPC Holding
borrowing group.

In addition, the entities comprising the LILAC Group are reflected as discontinued operations in our consolidated statements
of profit and loss and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities of the Vodafone Disposal Group and UPC DTH as of
December 31, 2018 are summarized below. These amounts exclude intercompany assets and liabilities that are eliminated within
our consolidated statement of financial position.

Vodafone
Disposal Group UPC DTH Total
in millions

Property and equipment, NEt ...........c.ocvevveeeeeuieieeeeeeeeee e $ 48333 $ 793 $ 4,912.6
GOOAWILL ..ottt e e e e ae e e e s eseaaes 3,986.7 — 3,986.7
Intangible assets subject to amortization, net ..........ccoccveeveeveereennenne. 516.1 0.4 516.5
OHET @SSELS, TEL ..vvieeiiieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeeesiaseeeesesennes 221.4 7.4 228.8
Current assets other than cash..............cccooeeviiieiiiciiceee 348.0 8.4 356.4
Debt and finance lease obligations .............cceecveeiecieneecieneerieseeeene (8,425.5) (37.5) (8,463.0)
Other non-current liabilities..........c.ccceeeveieeciiieecrieiecreeeeereeee e (1,035.4) (0.3) (1,035.7)
Current portion of debt and finance lease obligations........................ (774.5) (11.2) (785.7)
Other accrued and current liabilities...........cccccveevieeeereeienieeieeieee. (1,114.2) (32.5) (1,146.7)

INEE @SSEES ...vvieveeerereeee ettt ettt ettt et eaeeteeeaeeteeereeteeeaeeaseereeaseeneens $ (1,444.1) $ 140 $ (1,430.1)

The carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities of UPC Austria that were classified as held for sale as of
December 31, 2017 are summarized below (in millions). These amounts exclude intercompany assets and liabilities that are
eliminated within our consolidated statement of financial position.

Property and eqUIPIMENT, NET ..........ccievieiiuiitietictecteiei ettt ettt ettt ete et eteeteeteeseebesse s e sessessessesseseeseessesseseeseas $ 428.7
GOOAWILLL...ecevieeeie ettt et ettt ettt et e et e et e te e s e ete et e eteeseeaeeeteessesbeensesteesseatsenteeseenseeseenns 732.2
(010 1S) T TN =1 AR 26.4
Current assets Other than CaSN............c.ooiiiiiiiii ettt ettt e ae e s eans 29.2
Other NON-CUITENT TIADIIIEIES .......iiviiiiiciiccte ettt ettt ettt eae et e eaeeeaeeeveeeaaeeveeetaeereenseeans (77.8)
Current portion of debt and finance lease ObIIZAtIONS .............ccvierieviierieiiieiceie ettt (0.8)
Other accrued and cUIrent HaDIIITIES .........cc..ooiiiiiiiiiiicieccec ettt ettt ettt et e eve e eteeeveeeraeeaeeeaeeens (77.7)
INEE ASSELS ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e ee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e eanees $ 1,060.2
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The operating results of UPC Austria, the Vodafone Disposal Group, UPC DTH and the LiLAC Group for the periods indicated
are summarized in the following tables. These amounts exclude intercompany revenue and expenses that are eliminated within
our consolidated statements of profit and loss.

Vodafone
UPC Disposal
Austria (a) Group UPC DTH Total

in millions

Year ended December 31, 2018

REVENUE......uiiiiiiiciictecee ettt $ 2524 $ 3,5842 § 1170 $ 3,953.6
OPErating INCOME. ........ouvivieeeriereriierirereeteeeereseeteseetesete s eseeseseeseseeseseens $ 139.0 $ 1,727.8 $ 116 $ 18784
Earnings before inCOme taXes .........ooveeeveueeueieueeerieeeeeeeeee e $ 1387 $ 11,3893 § 94 $ 11,5374
Income tax benefit (EXPense) ........cevvrvereeciererieenieeieeeeieseeeeeeeens (23.3) (362.8) 7.3 (378.8)
NEL CAIMINGS ....oovvievrerienieieeete et eie et esteetee e eeesreesesreesesaeessesesesseesneaeas 115.4 1,026.5 16.7 1,158.6
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests.............ccceeuee... 4.2) — — 4.2)
Net earnings attributable to Liberty Global shareholders.................... $ 1112 $ 11,0265 §$ 167 $ 1,1544

(a)  Includes the operating results of UPC Austria from January 1, 2018 through July 31, 2018, the date UPC Austria was sold.

Vodafone
UPC Disposal LiLAC
Austria Group UPC DTH Group Total
in millions

Year ended December 31, 2017
REVENUE.......cuiiiiiiieiiiiie e $ 3949 § 3,263.0 $ 1146 $ 3,590.0 $ 7,362.5
Operating income (10SS).......ccvvvevririeriieienieeienie e $ 150.0 $ 9525 § 1.7 $ (156.4) $ 957.8
Earnings (loss) before income taxes ..............cccccveveuennene. $ 150.0 $ 4274 S 97 § (671.1) $ (84.0)
INCOME taX EXPENSE.....ueevvieererieeeienieeeieieeeierieeeee e eeeeneeeenes 4.5) (75.9) — (215.9) (296.3)
Net earnings (10SS) ......cceevveveerieeiesieeieereeeeereeeeere e 145.5 351.5 9.7 (887.0) (380.3)
Net loss (earnings) attributable to noncontrolling

INEETESES. ...viveirieeeete et ete et e ete e ete et e v e b re s v eas (6.8) — — 21.5 14.7
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty Global

Shareholders. ..........oovevevveeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e, $ 138.7 § 3515  § 97 $ (865.5) $§ (365.6)

Our basic and diluted earnings from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty Global shareholders per Liberty Global
Share (as defined in note 13) for 2018 and 2017 is presented below. These amounts relate to the operations of UPC Austria, the
Vodafone Disposal Group and UPC DTH. For information regarding the calculation of our weighted average shares outstanding
with respect to Liberty Global Shares, see note 3.

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

Basic and diluted earnings from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty Global
shareholders per Liberty G1obal SRAre ..........ccoiuiuiviuiuieieiecececececececececececececeeeeee e $ 1.48 $ 0.59
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Our basic and diluted earnings from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty Global shareholders per LiILAC Share (as
defined in note 13) for 2017 is presented below. These amounts relate to the operations of the LiLAC Group.

Year ended
December 31,
2017

Basic and diluted loss attributable to Liberty Global shareholders per share - LILAC Shares........c..ccccecevuenee. (5.04)

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding (LiLAC Shares) - basic and diluted............cccccceeevvinininncnnns 171,846,133

7 Non-Current Assets

A summary of our property and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets, net, at December 31,2018 and 2017, is as follows:

December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Property and eqUIPIMENT, NET........ceouiiieriieieiieieee ettt sttt esseeneesneeneenns $§ 122946 $§ 17,4034
GOOAWILL ...t ettt e e et e et e e et e et e e eteeeneeeeaeeenseeeteeeseeeteeenreeeseean 13,727.1 18,561.9
Intangible assets subject to amOrtization, NEt...........cceeeverieciereerieeieieeeesre et eee e eeesreesesaeas 2,679.4 3,594.1

3.0 3.0

$ 28,704.1 $§ 39,562.4

(a) Intangible assets not subject to amortization are included in other assets, net, in our consolidated statements of financial
position.
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Property and Equipment, Net

At December 31, 2018, the estimated useful life for assets categorized as distribution systems, customer premises equipment
and support equipment, buildings and land was 3 to 30 years, 3 to 7 years and 2 to 50 years, respectively. Changes during 2018
in the carrying amounts of our property and equipment, net, are as follows:

Support
Customer equipment,
Distribution premises buildings and
systems equipment land Total

in millions

Cost:

January 1, 2018 ..ot $§ 24,1064 $ 56177 § 2,840.7 $ 32,564.8
Reclassification to assets held for sale............ccoceevuieeriiriiieneens (6,843.9) (1,276.8) (391.0) (8,511.7)
AQAItIONS. ...ttt 1,682.1 915.2 243.4 2,840.7
ACQUISIEIONS ...ttt ettt ere et e reeeae e eaeeneas 57.1 (29.1) 0.7) 27.3
Retirements and diSposals...........cccccereevienievienieniieieie e (532.4) (641.0) (338.0) (1,511.4)
Foreign currency translation adjustments and other.................. (784.5) (378.2) (113.4) (1,276.1)

December 31, 2018.....coeiieiieeieiieeeeee e $ 17,6848 $ 42078 $ 2,241.0 $ 24,1336

Accumulated depreciation:

January 1, 2018 ..o $ (11,269.7) $ (2,761.7) $  (1,130.0) $§ (15,161.4)
Reclassification to assets held for sale...........oovvvvvvviveevcneennnen. 3,061.9 624.4 163.5 3,849.8
DePIreCIAtION......ccvveiieieieeiieie ettt ettt ae e saeseeeaeeeeas (1,506.1) (788.2) (321.7) (2,616.0)
Retirements and diSposals..........c.cccevveeieeieieireeieireeiecreeieenens 531.2 640.8 327.1 1,499.1
Foreign currency translation adjustments and other.................. 407.7 148.1 33.7 589.5

December 31, 2018......coeieiiieiieeeieeeeeeee e $§  (8,775.0) $ (2,136.6) $ (927.4) $ (11,839.0)

Property and equipment, net:
December 31, 2018......c.ooeiiiiiiirieeeeeee e $ 8,909.8 § 2,071.2 § 1,313.6  $§ 12,294.6
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Changes during 2017 in the carrying amounts of our property and equipment, net, are as follows:

Support
Customer equipment,
Distribution premises buildings
systems equipment and land Total

in millions

Cost:

JAnUATY 1, 2017 oo $ 20,2803 $ 48299 §$§ 25121 $ 27,6223
AAIEIONS ..t 2,322.2 1,186.1 326.6 3,834.9
ACGUISIEIONS.....eoviieietieieite ettt ettt ettt eete et e ete e e ereeetesaeeseeraeereesnens 46.9 38.2 18.8 103.9
VodafoneZiggo JV transaction ..............cceeveeeereeiereenieseesieseensenenens (558.3) (188.9) (71.7) (818.9)
Retirements and diSPoSals .........c..cceeevieeeiiiiieirieieeieeiecteereeve e (404.3) (848.3) (222.4) (1,475.0)
Foreign currency translation adjustments and other ............c........... 2,419.6 600.7 2773 3,297.6

December 31, 2017 ..ot $ 24,1064 $ 56177 $§ 28407 $ 32,564.8

Accumulated depreciation:

JAnUATy 1, 2017 covoeveviieiiieieieeeseeee ettt $ (8,736.5) $§ (2,3653) $  (9254) $ (12,027.2)
DEPIECIALION ...eevvieieiieiecieeie ettt ettt sreeae e esse s e enbassnens (2,132.3) (1,036.0) (338.9) (3,507.2)
VodafoneZiggo JV transaction ..............ccceeeveeueeeeereeseieeecieeeeereenens 266.9 92.8 37.1 396.8
Retirements and diSposals .........cccoccvevvieieniiecienieeieniee e 403.8 846.1 221.8 1,471.7
Foreign currency translation adjustments and other ......................... (1,071.6) (299.3) (124.6) (1,495.5)

December 31, 2017 c.ociieiieiieieieeieeeee e $ (11,269.7) $ (2,761.7) § (1,130.0) $ (15,161.4)

Property and equipment, net:
December 31, 2017 ..ot $§ 128367 § 28560 §$§ 1,710.7 $ 17,4034

AtDecember 31,2018 and 2017, the amount of property and equipment, net, recorded under finance leases was $545.5 million
and $729.2 million, respectively. Most of these amounts relate to assets included in our distribution systems category. Depreciation
of assets under finance leases is included in cost of services and general and administrative in our consolidated statements of profit
or loss.

During 2018 and 2017, we recorded non-cash increases to our property and equipment related to vendor financing arrangements
of $2,175.5 million and $2,635.8 million, respectively, which exclude related VAT of $347.3 million and $419.5 million,
respectively, that was also financed by our vendors under these arrangements. In addition, during 2018 and 2017, we recorded
non-cash increases to our property and equipment related to assets acquired under finance leases of $102.4 million and $169.8
million, respectively.
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At December 31, 2018, the estimated useful life for customer relationships, software and other intangibles subject to
amortization was 2 to 10 years, 2 to 10 years and 2 to 20 years, respectively. Changes during 2018 in the carrying amounts of our
intangible assets and goodwill are as follows:

Cost:

January 1, 2018 ..o,
Reclassification to assets held for sale...
AddItions ......coeeevireneniencieeeccee
Acquisitions and related adjustments.....
Impairments .......c.ccceceeeeeveeenencncnennenn

Retirements and disposals......................

Foreign currency translation

adjustments and other...........................
December 31,2018 ......oooveveiiiieeieee.

Accumulated amortization:

January 1, 2018 ..o,
Reclassification to assets held for sale...
AmOrtization ...........coceeveveeeeveeeeneeeennen.

Retirements and disposals......................

Foreign currency translation

adjustments and other................c.........
December 31, 2018 .....ocovieeriiiiiiiieee

Intangible assets, net:

December 31,2018 ......ooooevveiiiieeine
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Intangible
assets not
Customer subject to
Goodwill relationships Software Other amortization Total
in millions
$ 18,5619 § 48624 $ 29141 § 5842 $ 3.0 $§ 26925.6
(4,193.3) (821.4) (242.6) (10.8) — (5,268.1)
— — 808.8 56.4 — 865.2
24.3 84.5 0.5 — — 109.3
— — (5.0) — — (5.0)
— (224.0) (377.2) 41.7) — (642.9)
(665.8) (228.4) (138.1) (30.5) — (1,062.8)
$ 13,727.1 § 3,673.1 $ 29605 $ 5576 $ 3.0 $ 20,9213
$ — $ (3,2403) $(1,277.8) $ (2485) § — $ (4,766.6)
— 494.5 88.4 10.8 — 593.7
— (575.1) (619.1) (86.0) — (1,280.2)
— 224.0 377.2 41.7 — 642.9
182.7 102.8 12.9 — 298.4
$ — $ (29142) $ (1,3285) $ (269.1) $ — $ (4511.8)
$ 13,727.1 § 7589 $ 1,632.0 $ 2885 § 3.0 $§ 16,4095
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Changes during 2017 in the carrying amounts of our intangible assets and goodwill are as follows:

Intangible
assets not
Customer subject to
Goodwill relationships Software Other amortization Total
in millions

Cost:

January 1, 2017 ..o $ 17,0699 $ 5,499.4 § 2,166.1 $ 500.6 $ 3.0 $ 25,239.0
AddItionS.....ccvevvevveieieieicceceeeeeecee — — 929.9 22.3 — 952.2
Acquisitions and related adjustments........ 348.8 5.5 — — — 3543
Reclassification to assets held for sale...... (721.0) (30.3) (65.3) — — (816.6)
ImMpairments .........ccceceeveeeeeceeeeerieeiesieeenens — — 0.2) — (0.2)
Retirements and disposals.............cccc.c...... — (1,132.6) (404.6) 9.5 — (1,546.7)
Foreign currency translation adjustments

and other.........coovivininininceccee 1,864.2 520.4 288.2 70.8 — 2,743.6

December 31, 2017 ....ccoeeiireeieeeee $ 18,5619 $ 48624 $ 29141 $ 5842 $ 3.0 $ 26,925.6

Accumulated amortization:

January 1, 2017 ..o $ — $  (3,4045) $ (988.9) $(159.8) $ — $ (45532
AmOrtization ........c.cceeveevienieneeieencnenene — (665.0) (602.9) (71.1) — (1,339.0)
Reclassification to assets held for sale...... — 28.3 42.5 — — 70.8
Retirements and disposals.............c........... — 1,132.6 404.6 8.7 — 1,545.9
Foreign currency translation adjustments

and other.........cooevivinininieeeeece — (331.7) (133.1) (26.3) — (491.1)

December 31, 2017 .....ccoeeveereeeieieieinen, $ — § (3,240.3) $(1,277.8) $(248.5) § — $ (4,766.6)

Intangible assets, net:

December 31, 2017 ....ccoeeveeeieeeee $ 18,5619 $ 1,622.1 $ 1,636.3 $ 3357 $ 3.0 § 22,159.0

Amortization of intangible assets is included in general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of profit
or loss.

The details of the carrying amount of our goodwill as of December 31, 2018 are as follows (in millions):

UK e ettt ettt ettt eeen $ 7,393.5
SWILZETLANA ...ttt ettt ettt et e s st e s e saeessesseessesseeseessenseessenseessenseessanssensenssensesssensennns 2,903.9
BIZIUIN ...ttt ettt st et b e bt s e bt e et ettt aeeae bt bt bt sh et be e na et enen 2,587.7
ORCT .ttt a bt bbbt bbbt b bt et a et a e a e bbbt e bt e bt bbbttt enaen 842.0

TOTAL .. ettt e et ettt e e e e et e e e $ 13,727.1

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but instead are tested for impairment at
least annually. We evaluate the recoverable amount of each of our CGUs, using a fair value less costs to sell method. For each of
our CGUs other than Belgium, our estimate of the recoverable amount is based primarily on observable EBITDA multiples for
recent transactions and publicly-traded peer companies, which are Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. With respect to our
evaluation of our CGU in Belgium, we compare the carrying value of our investment in Telenet to its fair value based on the
quoted market price of Telenet’s publicly-traded stock as of the measurement date, which is a Level 1 input in the fair value
hierarchy. Based on the results of our 2018 quantitative goodwill impairment assessment, we determined that fair value exceeded
carrying value for all of our CGUs.
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If, among other factors, (i) our equity values were to decline significantly or (ii) the adverse impacts of economic, competitive,
regulatory or other factors were to cause our results of operations or cash flows to be worse than anticipated, we could conclude
in future periods that impairment charges are required in order to reduce the carrying values of our goodwill and, to a lesser extent,
other non-current assets. Any such impairment charges could be significant.

Land and buildings

The details of our land and buildings are set forth below:

December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

FIOEROLA ...ttt ettt aes $ 1232 $ 224.1
o) Y T2 TS o o) U ) USRS 103.4 79.4
TOLAL..c.cteee etttk ekttt sttt n et $ 226.6 $ 303.5

(a)  Represents property and equipment subject to leases with an initial term of 50 years or more.
8) Investments

The details of our investments are set forth below:

December 31,
Accounting Method 2018 2017

in millions

Equity (a):
VodafoneZiZ0 JV (D) ..ottt et $ 3,761.5 §  4,162.8
OBRET ..ottt b et bbbttt 234.2 184.6
TOTAL —— @QUILY .ttt sttt ettt ettt ettt b et sb et be e se et ae e neen 3,995.7 4,347.4

Fair value:
ITV plc (ITV) — subject to 1e-USe FIZRLS........ccciriiiriiiiiiieeeececeeee e 634.2 892.0
ITI Neovision S.A. (ITT NEOVISION) .......cooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee et 125.4 161.9
Lions Gate Entertainment Corp (LIONSZALE) ..........c..cooveririinieniiniiiiiiieceieeenieseeeese e 77.5 163.9
Casa Systems, INC. (CASA)......cciriiiiiiiiiiieieee et ettt st ettt et naeas 39.5 76.3
Sumitomo Corporation (SUMItOM0) (C) .......coeririiriirieniiieieietetete ettt — 776.5
OBRET ..ottt ettt b et b ettt 268.6 209.6
TOtAl — fAIL VAIUC ....ccuviiiiicieciic ettt ettt et e taeeabe e teessbeeseeseveesaenenas 1,145.2 2,280.2
(01 A () PO OO OO SU PR — 31.2
TOTAL ...ttt et et et e b e e ae e s eb e e ba e st e e baeetbe e beeeabeebeesabeereenanas $ 5,1409 §$ 6,658.8

(a) At December 31, 2018, the carrying amount of our equity method investment in the VodafoneZiggo JV exceeded our
proportionate share of that entity’s net assets by the amount of the VodafoneZiggo JV Receivable, as defined and described
below. The carrying amounts of our other equity method investments did not materially exceed our proportionate share of
the respective investee’s net assets at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

(b)  Amounts include a related-party euro-denominated note receivable (the VodafoneZiggo JV Receivable) with a principal
amount of $916.1 million and $1,081.9 million, respectively, due from a subsidiary of the VodafoneZiggo JV to a subsidiary
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of Liberty Global. The VodafoneZiggo JV Receivable bears interest at 5.55% and required €100.0 million ($114.5 million)
of principal to be paid annually through December 31, 2019. In this regard, in December 2018, we received a €100.0 million
($114.5 million at the transaction date) principal payment on the VodafoneZiggo JV Receivable. In 2018, the agreement
was amended to (i) eliminate the requirement to pay an annual principal payment of €100.0 million in 2019 and (ii) extend
the final maturity date from January 16,2027 to January 16, 2028. The accrued interest on the VodafoneZiggo JV Receivable
will be payable in a manner mutually agreed upon by Liberty Global and the VodafoneZiggo JV. During 2018, interest
accrued on the VodafoneZiggo JV Receivable was $59.6 million, all of which was cash settled. For information regarding
the impact of the adoption of IFRS 15 on our retained earnings and our investment in the VodafoneZiggo JV, see note 2.

(¢) At December 31, 2017, we owned 45,652,175 shares of Sumitomo common stock, representing less than 5% of the then
outstanding common stock. During 2018, we used all of these shares to settle the outstanding amounts under certain related

borrowings.

(d)  As aresult of the January 1, 2018 adoption of IFRS 9, all of our cost investments have been reclassified to fair value
investments.

Equity Method Investments

Details of our equity method investments at December 31, 2018 are set forth below:

Country of Parent Group
incorporation ownership %  ownership % Holdings
VodafoneZiggo JV......ccceviieiiiieieieeceeeeeee e Netherlands —% 50.0% Shares
(011115 PO SRRRRTR Various —% Various Various

The following table sets forth the details of our share of results of affiliates, net:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

VOdAfONEZIZEO TV () c-eeueenienieiieieeieeteet ettt ettt b e sttt bbb e ettt aeeneeae e $ 114 $ (70.1)
OBRET .ttt sttt sttt n e en e 8.2 (24.0)
TTOTAL ..ottt bbbkttt b et h bbbtttk etttk ne e tene $ 196 $ (94.1)

(a)  Amounts include the net effect of (i) 100% of the interest income earned on the VodafoneZiggo JV Receivable, (ii) 100%
of the share-based compensation expense associated with Liberty Global awards held by VodafoneZiggo JV employees
who were formerly employees of Liberty Global, as these awards remain our responsibility, and (iii) our 50% share of the
remaining results of operations of the VodafoneZiggo JV.

VodafoneZiggo JV. Each of Liberty Global and Vodafone (each a “Shareholder”) holds 50% of the issued share capital of
the VodafoneZiggo JV. The Shareholders intend for the VodafoneZiggo JV to be funded solely from its net cash flow from operations
and third-party financing. We account for our 50% interest in the VodafoneZiggo JV as an equity method investment. We consider
the VodafoneZiggo JV to be a related party. For additional information regarding the formation of the VodafoneZiggo JV, see note
6.

In connection with the formation of the VodafoneZiggo JV, the Shareholders entered into a shareholders agreement (the

Shareholders Agreement). The Shareholders Agreement contains customary provisions for the governance ofa 50:50 joint venture
that result in Liberty Global and Vodafone having joint control over decision making with respect to the VodafoneZiggo JV.
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The Shareholders Agreement also provides (i) for a dividend policy that requires the VodafoneZiggo JV to distribute all
unrestricted cash to the Shareholders every two months (subject to the VodafoneZiggo JV maintaining a minimum amount of cash
and complying with the terms of its financing arrangements) and (ii) that the VodafoneZiggo JV will be managed with a leverage
ratio of between 4.5 and 5.0 times EBITDA (as calculated pursuant to its existing financing arrangements) with the VodafoneZiggo
JV undertaking periodic recapitalizations and/or refinancings accordingly.

Each Shareholder has the right to initiate an initial public offering (IPO) of the VodafoneZiggo JV after December 31,2019,
with the opportunity for the other Shareholder to sell shares in the IPO on a pro rata basis. Subject to certain exceptions, the
Shareholders Agreement prohibits transfers of interests in the VodafoneZiggo JV to third parties until December 31, 2020. After
December 31, 2020, each Sharecholder will be able to initiate a sale of all of its interest in the VodafoneZiggo JV to a third party
and, under certain circumstances, initiate a sale of the entire VodafoneZiggo JV, subject, in each case, to a right of first offer in
favor of the other Shareholder.

During the first quarter of 2017, we paid $162.6 million of VAT on behalf of the VodafoneZiggo JV associated with the
termination of a services agreement that was in effect prior to the closing of the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction. This advance was
repaid during the first quarter of 2017. In addition, during 2018 and 2017, we received dividend distributions from the
VodafoneZiggo JV of $232.5 million and $252.8 million, respectively, which were accounted for as returns on capital for purposes
of our consolidated statements of cash flows.

Pursuant to an agreement entered into in connection with the formation of the VodafoneZiggo JV (the Framework Agreement),
Liberty Global provides certain services to the VodafoneZiggo JV on a transitional or ongoing basis (collectively, the JV Services).
The JV Services provided by Liberty Global consist primarily of (i) technology and other services and (ii) capital-related
expenditures for assets that will be used by, or will otherwise benefit, the VodafoneZiggo JV. Liberty Global charges both fixed
and usage-based fees to the VodafoneZiggo JV for the JV Services provided during the term of the Framework Agreement. During
2018 and 2017, we recorded revenue from the VodafoneZiggo JV of $189.1 million and $132.4 million, respectively, primarily
related to (a) the JV Services and (b) during 2018, sales of customer premises equipment at a mark-up. In addition, during 2018
and 2017, we purchased certain assets on the VodafoneZiggo JV’s behalf with an aggregate cost of $13.1 million and $144.7
million, respectively. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, $24.4 million and $33.3 million, respectively, were due from the
VodafoneZiggo JV, primarily related to the aforementioned and certain other transactions. These amounts due from the
VodafoneZiggo JV, which are periodically cash settled, are included in other current assets in our consolidated statements of
financial position.

The VodafoneZiggo JV is experiencing significant competition. In particular, the mobile operations of the VodafoneZiggo IV
continue to experience competitive pressure on pricing, characterized by aggressive promotion campaigns, heavy marketing efforts
and increasing or unlimited data bundles. In light of this competition, as well as regulatory and economic factors, we could conclude
in future periods that our investment in the VodafoneZiggo JV is impaired or management of the VodafoneZiggo JV could conclude
that an impairment of the VodafoneZiggo JV goodwill and, to a lesser extent, non-current assets, is required. Any such impairment
of the VodafoneZiggo JV’s goodwill or our investment in the VodafoneZiggo JV would be reflected as a component of share of
results of affiliates, net, in our consolidated statement of profit or loss. Our share of any such impairment charges could be
significant.

The summarized results of operations of the VodafoneZiggo JV are set forth below:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

REVEIIUE. ...ttt e et e et e e et e e e sbe e s sseeesssaeeensseesnssaeesssaeeansseesnsens $ 46022 $ 4,512.5
Depreciation and amoOTtiZAtION ..........cuerueeeieieieteteete sttt ettt eb bt sbe bbbt nee $ (1,833.6) $ (1,678.5)
INEEIEST EXPEIISE. ...ttt ettt st et sae e e $ (678.3) $ (650.1)
INCOME tAX DENETIL.....c.eviiiiiiiitiieicec ettt ettt sttt $ 3762 $ 103.6
L0SS DEfOre INCOME LAXES ...c.vevinrentenreiieieiieieeiiet ettt ettt ettt ettt st s nee $ (467.8) $ (362.9)
N LOSS. ettt ettt sttt b ettt skttt a et st $ (91.6) $ (259.3)
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The summarized financial position of the VodafoneZiggo JV is set forth below:

December 31,

2018 2017
in millions
INON-CUITENE @SSEES ...veeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et e e eee et eeeeeeaeeaeeeseeeeseeeeeseesaeseneeneneeeaeenaeeseneeneesereenaneseneenns $ 22,1557 $ 24,076.8
CUITENE ASSEES (2).1euvvevvievierierieetieteeteeteeteeeeeteetesteesteeteessesssesseessesbeessesseessesseessesseessesreensesseensesseas 1,099.6 823.4
TOLAL ASSEES .. veeeeeee ettt et e e et e et e et e et e e e s e e et e s st esaeeeaeesaneseneeeneeeereeneennes $ 23,2553 $ 24.900.2
B QUILY 1ottt t et et ettt te et te et e as et ere et eaeereanens $ 56915 § 6,158.1
NON-CUrrent lHabilities (D).......c.couieriiiiiiiiirieiieieecieee ettt ettt ettt eteeete e e eveesneebeeaseereens 14,751.5 16,110.4
CUITENt LHADIIITIES (C) cvvevvveuvieeiesiieieirieeesieete st ete st estesteesbesteeseesaesseessesseessesseessesseessesseensesseessenses 2,812.3 2,631.7
Total equity and HADIIHES ..........cooeveriieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $§ 232553 §  24,900.2

(a)  Amounts include cash and cash equivalents of $274.1 million and $330.0 million, respectively.
(b)  Amounts include debt obligations of $12,993.3 million and $13,606.8 million, respectively.
(¢)  Amounts include debt obligations of $1,381.1 million and $1,143.5 million, respectively.

Fair Value Investments

Details of our fair value investments at December 31, 2018 are set forth below:

Country of Parent Group
incorporation ownership %  ownership % Holdings
TV e e ae e U.K. —9% 9.99%, Ordinary shares
ITI NEOVISION ..ot Poland —% 17.0% Shares
LIONSZAte....c.veeieieciieiecieeeee e Canada —% 3.4% Common shares
(O T OSSR U.S. —% 5.5% Common shares
OO et Various — 9 Various Various

ITV. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, we owned 398,515,510 shares of ITV, a commercial broadcaster in the U.K. Our ITV
shares represented less than 10.0% of the total outstanding shares of ITV as of June 30, 2018, the most current publicly-available
information. The aggregate purchase price paid to acquire our investment in ITV was financed through borrowings under secured
borrowing agreements (the ITV Collar Loan). All of the ITV shares we hold are subject to a share collar (the ITV Collar) and
pledged as collateral under the ITV Collar Loan. Under the terms of the ITV Collar, the counterparty has the right to re-use all of
the pledged ITV shares. For additional information regarding the ITV Collar, see note 9.

ITI Neovision. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, we owned a 17.0% interest in ITI Neovision, a privately-held DTH operator
in Poland.

Lionsgate. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, we owned 2.5 million voting and 2.5 million non-voting shares of Lionsgate
common stock, originally purchased at a price of $39.02 per share, for an investment of $195.1 million. The aggregate purchase
price of the Lionsgate shares was financed using working capital, including $70.9 million of cash received pursuant to a variable
prepaid forward transaction with respect to 1.25 million of our voting and 1.25 million of our non-voting Lionsgate shares (the
Lionsgate Forward). At December 31, 2018, our Lionsgate shares represented less than 5% of the total outstanding shares of
Lionsgate. For additional information regarding the Lionsgate Forward, see note 9.
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Casa. At December 31,2018 and 2017, we owned 3,005,307 and 4,432,870 shares, respectively, of Casa common stock. Casa
is a U.S.-based provider of fixed, mobile, optical and Wi-Fi network software solutions for ultra-broadband services. Our Casa
shares represented less than 5.5% of the total outstanding shares of Casa as of October 31, 2018, the most current publicly-available

information.

) Derivative Instruments

In general, we enter into derivative instruments to protect against (i) increases in the interest rates on our variable-rate debt,
(i1) foreign currency movements, particularly with respect to borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the borrowing entity and (iii) decreases in the market prices of certain publicly traded securities that we own. In this
regard, through our subsidiaries, we have entered into various derivative instruments to manage interest rate exposure and foreign
currency exposure primarily with respect to the U.S. dollar (), the euro (€), the British pound sterling (£), the Swiss franc (CHF),
the Czech koruna (CZK), the Hungarian forint (HUF), the Polish zloty (PLN) and the Romanian lei (RON). With the exception
of a limited number of our foreign currency forward contracts, we do not apply hedge accounting to our derivative instruments.
Accordingly, changes in the fair values of most of our derivative instruments are recorded in realized and unrealized gains or losses
on derivative instruments, net, in our consolidated statements of profit or loss.

The following table provides details of the fair values of our derivative instrument assets and liabilities:

Assets:
Cross-currency and interest rate

derivative contracts (b)................

Equity-related derivative

INStrUMents (C) ..ocveeeveervrereeenvennne

Foreign currency forward and

option coNtracts ..........cceceeeeveneenne.

Liabilities:

Cross-currency and interest rate

derivative contracts (b)................

Equity-related derivative

INStrUMENts (C) .eevvveeveereveereeennennne

Foreign currency forward and

option cONtracts .........cceceeueeneenne.

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Non- Non-
Current (a) current (a) Total Current (a) current (a) Total
in millions

372.7 1,370.1 $ 1,742.8 $ 558.5 1,171.4 $ 1,729.9
13.9 732.4 746.3 — 560.9 560.9
7.2 — 7.2 17.0 0.1 17.1
0.4 — 0.4 0.5 0.6 1.1
394.2 2,1025 $§ 24967 § 576.0 1,733.0 $ 2,309.0
326.5 1,0422 § 1,368.7 $ 239.1 1,866.4 § 2,105.5
1.4 — 1.4 5.4 — 54
0.5 — 0.5 7.7 0.2 7.9
— 0.1 0.1 — — —
3284 1,042.3 § 1,370.7 $ 252.2 1,866.6 $ 2,118.8

(a)  Our current derivative liabilities, non-current derivative assets and non-current derivative liabilities are included in other
current and accrued liabilities, other assets, net, and other non-current liabilities, respectively, in our consolidated statements

of financial position.

(b)  We consider credit risk relating to our and our counterparties’ nonperformance in the fair value assessment of our derivative
instruments. In all cases, the adjustments take into account offsetting liability or asset positions within each of our subsidiary
borrowing groups (as defined and described in note 15). The changes in the credit risk valuation adjustments associated with
our cross-currency and interest rate derivative contracts resulted in a net loss of $71.1 million during 2018 and a net gain of
$168.4 million during 2017. These amounts are included in realized and unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments,
net, in our consolidated statements of profit or loss. For further information regarding our fair value measurements, see note

10.
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(¢)  Our equity-related derivative instruments primarily include the fair value of (i) the ITV Collar, (ii) the Lionsgate Forward
and (iii) at December 31, 2017, the share collar (the Sumitomo Collar) with respect to a portion of the shares of Sumitomo
held by our company. On May 22, 2018, we settled the final tranche of the Sumitomo Collar and related borrowings with a
portion of the existing Sumitomo shares held by our company. The aggregate market value of these shares on the transaction
date was $159.3 million. The fair values of the ITV Collar, the Sumitomo Collar and the Lionsgate Forward do not include
credit risk valuation adjustments as we assume that any losses incurred by our company in the event of nonperformance by
the respective counterparty would be, subject to relevant insolvency laws, fully offset against amounts we owe to such
counterparty pursuant to the related secured borrowing arrangements.

The details of our realized and unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments, net, are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Cross-currency and interest rate derivative CONLIACES ........ccuviririreririirenentenieieee et $ 905.8 § (1,145.6)
Equity-related derivative instruments:
ITV COMIAT ... 176.7 215.0
LioNSgate FOIWAI........coiiiiiriiriiiiietctee ettt ettt ettt 30.1 (11.4)
SUMILOIMO COLLAT ...ttt ettt (11.8) (77.4)
(15T USRS 2.5 3.9
Total equity-related derivative INStIUMENES .......c.coeovrueriruirieiinieiineenreceeeeeeeree e 197.5 122.3
Foreign currency forward and option CONETACES.........ccuecveeririririnieneninene ettt 22.7 (30.2)
ORET ...ttt ettt etttk etk etk et ekttt st st r et h etttk ne et 0.2) 0.7
TOTAL ...ttt ee $ 1,125.8 $  (1,052.8)

The net cash received or paid related to our derivative instruments is classified as an operating, investing or financing activity
in our consolidated statements of cash flows based on the objective of the derivative instrument and the classification of the applicable
underlying cash flows. For derivative contracts that are terminated prior to maturity, the cash paid or received upon termination
that relates to future periods is classified as a financing activity. The following table sets forth the classification of the net cash
inflows (outflows) of our derivative instruments:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

OPETAtINE ACTIVITIES ....ovevevenretiieteeetertete ettt sttt ettt ettt et st et ettt a bt sa st st et sre st es et ete e eneeeteneen $ 2444 $ 6.8

INVESHING ACHIVILIES ...eeeueuiiiiiiitietirierteet ettt ettt ettt sttt st a et ettt beebe b — (0.5)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES ....covevetinretiieieeetertetertet ettt ettt ettt et ettt ettt ae sttt sn et eb et et e b eseeteneen 112.8 (138.1)
L] | TSP $ 3572 §$ (131.8)

Counterparty Credit Risk

We are exposed to the risk that the counterparties to the derivative instruments of our subsidiary borrowing groups will default
on their obligations to us. We manage these credit risks through the evaluation and monitoring of the creditworthiness of, and
concentration of risk with, the respective counterparties. In this regard, credit risk associated with our derivative instruments is
spread across a relatively broad counterparty base of banks and financial institutions. With the exception of a limited number of
instances where we have required a counterparty to post collateral, neither party has posted collateral under the derivative instruments
of our subsidiary borrowing groups. At December 31, 2018, our exposure to counterparty credit risk included derivative assets with
an aggregate fair value of $617.3 million.
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Each of our subsidiary borrowing groups have entered into derivative instruments under master agreements with each
counterparty that contain master netting arrangements that are applicable in the event of early termination by either party to such
derivative instrument. The master netting arrangements are limited to the derivative instruments and derivative-related debt
instruments, governed by the relevant master agreement within each individual borrowing group and are independent of similar
arrangements of our other subsidiary borrowing groups.

Under our derivative contracts, it is generally only the non-defaulting party that has a contractual option to exercise early
termination rights upon the default of the other counterparty and to set off other liabilities against sums due upon such termination.
However, in an insolvency of a derivative counterparty, under the laws of certain jurisdictions, the defaulting counterparty or its
insolvency representatives may be able to compel the termination of one or more derivative contracts and trigger early termination
payment liabilities payable by us, reflecting any mark-to-market value of the contracts for the counterparty. Alternatively, or in
addition, the insolvency laws of certain jurisdictions may require the mandatory set off of amounts due under such derivative
contracts against present and future liabilities owed to us under other contracts between us and the relevant counterparty. Accordingly,
it is possible that we may be subject to obligations to make payments, or may have present or future liabilities owed to us partially
or fully discharged by set off as a result of such obligations, in the event of the insolvency of a derivative counterparty, even though
it is the counterparty that is in default and not us. To the extent that we are required to make such payments, our ability to do so
will depend on our liquidity and capital resources at the time. In an insolvency of a defaulting counterparty, we will be an unsecured
creditor in respect of any amount owed to us by the defaulting counterparty, except to the extent of the value of any collateral we
have obtained from that counterparty.

In addition, where a counterparty is in financial difficulty, under the laws of certain jurisdictions, the relevant regulators may
be able to (i) compel the termination of one or more derivative instruments, determine the settlement amount and/or compel, without
any payment, the partial or full discharge of liabilities arising from such early termination that are payable by the relevant counterparty
or (ii) transfer the derivative instruments to an alternative counterparty.
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Details of our Derivative Instruments
Cross-currency Derivative Contracts

We generally match the denomination of our subsidiaries’ borrowings with the functional currency of the supporting operations
or, when it is more cost effective, we provide for an economic hedge against foreign currency exchange rate movements by using
derivative instruments to synthetically convert unmatched debt into the applicable underlying currency. At December 31, 2018,
substantially all of our debt was either directly or synthetically matched to the applicable functional currencies of the underlying
operations. The following table sets forth the total notional amounts and the related weighted average remaining contractual lives
of our cross-currency swap contracts at December 31, 2018:

Weighted
Notional amount due Notional amount due average
Borrowing group from counterparty to counterparty remaining life

in millions in years
ViIrgin Media......ccevuiiuiieieieieeieeeeeeeeee e $ 400.0 € 339.6 4.0
$ 7,1829 £ 4,759.3 (b) 4.9
2,365.8 $ 3,400.0 (a) 6.1
UPC HOIAING ..o $ 2,420.0 € 1,999.4 5.6
$ 1,200.0 CHF 1,107.5 (b) 6.2
€ 2,057.0 CHF 2,347.9 (b) 5.8
€ 299.2 CZK 8,221.8 1.7
€ 3755 HUF 105,911.9 3.0
€ 822.9 PLN 3,484.5 2.8
€ 217.2 RON 610.0 3.1
TEIBNEL ...t e $ 3,670.0 € 3,243.6 (b) 6.5
€ 1,431.2 $ 1,600.0 (a) 6.4

(a)  Includes certain derivative instruments that do not involve the exchange of notional amounts at the inception and maturity
of'the instruments. Accordingly, the only cash flows associated with these derivative instruments are coupon-related payments
and receipts. At December 31, 2018, the total U.S. dollar equivalents of the notional amount of these derivative instruments
were $4.7 billion.

(b)  Includes certain derivative instruments that are “forward-starting,” such that the initial exchange occurs at a date subsequent
to December 31, 2018. These instruments are typically entered into in order to extend existing hedges without the need to
amend existing contracts.
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Interest Rate Swap Contracts

The following table sets forth the total U.S. dollar equivalents of the notional amounts and the related weighted average
remaining contractual lives of our interest rate swap contracts at December 31, 2018:

Borrowing group Borrowing group
pays fixed rate (a) receives fixed rate
Weighted Weighted
Notional average Notional average
Borrowing group amount remaining life amount remaining life
in millions in years in millions in years
Virgin Media........oovevieriieiiniieiecieeieeie e $ 17,196.5 34 $ 11,0435 5.2
UPC HOIAING ..ottt $ 5,800.3 4.6 $ 3,992.6 6.8
TEIBMEL . ..ot $ 3,853.2 5.2 $ 1,634.1 4.7

(a)  Includes forward-starting derivative instruments.
Interest Rate Swap Options

We have entered into various interest rate swap options (swaptions), which give us the right, but not the obligation, to enter
into certain interest rate swap contracts at set dates in the future, with each such contract having a life of no more than three years.
At the transaction date, the strike rate of each of these contracts was above the corresponding market rate. The following table sets
forth certain information regarding our swaptions at December 31, 2018:

Weighted
Underlying  average option Weighted
Notional swap expiration average
Borrowing group amount currency period (a) strike rate (b)
in millions in years
Virgin Media......cccveruirienienieieieieeeieeeeeceesic e $ 6,062.5 £ 0.9 2.47%
$ 589.5 € 0.9 2.08%
UPC HOIAING ..ottt $ 1,340.6 CHF 0.1 1.22%

(a)  Represents the weighted average period until the date on which we have the option to enter into the interest rate swap contracts.

(b)  Represents the weighted average interest rate that we would pay if we exercised our option to enter into the interest rate swap
contracts.
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Basis Swaps

Our basis swaps involve the exchange of attributes used to calculate our floating interest rates, including (i) the benchmark
rate, (ii) the underlying currency and/or (iii) the borrowing period. We typically enter into these swaps to optimize our interest rate
profile based on our current evaluations of yield curves, our risk management policies and other factors. The following table sets
forth the total U.S. dollar equivalents of the notional amounts and related weighted average remaining contractual lives of our basis
swap contracts at December 31, 2018:

Notional amount Weighted
due from average
Borrowing group counterparty (a) remaining life
in millions in years
VLI MEAIA ...ttt ettt et sbe ettt s naenen $ 4,547.1 0.5
UPC HOLIAING. ...ttt ettt $ 2,640.0 0.4
TEIBTIEL .....cveiiieetieteet ettt ettt sttt ettt eae et et sb e b bt st ae e $ 3,675.0 03

(a)  Includes forward-starting derivative instruments.
Interest Rate Caps and Collars
We enter into interest rate cap and collar agreements that lock in a maximum interest rate if variable rates rise, but also allow
our company to benefit, to a limited extent in the case of collars, from declines in market rates. At December 31, 2018, the total
U.S. dollar equivalents of the notional amounts of our interest rate caps and collars were $254.9 million and $649.9 million,
respectively.

Impact of Derivative Instruments on Borrowing Costs

The impact of the derivative instruments that mitigate our foreign currency and interest rate risk, as described above, on our
borrowing costs is as follows:

Decrease to
borrowing costs

at December 31,
2018 (a)
VIIZIN MEAIA . ...eiiiiiiiiieie ettt st s sttt ettt et e ae bt e besae bbb st ne e ennen (0.59)%
UPC HOLAINE ..ttt sttt ettt et et et eb e bt et e bt e bt e bt sb e b e e b e st e st et eae e ennen (0.06)%
Telenet (0.63)%
Total decrease to borrowing costs (0.45)%

(a)  Representsthe effect of derivative instruments in effect at December 31,2018 and does not include forward-starting derivative
instruments or swaptions.

Foreign Currency Forwards and Options
Certain of our subsidiaries enter into foreign currency forward and option contracts with respect to non-functional currency

exposure. As of December 31, 2018, the total U.S. dollar equivalents of the notional amount of foreign currency forward and option
contracts was $558.3 million.
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Equity-related Derivative Instruments

ITV Collar and Secured Borrowing. The ITV Collar comprises (i) purchased put options exercisable by our company, and (ii)
written call options exercisable by the counterparty. The ITV Collar effectively hedges the value of our investment in ITV shares
from losses due to market price decreases below the put option price while retaining a portion of the gains from market price
increases up to the call option price. The fair value of the ITV Collar as of December 31, 2018 was a net asset of $704.0 million.
The ITV Collar has settlement dates ranging from 2020 to 2022.

The ITV Collar and related agreements also provide our company with the ability to borrow against the value of its ITV shares.
At December 31, 2018, borrowings under the ITV Collar Loan were secured by all 398,515,510 of our ITV shares, which have
been placed into a custody account. The ITV Collar Loan, which has maturity dates consistent with the ITV Collar and contains
no financial covenants, provides for customary representations and warranties, events of default and certain adjustment and
termination events. Under the terms of the ITV Collar, the counterparty has the right to re-use the pledged ITV shares held in the
custody account, but we have the right to recall the shares that are re-used by the counterparty subject to certain costs. In addition,
the counterparty retains dividends on the ITV shares that the counterparty would need to borrow from the custody account to hedge
its exposure under the ITV Collar (an estimated 400 million shares at December 31, 2018).

Lionsgate Forward and Secured Borrowing. The Lionsgate Forward has economic characteristics similar to a collar plus a loan
that is collateralized by a pledge of 1.25 million of our voting and 1.25 million of our non-voting Lionsgate shares (the Lionsgate
Loan). Under the terms of the Lionsgate Forward, the counterparty does not have the right to re-use the pledged Lionsgate shares
without permission from Liberty Global. The Lionsgate Forward effectively hedges the value of our pledged Lionsgate shares from
losses due to market price decreases below the put option price while retaining a portion of the gains from market price increases
up to the call option price. The fair value of the Lionsgate Forward as of December 31, 2018 was a net asset of $42.2 million. The
Lionsgate Forward has settlement dates ranging from July 2019 through March 2022.

For additional information regarding our investments in ITV and Lionsgate see note 8.

10) Fair Value Measurements

We use the fair value method to account for (i) certain of our investments, (ii) our derivative instruments and (iii) certain
instruments that we classify as debt. The reported fair values of these investments and instruments as of December 31, 2018 are
unlikely to represent the value that will be paid or received upon the ultimate settlement or disposition of these assets and liabilities.

We use a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad
levels. Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the
ability to access at the measurement date. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
We record transfers of assets or liabilities into or out of Levels 1, 2 or 3 at the beginning of the quarter during which the transfer
occurred. During 2018, no material transfers were made.

All of our Level 2 inputs (interest rate futures, swap rates and certain of the inputs for our weighted average cost of capital
calculations) and certain of our Level 3 inputs (forecasted volatilities and credit spreads) are obtained from pricing services. These
inputs, or interpolations or extrapolations thereof, are used in our internal models to calculate, among other items, yield curves,
forward interest and currency rates and weighted average cost of capital rates. In the normal course of business, we receive market
value assessments from the counterparties to our derivative contracts. Although we compare these assessments to our internal
valuations and investigate unexpected differences, we do not otherwise rely on counterparty quotes to determine the fair values
of our derivative instruments. The midpoints of applicable bid and ask ranges generally are used as inputs for our internal valuations.

For our investments in publicly-traded companies, the recurring fair value measurements are based on the quoted closing
price of the respective shares at each reporting date. Accordingly, the valuations of these investments fall under Level 1 of the fair
value hierarchy. Our other investments that we account for at fair value are privately-held companies, and therefore, quoted market
prices are unavailable. The valuation technique we use for such investments is a combination of an income approach (discounted
cash flow model based on forecasts) and a market approach (market multiples of similar businesses). With the exception of certain
inputs for our weighted average cost of capital calculations that are derived from pricing services, the inputs used to value these
investments are based on unobservable inputs derived from our assumptions. Therefore, the valuation of our privately-held
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investments falls under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Any reasonably foreseeable changes in assumed levels of unobservable
inputs for the valuations of our Level 3 investments would not be expected to have a material impact on our financial position or
results of operations.

The recurring fair value measurement of our equity-related derivative instruments are based on standard option pricing models,
which require the input of observable and unobservable variables such as exchange-traded equity prices, risk-free interest rates,
dividend forecasts and forecasted volatilities of the underlying equity securities. The valuations of our equity-related derivative
instruments are based on a combination of Level 1 inputs (exchange-traded equity prices), Level 2 inputs (interest rate futures and
swap rates) and Level 3 inputs (forecasted volatilities). As changes in volatilities could have a significant impact on the overall
valuations over the terms of the derivative instruments, we have determined that these valuations fall under Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy. At December 31, 2018, our equity-related derivatives were not significantly impacted by forecasted volatilities.

In order to manage our interest rate and foreign currency exchange risk, we have entered into (i) various derivative instruments
and (ii) certain instruments that we classify as debt, as further described in notes 9 and 15, respectively. The recurring fair value
measurements of these instruments are determined using discounted cash flow models. With the exception of the inputs for certain
swaptions, most of the inputs to these discounted cash flow models consist of, or are derived from, observable Level 2 data for
substantially the full term of these instruments. This observable data mostly includes currency rates, interest rate futures and swap
rates, which are retrieved or derived from available market data. Although we may extrapolate or interpolate this data, we do not
otherwise alter this data in performing our valuations. We use a Monte Carlo based approach to incorporate a credit risk valuation
adjustment in our fair value measurements to estimate the impact of both our own nonperformance risk and the nonperformance
risk of our counterparties. The inputs used for our credit risk valuations, including our and our counterparties’ credit spreads,
represent our most significant Level 3 inputs, and these inputs are used to derive the credit risk valuation adjustments with respect
to these instruments. As we would not expect these parameters to have a significant impact on the valuations of these instruments,
we have determined that these valuations (other than the valuations of the aforementioned swaptions) fall under Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy. Due to the lack of Level 2 inputs for the swaption valuations, we believe these valuations fall under Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. Our credit risk valuation adjustments with respect to our cross-currency and interest rate swaps are
quantified and further explained in note 9.

Fair value measurements are also used in connection with nonrecurring valuations performed in connection with acquisition
accounting and impairment assessments. The nonrecurring valuations associated with acquisition accounting primarily include
the valuation of reporting units, customer relationship and other intangible assets and property and equipment. The valuation of
customer relationships is primarily based on an excess earnings methodology, which is a form of a discounted cash flow analysis.
The excess earnings methodology requires us to estimate the specific cash flows expected from the customer relationship,
considering such factors as estimated customer life, the revenue expected to be generated over the life of the customer relationship,
contributory asset charges and other factors. Tangible assets are typically valued using a replacement or reproduction cost approach,
considering factors such as current prices of the same or similar equipment, the age of the equipment and economic obsolescence.
Most of our nonrecurring valuations use significant unobservable inputs and therefore fall under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
We did not perform significant nonrecurring fair value measurements during 2018 or 2017.
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The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in our consolidated statements of
financial position are as follows:

Category Category December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

under under Carrying Carrying
IAS 39 (a) IFRS9(a) amount Fair value amount Fair value

in millions

Assets carried at fair value:

Derivative financial instruments........................ I 1T $ 24967 $ 24967 $ 2,309.0 $ 2,309.0
INVEStMENTS ... I 111 1,145.2 1,145.2 2,280.2 2,280.2
Total assets carried at fair value..................... $ 36419 $ 3,6419 $ 45892 $ 4,589.2

INVEStMENLS ......oveveeeeveeeceeeeeeeeee e II I $ 3,969.7 (b) $ 4,378.6 (b)
Restricted cash ........cccoeevevieiiiieiiciceceee, II I 178 $ 17.8 105 § 10.5
Trade receivables, Net ........c.ccveveveviieeereieennen, 1I I 1,342.1 § 1,342.1 1,5404 §$ 1,540.4
Cash and cash equivalents .............ccccoevevrnenen. 11 I 1,480.5 $ 1,480.5 1,672.4 $ 1,672.4
Total assets carried at cost or amortized
COSE wnretieteeteeee ettt et e et ere e eaea w w
Liabilities carried at fair value: - -
Debt obligations.........c.ccoeveueeveeeeieceeeeeeeee. I III § 2486 § 248,66 $ 9657 $§ 965.7
Derivative financial instruments........................ 1 111 1,370.7 1,370.7 2,118.8 2,118.8
Total liabilities carried at fair value................. $ 1,6193 $ 1,6193 §$ 3,0845 §$ 3,084.5
Liabilities carried at cost or amortized cost: -
Debt obligations............cceeeueeveevceeeeeieieeeeennas 111 I $29,341.3 $ 28,2252 $40,343.9 $40,893.6
Accounts payable.........c.cccoeeerierenienienieeeenn 111 I 874.3 874.3 1,046.6 1,046.6
Finance lease obligations..............cccceeveveenennen. A% I 621.3 621.3 708.5 708.5
Total liabilities carried at cost or amortized
COSE cuvitietietieete ettt ettt e eaeeete e eveeaneas w w w $42,648.7
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(a)  Pursuantto IFRS 9, which was adopted effective January 1,2018, category I refers to financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortized cost, category II refers to financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income or loss and category I1l refers to financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss. Previously,
pursuant to International Accounting Standard 39, Financial Instruments.: Recognition and Measurement (IAS 39), category
I referred to financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss, classified as held for trading,
category II referred to loans and receivables, category III referred to financial liabilities measured at amortized cost and
category IV referred to derivative instruments designated as hedging instruments. Category V referred to finance leases
outside the scope of IAS 39.

(b)  We have not estimated the fair value of our equity method investments and, for 2017, certain investments held at cost.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis
using significant unobservable, or Level 3, inputs is as follows:

Cross-currency

and interest Equity-related
rate derivative derivative
Investments contracts instruments Total

in millions

Balance of net assets at January 1, 2018 .........cceeverennene $ 3715 $ 45 $ 5555 $ 931.5
Reclassification to assets held for sale.............c..ceeue.e. — (7.7) — 7.7

Gains (losses) included in loss from continuing
operations (a):

Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on derivative

INSTIUMENLS, NEE ..o — (11.5) 197.5 186.0
Realized and unrealized loss due to changes in fair
values of certain investments and debt, net............... (35.9) — — (35.9)
Impact of IFRS 9...cooiiiiiiiiiiiicecccce 31.9 — — 31.9
AdAItIONS ...conviiieiiiieiceeeee e 55.0 0.2 — 55.2
DISPOSIHIONS..c.evevireieicieteteteeete et (15.5) — — (15.5)
Final settlement of Sumitomo Collar (b) ........ccccoveueneee. — — (7.4) (7.4)
Transfers out of Level 3 ..o (2.0) — — (2.0)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, dividends
and other, Nt ......cceoveieiiiiiciece e (15.7) 0.4 0.7) (16.0)
Balance of net assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2018... § 3893 § (14.1) § 7449 $ 1,120.1

(a)  Most of these net gains and losses relate to assets and liabilities that we continue to carry on our consolidated statement of
financial position as of December 31, 2018.

(b)  For additional information regarding the settlement of the final tranche of the Sumitomo Collar, see note 9.
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Cross-currency

and interest Equity-related
rate derivative derivative
Investments contracts instruments Total

in millions

Balance of net assets (liabilities) at January 1, 2017......... $ 3415 $ (10.7) $ 5154 8§ 846.2
Reclassification to assets held for sale..........c..cccceenene.. 10.7 10.7
Gains included in loss from continuing operations (a):

Realized and unrealized gains on derivative
TNSTIUMENES, TIC «vveeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et eeeeeeseea — 4.5 122.3 126.8

Realized and unrealized gains due to changes in fair
values of certain investments, Net ..........ccocevevvenenne.. 32.1 — — 32.1

Partial settlement of Sumitomo Collar (b)

...................... (85.3) (85.3)
Transfers out of Level 3 .......ccooeiniiiniiiniiiececnen (32.6) — — (32.6)
DiSPOSItIONS......coviuiiiiiiiciiiiciicecc e (17.6) (17.6)
AddItIONS ..o 59.8 — — 59.8
Foreign currency translation adjustments, dividends

and other, Net .........ccccviiiiiiiiic (11.7) — 3.1 (8.6)

Balance of net assets at December 31, 2017 .......ccouee..... $ 3715 $ 45 $ 5555 $ 931.5

(a)  Most of these net gains and losses relate to assets and liabilities that we continue to carry on our consolidated statement of
financial position as of December 31, 2017.

(b)  For additional information regarding the Sumitomo Collar, see note 9.
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an Income Taxes

Liberty Global files its primary income tax return in the U.K. Its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.K., the U.S. and
a number of other jurisdictions. The income taxes of Liberty Global and its subsidiaries are presented on a separate return basis
for each tax-paying entity or group.

Components of income tax expense consist of:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Current tax expense:

CUITEINE YEAT ...ttt ettt ettt sttt ettt ettt ettt ettt eat e s bt estesaeestesbeembesbeebesbnebesanenteens $ (271.6) $ (192.2)
Adjustments fOr Previous YEATS (8) ...ccvecvereeeereiririreriesienentesteteteeeseeeteseereese e e s e saesaenenee (808.3) —
(1,079.9) (192.2)
Deferred tax expense:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences and tax [0SS€S........c.cocccerveerecvrecvnrenvenennnes (397.3) 349.8
Derecognition of deferred tax @SSES.......cceueiririririnininenerteteteeeeeree et (34.9) (342.3)
ChangEes 1N tAX TALES .....o.eeueetirtirtiiteriertet ettt ettt et ettt sttt be sttt et et e st estebe et e ebe s bt sbeebesbesaeneen (15.4) 3.3
(447.6) 10.8
Income tax expense on CONtiNUING OPETATIONS ........evuerverierierierieieireteeeteeiesie et etesteseessesieneens $  (1,527.5) $ (181.4)
CUITENE tAX EXPEIISE ...e.vveureeveereesreiteetesseeseestesseessesseessesseessesseessesseessesssessesssessesssesseessesseessessesssenses $ (164.5) $ (409.3)
Deferred tax Denefit (EXPENSE) .....ccvieuievvieuieciieteccie ettt ettt ettt ere v et veeaeeereereeeaeens (214.3) 113.0
Income tax expense on diSCONtINUING OPETALIONS ...c..everveveieieieiieiieieeiireeie ettt neens $ (378.8) $ (296.3)

(a)  Largely due to the Mandatory Repatriation Tax recognized as a result of 2017 U.S. Tax Act.

Income tax amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are set forth in note 24.
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Income tax expense attributable to our profit (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes differs from the amounts

computed by applying the U.K. corporation tax rate as a result of the following factors:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Profit (loss) before tax from continuing operations before inCOmMe taxes ..........cceceeveeeecererercnennns $ 51.0 $ (2,189.7)
Computed “expected” tax benefit (EXPENSE) (8).....ccereerrereerierieriieieriieierteeeesseeseesseeneesseessesseessesseens $ 9.7 $ 421.5
Mandatory Repatriation Tax (D) .....coeeerererieieieeieieceit ettt sttt saea (1,137.2) —
Basis and other differences in the treatment of items associated with investments in subsidiaries
AN AFTTHATES ..ottt ettt (351.4) (193.1)
Non-deductible or non-taxable interest and other eXPenses ...........ccveerueireineninenieeneereeeeee (134.0) 34
Non-deductible or non-taxable foreign currency exchange results ........c..cocoeevererennenneneeneennene 132.5 (233.8)
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax bBenefits ..........coccocevirerinininenenieieiceeeenceeeene e 49.6 4.5
Derecognition of deductible temporary differences ............cooevirireriiineneneeeeeeee e (34.9) (342.3)
Enacted tax law and rate Changes (C)........ccoeouruiiriiiriiiieiicieeeeeeee e (15.4) 3.3
International rate differences (d).........cooieieririiiiiii e e 8.7) 1354
Tax benefit associated with technology INNOVALION........cccceeriririrerininceeteteeeeeee e — 12.1
OBHET, NIET ...t (18.3) 14.4
Total income tax expense — CONtiNUING OPEIALIONS ......c.cuevveuerueuirueeriierieireieeeeseereseereenenennenes $ (1,527.5) §  (181.4)
(a)  The statutory or “expected” tax rates are the U.K. rates of 19.0% for 2018 and 19.25% for 2017. The 2017 statutory rate

(b)

©

(d)

represents the blended rate that was in effect for the year ended December 31, 2017 based on the 20.0% statutory rate that
was in effect for the first quarter of 2017 and the 19.0% statutory rate that was in effect for the remainder of 2017. During
the third quarter of 2016, the U.K. enacted legislation that will reduce the corporate income tax rate in April 2020 to 17.0%.

As further discussed below, the liability we have recorded for the Mandatory Repatriation Tax (as defined and described
below) is significantly lower than the amount included in our income tax expense due in part to the expected use of
carryforward attributes in the U.S., all of which were not expected to be realized prior to the initial recognition of the
Mandatory Repatriation Tax during the first quarter of 2018.

On December 18, 2018, reductions in the corporate income tax rate in the Netherlands were enacted. The rate will be
reduced from the current rate of 25.0% to 22.5% in 2020 and 20.5% in 2021. Substantially all of the impact of these rate
changes in the Netherlands on our deferred tax balances were recorded during the fourth quarter of 2018. In 2017, a Belgian
corporate income tax rate reduction was signed into law. The statutory tax rate will decrease from 33.9% to 29.6% beginning
in 2018, and in 2020, this rate will further decrease to 25.0%. Also in 2017, the U.S. corporate income tax rate was reduced
from 35.0% to 21.0% effective beginning in 2018. Substantially all of the impacts of both the Belgian and U.S. tax rate
changes in Belgium and the U.S. on our deferred tax balances were recorded during the fourth quarter of 2017.

Amounts reflect adjustments (either a benefit or expense) to the “expected” tax benefit (expense) for statutory rates in
jurisdictions in which we operate outside of the U.K.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are presented below:

Recognized Net
Net in statement balance at
balance at of profit or Exchange December Deferred Deferred tax
January 1, loss Acquisitions  Disposition difference Other 31, tax assets liabilities

in millions

2018

Net operating loss and other

carryforwards..........coeoeenee. $ 1,621.0 $  (561.3) § 07 $§ (2048 $ (747) $ 260 $ 8069 § 8069 § —
Investments (including

consolidated partnerships).. 46.8 14.1 — — 1.3 (0.4) 61.8 62.8 (1.0)
Dbt 18.6 26.8 — (98.3) (1.2) (12.0) (66.1) 25.2 (91.3)
Property, equipment and

intangibles ...........cccoeeeunne 768.9 173.1 (29.9) 722.8 (94.7) (13.0) 1,527.7 1,896.2 (368.5)
Derivative instruments............. 1543 99.1) 0.2 (0.6) (5.7) 10.8 59.9 68.5 (8.6)
Other future deductible

(taxable) amounts ............... (118.1) (1.2) 4.0) 17.4 10.8 (33.1) (128.2) 125.1 (253.3)

Net deferred tax asset ... $ 24915 $ (447.6) $ (325 $ 4365 $ (1642) $ (21.7) $ 22620 $ 29847 $  (722.7)

2017

Net operating loss and other

carryforwards...................... $ 1,6989 §$ 3145) $ 0.7) $ 86.2) $ 2166 $1069 $ 1,621.0 $ 1,621.0 $ —
Investments (including

consolidated partnerships).. (392.5) 158.7 — 315.0 — (34.4) 46.8 46.7 0.1
Debt....uiiiiiiiiiiicceceeae 324.8 (257.2) — (64.1) 16.7 (1.6) 18.6 103.1 (84.5)
Property, equipment and

intangibles ..o 2234 193.1 51.2 307.5 2.1) 4.2) 768.9 2,759.5 (1,990.6)
Derivative instruments............ (109.7) 238.9 — (12.6) 3.1 34.6 154.3 155.4 (1.1)

Other future deductible

(taxable) amounts (68.0) (3.2) 32 (34.5) 3.7 (119 (118.1) 41738 (535.9)

Net deferred tax asset ..... $ 1,6769 §$ 158 §$ 53.7 § 4251 $ 2306 $ 894 § 24915 $§ 51035 $ (2,612.0)

The tables above include activities from our discontinued operations.

Where there is a right and ability of offset of deferred tax balances within the same jurisdiction, this position is presented net
on the face of the group statement of financial position.

Our unrecognized deferred tax assets and tax loss carryforwards at December 31, 2018 are as follows (in millions):

Amount Expiration Date
UNCESIIICLE tAX LOSSES .veuveutiieieieiieiieiett ettt ettt sttt ettt et ettt et b seesbeeeneenean $ 3,006.4 Indefinite
RESLIICTEA taX LOSSES ...veuveueitiieieieitcteteteter sttt ettt s 476.5 2019-2036
Deductible temporary differences 573.0
NEL AELEITEA TAX ASSEL e eeeeeeeee ettt e e e e e et e e e e e eeaeeeeeneeeseaeeeasreesaereeeseeens $ 4,055.9

We have taxable outside basis differences on certain investments in non-U.S. subsidiaries. For this purpose, the outside basis
difference is any difference between the aggregate tax basis in the equity of a consolidated subsidiary and the corresponding amount
of the subsidiary’s net equity, including cumulative translation adjustments, as determined for financial reporting purposes. This
outside basis difference does not include unremitted earnings. At December 31, 2018, we have not provided deferred tax liabilities
on an estimated $5.9 billion of cumulative temporary differences on the outside bases of our non-U.S. subsidiaries.

Through our subsidiaries, we maintain a presence in many countries. Many of these countries maintain highly complex tax
regimes that differ significantly from the system of income taxation used in the U.K. and the U.S. We have accounted for the effect
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of these taxes based on what we believe is reasonably expected to apply to us and our subsidiaries based on tax laws currently in
effect and reasonable interpretations of these laws.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the 2017 U.S. Tax Act) was signed into U.S. law on December 22, 2017. Significant changes to
the U.S. income tax regime include the imposition of taxes on a one-time deemed mandatory repatriation of earnings and profits
of foreign corporations (the Mandatory Repatriation Tax) and a new tax on global intangible low-taxed income (the GILTI Tax).

The Mandatory Repatriation Tax requires that the aggregate post -1986 earnings and profits of our foreign corporations be
included in our U.S. taxable income. The one-time repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings and profits is then taxed at a rate
of 15.5% for cash earnings and 8% for non-cash earnings, both as defined in the 2017 U.S. Tax Act, and is payable, interest free,
over an eight period according to a prescribed payment schedule with 45% of the tax due in the last two years. At December 31,
2018, we have recorded a liability for the Mandatory Repatriation Tax of $293.3 million after considering the expected use of
carryforward tax attributes and other filing positions.

The GILTI Tax will require our U.S. subsidiaries that are shareholders in foreign corporations to include in their taxable
income for each year beginning after December 31, 2017, their pro rata share of global intangible low-taxed income. The GILTI
Tax is calculated as the excess of the net foreign corporation income over a deemed return. The GILTI Tax is reported as a period
cost when it is incurred.

We and our subsidiaries file consolidated and standalone income tax returns in various jurisdictions. In the normal course of
business, our income tax filings are subject to review by various taxing authorities. In connection with such reviews, disputes
could arise with the taxing authorities over the interpretation or application of certain income tax rules related to our business in
that tax jurisdiction. Such disputes may result in future tax and interest and penalty assessments by these taxing authorities. We
have recorded unrecognized tax benefits of $857.8 million and $528.5 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
ultimate resolution oftax contingencies will take place upon the earlier of (i) the settlement date with the applicable taxing authorities
in either cash or agreement of income tax positions or (ii) the date when the tax authorities are statutorily prohibited from adjusting
the company’s tax computations.

(12) Trade Receivables and Unbilled Revenue

The details of our trade receivables and unbilled revenue, net, are set forth below:

December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Trade 1ECEIVADIES, SIOSS ....uiiiieiieieeiieieetieieetete st et e st e e e teste et e teessesseesseeseessesseensesssensesssesenssensens $ 1,404.8 $ 1,536.6
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables...........ccoieviiiieiiiieiiiiceceeee e (47.2) (96.7)
Trade TECEIVADIES, ML ..coiieeiviieiieeeeeeee ettt ettt e ettt e e e e et e e e s e et eeeeeseaaaeeeesasaaeteesesaareeeeas 1,357.6 1,439.9
UNDIIIEA TEVENUE .....c.viiviiiiciiiitecee ettt ettt ettt te e ae s te e b e s teessesteessestsenseeseenreens 139.0 203.8

Trade receivables and unbilled TEVENUE, NET .........ccooveviiiiiiiiiiieee et e e eaveeee s 1,496.6 1,643.7
Current trade receivables and unbilled revenue, Net............ccoecveevieiieieiiieecce e (1,342.1) (1,540.4)
Non-current trade receivables and unbilled rEVENUE, NEL..........ccovveviieiiiriieiieeeeeeeeeeee e e eeeenes $ 1545 $ 103.3

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon our assessment of probable loss related to uncollectible trade receivable.
Weuse anumber of factors in determining the allowance, including, among other things, collection trends, prevailing and anticipated
economic conditions and specific customer credit risk. The allowance is maintained until either receipt of payment or the likelihood
of collection is considered to be remote.
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The detailed aging of trade receivables and the related allowance for impairment as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are set
forth below:

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Trade Allowance for Trade Allowance for
receivables, gross impairment receivables, gross impairment

in millions

Current portion:

Days past due:
CUITENE ..ottt $ 705.6 $ 9.7 $ 799.9 $ (6.7)
1230 daYS woveeeeieeeeeeee e 184.9 0.4 371.3 (8.7)
31290 daYS .ooveeeeeiieiiieeieee e 156.9 (8.9) 100.5 (9.6)
OVEr 90 days......ccveeieriieiieieieeeere et 201.5 (27.6) 160.8 (71.1)
TOtAL .ottt 1,248.9 (45.8) 1,432.5 (96.1)
NON-CUrrent POrtion..........ccceeveeveerreervereerreseesreneenseennenns 155.9 (1.4) 104.1 (0.6)
Total trade receivables............ccoooveveevecveverennnen. $ 1,404.8 $ 47.2) $ 1,536.6 $ (96.7)

The following table shows the development of the current portion of the allowance for impairment of trade receivables:

2018 2017

in millions

ATOWANCE at JANUATY L.....oviiiiiiiiieiiciieiiecee ettt ettt et et e e be bbb s essessessensessenis $ 96.1 $ 193.4
Reclassification to assets held for sale ..........ooouiiviiiiiiciiiiicice e (21.9) 2.0)
Provisions for impairment of trade receivables.........c.coueieiiiiiiiiini e 53.0 67.2
WIite-0ff Of TECEIVADIE .....vecviiieeeeieceee ettt (97.0) (66.8)
ACGUISIEIONS......evieereetietiesteete st ete st et e ettesbeeteesseeseesseesseseessesseessesseessesseessesssessesssensasssensenseessenseenns (1.4) 1.5
Impact of the Split-0ff TranSACtION .........cceevuieiiiriciectieiecteee ettt — (116.1)
Foreign currency translation and Other............cooeiiiiiiiiiiii e 17.0 18.9

Allowance at DECEMDET 31 ......c.ocuiiiieiiiieeiiieiiieeieiet ettt ettt sb et b seebess b s etesseseseseanas $ 458 § 96.1

When a trade receivable is determined to be uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. The provision for
impairment of trade receivables is included in facilities and other operational costs in our consolidated statements of profit or loss.

13) Equity
Capitalization

At December 31, 2018, our authorized share capital consisted of an aggregate nominal amount of $20.0 million, consisting
of any of the following: (i) ordinary shares (Class A, B or C), each with a nominal value of $0.01 per share, (ii) preference shares,
with a nominal value to be determined by the board of directors, the issuance of one or more classes or series of which as may be
authorized by the board of directors, and (iii) any other shares of one or more classes as may be determined by the board of directors
or by the shareholders of Liberty Global. For the period beginning July 1, 2015 through the December 29, 2017 completion of the
Split-off Transaction, our share capital included (a) our Class A, Class B and Class C Liberty Global ordinary shares (collectively
referred to herein as “Liberty Global Shares”) and (b) our LiLAC Class A, Class B and Class C ordinary shares (collectively
referred to herein as “LiLAC Shares”). The LiLAC Shares were tracking shares intended to track the economic performance of
the LiILAC Group. Pursuant to the Split-off Transaction, the LiLAC Shares were redesignated as deferred shares (which had
virtually no economic rights), transferred to a third party and cancelled.

Under Liberty Global’s Articles of Association, effective July 1, 2015, holders of Liberty Global Class A ordinary shares are
entitled to one vote for each such share held, and holders of Liberty Global Class B ordinary shares are entitled to 10 votes for
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each such share held, on all matters submitted to a vote of Liberty Global shareholders at any general meeting (annual or special).
Holders of Liberty Global Class C ordinary shares are not entitled to any voting powers except as required by law.

At the option of the holder, each Liberty Global Class B ordinary share is convertible into one Liberty Global Class A ordinary
share. One Liberty Global Class A ordinary share is reserved for issuance for each Liberty Global Class B ordinary share that is
issued (11,099,593 shares issued as of December 31, 2018). Additionally, at December 31, 2018, we have reserved the following
ordinary shares for the issuance of outstanding share-based compensation awards.

Liberty Global Shares (a)

Class A Class C
OPLIONIS ..veeneteeiiieetieetteste et e st e et e estteebeesatesebeesseaesseessaeasseesseesnseenseessseenseessseensaennseenseeansesnseessseenseensss 580,254 2,667,506
SARS ettt ettt et e b et et e h e bt e bt s a bt e bt e s et e e bt e eabe e beesabeebee s 15,308,562 34,401,980
PSUS, PGUS anNd RSUS.......oooiiiiiiiiiieiiceeie ettt ettt te b te s e eteesseesaeseesaesseessesaeesseseas 3,487,018 6,976,788

(a)  Includes share-based compensation awards held by former employees of Liberty Global that became employees of Liberty
Latin America as a result of the Split-off Transaction. For additional information, see note 14.

Subject to any preferential rights of any outstanding class of our preference shares, the holders of our ordinary shares are
entitled to dividends as may be declared from time to time by our board of directors from funds available therefore. Except with
respect to share distributions, whenever a dividend is paid in cash to the holder of one class of our ordinary shares, we shall also
pay to the holders of the other classes of our ordinary shares an equal per share dividend. There are currently no contractual
restrictions on our ability to pay dividends in cash or shares.

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution and winding up, after payment or provision for payment of our debts and liabilities
and subject to the prior payment in full of any preferential amounts to which our preference shareholders, if any, may be entitled,
the holders of our ordinary shares will be entitled to receive their proportionate interests, expressed in liquidation units, in any
assets available for distribution to our ordinary shares.

A summary of the changes in our share capital during 2017 is set forth in the table below:

Liberty Global Shares LiLAC Shares (a)

ClassA ClassB Class C Total ClassA ClassB Class C Total
in millions

Balance at January 1, 2017 ....cccccccevevirenennnn 2.5 0.1 6.3 8.9 0.5 — 1.2 1.7
Impact of the Split-off Transaction .............. — — — — (0.5) — (1.2) 1.7)
Repurchase and cancellation of Liberty

Global Shares..........cccccovevrvruerererninenns (0.3) — (0.5) (0.3) — — — —

Balance at December 31, 2017 .....ccovevenne.... $ 22 % 01 $ 58 % 81 §$ — $ — § § —

(a)  In connection with the Split-off Transaction, the LILAC Shares were redesignated as deferred shares (with virtually no
economic rights), transferred to a third party and cancelled. For additional information regarding the Split-off Transaction,
see note 6.

Share Repurchase Programs
As a U.K. incorporated company, we may only elect to repurchase shares or pay dividends to the extent of our “Distributable

Reserves.” Distributable Reserves, may be created through the earnings of the U.K. parent company and, among other methods,
through a reduction in share premium approved by the English Companies Court. Based on the amounts set forth in our parent
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company statement of equity, our Distributable Reserves were $20.7 billion as of December 31, 2018. For additional information,
see note 6 to our parent company financial statements.

Our board of directors has approved share repurchase programs for our Liberty Global Shares. In addition, from November
2016 through the completion of the Split-off Transaction, we were authorized to repurchase our LILAC Shares. Under these plans,
we receive authorization to acquire up to the specified amount (before direct acquisition costs) of Class A and Class C Liberty
Global Shares or LiLAC Shares, or other authorized securities, from time to time through open market or privately negotiated
transactions, which may include derivative transactions. The timing of the repurchase of shares or other securities pursuant to our
equity repurchase programs, which may be suspended or discontinued at any time, is dependent on a variety of factors, including
market conditions. In July 2018, our board of directors authorized an additional $500.0 million of share repurchases through July
2019. As of December 31, 2018, the remaining amount authorized for share repurchases was $566.2 million.

The following table provides details of our share repurchases during 2018 and 2017:

Class A ordinary shares Class C ordinary shares
Average price Average price
Shares paid per Shares paid per
repurchased share (a) repurchased share (a) Total cost (a)
in millions
Liberty Global Shares:
2018 e 15,649,900 $ 29.67 54,211,059 § 2851 § 2,010.0
2007 e 34,881,510 § 33.73 52,523,651 § 3271 § 2,894.7
LiLAC Shares:
2007 e 2,062,233 § 22.84 285,572 § 2225 § 53.5

(a)  Includes direct acquisition costs, where applicable.
Subsidiary Distributions

From time to time, Telenet and certain other of our subsidiaries make cash distributions to their respective shareholders. Our
share of these distributions is eliminated in consolidation and the noncontrolling interest owners’ share of these distributions is
reflected as a charge against noncontrolling interests in our consolidated statements of equity. In this regard, in August 2018,
Telenet declared a €600.0 million dividend to its shareholders. Our share of this dividend, which was financed with additional
borrowings under the Telenet Credit Facility and paid on October 4, 2018, was €351.6 million ($404.8 million at the payment
date).

Restricted Net Assets
The ability of certain of our subsidiaries to distribute or loan all or a portion of their net assets to our company is limited by
the terms of applicable debt facilities. At December 31, 2018, substantially all of our net assets represented net assets of our
subsidiaries that were subject to such limitations.
Nature and Purpose of Reserves
Merger Reserve
The merger reserve includes the premium on shares issued in connection with certain acquisitions and the premium on shares

distributed in connection with the Split-off Transaction. See notes 5 and 6 for further information acquisitions and the Split-off
Transaction, respectively.
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Capital Redemption Reserve
The capital redemption reserve comprises the nominal value of our cumulative purchased and cancelled shares.
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

Other Reserves

Other reserves are primarily used to record the effective portion of changes in the fair value of our cash flow hedges and the
subsequent reclassification into our consolidated statement of profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects earnings.

14) Share-based Compensation

Our share-based compensation expense primarily relates to the share-based incentive awards issued by Liberty Global to its
employees and employees of its subsidiaries. A summary of our aggregate share-based compensation expense that is included in
our cost of services and G&A expenses is set forth below:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Liberty Global:
Performance-based incentive aWards (8)..........cceevieerieiiierieesiiesieeeie et e ere e seveesteesereesreesveeree e $ 50.8 $ 23.9
Non-performance based share-based incentive awards ...........c.cccevieierieieneeieneeeeceeeee e 90.0 110.0
ONET (D) 11ttt ettt ettt ettt et e et e eseeseebeebeese b enbessessessessessassesaeseaseesensene 43.4 13.7
Total LIDErty GlODaL..........ccvicuiiiieiiiiieiecieeteste ettt beesaeste e saeessesaaessesrsessessnans 184.2 147.6
Telenet share-based INCENtIVE AWATAS (C) ...veeveeruiiiiiieiiicieecte ettt et e e et sveeveesebeesreeeere e 19.6 20.7
ORI ..ttt ettt et sae et e e te e st e s te e b e etsesbeetsesbeesa e b e era e beerbeeheeseeeaeensesaeenbeereenseareens 2.1 10.1
TOLAL ...ttt ettt ettt bbbttt b st ab et bt bt e b te b ese b eseebeneebe st eae s ere s nenns $ 2059 $ 178.4

Included in:

COSE OF SEIVICES ...vvuvivirieiitieietist ettt ettt sttt ettt et eseeb e st ebese et est et e st et et et et esessesessessebeseesessesessesessereneas $ 44 3 52
G&A CXPLIISES ...eeeveeiieeiiieeiie et e stte et e sttt eteesttesteessbeesseessseesseeasseenseessseanseessseenseeasseensaenssesnseeansennseesns 201.5 173.2
TOLAL 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et s ettt st et et et et ete b ete et ete b eteebeseebessebessesesserenna $ 2059 $ 178.4

(a)  Includes share-based compensation expense related to (i) PSUs and (ii) through March 2017, the PGUs held by our Chief
Executive Officer.

(b)  Represents annual incentive compensation and defined contribution plan liabilities that have been or are expected to be
settled with Liberty Global ordinary shares. In the case of the annual incentive compensation, shares will be issued to senior
management and key employees pursuant to a shareholding incentive program that was implemented in the fourth quarter
0f2017. The shareholding incentive program allows these employees to elect to receive up to 100% of their annual incentive
compensation in ordinary shares of Liberty Global in lieu of cash.

(c)  Represents the share-based compensation expense associated with Telenet’s share-based incentive awards, which, at
December 31, 2018, included performance- and non-performance-based stock option awards with respect to 4,494,002

Telenet shares. These stock option awards had a weighted average exercise price of €42.50 ($48.67).

As of December 31, 2018, $246.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to our Liberty Global share-based
compensation awards is expected to be recognized by our company over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.1 years.
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The following table summarizes certain information related to the share-based incentive awards granted and exercised with
respect to Liberty Global ordinary shares (includes amounts related to awards held by employees of our discontinued operations,
unless otherwise noted):

Year ended December 31,

2018 2017

Assumptions used to estimate fair value of options and SARs granted:

RISK-TTEE INTETESE TALE .....vetieiiitieieeiieie ettt ettt ettt et et et esseentesreeeesneeseennens 2.68-292% 1.66-2.16%

EXPEOLEA TR ...ttt sttt ea s 3.0-42years 3.0-6.4years

EXPECted VOLALIIIEY ...cueeueeiieiieiiriieiiriiitiet ettt ettt 30.2-33.6% 25.9-37.9%

Expected dividend Yield........c.cocoveoniiiriiiniiieiiieicncnetne ettt none none
Weighted average grant-date fair value per share of awards granted:

OPLIOTIS .ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e st e st e st eh e e bt e bt sb e b e bt st et et et et e st ent et ebeebe bt ebeebes $ 899 $ 9.40

SRS ettt et e e e et e e ettt e e —ee et eee ettt e et ae e bt eeatreeenraeeasreeeantaeennns $ 792 §$ 8.60

RISUS ettt s e et e et e et e s b e e bt e st e e bt e snte e baeenbe e beeebeeteeans $ 2872 §$ 31.24

PO S ettt e et e e bt e e ettt e e abee e nbaeeeteeeanreeeannaeeanraeenn $ 2360 $ 26.59
Total intrinsic value of awards exercised (in millions):

L5 5101 3T PRSPPI $ 38 $ 134

SARS ettt etttk ettt a ettt ettt $ 225 % 74.8
Cash received from exercise of options (in MillioNS).........ccoeeererieiienierinieeeee e $ 57 $ 11.7
Income tax benefit related to share-based compensation of our continuing operations (in

TNIITIONS) 1ottt b bbbttt sttt ettt et et eb bbb nes $ 18.6 $ 9.8

Share Incentive Plans — Liberty Global Ordinary Shares
Incentive Plans

As of December 31, 2018, we are authorized to grant incentive awards under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan and the
Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan. Generally, we may grant non-qualified share options, SARs, restricted
shares, RSUs, cash awards, performance awards or any combination of the foregoing under either of these incentive plans
(collectively, awards). Ordinary shares issuable pursuant to awards made under these incentive plans will be made available from
either authorized but unissued shares or shares that have been issued but reacquired by our company. Awards may be granted at
or above fair value in any class of ordinary shares. The maximum number of Liberty Global ordinary shares with respect to which
awards may be issued under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive
Plan is 105 million (of which no more than 50.25 million shares may consist of Class B ordinary shares) and 10.5 million,
respectively, in each case, subject to anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions in the respective plan. As of December 31,2018,
the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan had 46,220,904 and
9,108,222 ordinary shares available for grant, respectively.

Awards (other than performance-based awards) under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan generally (i) vest 12.5% on the
six month anniversary of the grant date and then vest at a rate of 6.25% each quarter thereafter and (ii) expire seven years after
the grant date. Awards (other than RSUs) issued under the Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan generally
vest in three equal annual installments, provided the director continues to serve as director immediately prior to the vesting date,
and expire seven years after the grant date. RSUs vest on the date of the first annual general meeting of shareholders following
the grant date. These awards may be granted at or above fair value in any class of ordinary shares.

Performance Awards

The following is a summary of the material terms and conditions with respect to our performance-based awards for certain
executive officers and key employees.
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Liberty Global PSUs

In March 2015, our compensation committee approved the grant of PSUs to executive officers and key employees (the 2015
PSUs). The performance plan for the 2015 PSUs covered a two-year period that ended on December 31, 2016 and included a
performance target based on the achievement of a specified compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in a consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA metric (as defined in note 18). The performance target was adjusted for events such as acquisitions, dispositions and
changes in foreign currency exchange rates that affect comparability (Adjusted EBITDA CAGR), and the participant’s annual
performance ratings during the two-year performance period. Participants earned 99.5% of their targeted awards under the 2015
PSUs, which vested 50% on each of April 1 and October 1 of 2017.

In February 2016, our compensation committee approved the grant of PSUs to executive officers and key employees (the
2016 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the achievement of a specified Adjusted EBITDA CAGR during the
three-year period ending December 31, 2018. The 2016 PSUs, as adjusted through the 2017 Award Modification, require delivery
of compound annual growth rates of consolidated Adjusted EBITDA CAGR of 6.0% during the three-year performance period
for Liberty Global or Liberty Latin America depending on the respective class of shares underlying the award, with over- and
under-performance payout opportunities should the Adjusted EBITDA CAGR exceed or fail to meet the target, as applicable. The
performance payout may be adjusted at the compensation committee’s discretion for events that may affect comparability, such
as changes in foreign currency exchange rates and accounting principles or policies. The 2016 PSUs will vest 50% on each of
April 1,2019 and October 1, 2019.

During 2018, the compensation committee of our board of directors approved the grant of PSUs to executive officers and key
employees (the 2018 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the achievement of a specified Adjusted EBITDA
CAGR during the two-year period ending December 31, 2019. The 2018 PSUs include over- and under-performance payout
opportunities should the Adjusted EBITDA CAGR exceed or fail to meet the target, as applicable. A performance range of 50%
to 125% of the target Adjusted EBITDA CAGR will generally result in award recipients earning 50% to 150% of their target 2018
PSUs, subject to reduction or forfeiture based on individual performance. The earned 2018 PSUs will vest 50% on April 1, 2020
and 50% on October 1, 2020. The target Adjusted EBITDA CAGR for the 2018 PSUs was determined on October 26, 2018 and,
accordingly, associated compensation expense has been recognized prospectively from that date.

Liberty Global Performance Grant Award

Effective April 30,2014, our compensation committee authorized the grant of PGUs to our Chief Executive Officer, comprising
a total of one million PGUs with respect to our then outstanding Liberty Global Class A ordinary shares and one million PGUs
with respect to our then outstanding Liberty Global Class B ordinary shares. The PGUs, which were subject to a performance
condition that was achieved in 2014, vested in three equal annual installments beginning on March 15, 2015. Our Chief Executive
Officer also received 41,589 PGUs with respect to each Class A and Class B LiLAC Shares as a result of the LiLLAC Distribution
in 2016 and 33,333 PGUs with respect to each Class A and Class B LiLAC Shares as a result of the impact of the July 1, 2015
distribution of LiLAC Shares in 2015. As of March 31, 2017, all PGUs were fully vested.
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Share-based Award Activity — Liberty Global Ordinary Shares

The following tables summarize the share-based award activity during 2018 with respect to awards issued by Liberty Global:

Weighted
average
Weighted remaining  Aggregate
Number of average contractual  intrinsic
Options — Class A ordinary shares awards exercise price term value
in years in millions
Outstanding at January 1, 2018......c..cccceoiiininiinininineneneeeneneeen 580,481 $ 25.54
Granted .......ooeeieiieieeiee ettt s reens 71,469 $ 30.14
FOIfRIted .....vvievieieiieieicieiciceetcteeee ettt (1,713) § 22.43
EXETCISEA ...ttt (69,983) $ 13.97
Outstanding at December 31, 2018.........cccccoeiririnininininieeneneenee 580,254 $ 27.51 3.7 $ 14
Exercisable at December 31, 2018.......cccccvevieiecieieieiiecieceieeie e 417,608 $ 26.26 2.9 $ 1.4
Weighted
average
Weighted remaining  Aggregate
Number of average contractual  intrinsic
Options — Class C ordinary shares awards exercise price term value
in years in millions
Outstanding at January 1, 2018......cc.cccccieiiirninininineneeceeneneeen 2,725,566  § 25.58
Granted .......covevieiieieeieeeese ettt s enaereens 770,691 $ 24.82
FOIfRIted ......vvveveiiieieieieicicieieetctceeeete ettt (591,662) $ 30.07
EXETCISEA ...ttt (237,089) $ 17.49
Outstanding at December 31, 2018..........ccooiiiiiiniinieineeeee 2,667,506 § 25.09 2.9 $ 3.9
Exercisable at December 31, 2018......cccceiveinieirieirereeeeeee 2,161,408 $ 24.16 2.3 $ 39
Weighted
average
Weighted remaining  Aggregate
Number of average contractual intrinsic
SARs — Class A ordinary shares awards base price term value
in years in millions
Outstanding at January 1, 2018 .......cccooeriireioinreeeeeeeeeees 13,524,075 $ 32.72
GIANLEA ...ttt 3,286,731 $ 29.81
FOTTRILEA .ottt (898,390) $ 34.77
EXETCISEA ...ttt (603,854) $ 21.75
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 .......c.ccocvvivievirieirieirieerieieieeeenne 15,308,562 $ 32.41 3.7 $ 0.7
Exercisable at December 31, 2018 ......ccooeiviiieeiieiieeieeecieicne 9,837,206 $ 32.38 2.7 $ 0.7
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Weighted
average
Weighted remaining  Aggregate
Number of average contractual  intrinsic
SARs — Class C ordinary shares awards base price term value
in years in millions
Outstanding at January 1, 2018......cccceiieiiiieieininienenceere e 31,305,136 § 30.60
Granted .......ooeeieiieee e e 6,573,462 $ 28.86
FOITEIted ..ottt (1,797,629) $ 33.54
EXEICISEA ...t (1,678,989) § 20.35
Outstanding at December 31, 2018........ccccoveireireireireieeeeene 34,401,980 $ 30.61 3.5 $ 2.2
Exercisable at December 31, 2018........cccceiiiiiiieiieeeeeeee 23,452,476 $ 30.21 2.4 $ 2.2
Weighted Weighted
average average
grant-date remaining
Number of fair value contractual
RSUs — Class A ordinary shares awards per share term
in years
Outstanding at January 1, 2018 .......ccooiiiririneneneeeeeeeees e 511,061 $ 35.81
GIANEEA ..o e e e e e e e e e e e s e e e e eeeeeaeeeeenans 370,355 $ 29.36
FOITItEA ...ttt (59,319) § 35.04
Released fTOm FESIIICTIONS .....eeee et e e e e e e e e e e ae e e e e eeneeeeeeees (239,723) $ 35.66
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 .......cccoiiriiiriniieieieeeeeeee e 582,374 $ 31.85 24
Weighted Weighted
average average
grant-date remaining
Number of fair value contractual
RSUs — Class C ordinary shares awards per share term
in years
Outstanding at January 1, 2018 .......ccccociiirinineniiiiceeeeeeeeese e 1,007,313 $ 34.60
GTANLEA ...ttt ettt ettt be st eb e bbbt ne s 740,710 $ 28.40
FOTTEIEEM ..o e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et eeeseeeeeeeeseaesaeee (118,764) $ 28.17
Released from restrictions..........ccocvuiuciiiiiiiiiiiiicccc e (466,908) § 35.33
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 ........coooiiiiiieiieieeeeee e 1,162,351 $ 31.02 2.4
Weighted Weighted
average average
grant-date remaining
Number of fair value contractual
PSUs and PGUs — Class A ordinary shares awards per share term
in years
Outstanding at January 1, 2018 .......ccooiiiririneneieeieeeeeeees e 1,934,795 § 31.00
(5 01T USRS 1,177,392 $ 24.01
FOITEItEA ...ttt (206,110) $ 30.20
Released from reStriCtions.............coviuiiiuiiiinieiicicceeeeee e (1,433) $ 37.45
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 .......cccoviriiiirinieieeieee e 2,904,644 § 28.22 1.2
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Weighted Weighted
average average
grant-date remaining
Number of fair value contractual
PSUs — Class C ordinary shares awards per share term
in years
Outstanding at January 1, 2018 .......cccooiiirinineneieeieeeece e 3,875,732 $ 30.01
L5 01T RSP R 2,354,784 $ 23.39
FOTTRILEA ...ttt (413,213) § 29.21
Released from reStrictions. ............coviuiieuiiiinieiiciccece e (2,866) $ 36.32
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 .......cccoviiiiininieieieeeeceeeee e 5,814,437 $ 27.39 1.2

Share-based Award Activity — Liberty Global Ordinary Shares Held by Former Liberty Global Employees

The following tables summarize the share-based awards issued by Liberty Global held by former employees of the company
that became employees of Liberty Latin America as a result of the Split-off Transaction. We do not recognize share-based
compensation expense with respect to these awards.

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average remaining  Aggregate
Number of exercise or contractual  intrinsic
awards base price term value
Options and SARs:
Class A
OULSTANAING ..o 1,198,985 $ 32.74 2.9 $ 0.1
EXErCiSADIE....cuiveeiieiieieieieceee e 1,017,362 $ 32.26 2.6 $ 0.1
Class C
OULSEANAING ...ttt 2,819,203 3 30.54 2.7 $ 0.3
EXercisable......coovoiiiiiiieieiee e 2,455,257 $ 29.98 2.4 $ 0.3
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
grant date remaining
Number of  fair value per  contractual
awards share term
Outstanding RSUs and PSUs:
Class A
RISUS ettt sttt 9,426 § 36.73 1.4
PSS ettt sttt ettt ene 172,429 $ 30.29 0.8
Class C
RISUS ettt sttt ettt st e n et et ene 18,882 $ 36.44 1.4
PISUS ettt sttt sttt 345210 $ 29.32 0.8
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15) Debt and Finance Lease Obligations

Debt

The U.S. dollar equivalents of the components of our debt are as follows:

December 31, 2018
Unused borrowing
Weighted capacity (b) Principal amount
?lrferraegs(te Borrowing US. $ December 31,
rate (a) currency equivalent 2018 2017
in millions
Continuing operations:
VM Senior Secured NOTES .....c..oeoveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens 5.40% — 3 — $ 62683 $ 6,565.6
VM Credit Faciliti€s (C) ...ccovvververieierieieneeiesieeiesieeienieens 4.72% (d) 860.3 4,600.5 4,676.2
VM Senior NOLES. ....c.couiruiririiriinierieieieieeeeieeie e 5.54% — — 1,999.9 3,000.1
Telenet Credit Facility.........ccoocvveivieniiieecieeeeeeies 3.76% (e) 509.6 3,145.7 2,177.6
Telenet Senior Secured NOLES..........ooevvviiievieeiiiieeeiee e 4.69% — — 1,687.1 1,721.3
Telenet SPE NOLES......co.coveririneneniiieiceeceeenceeeese e 4.88% — — 546.2 937.7
UPCB SPE NOtES (f) -eveeverveieenienieiieieieeeeeeeeie e 4.54% — — 2,445.5 2,582.6
UPC Holding Bank Facility () ......cccoovvveririienieieieiees 4.96% €  990.1 1,133.9 1,645.0 2,576.1
UPC Holding Senior Notes (f) ......ccccocvveeviiieeneeieiieieneens 4.59% — — 1,215.5 1,313.4
Vendor financing (€).......ecereeeeeereereererieeneeeeseeieseeeveneeens 4.18% — — 3,620.3 3,593.1
ITV Collar Loan ..........ceceviiirenenieeeeececeeee e 0.90% — — 1,379.6 1,463.8
Derivative-related debt instruments (h)...........cccocvevveienns 3.37% — — 301.9 361.5
Sumitomo Share Loan (1) ........cccoevveveeeieviineeieceeie e — — — — 621.7
Sumitomo Collar Loan .........c.ccceceveirininininncnencnenene — — — — 169.1
OhET () wenveneeneeeeie ettt 5.27% — — 459.8 418.2
Total — continuing operations...........cceecvevvereereervernennnnn 4.56% 2,503.8 29,315.3 32,178.0
Discontinued operations:
Unitymedia NOtes........ccoieveevieieiiieieceeeeeereee e — — — — 5,465.2
Unitymedia Credit Facilities ..........ccccceeervevvereecienieieinnns — — — — 2,696.8
Vendor fiNancing..........c.ceeeeeereeiiieeeiie et — — — — 446.6
Derivative-related debt instruments (h)............ccccvevveiennns — — — — 231.0
Total — discontinued operations ..............ccoceeeeveereenennen. — — — 8,839.6
Total debt before deferred financing costs, discounts,
premiums and accrued interest (K)..........ccceeveennnnn. 4.56%
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The following table provides a reconciliation of total debt before deferred financing costs, discounts, premiums and accrued

interest to total debt and finance lease obligations:

December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Total debt before deferred financing costs, discounts, premiums and accrued interest..................... $ 29,3153 $ 41,017.6
Deferred financing costs, discounts, premiums and accrued interest, Net............ccoeeeveereeveireeneenenns 274.6 292.0
Total carrying amount Of Dt .........c.cceeviiiiiriiiiiiceeeeee ettt e e sra e 29,589.9 41,309.6
Finance 1ease Obliations (1).........ccieieviiiiiiiiiieiiciccie ettt ettt ettt e aeeeveeaeeete et e teessesbeenseereens 621.3 708.5
Total debt and finance 1ease ODlIZAtIONS .........cc.cocveriiiieriiiieiieiere ettt see e see e 30,211.2 42,018.1
Current maturities of debt and finance lease obligations ............c.cccvevvieieviieeecieiececeecre e (4,021.2) (4,647.0)
Non-current debt and finance lease ObliGAtIONS ............cceevveieieieiiiiricieciect ettt $ 26,190.0 $§ 37,371.1
(a)  Represents the weighted average interest rate in effect at December 31, 2018 for all borrowings outstanding pursuant to

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

each debt instrument, including any applicable margin. The interest rates presented represent stated rates and do not include
the impact of derivative instruments, deferred financing costs, original issue premiums or discounts and commitment fees,
all of which affect our overall cost of borrowing. Including the effects of derivative instruments, original issue premiums
or discounts and commitment fees, but excluding the impact of deferred financing costs, our weighted average interest rate
on our aggregate variable- and fixed-rate indebtedness was 4.31% at December 31, 2018. For information regarding our
derivative instruments, see note 9.

Unused borrowing capacity represents the maximum availability under the applicable facility at December 31, 2018 without
regard to covenant compliance calculations or other conditions precedent to borrowing. At December 31, 2018, based on
the mostrestrictive applicable leverage covenants, the full amount of unused borrowing capacity was available to be borrowed
under each of the respective subsidiary facilities, and based on the most restrictive applicable leverage-based restricted
payment tests, there were no restrictions on the respective subsidiary's ability to make loans or distributions from this
availability to Liberty Global or its subsidiaries or other equity holders. Upon completion of the relevant December 31,
2018 compliance reporting requirements, we expect that the full amount of unused borrowing capacity will continue to be
available and that there will be no restrictions with respect to loans or distributions. Our above expectations do not consider
any actual or potential changes to our borrowing levels or any amounts loaned or distributed subsequent to December 31,
2018.

Amounts include £41.9 million ($53.4 million) and £43.6 million ($55.6 million) at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, of borrowings pursuant to excess cash facilities under the VM Credit Facilities. These borrowings are owed
to certain non-consolidated special purpose financing entities that have issued notes to finance the purchase of receivables
due from Virgin Media to certain other third parties for amounts that Virgin Media and its subsidiaries have vendor financed.
To the extent that the proceeds from these notes exceed the amount of vendor financed receivables available to be purchased,
the excess proceeds are used to fund these excess cash facilities.

Unused borrowing capacity under the VM Credit Facilities relates to multi-currency revolving facilities with an aggregate
maximum borrowing capacity equivalent to £675.0 million ($860.3 million). During 2018, the VM Revolving Facility was
amended and split into two revolving facilities. As of December 31, 2018, VM Revolving Facility A was a multi-currency
revolving facility maturing on December 31, 2021 with a maximum borrowing capacity equivalent to £50.0 million ($63.7
million), and VM Revolving Facility B was a multi-currency revolving facility maturing on January 15, 2024 with amaximum
borrowing capacity equivalentto £625.0 million ($796.6 million). All other terms from the previously existing VM Revolving
Facility continue to apply to the new revolving facilities.

Unused borrowing capacity under the Telenet Credit Facility comprises (i) €400.0 million ($458.1 million) under Telenet

Facility AG, (ii) €25.0 million ($28.6 million) under the Telenet Overdraft Facility and (iii) €20.0 million ($22.9 million)
under the Telenet Revolving Facility, each of which were undrawn at December 31, 2018.
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Subsequent to December 31, 2018, we entered into an agreement to sell our operations in Switzerland. For information
regarding the potential impact on the outstanding debt of the UPC Holding borrowing group, see note 28.

Represents amounts owed pursuant to interest-bearing vendor financing arrangements that are used to finance certain of
our property and equipment additions and, to a lesser extent, certain of our operating expenses. These obligations are
generally due within one year and include VAT that was paid on our behalf by the vendor. Our operating expenses for 2018
and 2017 include $1,653.1 million and $1,192.5 million, respectively, that were financed by an intermediary and are reflected
as a hypothetical cash outflow within net cash provided by operating activities and a hypothetical cash inflow within net
cash used by financing activities in our consolidated statements of cash flows. During 2018 and 2017, aggregate payments
of $1,372.3 million and $668.8 million, respectively, were made under operating-related vendor financing arrangements.
In addition, during 2018 and 2017, aggregate payments of $2,319.7 million and $1,726.3 million, respectively, were made
under capital-related vendor financing arrangements. Repayments of vendor financing obligations are included in
repayments and repurchases of debt and finance lease obligations in our consolidated statements of cash flows.

Represents amounts associated with certain derivative-related borrowing instruments, including $248.6 million and $344.0
million at December 31,2018 and 2017, respectively, carried at fair value. These instruments mature at various dates through
January 2025. For information regarding fair value hierarchies, see note 10.

In August 2018, we settled the outstanding amount under the Sumitomo Share Loan with the remaining shares of Sumitomo
that were held by our company.

Amounts include $225.9 million and $160.9 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, of debt collateralized
by certain trade receivables of Virgin Media.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our debt had an estimated fair value of $28.5 billion and $41.9 billion, respectively.
The estimated fair values of our debt instruments are generally determined using the average of applicable bid and ask prices
(mostly Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy) or, when quoted market prices are unavailable or not considered indicative of
fair value, discounted cash flow models (mostly Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy). The discount rates used in the cash
flow models are based on the market interest rates and estimated credit spreads of the applicable entity, to the extent available,
and other relevant factors. For additional information regarding fair value hierarchies, see note 10.

The U.S. dollar equivalents of our consolidated finance lease obligations are as follows:

December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Continuing operations:

TEIENEE (1) 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt e et ae et ae et eae et e e et e s et e s ete s ete s eannns $ 4752 $ 456.1
VAIZIN MEAIA ..ottt ettt e et e e ene e seenseeseensesneensenneen 69.1 79.1
UPC HOLQING ...ttt ettt sttt sttt ettt et ete s esessesessesessesessenesseneas 29.9 35.9
Other SUDSIAIATIES....c..eiuertieteiertitetetet ettt sttt ettt ettt eb st et 47.1 67.2
Total — CONtINUING OPETATIONS.........cevviivieriirieieeetesteeetesteeetesteesesreesesreessesreesseeseessesseessessnes 621.3 638.3
DiScontinuUed OPETALIONS ......cc.eeruereieiieiieiieienteeiesee et ete st eaesreesesseensesseensesseenseeneenseennenseenes — 70.2
TOTAL ..ttt ettt ettt sttt sttt et s ettt ettt et et et ere st e eseneebeneeseneas $ 6213 § 708.5

(1) At December 31, 2018 and 2017, Telenet’s finance lease obligations included €390.6 million ($447.3 million) and
€361.8 million ($414.3 million), respectively, associated with Telenet’s lease of the broadband communications
network of the four associations of municipalities in Belgium, which we refer to as the pure intercommunalues or
the “PICs.” All capital expenditures associated with the PICs network are initiated by Telenet, but are executed and
financed by the PICs through additions to this lease that are repaid over a 15-year term. These amounts do not include
Telenet’s commitment related to certain operating costs associated with the PICs network. For additional information
regarding this commitment, see note 20.
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General Information

At December 31, 2018, most of our outstanding debt had been incurred by one of our three subsidiary "borrowing groups."
References to these borrowing groups, which comprise Virgin Media, UPC Holding and Telenet, include their respective restricted
parent and subsidiary entities.

Credit Facilities. Each of our borrowing groups has entered into one or more credit facility agreements with certain financial
institutions. Each of these credit facilities contain certain covenants, the more notable of which are as follows:

*  Our credit facilities contain certain consolidated net leverage ratios, as specified in the relevant credit facility, which are
required to be complied with (i) on an incurrence basis and/or (ii) when the associated revolving credit facilities have
been drawn beyond a specified percentage of the total available revolving credit commitments, on a maintenance basis;

*  Subject to certain customary and agreed exceptions, our credit facilities contain certain restrictions which, among other
things, restrict the ability of the members of the relevant borrowing group to (i) incur or guarantee certain financial
indebtedness, (ii) make certain disposals and acquisitions, (iii) create certain security interests over their assets and (iv)
make certain restricted payments to their direct and/or indirect parent companies (and indirectly to Liberty Global) through
dividends, loans or other distributions;

*  Our credit facilities require that certain members of the relevant borrowing group guarantee the payment of all sums
payable under the relevant credit facility and such group members are required to grant first-ranking security over their
shares or, in certain borrowing groups, over substantially all of their assets to secure the payment of all sums payable
thereunder;

* In addition to certain mandatory prepayment events, our credit facilities provide that the instructing group of lenders
under the relevant credit facility, under certain circumstances, may cancel the group’s commitments thereunder and declare
the loan(s) thereunder due and payable after the applicable notice period following the occurrence of a change of control
(as specified in the relevant credit facility);

*  Our credit facilities contain certain customary events of default, the occurrence of which, subject to certain exceptions,
materiality qualifications and cure rights, would allow the instructing group of lenders to (i) cancel the total commitments,
(ii) declare that all or part of the loans be payable on demand and/or (iii) accelerate all outstanding loans and terminate
their commitments thereunder;

e Our credit facilities require members of the relevant borrowing group to observe certain affirmative and negative
undertakings and covenants, which are subject to certain materiality qualifications and other customary and agreed
exceptions; and

* In addition to customary default provisions, our credit facilities generally include certain cross-default and cross-
acceleration provisions with respect to other indebtedness of members of the relevant borrowing group, subject to agreed
minimum thresholds and other customary and agreed exceptions.

Senior and Senior Secured Notes. Certain of our borrowing groups have issued senior and/or senior secured notes. In general,
our senior and senior secured notes (i) are senior obligations of each respective issuer within the relevant borrowing group that
rank equally with all of the existing and future senior debt of such issuer and are senior to all existing and future subordinated debt
of such issuer within the relevant borrowing group, (ii) contain, in most instances, certain guarantees from other members of the
relevant borrowing group (as specified in the applicable indenture) and (iii) with respect to our senior secured notes, are secured
by certain pledges or liens over the assets and/or shares of certain members of the relevant borrowing group. In addition, the
indentures governing our senior and senior secured notes contain certain covenants, the more notable of which are as follows:

*  Our notes contain certain customary incurrence-based covenants. In addition, our notes provide that any failure to pay
principal prior to the expiration of any applicable grace period, or any acceleration with respect to other indebtedness of
the issuer or certain subsidiaries, over agreed minimum thresholds (as specified under the applicable indenture), is an
event of default under the respective notes;
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*  Subject to certain customary and agreed exceptions, our notes contain certain restrictions that, among other things, restrict
the ability of the members of the relevant borrowing group to (i) incur or guarantee certain financial indebtedness, (ii)
make certain disposals and acquisitions, (iii) create certain security interests over their assets and (iv) make certain
restricted payments to its direct and/or indirect parent companies (and indirectly to Liberty Global) through dividends,
loans or other distributions;

» Ifthe relevant issuer or certain of its subsidiaries (as specified in the applicable indenture) sell certain assets, such issuer
must, subject to certain customary and agreed exceptions, offer to repurchase the applicable notes at par, or if a change
of control (as specified in the applicable indenture) occurs, such issuer must offer to repurchase all of the relevant notes
at a redemption price of 101%;

*  Oursenior secured notes contain certain early redemption provisions including, for certain senior secured notes, the ability
to, during each 12-month period commencing on the issue date for such notes until the applicable call date, redeem up
to 10% of the principal amount of the notes at a redemption price equal to 103% of the principal amount of the notes to
be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest; and

*  Certain of our notes are non-callable. The remainder of our notes are non-callable prior to their respective call date (as
specified under the applicable indenture). At any time prior to the applicable call date, we may redeem some or all of the
applicable notes by paying a “make-whole” premium, which is the present value of all remaining scheduled interest
payments to the applicable call date using the discount rate as of the redemption date plus a premium (as specified in the
applicable indenture). After the applicable call date, we may redeem some or all of these notes at various redemption
prices plus accrued interest and additional amounts (as specified in the applicable indenture), if any, to the applicable
redemption date.

SPE Notes. From time to time, we create special purpose financing entities (SPEs), most of which are 100% owned by third
parties, for the primary purpose of facilitating the offering of senior and senior secured notes, which we collectively refer to as the
“SPE Notes.”

The SPEs used the proceeds from the issuance of SPE Notes to fund term loan facilities under the credit facilities made
available to their respective borrowing group (as further described below), each a “Funded Facility” and collectively the “Funded
Facilities.” Each SPE is dependent on payments from the relevant borrowing entity under the applicable Funded Facility in order
to service its payment obligations under each respective SPE Note. Each of the Funded Facility term loans creates a variable
interest in the respective SPE for which the relevant borrowing entity is the primary beneficiary and are consolidated by the relevant
parent entities, including Liberty Global. As a result, the amounts outstanding under the Funded Facilities are eliminated in the
respective borrowing group’s and Liberty Global’s consolidated financial statements. There are no significant judgments or
assumptions associated with the SPEs. At December 31, 2018, we had outstanding SPE Notes issued by entities consolidated by
(1) UPC Holding, collectively the “UPCB SPEs” and (ii) Telenet, collectively the “Telenet SPEs”.

Pursuant to the respective indentures for the SPE Notes (the SPE Indentures) and the respective accession agreements for
the Funded Facilities, the call provisions, maturity and applicable interest rate for each Funded Facility are the same as those of
the related SPE Notes. The SPEs, as lenders under the relevant Funded Facility for the relevant borrowing group, are treated the
same as the other lenders under the respective credit facility, with benefits, rights and protections similar to those afforded to the
other lenders. Through the covenants in the applicable SPE Indentures and the applicable security interests over (i) all of the issued
shares of the relevant SPE and (ii) the relevant SPE’s rights under the applicable Funded Facility granted to secure the relevant
SPE’s obligations under the relevant SPE Notes, the holders of the SPE Notes are provided indirectly with the benefits, rights,
protections and covenants granted to the SPEs as lenders under the applicable Funded Facility. The SPEs are prohibited from
incurring any additional indebtedness, subject to certain exceptions under the SPE Indentures.

The SPE Notes are non-callable prior to their respective call date (as specified under the applicable SPE Indenture). If, however,
at any time prior to the applicable SPE Notes call date, all or a portion of the loans under the related Funded Facility are voluntarily
prepaid (a SPE Early Redemption Event), then the SPE will be required to redeem an aggregate principal amount of its respective
SPE Notes equal to the aggregate principal amount of the loans prepaid under the relevant Funded Facility. In general, the redemption
price payable will equal 100% of the principal amount of the applicable SPE Notes to be redeemed and a “make-whole” premium,
which is the present value of all remaining scheduled interest payments to the applicable SPE Notes call date using the discount
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rate (as specified in the applicable SPE Indenture) as of the redemption date plus a premium (as specified in the applicable SPE
Indenture).

Upon the occurrence of a SPE Early Redemption Event on or after the applicable SPE Notes call date, the SPE will redeem
an aggregate principal amount of its respective SPE Notes equal to the principal amount of the related Funded Facility prepaid at
a redemption price (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount), plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts
(as specified in the applicable SPE Indenture), if any, to the applicable redemption date.

Virgin Media - 2018 Financing Transactions

In August 2018, Virgin Media redeemed (i) $190.0 million of the $530.0 million outstanding principal amount of the 6.375%
2023 VM Dollar Senior Notes and (ii) in full the £250.0 million ($318.6 million) outstanding principal amount of the 7.0% 2023
VM Sterling Senior Notes. These transactions were funded with a portion of the proceeds received by another Liberty Global
subsidiary in connection with the sale of UPC Austria, as described in note 6. In October 2018, we used existing cash to redeem
in full the $340.0 million outstanding principal amount of the 6.375% 2023 VM Dollar Senior Notes. In connection with these
transactions, Virgin Media recognized a loss on debt modification and extinguishment of $36.4 million related to (a) the payment
of $28.2 million of redemption premiums and (b) the write-off of $8.2 million of unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts.

Virgin Media - 2017 Financing Transactions

During 2017, Virgin Media completed a number of financing transactions that generally resulted in lower interest rates and
extended maturities. In connection with these transactions, Virgin Media recognized a loss on debt modification and extinguishment
of $67.5 million. This loss includes (i) the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts of $40.6 million, (ii)
the payment of redemption premiums of $32.6 million, (iii) the write-off of $7.0 million of unamortized premiums and (iv) the
payment of third-party costs of $1.3 million.

UPC Holding - 2018 Financing Transactions

In August 2018, UPC Holding (i) repaid $330.0 million of the $1,975.0 million outstanding principal amount under UPC
Facility AR, which matures on January 15, 2026, bears interest at a rate of LIBOR + 2.50% and is subject to a LIBOR floor of
0.0%, (ii) repaid in full the €500.0 million ($572.6 million) outstanding principal amount under UPC Facility AS, which bore
interest at a rate of EURIBOR + 2.75%, and (iii) redeemed €60.0 million ($68.7 million) of the €600.0 million ($687.1 million)
outstanding principal amount under UPC Facility AK, which matures on January 15, 2027 and bears interest at a rate of 4.0%,
together with accrued and unpaid interest and the related prepayment premiums, which was owed to UPCB Finance 1V and, in
turn, UPCB Finance IV used such proceeds to redeem €60.0 million of the €600.0 million outstanding principal amount of the
UPCB Finance IV Euro Notes, whose terms are consistent with UPC Facility AK. These transactions were funded with a portion
of the proceeds received by another Liberty Global subsidiary in connection with the sale of UPC Austria, as described in note 6.
In connection with these transactions, UPC Holding recognized a loss on debt modification and extinguishment of $8.9 million
related to (a) the write-off of $6.9 million of unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts and (b) the payment of $2.0
million of redemption premiums.

UPC Holding - 2017 Financing Transactions

During 2017, UPC Holding completed a number of financing transactions that generally resulted in lower interest rates and
extended maturities. In connection with these transactions, UPC Holding recognized a loss on debt modification and extinguishment
of $112.1 million. This loss includes (i) the payment of redemption premiums of $84.3 million and (ii) the write-off of unamortized
deferred financing costs and discounts of $27.8 million.

Telenet - 2018 Financing Transactions

In March 2018, Telenet used existing cash to prepay 10% of the €530.0 million ($607.0 million) outstanding principal amount
under Telenet Facility AB, which matures on July 15,2027 and bears interest at a rate of 4.875%, together with accrued and unpaid
interest and the related prepayment premiums, which was owed to Telenet Finance VI and, in turn, Telenet Finance VI used such
proceeds to redeem 10% of the €530.0 million outstanding principal amount of the Telenet Finance VI Notes, whose terms are
consistent with Telenet Facility AB. In connection with this transaction, Telenet recognized a loss on debt modification and
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extinguishment of $2.6 million related to (i) the payment of $2.0 million of redemption premiums and (ii) the write-off of $0.6
million of unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts.

In March 2018, commitments under Telenet Facility AL, which matures on March 1, 2026, bears interest at a rate of LIBOR
+2.50% and is subject to a LIBOR floor of 0.0%, were increased by $300.0 million (the Telenet Facility AL Add-on) with terms
consistent to those of Telenet Facility AL. In April 2018, Telenet drew the full $300.0 million of the Telenet Facility AL Add-on
and used the net proceeds, together with existing cash, to prepay in full the €250.0 million ($286.3 million) outstanding principal
amount under Telenet Facility V, which bore interest at a rate of 6.750%, together with accrued and unpaid interest and the related
prepayment premiums, which was owed to Telenet Finance V and, in turn, Telenet Finance V used such proceeds to redeem in full
the €250.0 million outstanding principal amount of the 6.750% Telenet Finance V Notes. In connection with this transaction,
Telenet recognized a loss on debt modification and extinguishment of $21.3 million related to (i) the payment of $17.3 million of
redemption premiums and (ii) the write-off of $4.0 million of unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts.

In May 2018, Telenet entered into (i) a $1,600.0 million term loan facility (Telenet Facility AN), which was issued at 99.875%
of par, matures on August 15, 2026, bears interest at a rate of LIBOR + 2.25% and is subject to a LIBOR floor of 0.0%, and (ii) a
€730.0 million ($836.0 million) term loan facility (Telenet Facility AO), which was issued at 99.875% of par, matures on December
15,2027, bears interest at a rate of EURIBOR + 2.50% and is subject to a EURIBOR floor of 0.0%. The net proceeds from Telenet
Facility AN and Telenet Facility AO, together with existing cash, were used to prepay in full (a) the $1,300.0 million outstanding
principal amount under Telenet Facility AL, (b) the $300.0 million outstanding principal amount under the Telenet Facility AL
Add-on and (c) the €730.0 million outstanding principal amount under Telenet Facility AM, which bore interest at a rate of
EURIBOR + 2.75%. In connection with these transactions, Telenet recognized a loss on debt modification and extinguishment of
$7.6 million related to the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts.

In August 2018, commitments under Telenet Facility AN and Telenet Facility AO were increased by $475.0 million (the
Telenet Facility AN Add-on) and €205.0 million ($234.8 million) (the Telenet Facility AO Add-on), respectively. The Telenet
Facility AN Add-on and the Telenet Facility AO Add-on were issued at 98.5% and 98.0% of par, respectively. All other terms of
the Telenet Facility AN Add-on and the Telenet Facility AO Add-on are consistent with those of Telenet Facility AN and Telenet
Facility AO, respectively. The Telenet Facility AN Add-on and the Telenet Facility AO Add-on were drawn in October 2018, and
the net proceeds were used to make an aggregate dividend payment to Telenet shareholders (including Liberty Global) of €600.0
million ($687.1 million).

Telenet - 2017 Financing Transactions
During 2017, Telenet completed a number of financing transactions that generally resulted in lower interest rates and extended
maturities. In connection with these transactions, Telenet recognized a loss on debt modification and extinguishment of $75.7

million. This loss includes (i) the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs and discounts of $54.2 million and (ii) the
payment of redemption premiums of $21.5 million.
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Maturities of Debt and Finance Lease Obligations

Maturities of our debt and finance lease obligations as of December 31, 2018 are presented below for the named entity and
its subsidiaries, unless otherwise noted. Amounts presented below represent U.S. dollar equivalents based on December 31, 2018
exchange rates:

Debt:
Virgin UPC
Media Holding (a)  Telenet (b) Other Total
in millions
Year ending December 31:
2009t $ 24542 $§ 5874 § 4409 S 550 § 3,537.5
20200ttt ettt ettt e eraens 15.7 24.3 16.9 212.9 269.8
2021 ittt st eraens 1,320.7 25.4 12.0 962.1 2,320.2
2022ttt ettt eraens 314.1 24.1 11.9 323.2 673.3
2023 ettt ae et sae b s aeenbenraens 75.3 21.3 12.1 — 108.7
THEreafter.....cvoiveeiieiicieeteeeeece e 11,629.4 5,306.0 5,470.4 — 22,405.8
Total debt MatUrIties ......c.ccvevvieeierieieieeiee e 15,809.4 5,988.5 5,964.2 1,553.2 29,315.3
Deferred financing costs, discounts, premiums and
accrued Interest, NEt..........ocvveveeeeiierieieeie e 214.0 49.4 28.1 (16.9) 274.6
Total debt.......eecveeieieeieieeee e $ 16,0234 $§ 6,0379 § 59923 § 11,5363 $ 29,589.9
CUITENt POTTION ...ttt et sbe e saeeenas W $ 6761 $ 5032 $ 574 m
NON-CUITENE POTLION ......veuieviieeireeiereeiereeeeteeeeteeerese e eeeseeas $ 13,317.1 $ 5361.8 $ 5489.1 $§ 14789 $ 25,646.9

(a)  Amounts include the UPCB SPE Notes issued by the UPCB SPEs. As described above, the UPCB SPEs are consolidated
by UPC Holding and Liberty Global.

(b)  Amounts include the Telenet SPE Notes issued by the Telenet SPEs. As described above, the Telenet SPEs are consolidated
by Telenet and Liberty Global.

Finance lease obligations:
Virgin UPC

Telenet Media Holding Other Total

in millions

Year ending December 31:

2009 $ 669 $ 123 § 49 $ 173 $ 101.4
2020ttt snen 82.3 9.3 6.1 9.6 107.3
2021 ettt ettt ere et eneenen 76.4 8.9 6.3 5.1 96.7
2022ttt 76.1 11.2 4.1 3.1 94.5
2023ttt ettt te s teeneenen 64.4 6.9 3.9 18.3 93.5
Thereafter. ..o 277.6 172.8 13.6 — 464.0
Total principal and interest payments.............cceceerveeeenene 643.7 221.4 38.9 53.4 957.4
Amounts representing interest ..........ecveeeeeeerererenenenenne (168.5) (152.3) (9.0) (6.3) (336.1)
Present value of net minimum lease payments.................. $ 4752 §$ 69.1 $ 299 $ 471 $ 6213
CUITENt POTHON ..o § 526 8 73§ 3.0 $ 153§ 782
NON-CUITENEt POTLION .....eeiieieiietieieeeieieeieeee e eeees m m W W W
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Non-cash Financing Transactions

A significant portion of our financing transactions include non-cash borrowings and repayments. During 2018 and 2017, non-
cash borrowings and repayments aggregated $2,583.3 million and $17,104.0 million, respectively.

(16) Provisions

A summary of changes of our provisions during 2018 is set forth in the table below:

Asset
retirement  Legal and Tax Onerous
Restructuring obligations regulatory liabilities contracts Other Total
in millions
January 1, 2018....ccccceiieee $ 107.1 ' $ 1973 $ 90.0 $ 1850 $ 179 § 428 $§ 640.1
AcquiSItions ..........ccceeevevennen. — — 0.2 — — 0.1 0.3
Charges (credits) to
consolidated statement of
profit or loss........ccceeevennenne. 64.7 0.9 27.0 476.3 0.8 3.1 571.0
Cash payments ..........c.c.c..... (86.2) 0.3) — — — (86.5)
Reclassification to assets
held forsale .........cccoueneee. (34.6) (8.0) (28.3) (75.8) — (34 (150.1)
Foreign currency translation
adjustments and other....... (7.9 (18.0) 4.9) (32.0) 0.9) (3.6) (67.3)
December 31, 2018.................. $ 43.1 $ 1701 $ 840 § 5535 § 178 § 390 § 9075

Our restructuring charges during 2018 included (i) $40.5 million in Belgium as a result of Telenet migrating its mobile
subscribers from an MVNO arrangement to the BASE mobile network and (ii) employee severance and termination costs related
to certain reorganization and integration activities of $23.7 million in U.K./Ireland and $14.2 million in Central and Corporate.

In connection with the BASE Acquisition, Telenet acquired BASE's mobile network in Belgium. As a result, Telenet migrated
its mobile subscribers from an MVNO arrangement to the BASE mobile network. In March 2018, Telenet completed this migration
and recorded the costs associated with meeting its minimum guarantee commitment under the MVNO agreement as a restructuring
charge. Telenet’s MVNO agreement expired at the end of 2018.

See note 11 for information regarding our provisional tax liabilities.

an Employee Benefit Plans

Certain of our subsidiaries maintain various funded and unfunded defined benefit plans for their employees. A significant
portion of these defined benefit plans are closed to new entrants and existing participants do not accrue any additional benefits.
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The table below provides summary information on the defined benefit plans:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Fair value of plan @SSELS (@)......ceereririirirerienieiete ettt ettt sttt sttt ae s $ 1,305.0 $ 1,414.0
Projected benefit ODIIZAtION ........c.eeiuieieiieiee ettt $ 1,217.6  $ 1,379.4
Impact of minimum funding requirements/asset CeIlING..........ccceriririririnerenereeeeeeeeeeee $ 73 $ 7.5
INEE @SSEL .ottt e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e ettt e aeeeee e et et ——————————————attrta—————— $ 80.1 $ 27.1

(a)  The fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2018 includes $918.3 million, $137.6 million and $249.0 million of assets
that are valued based on Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 inputs, respectively, of the fair value hierarchy (as further described
in note 10). Our plan assets comprise investments in debt securities, equity securities, hedge funds, insurance contracts and
certain other assets.

Our net periodic pension cost was $27.2 million and $22.5 million during 2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts exclude
aggregate curtailment gains of $1.0 million and nil, respectively, which are included in impairment, restructuring and other operating
items, net, in our consolidated statements of profit or loss.

(18)  Segment Reporting

We generally identify our reportable segments as (i) those consolidated subsidiaries that represent 10% or more of our revenue,
Adjusted EBITDA (as defined below) or total assets or (ii) those equity method affiliates where our investment or share of revenue
or Adjusted EBITDA represents 10% or more of our total assets, revenue or Adjusted EBITDA, respectively. In certain cases, we
may elect to include an operating segment in our segment disclosure that does not meet the above-described criteria for a reportable
segment. We evaluate performance and make decisions about allocating resources to our operating segments based on financial
measures such as revenue and Adjusted EBITDA. In addition, we review non-financial measures such as subscriber growth, as
appropriate.

Adjusted EBITDA is the primary measure used by our chief operating decision maker to evaluate segment operating
performance and is also a key factor that is used by our internal decision makers to (i) determine how to allocate resources to
segments and (ii) evaluate the effectiveness of our management for purposes of annual and other incentive compensation plans.
As we use the term, Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating income before depreciation and amortization, share-based
compensation, provisions and provision releases related to significant litigation and impairment, restructuring and other operating
items. Other operating items include (a) gains and losses on the disposition of non-current assets, (b) third-party costs directly
associated with successful and unsuccessful acquisitions and dispositions, including legal, advisory and due diligence fees, as
applicable, and (c) other acquisition-related items, such as gains and losses on the settlement of contingent consideration. Our
internal decision makers believe Adjusted EBITDA is a meaningful measure because it represents a transparent view of our
recurring operating performance that is unaffected by our capital structure and allows management to (1) readily view operating
trends, (2) perform analytical comparisons and benchmarking between segments and (3) identify strategies to improve operating
performance in the different countries in which we operate. A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations to
our profit (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes is presented below.
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As of December 31, 2018, our reportable segments are as follows:
Consolidated:

e U.K.Ireland
*  Belgium
e Switzerland

*  Central and Eastern Europe

Nonconsolidated:

¢ VodafoneZiggo JV

All of our reportable segments derive their revenue primarily from residential and B2B communications services, including
video, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony and mobile services.

Segment information for all periods has been retrospectively revised to present (i) our operating segments in Austria, Germany,
Hungary, the Czech Republic and Romania and (ii) UPC DTH, which was previously included in our Central and Eastern Europe
reportable segment, as discontinued operations. As a result, (a) our former Switzerland/Austria reportable segment now only
includes our operations in Switzerland and (b) our Central and Eastern Europe reportable segment now only includes our operations
in Poland and Slovakia. Our central and corporate functions (Central and Corporate) primarily include (1) revenue earned from
services provided to VodafoneZiggo Group Holding B.V., a 50:50 joint venture (referred to herein as the “VodafoneZiggo JV”),
(2) revenue from sales of customer premises equipment to the VodafoneZiggo JV, (3) costs associated with certain centralized
functions, including billing systems, network operations, technology, marketing, facilities, finance and other administrative
functions and (4) less significant consolidated operating segments that provide programming and other services. On January 1,
2018, our wholesale handset program was transferred from Germany to an entity included in Central and Corporate. In connection
with our presentation of our operating segment in Germany as a discontinued operation, we have retrospectively revised 2017 to
reflect this change.

On December 31, 2016, we contributed VodafoneZiggo Holding (including Liberty Global Netherlands Content B.V.) to the
VodafoneZiggo JV (the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction). The VodafoneZiggo JV combined VodafoneZiggo Holding with
Vodafone’s mobile businesses in the Netherlands to create a national unified communications provider in the Netherlands with
complementary strengths across video, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony, mobile and B2B services. Effective January 1,
2017, following the closing of the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction, we have identified the VodafoneZiggo JV as a nonconsolidated
reportable segment. Accordingly, our results of operations for 2017 and 2018 and our consolidated statement of financial position
as of December 31, 2018 exclude such entities.
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Performance Measures of Our Reportable Segments

The amounts presented below represent 100% of each of our reportable segment’s revenue and Adjusted EBITDA. As we
have the ability to control Telenet, we consolidate 100% of Telenet’s revenue and expenses in our consolidated statements of profit
or loss despite the fact that third parties own a significant interest. The noncontrolling owners’ interests in the operating results of
Telenet and other less significant majority-owned subsidiaries are reflected in net profit or loss attributable to noncontrolling
interests in our consolidated statements of profit or loss. Similarly, despite only holding a 50% noncontrolling interest in the
VodafoneZiggo JV, we present 100% of its revenue and Adjusted EBITDA in the tables below. Our share of the VodafoneZiggo
JV's operating results is included in share of results of affiliates, net, in our consolidated statements of profit or loss. For additional
information, see notes 1 and 5.

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

Adjusted Adjusted
Revenue EBITDA Revenue EBITDA

in millions

UKUITRIand ......oouviiiiiiniiniiiiinienesiesees ettt § 68751 § 30542 $§ 63987 $ 28851
BeIGIUM.....oiiiiee et 2,991.6 1,498.1 2,857.0 1,307.8
SWIZETIAN ....eeeiiiieieeecee e e 1,326.0 725.2 1,370.1 842.3
Central and Eastern EUTOPE ........ccceecvieiiieciieie e 492.2 249.1 467.5 233.5
Central and COrporate............ceeruereririenienienieieteeeteeeeeeeie e 274.2 (371.7) 189.4 (415.8)
Intersegment eliminations (&) .........coceevevuerverieruenneniereieeeeeene e (3.2) (11.8) (14.6) 9.1
TORAL .ttt $ 11,9559 § 51431 § 11,2681 § 4,843.8
VodafoneZiggo JV ....c.oovciieiieiiieiceeeeeeeee e $§ 46022 $ 20097 § 45125 § 1,910.6

(a)  Amounts are related to transactions between our continuing and discontinued operations prior to the disposal dates of such
discontinued operations.

The following table provides a reconciliation of total segment Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations to profit (loss)
from continuing operations before income taxes:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Total segment Adjusted EBITDA from continuing Operations ...........c.eeueevereeeeieeeeeenenesesenennens $§ 51431 § 48438
Share-based COMPENSALION EXPEIISE ....c.veuveureieieiieiieieiieierieeteeteste sttt st ess et et eneeat et eseeresreseesresrenee (205.9) (178.4)
Depreciation and aMOTHZATION .......c.coveerveuirieirietrieinteteteretee et eteesere sttt esee s sesesesessenesnenes (3,896.2) (3,823.3)
Impairment, restructuring and other operating items, NEt..........coeeererierierienierieieieeeeneee e (270.5) (113.8)
OPEIALINE INCOME ...c..evititetertetetert ettt et ettt eb ettt e ebesb e st be s b e s b et et et et ea s esteneeseebtebeebeebeabesbesbenbenee 770.5 728.3
FINAICE COSES ..uvuiiiiiiiiitietirte sttt ettt ettt ettt ettt s bbbttt ettt eaeeue e bt saesbeebenaeneens (1,982.7) (2,906.0)
FINANCE TNCOIMEC .....viiiieiieiieiieiieeteete ettt ettt e te et et e esbe st e esbeessesseeseesseessenseasaessesnsessesssesseessensenns 1,229.6 70.8
INEE INAINCE COSES ...venreuiiieiieiiitietirie sttt ettt ettt ettt sttt sa et et sa ettt eneeueeaeebesbe b sbenaens (753.1) (2,835.2)
Share of results of affiliates, NEt.........cccoerieirieinieiineicrc et 19.6 (94.1)
(01111 g 1 TeTe) 14 (SN0 <1 AT 14.0 11.3
Profit (loss) from continuing operations before iNCOMe taxes ..........coecerveereerrerenenenereneneenenene $ 51.0 § (2,189.7)
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Property, Equipment and Intangible Asset Additions of our Reportable Segments

The property, equipment and intangible asset additions of the reportable segments of our continuing operations are presented
below and reconciled to the capital expenditure amounts included in our consolidated statements of cash flows. The amounts
presented below include capital additions financed under vendor financing or finance lease arrangements. For additional
information concerning capital additions financed under vendor financing and finance lease arrangements, see note 7.

Year ended December 31,

2018 2017
Property Property
Intangible and Intangible and
Assets equipment Assets equipment

in millions

UKITEland......c.oviieieieieee ettt $ 2129 $ 1,776.0 $ 2679 § 11,8939
BeIIUIM .ot 200.1 608.4 168.9 544.4
SWItZEITANM ... 31.9 217.7 18.8 225.6
Central and Eastern EUrope..........ccccocceevenininenencnccciciececeeen 14.6 138.2 33 154.9
Central and Corporate (@) .......ecoveerveereerieeirienieeireeseeeseeseesseesseeenees 405.7 117.8 394.8 53.3

Total additionS........c.ecvevivierieieriieiieeeeeeet ettt $ 8652 $§ 2,858.1 $ 8537 § 2,872.1

(a)  Includes amounts that represent the net impact of changes in inventory levels associated with certain centrally-procured
network equipment. Most of this equipment is ultimately transferred to our operating subsidiaries.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the total property, equipment and intangible asset additions to total capital
expenditures of our continuing operations:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Total property, equipment and intangible asset additions...........coeeeverierienenenieiieieeceenceeese e $ 37233 $§ 3,725.8
Assets acquired under capital-related vendor financing arrangements ............cocccceeeevveerreereenennen (2,175.5) (2,336.2)
Assets acquired under fINAnCe 1EASES. .......cc.ecveieiririririnere ettt (102.4) (106.7)
Changes in current liabilities related to capital eXpenditures...........coccevveereirerriirrnineeerereeeennenes 253 (10.6)
Total capital eXPenditures, NET........c..couerierieieieirieieiee ettt ettt ettt s sre e e $§ 14707 $§ 1,272.3

Capital expenditures, net:

TRITA-PATtY PAYIMEIIS ..c..evitiiiieietetetet ettt sttt et ettt eb et ebe bt ebe e bt see et be e $ 15704 $ 1,608.8
Proceeds received for transfers to related parties () «.....ccceceeveeererinieneneneneneeereeeeeeseee e (99.7) (336.5)
Total capital eXPENAItUIES, NEL .......coverieieiiieiieiieereet ettt ettt $ 14707 $ 1,272.3

(a)  Primarily relates to transfers of centrally-procured property and equipment to our discontinued operations and the
VodafoneZiggo JV.
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Revenue by Major Category

Our revenue by major category for our consolidated reportable segments is set forth below:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Residential revenue:

Residential cable revenue (a):

Subscription revenue (b):

VEAEO. ¢ttt ettt ettt a et h bbb bbbttt s et eheeb b a et be e $ 28612 $§ 2,786.5
Broadband INTEINEE ..........ccuieeieeiieiieeieecte ettt ettt e eesteeebeeteesabeebeeseseesaessseenseensseenses 3,226.6 2,979.7
FixXed-1INe telePRONY ......cceiuiiiiiiiitiitirtiet ettt ettt 1,607.8 1,599.8
Total SUDSCIIPTION TEVEIUE .....cuvieiiitieiieiieite et ettt et e st et et e e stee e e eseeneesneesbeeneesbeeneesneenseneeans 7,695.6 7,366.0
NON-SUDSCIIPHION TEVEIUE ...c..cvveutenientenieiieiteiteteeteete sttt et et sttt et et e e et estestestebeebeebesbeebeebesbeseennen 279.1 335.3
Total residential Cable TEVENUE .........c.eevuirieiiiieie ettt s 7,974.7 7,701.3
Residential mobile revenue (c):
SUDSCIIPLION TEVENUE (D) ..neevienieitieieitieieet ettt ettt ettt sae et sb e te s bt e e es e teene e teeneeneeenes 983.5 999.7
NON-SUDSCIIPHION TEVEIUE ...c..euveutentenienieiieiteiceteetteie sttt et st sttt et st e et et est et esteseebeebesbeebesbesbeseennen 694.8 607.1
Total residential MODIIE TEVENUE...........cccuiiiiiiiiecie ettt reesae e seaeebeeseaeebeesaneeanas 1,678.3 1,606.8
Total reSIdential TEVEIUE .....c..evieiietieie ettt ettt ettt te e s reessesseesbessaessesssessaensensaens 9,653.0 9,308.1
B2B revenue (d):
SUDSCTIPLION TEVETIUC ...ttt ettt ettt ettt sb et b e sttt et et e et et ebe e bt ebeebeebesbesbenen 446.4 367.6
NON-SUDSCIIPLION TEVEIIUEL ......eviiiiiiiteteteteteteteat ettt ettt sttt et sae st et ese e e s ese et eneeaesaesueeresaesaens 1,537.1 1,372.5
TOtal B2B TEVEINUR ....ecvvevieeieiieiiieieeieetete et steetestesaesteestesseessesseesseessessesssensesseessesssessesssessenssensenns 1,983.5 1,740.1
(015151 (A (S 1L I (<) USRS SPRRRO 3194 219.9
TORALL ..ttt bbbttt ettt e h e bbb nes § 11,9559 $ 11,268.1
(a)  Residential cable subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services. Residential cable

(b)

(©)

(d)

non-subscription revenue includes, among other items, channel carriage fees, late fees, and revenue from the sale of
equipment. As described in note 2, we adopted IFRS 15 on January 1, 2018 using the cumulative effect transition method.
For periods subsequent to our adoption of IFRS 15, installation revenue is generally deferred and recognized over the
contractual period as residential cable subscription revenue. For periods prior to the adoption of IFRS 15, installation revenue
is included in residential cable non-subscription revenue.

Residential subscription revenue from subscribers who purchase bundled services at a discounted rate is generally allocated
proportionally to each service based on the standalone price for each individual service. As aresult, changes in the standalone
pricing of our cable and mobile products or the composition of bundles can contribute to changes in our product revenue
categories from period to period.

Residential mobile subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services. Residential
mobile non-subscription revenue includes, among other items, interconnect revenue and revenue from sales of mobile
handsets and other devices.

B2B subscription revenue represents revenue from services to certain small or home office (SOHO) subscribers. SOHO
subscribers pay a premium price to receive expanded service levels along with video, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony
or mobile services that are the same or similar to the mass marketed products offered to our residential subscribers. B2B
non-subscription revenue includes business broadband internet, video, fixed-line telephony, mobile and data services offered
to medium to large enterprises and, on a wholesale basis, to other operators.
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(e)  Other revenue includes, among other items, revenue earned from the JV Services, broadcasting revenue in Ireland and
revenue from Central and Corporate’s wholesale handset program. In addition, the amount for 2018 includes revenue earned
from (i) sales of customer premises equipment to the VodafoneZiggo JV and (ii) transitional and other services provided
to Deutsche Telekom and Liberty Latin America.

Geographic Segments

The revenue of our geographic segments is set forth below:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

UK ettt $ 63512 $ 59279
L 27C] T 111 VTSRS P PSR 2,991.6 2,857.0
SWILZETLANA ...ttt bttt ettt e bt st b e et b et e b ente b enee 1,326.0 1,370.1
TE@IANA ...ttt ettt bbbttt ettt et be et eae e 523.9 470.8
POLANM ... e ettt et eae et 440.7 417.9
STOVAKIA 1.ttt ettt et b e bbbt bbbttt ettt ettt a e bbb b e 51.5 49.6
Other, including intersegment €liMINAtIONS . ........coueiveiriieieiiiet ettt 271.0 174.8

TOTAL .ottt ekttt $ 11,9559 $ 11,268.1
VOdafONEZIZEO TV ..ottt ettt ettt ettt $ 406022 $ 45125

The non-current assets of our geographic segments are set forth below:

December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Continuing operations:

K ettt ettt et e st et e s bt et e bt e e bt e bt e s bt e bt e eat e e shae et e e bt e eabeebeena $ 15,5362 $ 16,977.5
BEIGIUIN ..ttt ettt et b et bt et sb et bbbt et be e 6,007.5 6,104.7
SWILZETLANA ...ttt et st e bt st esseeste b e enbe et eenseeseenseeseenseeneesseennas 4,165.4 4212.5
POLANA. ..ottt ettt e et e e e ta e bt e e be e bee st eenbeeanbeebaeenbeeteeenbeeree e 958.7 1,028.4
TE@IANA. ...ttt sttt ettt ettt 765.4 775.4
STOVAKIA ...ttt ettt sttt ettt e s e st e bt eb e eb e e bt ee e et e beebe et e e e b et et enteneeneeneeneeneeneenes 128.7 132.8
ULS. AN OthET (@) +nviviteteieietetete ettt s sttt et ettt ebe b 1,142.2 994.8
Total CONtINUING OPETALIONS. ... .cuviuteeeieieieieiiett ettt ettt ettt teebestestesbestesee b ete e eneeneeneeseeseeseeaeeeeanes 28,704.1 30,226.1
DiSCONtINUEA OPETALIONS ....e.vveueieiietieiiertieteseeeteeteetesteetesseesesseesseeseeseeseesseensesseensesseensesseesesseensesseens — 9,336.3
TORAL ..ttt ettt b bbb bbbttt b e neene et ebe e $ 28,704.1 $ 39,562.4

(a)  Primarily relates to certain non-current assets included in Central and Corporate.
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(19) Financial Risk Management

Overview
We have exposure to the following risks that arise from our financial instruments:

e Credit Risk
* Liquidity Risk
e Market Risk

Our exposure to each of these risks, the policies and procedures that we use to manage these risks and our approach to capital
management are discussed below.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that we would experience financial loss if our customers or the counterparties to our financial instruments
and cash investments were to default on their obligations to us.

We manage the credit risks associated with our trade receivables by performing credit verifications, following established
dunning procedures and engaging collection agencies. We also manage this risk by disconnecting services to customers whose
accounts are delinquent. Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the large number of customers
and their dispersion across many different countries. For information concerning the aging of our trade receivables, see note 12.

We are exposed to the risk that the counterparties to the derivative instruments, undrawn debt facilities and cash investments
of our subsidiary borrowing groups will default on their obligations to us. We manage these credit risks through the evaluation
and monitoring of the creditworthiness of, and concentration of risk with, the respective counterparties. In this regard, credit risk
associated with our derivative instruments and undrawn debt facilities is spread across a relatively broad counterparty base of
banks and financial institutions. With the exception of a limited number of instances where we have required a counterparty to
post collateral, neither party has posted collateral under the derivative instruments of our subsidiary borrowing groups. Collateral
is generally not posted by either party under the derivative instruments of our subsidiary borrowing groups. Most of our cash
currently is invested in either (i) AAA credit rated money market funds, including funds that invest in government obligations, or
(i1) overnight deposits with banks having a minimum credit rating of A by Standard & Poor’s or an equivalent rating by Moody’s
Investor Service. To date, neither the access to nor the value of our cash and cash equivalent balances have been adversely impacted
by liquidity problems of financial institutions.

At December 31, 2018, our exposure to counterparty credit risk included (i) derivative assets with an aggregate fair value of
$617.3 million, (ii) cash and cash equivalent and restricted cash balances of $1,498.3 million and (iii) aggregate undrawn debt
facilities of $2,503.8 million.

Each of our subsidiary borrowing groups have entered into derivative instruments under master agreements with each
counterparty that contain master netting arrangements that are applicable in the event of early termination by either party to such
derivative instrument. The master netting arrangements are limited to the derivative instruments, and derivative-related debt
instruments, governed by the relevant master agreement within each individual borrowing group and are independent of similar
arrangements of our other subsidiary borrowing groups.

Under our derivative contracts, it is generally only the non-defaulting party that has a contractual option to exercise early
termination rights upon the default of the other counterparty and to set off other liabilities against sums due upon such termination.
However, in an insolvency of a derivative counterparty, under the laws of certain jurisdictions, the defaulting counterparty or its
insolvency representatives may be able to compel the termination of one or more derivative contracts and trigger early termination
payment liabilities payable by us, reflecting any mark-to-market value of the contracts for the counterparty. Alternatively, or in
addition, the insolvency laws of certain jurisdictions may require the mandatory set off of amounts due under such derivative
contracts against present and future liabilities owed to us under other contracts between us and the relevant counterparty.
Accordingly, it is possible that we may be subject to obligations to make payments, or may have present or future liabilities owed
to us partially or fully discharged by set off as a result of such obligations, in the event of the insolvency of a derivative counterparty,
even though it is the counterparty that is in default and not us. To the extent that we are required to make such payments, our ability
to do so will depend on our liquidity and capital resources at the time. In an insolvency of a defaulting counterparty, we will be
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an unsecured creditor in respect of any amount owed to us by the defaulting counterparty, except to the extent of the value of any
collateral we have obtained from that counterparty.

In addition, where a counterparty is in financial difficulty, under the laws of certain jurisdictions, the relevant regulators may
be able to (i) compel the termination of one or more derivative instruments, determine the settlement amount and/or compel,
without any payment, the partial or full discharge of liabilities arising from such early termination that are payable by the relevant
counterparty or (ii) transfer the derivative instruments to an alternative counterparty.

While we currently have no specific concerns about the creditworthiness of any counterparty for which we have material
credit risk exposures, we cannot rule out the possibility that one or more of our counterparties could fail or otherwise be unable
to meet its obligations to us. Any such instance could have an adverse effect on our cash flows, results of operations, financial
condition and/or liquidity.

Although we actively monitor the creditworthiness of our key vendors, the financial failure of a key vendor could disrupt our
operations and have an adverse impact on our revenue and cash flows.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that we will encounter difficulty in meeting our financial obligations. In addition to cash and cash
equivalents, our primary sources of liquidity are cash provided by operations and access to the available borrowing capacity of
our various debt facilities. For information regarding our borrowing availability, see note 15.

Our corporate liquidity requirements include (i) corporate general and administrative expenses, (ii) interest payments on our
secured borrowing arrangement with respect to the ITV Collar Loan and (iii) principal payments on the ITV Collar Loan and our
secured borrowing arrangement with respect to the Lionsgate Loan to the extent not settled through the delivery of the underlying
shares. In addition, Liberty Global and its unrestricted subsidiaries may require cash in connection with (a) the repayment of third-
party and intercompany debt, (b) the satisfaction of contingent liabilities, (c) acquisitions, (d) the repurchase of equity and debt
securities, (e) other investment opportunities, (f) any funding requirements of our subsidiaries and affiliates or (g) income tax
payments. In addition, our parent entity uses available liquidity to make interest and principal payments on notes payable to certain
of our unrestricted subsidiaries (aggregate outstanding principal of $13.0 billion at December 31, 2018 with varying maturity
dates). For information regarding our commitments and contingencies, see note 20.

Our most significant financial obligations relate to our debt obligations, as described in note 15. The terms of our debt
instruments contain certain restrictions, including covenants that restrict our ability to incur additional debt. As a result, additional
debt financing is only a potential source of liquidity if the incurrence of any new debt is permitted by the terms of our existing
debt instruments.

Our current sources of corporate liquidity include (i) cash and cash equivalents held by Liberty Global and, subject to certain
tax and legal considerations, Liberty Global’s unrestricted subsidiaries, (ii) interest and dividend income received on our and,
subject to certain tax and legal considerations, our unrestricted subsidiaries’ cash and cash equivalents and investments, including
dividends received from the VodafoneZiggo JV, (iii) principal and interest payments received with respect to the VodafoneZiggo
JV Receivable and (iv) cash received with respect to transitional services provided to the VodafoneZiggo JV, Deutsche Telekom
and Liberty Latin America.

From time to time, Liberty Global and its unrestricted subsidiaries may also receive (i) proceeds in the form of distributions
or loan repayments from Liberty Global’s borrowing groups or affiliates (including amounts from the VodafoneZiggo JV) upon
(a) the completion of recapitalizations, refinancings, asset sales or similar transactions by these entities or (b) the accumulation of
excess cash from operations or other means, (ii) proceeds upon the disposition of investments and other assets of Liberty Global
and its unrestricted subsidiaries and (iii) proceeds in connection with the incurrence of debt by Liberty Global or its unrestricted
subsidiaries or the issuance of equity securities by Liberty Global, including equity securities issued to satisfy subsidiary obligations.
No assurance can be given that any external funding would be available to Liberty Global or its unrestricted subsidiaries on
favorable terms, or at all. For information regarding the liquidity impacts of the disposition of UPC Austria and the pending
dispositions of the Vodafone Disposal Group and UPC DTH, see note 6. For information regarding the liquidity impact of the
pending sale of our operations in Switzerland, see note 28.
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Our ability to generate cash from our operations will depend on our future operating performance, which is in turn dependent,
to some extent, on general economic, financial, competitive, market, regulatory and other factors, many of which are beyond our
control. We believe that our sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our currently anticipated working capital needs, capital
expenditures and other liquidity requirements during the next 12 months, although no assurance can be given that this will be the
case. In this regard, it is not possible to predict how political and economic conditions, sovereign debt concerns or any adverse
regulatory developments could impact the credit and equity markets we access and, accordingly, our future liquidity and financial
position. In addition, sustained or increased competition, particularly in combination with adverse economic or regulatory
developments, could have an unfavorable impact on our cash flows and liquidity.

We use budgeting and cash flow forecasting tools to ensure that we will have sufficient resources to timely meet our liquidity
requirements. We also maintain a liquidity reserve to provide for unanticipated cash outflows.

The following tables show the timing of expected payments based on the contractually agreed upon terms for our financial
liabilities as of December 31, 2018:

Payments due during:
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total
in millions

Debt:

Principal ...c.coeoieiiiiiiee $ 35375 § 2698 $ 23202 $§ 6733 $§ 1087 $22,405.8 $29,315.3

Interest (2) ...oceeeeereeeeeieseseseens 1,226.4 1,296.9 1,255.5 1,192.3 1,175.3 3,333.2 9,479.6
Finance lease obligations:

Principal ....cooeie 78.2 74.0 66.0 67.7 70.2 265.2 621.3

Interest () ...oceeveveveeeneeeneerieerienne 23.5 333 30.7 26.9 23.1 198.6 336.1
Accounts payable............ccceeveennennen. 874.3 — — — — — 874.3
VAT payable........ccccovvevereecerreienenn 209.6 — — — — — 209.6
Projected derivative cash payments

(receipts), net (b) ..oveveveeeereeenenene 2.1 (109.1) (738.9) (541.1) (260.5) (950.5)  (2,602.2)

Total .o $ 59474 $ 1,5649 $ 29335 $ 1419.1 $ 1,116.8 $25252.3 $38,234.0

(a) Amounts are based on interest rates, interest payment dates and contractual maturities in effect as of December 31, 2018.
These amounts are presented for illustrative purposes only and will likely differ from the actual cash payments required in
future periods.

(b)  The U.S. dollar equivalents of our net projected cash flows associated with our derivative instruments are based on interest
rates and exchange rates that were in effect as of December 31, 2018. These amounts are presented for illustrative purposes
only and will likely differ from the actual cash payments required in future periods. For additional information regarding
our derivative instruments, see note 9.
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The following tables show the timing of expected payments based on the contractually agreed upon terms for our financial
liabilities as of December 31, 2017:

Payments due during:
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Thereafter Total
in millions

Debt:

Principal ......coooveiiiiiinnice $ 41944 § 1953 § 3302 $ 3,019.6 $ 751.0 $32,527.1 §$41,017.6

Interest (8) ...ooveeveeeeeeieeeereeesene 1,674.3 1,627.6 1,651.8 1,616.2 1,529.4 5,419.9 13,519.2
Finance lease obligations:

Principal ......coooiiis 107.0 83.9 74.5 70.5 70.7 301.9 708.5

Interest () ..coeevevereereneeenieeneenienne 40.2 34.1 29.4 25.6 21.6 188.8 339.7
Accounts payable............cceeerrenennen. 1,046.6 — — — — — 1,046.6
VAT payable........ccccevvreenieenieeenenn 246.5 — — — — — 246.5
Projected derivative cash payments

(receipts), net (b) ..ovevevrveeeeecenennne (268.0) 67.0 455 (152.7) (318.2) (1,204.2)  (1,830.6)

Total ..o $ 7,041.0 $ 2,0079 $ 2,1314 $ 4,579.2 $ 2,054.5 $37,233.5 $55,047.5

(a)  Amounts are based on interest rates, interest payment dates and contractual maturities in effect as of December 31, 2017.
These amounts are presented for illustrative purposes only and will likely differ from the actual cash payments required in
future periods.

(b)  The U.S. dollar equivalents of our net projected cash flows associated with our derivative instruments are based on interest
rates and exchange rates that were in effect as of December 31, 2017. These amounts are presented for illustrative purposes
only and will likely differ from the actual cash payments required in future periods. For additional information regarding
our derivative instruments, see note 9.

Market Risk
Interest Rate Risks

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as a result of our borrowing activities, which include fixed-rate and
variable-rate borrowings by our borrowing groups. Our primary exposure to variable-rate debt is through the EURIBOR-indexed
and LIBOR-indexed debt of our borrowing groups and the variable-rate debt of certain of our other subsidiaries.

In general, we enter into derivative instruments to protect against increases in the interest rates on our variable-rate debt. For
additional information concerning the impacts of these interest rate derivative instruments, see note 9.

In July 2017, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (the authority that regulates LIBOR) announced that it intends to stop
compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. Currently, it is not possible to predict the exact transitional
arrangements for calculating applicable reference rates that may be made in the U.K., the U.S., the Eurozone or elsewhere given
that a number of outcomes are possible, including the cessation of the publication of one or more reference rates. Our loan documents
contain provisions that contemplate alternative calculations of the base rate applicable to our LIBOR-indexed debt to the extent
LIBOR is not available, which alternative calculations we do not anticipate will be materially different from what would have
been calculated under LIBOR. Additionally, no mandatory prepayment or redemption provisions would be triggered under our
loan documents in the event that the LIBOR rate is not available. It is possible, however, that any new reference rate that applies
to our LIBOR-indexed debt could be different than any new reference rate that applies to our LIBOR-indexed derivative instruments.
We anticipate managing this difference and any resulting increased variable-rate exposure through modifications to our debt and/
or derivative instruments, however future market conditions may not allow immediate implementation of desired modifications
and/or the company may incur significant associated costs.

Weighted Average Variable Interest Rate. At December 31, 2018, the outstanding principal amount of our variable-rate
indebtedness aggregated $11.7 billion, and the weighted average interest rate (including margin) on such variable-rate indebtedness
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was approximately 4.2%, excluding the effects of interest rate derivative contracts, deferred financing costs, original issue premiums
or discounts and commitment fees, all of which affect our overall cost of borrowing. Assuming no change in the amount outstanding,
and without giving effect to any interest rate derivative contracts, deferred financing costs, original issue premiums or discounts
and commitment fees, a hypothetical 50 basis point (0.50%) increase (decrease) in our weighted average variable interest rate
would increase (decrease) our annual consolidated interest expense and cash outflows by $58.5 million. As discussed above and
in note 9, we use interest rate derivative contracts to manage our exposure to increases in variable interest rates. In this regard,
increases in the fair value of these contracts generally would be expected to offset most of the economic impact of increases in
the variable interest rates applicable to our indebtedness to the extent and during the period that principal amounts are matched
with interest rate derivative contracts.

Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect to our consolidated debt in situations where our debt is
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations whose cash flows support our ability to repay or
refinance such debt. Although we generally match the denomination of our and our subsidiaries’ borrowings with the functional
currency of the operations that are supporting the respective borrowings, market conditions or other factors may cause us to enter
into borrowing arrangements that are not denominated in the functional currency of the underlying operations (unmatched debt).
In these cases, our policy is to provide for an economic hedge against foreign currency exchange rate movements by using derivative
instruments to synthetically convert unmatched debt into the applicable underlying currency. At December 31, 2018, substantially
all of our debt was either directly or synthetically matched to the applicable functional currencies of the underlying operations.
For additional information concerning the terms of our derivative instruments, see note 9.

In addition to the exposure that results from the mismatch of our borrowings and underlying functional currencies, we are
exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that we enter into transactions denominated in currencies other than our or our
subsidiaries’ respective functional currencies (non-functional currency risk), such as equipment purchases, programming contracts,
notes payable and notes receivable (including intercompany amounts). Changes in exchange rates with respect to amounts recorded
in our consolidated statements of financial position related to these items will result in unrealized (based upon period-end exchange
rates) or realized foreign currency transaction gains and losses upon settlement of the transactions. Moreover, to the extent that
our revenue, costs and expenses are denominated in currencies other than our respective functional currencies, we will experience
fluctuations in our revenue, costs and expenses solely as a result of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Generally, we will
consider hedging non-functional currency risks when the risks arise from agreements with third parties that involve the future
payment or receipt of cash or other monetary items to the extent that we can reasonably predict the timing and amount of such
payments or receipts and the payments or receipts are not otherwise hedged. In this regard, we have entered into foreign currency
forward contracts to hedge certain of these risks. For additional information concerning our foreign currency forward contracts,
see note 9.

We also are exposed to unfavorable and potentially volatile fluctuations of the U.S. dollar (our reporting currency) against
the currencies of our operating subsidiaries when their respective financial statements are translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion
in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Cumulative translation adjustments are recorded in foreign currency translation reserve
as a separate component of equity. Any increase (decrease) in the value of the U.S. dollar against any foreign currency that is the
functional currency of one of our operating subsidiaries will cause us to experience unrealized foreign currency translation losses
(gains) with respect to amounts already invested in such foreign currencies. Accordingly, we may experience a negative impact
on our comprehensive income or loss and equity with respect to our holdings solely as a result of FX. Our primary exposure to
FX risk during the year ended December 31, 2018 was to the British pound sterling and euro as 53.2% and 32.0% of our reported
revenue during the period was derived from subsidiaries whose functional currencies are the British pound sterling and euro,
respectively. In addition, our reported operating results are impacted by changes in the exchange rates for the Swiss franc and other
local currencies in Europe. We do not hedge against the risk that we may incur non-cash losses upon the translation of the financial
statements of our subsidiaries and affiliates into U.S. dollars.
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Capital Management

We seek to maintain our debt at levels that provide for attractive equity returns without assuming undue risk. In this regard,
we generally seek to cause our operating subsidiaries to maintain their debt at levels that result in a consolidated debt balance
(excluding the ITV Collar Loan and Lionsgate Loan and measured using subsidiary debt figures at swapped foreign currency
exchange rates, consistent with the covenant calculation requirements of our subsidiary debt agreements) that is between four and
five times our consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, although the timing of our acquisitions and financing transactions and the interplay
of average and spot foreign currency rates may impact this ratio.

We monitor our debt capital on the basis of our leverage covenants. As further discussed above, our ability to service or
refinance our debt and to maintain compliance with our leverage covenants is dependent primarily on our ability to maintain or
increase the Adjusted EBITDA of our operating subsidiaries and to achieve adequate returns on our capital expenditures and
acquisitions. For additional information regarding our debt, see note 15.

(20) Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

In the normal course of business, we have entered into agreements that commit our company to make cash payments in future
periods with respect to network and connectivity commitments, programming contracts, purchases of customer premises and other
equipment and services, non-cancellable operating leases and other items. The following table sets forth the U.S. dollar equivalents
of such commitments as of December 31, 2018. The commitments included in this table do not reflect any liabilities that are
included in our December 31, 2018 consolidated statements of financial position.

Payments due during:
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total
in millions

Network and connectivity

COMMItMENtS......cceeerrerererneniennnn $§ 6294 § 2821 $§ 2436 $ 603 $ 441 $ 7764 $ 2,0359
Programming commitments.............. 858.0 558.7 286.2 52.1 14.2 44.9 1,814.1
Purchase commitments..................... 742.8 243.9 88.5 31.9 20.4 45.5 1,173.0

Operating leases 123.9 85.4 66.6 54.3 46.8 178.6 555.6
Other commitments.........ccceceeeennee... 27.0 3.2 0.5 0.3 — — 31.0
Total (2) vvevveveeereeieieeeeeeeene $ 2,381.1 $ 1,1733 $ 6854 $ 1989 §$§ 1255 $ 1,0454 $ 5,609.6

Network and connectivity commitments include (i) Telenet’s commitments for certain operating costs associated with its
leased network, (ii) commitments associated with our MVNO agreements, primarily in the U.K., and (iii) service commitments
associated with our network extension projects, primarily in the U.K. Telenet’s commitments for certain operating costs are subject
to adjustment based on changes in the network operating costs incurred by Telenet with respect to its own networks. These potential
adjustments are not subject to reasonable estimation and, therefore, are not included in the above table. The amounts reflected in
the above table with respect to certain of our MVNO commitments represent fixed minimum amounts payable under these
agreements and, therefore, may be significantly less than the actual amounts we ultimately pay in these periods.

Programming commitments consist of obligations associated with certain of our programming, studio output and sports rights
contracts that are enforceable and legally binding on us as we have agreed to pay minimum fees without regard to (i) the actual
number of subscribers to the programming services, (ii) whether we terminate service to a portion of our subscribers or dispose
of a portion of our distribution systems or (iii) whether we discontinue our premium sports services. Programming commitments
do not include increases in future periods associated with contractual inflation or other price adjustments that are not fixed.
Accordingly, the amounts reflected in the above table with respect to these contracts are significantly less than the amounts we
expect to pay in these periods under these contracts. Historically, payments to programming vendors have represented a significant
portion of our operating costs, and we expect that this will continue to be the case in future periods. In this regard, our total
programming and copyright costs aggregated $1,651.2 million and $1,456.0 million during 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Purchase commitments include unconditional and legally binding obligations related to (i) the purchase of customer premises
and other equipment and (ii) certain service-related commitments, including call center, information technology and maintenance
services.

In addition to the commitments set forth in the table above, we have significant commitments under (i) derivative instruments
and (ii) defined benefit plans and similar agreements, pursuant to which we expect to make payments in future periods. For
information regarding our derivative instruments, including the net cash paid or received in connection with these instruments
during 2018 and 2017, see note 9. For information regarding our defined benefit plans, see note 17.

We also have commitments pursuant to agreements with, and obligations imposed by, franchise authorities and municipalities,
which may include obligations in certain markets to move aerial cable to underground ducts or to upgrade, rebuild or extend
portions of our broadband communication systems. Such amounts are not included in the above table because they are not fixed
or determinable.

Rental expense under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements amounted to $111.8 million and $104.5 million during
2018 and 2017, respectively. It is expected that in the normal course of business, operating leases that expire generally will be
renewed or replaced by similar leases.

We have established various defined contribution benefit plans for our and our subsidiaries’ employees. Our aggregate expense
for matching contributions under the various defined contribution employee benefit plans was $41.0 million and $34.7 million
during 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Guarantees and Other Credit Enhancements

In the ordinary course of business, we may provide (i) indemnifications to our lenders, our vendors and certain other parties
and (ii) performance and/or financial guarantees to local municipalities, our customers and vendors. Historically, these arrangements
have not resulted in our company making any material payments and we do not believe that they will result in material payments
in the future.

Legal and Regulatory Proceedings and Other Contingencies

Interkabel Acquisition. On November 26, 2007, Telenet and the PICs announced a non-binding agreement-in-principle to
transfer the analog and digital television activities of the PICs, including all existing subscribers, to Telenet. Subsequently, Telenet
and the PICs entered into a binding agreement (the 2008 PICs Agreement), which closed effective October 1, 2008. Beginning
in December 2007, Proximus NV/SA (Proximus), the incumbent telecommunications operator in Belgium, instituted several
proceedings seeking to block implementation of these agreements. Proximus lodged summary proceedings with the President of
the Court of First Instance of Antwerp to obtain a provisional injunction preventing the PICs from effecting the agreement-in-
principle and initiated a civil procedure on the merits claiming the annulment of the agreement-in-principle. In March 2008, the
President of the Court of First Instance of Antwerp ruled in favor of Proximus in the summary proceedings, which ruling was
overturned by the Court of Appeal of Antwerp in June 2008. Proximus brought this appeal judgment before the Cour de Cassation
(the Belgian Supreme Court), which confirmed the appeal judgment in September 2010. On April 6, 2009, the Court of First
Instance of Antwerp ruled in favor of the PICs and Telenet in the civil procedure on the merits, dismissing Proximus’s request for
the rescission of the agreement-in-principle and the 2008 PICs Agreement. On June 12, 2009, Proximus appealed this judgment
with the Court of Appeal of Antwerp. In this appeal, Proximus is now also seeking compensation for damages. While these
proceedings were suspended indefinitely, other proceedings were initiated, which resulted in a ruling by the Belgian Council of
State in May 2014 annulling (i) the decision of the PICs not to organize a public market consultation and (ii) the decision from
the PICs’ board of directors to approve the 2008 PICs Agreement. In December 2015, Proximus resumed the civil proceedings
pending with the Court of Appeal of Antwerp seeking to have the 2008 PICs Agreement annulled and claiming damages of €1.4
billion ($1.6 billion).

In December 2017, the Court of Appeals of Antwerp issued a judgment rejecting Proximus’ claims. Proximus has the right
to appeal the Court of Appeals of Antwerp’s judgment with the Belgian Supreme Court, however Proximus has not done so to
date. No assurance can be given as to the outcome of these or other proceedings. However, an unfavorable outcome of existing
or future proceedings could potentially lead to the annulment of the 2008 PICs Agreement and/or to an obligation of Telenet to
pay compensation for damages, subject to the relevant provisions of the 2008 PICs Agreement, which stipulate that Telenet is
responsible for damages in excess of €20.0 million ($22.9 million). We do not expect the ultimate resolution of this matter to have
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a material impact on our results of operations, cash flows or financial position. No amounts have been accrued by us with respect
to this matter as the likelihood of loss is not considered to be probable.

Telekom Deutschland Litigation. On December 28, 2012, Unitymedia filed a lawsuit against Telekom Deutschland GmbH
(Telekom Deutschland) in which Unitymedia asserts that it pays excessive prices for the co-use of Telekom Deutschland’s cable
ducts in Unitymedia’s footprint. The Federal Network Agency approved rates for the co-use of certain ducts of Telekom Deutschland
in March 2011. Based in part on these approved rates, Unitymedia sought a reduction of the annual lease fees (approximately €75
million ($86 million) for 2018) by approximately five-sixths. In addition, Unitymedia is seeking the return of similarly calculated
overpayments from 2009 through the ultimate settlement date, plus accrued interest. In October 2016, the first instance court
dismissed this action, and in March 2018, the court of appeal dismissed Unitymedia’s appeal of the first instance court’s decision
and did not grant permission to appeal further to the Federal Court of Justice. Unitymedia has filed a motion with the Federal
Court of Justice to grant permission to appeal. The resolution of this matter may take several years and no assurance can be given
that Unitymedia’s claims will be successful. Any recovery by Unitymedia will not be reflected in our consolidated financial
statements until such time as the final disposition of this matter has been reached. If this matter is settled subsequent to the
completion of the sale of the Vodafone Disposal Group, we would only share in 50% of any amounts recovered, plus 50% of the
net present value of certain cost savings in future periods that are attributable to the favorable resolution of this matter, less 50%
of associated legal or other third-party fees paid post-completion of the sale of the Vodafone Disposal Group.

Belgium Regulatory Developments. In June 2018, the Belgisch Instituut voor Post en Telecommunicatie and the regional
regulators for the media sectors (together, the Belgium Regulatory Authorities) adopted a new decision finding that Telenet has
significant market power in the wholesale broadband market (the 2018 Decision). The 2018 Decision imposes on Telenet the
obligations to (i) provide third-party operators with access to the digital television platform (including basic digital video and
analog video) and (ii) make available to third-party operators a bitstream offer of broadband internet access (including fixed-line
telephony as an option). Unlike prior decisions, the 2018 Decision no longer applies “retail minus” pricing on Telenet; however,
as of August 1, 2018, this decision imposes a 17% reduction in monthly wholesale cable resale access prices for an interim period.
The Belgium Regulatory Authorities will replace these interim prices with “reasonable access tariffs” around mid-2019.

The 2018 Decision aims to, and in its application, may strengthen Telenet’s competitors by granting them resale access to
Telenet’s network to offer competing products and services notwithstanding Telenet’s substantial historical financial outlays in
developing the infrastructure. In addition, any resale access granted to competitors could (i) limit the bandwidth available to Telenet
to provide new or expanded products and services to the customers served by its network and (ii) adversely impact Telenet’s ability
to maintain or increase its revenue and cash flows. The extent of any such adverse impacts ultimately will be dependent on the
extent that competitors take advantage of the resale access afforded to Telenet’s network, the rates that Telenet receives for such
access and other competitive factors or market developments. Telenet considers the 2018 Decision to be inconsistent with the
principle of technology-neutral regulation and the European Single Market Strategy to stimulate further investments in broadband
networks. Telenet has challenged the 2018 Decision in the Brussels Court of Appeal and has also initiated an action in the European
Court of Justice against the European Commission’s decision not to challenge the 2018 Decision. The timing and outcome of each
of these actions is uncertain.

Virgin Media VAT Matters. Virgin Media’s application of VAT with respect to certain revenue generating activities has been
challenged by the U.K. tax authorities. Virgin Media has estimated its maximum exposure in the event of an unfavorable outcome
to be £47 million ($60 million) and has accrued £41.0 million ($51.9 million) as of December 31, 2018, as the likelihood of loss
is considered probable. A court hearing was held at the end of September 2014 in relation to the U.K. tax authorities’ challenge
and a decision is expected in 2019.

On March 19, 2014, the U.K. government announced a change in legislation with respect to the charging of VAT in connection
with prompt payment discounts such as those that we offer to our fixed-line telephony customers. This change, which took effect
on May 1, 2014, impacted our company and some of our competitors. The U.K. tax authority issued a decision in the fourth quarter
of 2015 challenging our application of the prompt payment discount rules prior to the May 1, 2014 change in legislation. We
appealed this decision. As part of the appeal process, we were required to make aggregate payments of £67.0 million ($99.1 million
at the respective transaction dates), comprising (i) the challenged amount of £63.7 million (which we paid during the fourth quarter
of 2015) and (ii) related interest of £3.3 million (which we paid during the first quarter of 2016). No provision was recorded by
our company at that time as the likelihood of loss was not considered to be probable. The aggregate amount paid does not include
penalties, which could be significant in the event that penalties were to be assessed. In September 2018, the court rejected our
appeal and ruled in favor of the U.K. tax authority. Accordingly, during the third quarter of 2018, we recorded a provision for
litigation of £63.7 million ($83.1 million at the average rate for the period) and related interest expense of £3.3 million ($4.4
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million at the average rate for the period) in our consolidated statement of profit or loss. The First Tier Tribunal gave permission
to appeal to the Upper Tribunal and we submitted grounds for appeal on February 22, 2019. We expect the hearing to take place
in the first half of 2020; however, no assurance can be given as to the ultimate outcome of this matter.

Ziggo Acquisition Matter. In July 2015, KPN N.V. appealed the European Commission’s 2014 approval of the acquisition by
Liberty Global of Ziggo Holding B.V. (Ziggo). We were not a party to that case. In October 2017, the European Union (E.U.)
General Court annulled the European Commission’s approval on procedural grounds in that it found that the European Commission
had failed to adequately explain the reasons for elements of its decision. We re-notified our acquisition of Ziggo to the European
Commission for a new merger clearance, which was granted on May 30, 2018, and conditioned on remedies substantially similar
to the remedies upon which the 2014 merger clearance was based. We consider this matter to be closed.

Other Regulatory Issues. Video distribution, broadband internet, fixed-line telephony, mobile and content businesses are
regulated in each of the countries in which we or our affiliates operate. The scope of regulation varies from country to country,
although in some significant respects regulation in European markets is harmonized under the regulatory structure of the E.U.
Adverse regulatory developments could subject our businesses to a number of risks. Regulation, including conditions imposed on
us by competition or other authorities as a requirement to close acquisitions or dispositions, could limit growth, revenue and the
number and types of services offered and could lead to increased operating costs and property and equipment additions. In addition,
regulation may restrict our operations and subject them to further competitive pressure, including pricing restrictions, interconnect
and other access obligations, and restrictions or controls on content, including content provided by third parties. Failure to comply
with current or future regulation could expose our businesses to various penalties.

Effective April 1, 2017, the rateable value of our existing network and other assets in the U.K. increased significantly. This
increase affects the amount we pay for network infrastructure charges as the annual amount payable to the U.K. government is
calculated by applying a percentage multiplier to the rateable value of assets. This change has and will continue to significantly
increase our network infrastructure charges. As compared to 2018, we expect the aggregate amount of this increase will be £28
million ($36 million) in 2019. Beyond 2019, we expect further but declining increases to these charges through the first quarter
0f2022. We continue to believe that these increases are excessive and retain the right of appeal should more favorable agreements
be reached with other operators. The rateable value of network and other assets constructed under our network extension program
in the U.K. remains subject to review by the U.K. government.

In addition to the foregoing items, we have contingent liabilities related to matters arising in the ordinary course of business
including (i) legal proceedings, (ii) issues involving VAT and wage, property, withholding and other tax issues and (iii) disputes
over interconnection, programming, copyright and channel carriage fees. While we generally expect that the amounts required to
satisfy these contingencies will not materially differ from any estimated amounts we have accrued, no assurance can be given that
the resolution of one or more of these contingencies will not result in a material impact on our results of operations, cash flows
or financial position in any given period. Due, in general, to the complexity of the issues involved and, in certain cases, the lack
of a clear basis for predicting outcomes, we cannot provide a meaningful range of potential losses or cash outflows that might
result from any unfavorable outcomes.

21 Expenses by Nature

The following table summarizes our expenses for employee-related expenses (included in cost of services, G&A and selling
expenses) and depreciation and amortization (included in cost of services and G&A expenses) from continuing operations:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Employee-related expenses..........c.ccoeneeee. $§ 2,171.7 §  1,889.3
§ 389.2 § 38233

Depreciation and amortization
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(22) Key Management Personnel Compensation

Key management personnel comprise the members of the board of directors and key senior management of the company and
its main subsidiaries. Their compensation is as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Share-based COMPENSALION ............cciiuiiiiiriteieieee ettt ettt et eteete et et e et e et et e s e e eseessereeseeseeaserseseesens $ 576 § 30.0
Salaries and ShOrt-term BENETILS (A)..........c.cevveriiveiireieieeeeteeereeet ettt ettt easeseaeereaea 12.1 16.9
POSt-eMPlOYMENE DENETILS .........eeiivieieiieietcceeeeeeeceee ettt et ees et seseseteenenenas 0.7 0.6

$ 704 $ 475

(a)  Salaries and short-term benefits include salaries, bonus, directors’ fees and certain other cash and non-cash benefits.

Executive officers also participate in our cash performance award program and equity award programs. Furthermore, employees
are entitled to participate in a retirement savings plan which includes a company match in the form of equity shares.

(23) Finance Costs and Income

A summary of the finance costs and income that are included in our net finance costs from continuing operations is set forth
below:

Year ended December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

INEETESE EXPEIISE .. ..veeeeeeeeeeeeeete ettt ete et e te et e et et et et et eseese e e eseeteeteeseesseseeseesesse et et ensesensessesseseeseeseeseareas $ (1,536.4) $ (1,419.5)
Realized and unrealized losses due to changes in fair values of certain investments and debt, net ... (381.3) —
Losses on debt modification and extinguishment, Net.............ccoevieieerieiiiiiiecieseee e (65.0) (252.2)
Realized and unrealized losses on derivative inStruments, Net...........cceeeveeiveereeiiieneeereeereeereeereens — (1,052.8)
Foreign currency transaction 10SSES, NET .........cc.eiieriiiiiiiieieitieeieeteete ettt eve e ere e sreeae e eveereens — (181.5)
TOtAl fINANCE COSES...uviiuiiiitiiiiietii ittt ettt ettt e et e et e e eteeetreeeteeeaseeeteeeaseebeesareeseesaseeseesaseenses (1,982.7) (2,906.0)
Realized and unrealized gains on derivative inStruments, NEt ..........c.ccveeveriecieneenreeeesieeeenieeeesreeenes 1,125.8 —
Foreign currency transaction aINS, NET ..........cc.eceerueieerrieeerreereesreereesseeeesseesesseeaesreessesssesesssessesseens 90.4 —
Interest and dividend INCOMIE ............ccueriieiieiieie ettt ettt et et e eesaeesaesseesaesseensessaessansaens 13.4 31.0
Realized and unrealized gains due to changes in fair values of certain investments and debt, net .... — 39.8
TOtAl fINANCE INCOIMIE .....veeiiieeiieeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt e e e et e e e e e et e eeeseaeerateeeesesaseeessesssseeesesseraeees 1,229.6 70.8
INEE FINANCE COSTS ...uviuviniirieiieiietiete et ete et et et e et et ee et et e e eteeteeteeteeteeaeeseeseasessesensesseseesseseeseereas $ (753.1) $ (2,835.2)

152



LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017

(24) Other Comprehensive Income Accumulated in Reserves

Other comprehensive income (loss) reflects the aggregate impact of foreign currency translation adjustments and pension-
related adjustments and other. The changes in the components of other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes, are summarized
as follows:

Pension
Foreign reserves
currency (included in Non- Total other
translation Other retained controlling comprehensive
reserve reserves earnings) interests income (loss)

in millions

Balance at January 1, 2017......ccccoevirievineieeienenen $ (2,099.5) $ 31§ (2179) $ (2.6) $ (2,316.9)
Other comprehensive inCOMe ..........ccoecvevvereveeennen. 1,951.8 (2.3) (33.3) 1.7 1,917.9
Impact of the Split-off Transaction........................ 86.6 (0.6) 58.1 — 144.1

Balance at December 31, 2017........cccceovevieeveiennns (61.1) 0.2 (193.1) (0.9) (254.9)
Other comprehensive 1osS.........cccvevveeienieeeennenen. (883.5) 0.3) 20.7 (1.0) (864.1)

Balance at December 31, 2018 $§ (944.6) $ 0.1) $ (@1724) § (19) $ (1,119.0)

(25) Reconciliation of Movements in Liabilities to Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Debt and Derivative
finance lease (assets)/
obligations liabilities Total
in millions
January 1, 2018 ... $ 419788 $ (190.1) $ 41,788.7
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings 0f debt...........ccovuiiieiieiiriieieceeieetee e 4,396.5 — 4,396.5
Repayments and repurchases of debt and finance lease obligations................ (8,170.6) — (8,170.6)
Payment of financing costs and debt premiums..............ccoeceeeevircienieeceeneeenns (73.1) — (73.1)
Net cash received related to derivative instruments............cc.oceeeeeeeereeeeeneenns. — 112.8 112.8
Total cash flows from financing activities ...........ccccereeriereerreneesreeeereeeenn, 38,131.6 (77.3) 38,054.3
Changes arising from discontinued Operations..............ccceeveereeeeereeveeereereeeneennn. (8,975.7) (156.4) (9,132.1)
Losses on debt modification and extinguishment, net.............ccocceeveereereereennne. 65.0 — 65.0
Realized and unrealized gains on derivative instruments, net................ccoo...... — (1,125.8) (1,125.8)
INEEIESt ACCTUALS .....covviiiieiiieeie ettt e eaeeesaeeeenns 1,423.1 — 1,423.1
INEEIESt PAYIMENLS ... .eoviiviivieiiicie ettt ettt ettt et ettt ettt ere et e ete et e ereeeeereennas (1,405.7) — (1,405.7)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates..........cccoceeeveviecieneeieneecieseereeeenes (929.3) (19.5) (948.8)
Other liability-related changes ...........c.ccceeveiieiiiiieiiieieceeeeceeeeee e 1,871.1 253.0 2,124.1
DecemDbET 31, 2018 ..ottt ettt $ 30,180.1 $ (1,126.0) $ 29,054.1
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(26) Supplemental Companies Act Disclosures

Employees

The details of our full-time equivalent employees are as follows:

December 31,

2018 2017
COUNLTY OPEIALIONS ....e.venteniententeiteitetteteet et st et st et et et et e st esteseebeebeebeabeeb e e b e s b e st et et et entesteneebeebeebesbeebeebesbentennenee 24,800 26,400
COTPOTALE. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt b e ettt et e et e st eb e bt e bt eh ke s b e s b et et et e e easemteseebeeuesaeetenbenae st ennenee 1,800 1,600
TOUAL ..o e e e e e eee e ee e e s e e e eseeeseeseeeseee e eseeeseee et e s ee e s eee e e s e e eeesees e eseee e eseee e ee e eeeeenen 26,600 28,000

Directors’ Remuneration
A discussion of our directors’ remuneration appears in the Directors’ Remuneration Report included in this annual report.
Audit Fees and All Other Fees
The following table presents fees for professional audit services rendered by KPMG LLP and its international affiliates
(including KPMG LLP (U.K.)) during 2018 for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and the separate financial

statements of certain of our subsidiaries and for other services rendered by KPMG LLP and its international affiliates.

Fees billed in currencies other than U.S. dollars were translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rate in effect during
2018 (in millions).

Audit fees for these financial StAEMENLS () ....eoverververterterierieieieee ettt ettt ettt se et et besbesbesbesbeseenean $ 10.2

Audit fees for financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to le@iSlation ............cccceeeerieiiriere s 1.8
TOLAl AUAIL FEES ...ttt b ettt ettt ettt sttt b e T 120

AlL Other NON-AUAIL TEES (1) 1..eueevieiietieieetiee ettt ettt ettt e e et e e e st et e eneesseeneesseensesseenseeneensesseenseenaaseans 0.2
TOLAL A1 SETVICES ...ttt ettt bbbttt bbbt ettt b et b e S 122

(a) Represents audit fees for the consolidated financial statements, including inseparable internal control and other audit
procedures performed during interim reviews.

(b)  Includes fees for audit services performed in connection with assurance and attestation services not required by statute or
regulation.
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List of Subsidiaries

At December 31, 2018, our subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Liberty Global

Services GmbH.............ccouvenneen.

Coditel Brabant SPRL ..........cooovvviieviiiiiiieeeeens

De Vijver Media NV ..o

Idealabs Telenet Fund NV .......cccoovviiiiiiiiiieens

Nextel NV.......

Nextel Telecom Solutions NV.......cooovvvvvivinnnenn.

Pebble Media NV .....cocooviiiiiiiiiiiiie e
TelelinQ D&F NV ..o,

TelelinQ NV ...

Telenet BVBA

Telenet Finance BVBA.........cooovviiiiiiiiiieiiees

Telenet Group Holding N.V......cccocevininininnnnne.
Telenet Group NV/SA.....cocovioveeiieeeeeeeeee

Telenet Retail BVBA.......ocovioiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee
Telenet Tecteo Bidco NV ....ooovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiies

Telenet Vlaanderen NV ........ooovvivviiiiiiiiiiiens
The Park Entertainment NV ........cccccoovvvvieiiiininns

UPC Ceska Republica Sro..........ccccoveeveeieinrennenen.

UPC Infrastructure S.I.0.......cccoeveveeeeveveeeeeeeeeenen.

UPC Real EState S.1.0. ....cooveeeeiiiiiiieeeceeeeeieeeeas

Proportion
of voting
Country of rights and Nature of Registered
incorporation Holdings shares held business address
Austria Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 2)
Belgium Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 3)
Ordinary
(classes per Holding/
Belgium shareholder) 50.0% Media “)
Ordinary
(classes per Holding/Start-
Belgium shareholder) 50.0% up (5)
Belgium Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (6)
Belgium Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms (6)
Ordinary
(classes per Holding/
Belgium shareholder) 50.0% Media (7
Belgium Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms )
Belgium Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (8)
Ordinary / Telecoms/
Belgium preferred 100.0% Subholding (5)
Consumer
Belgium Ordinary 100.0% Financing (5)
Ordinary / Telecoms/
Belgium preferred 56.4% Holding 5)
Belgium Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 9)
Telecoms/
Belgium Ordinary 100.0% Retail (5)
Belgium Ordinary 75.0% Holding &)
Ordinary /
Belgium preferred 99.7% Telecoms (5)
Belgium Ordinary 80.8% Telecoms (5)
no shares
(joint-stock)
issued,
comparable to
Czech partnership Telecoms/
Republic interest 100.0% Holding (10)
no shares
(joint-stock)
issued,
comparable to
Czech partnership
Republic interest ~ 100.0% Telecoms (10)
no shares
(joint-stock)
issued,
comparable to
Czech partnership
Republic interest ~ 100.0% Holding (10)
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UPC Broadband France S.A.S. .........cccovvvvvenennn. France Ordinary 100.0% Holding an
UPC Broadband France SNC..........ccccoeneneneeene France Ordinary  100.0% Holding (11)
Arena Sport Rechte und Marketing GmbH.......... Germany Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (12)
Unitymedia BW GmbH.............cccocoviiiiniennnen. Germany Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (12)
Unitymedia Finanz-Service GmbH...................... Germany Ordinary 100.0% Holding (12)
Unitymedia GmbH ...........ccccoooviviiiiicieeeeee Germany Ordinary 100.0% Holding (12)
partnership
Unitymedia Hessen GmbH & Co. KG................. Germany interests ~ 100.0% Telecoms (12)
Management
Unitymedia Hessen Verwaltungs GmbH.............. Germany Ordinary  100.0% company (12)
Telecoms/
Unitymedia Management GmbH ......................... Germany Ordinary 100.0% Holding (12)
Unitymedia NRW GmbH ..............cccooveiiinnnnn. Germany Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (12)
Unitymedia Service GmbH ...............cccooeevrennnnn. Germany ordinary 100.0% Holding (12)
Unitymedia Smart Sourcing GmbH ..................... Germany Ordinary 100.0% Holding (12)
UPC Magyarorszag Kft.........ccccovivinenenieieniens Hungary Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (13)
Casey Cablevision Limited ............ccccceeverureerennn. Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Holding (14)
Channel 6 Broadcasting Limited.......................... Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
Cullen Broadcasting Limited ...............ccccovvrernnnn. Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
Imminus (Ireland) Limited..............c.cccoeveenrennennnn. Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
Kish Media Limited ...........cccoovevvirienieiieieerenene Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
LGIDTH Ireland..........cccooevvieieiiiicicieceeene Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Holding (14)
P.B.N. Holdings Ltd ...........cccoevevirrieiicieieeieene Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Holding (14)
Tullamore Beta Limited ............cccoooveevieieiieennennen. Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
TV3 Television Network Limited ........................ Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
TVThree Enterprises Limited............c..ccceueeneennen. Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
TVThree Sales Limited............ccccovvevneeieniinenennen. Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
Ulana Business Management Ltd......................... Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Finance (14)
UPC Broadband Ireland Ltd...........c.ccceeverrennnnnen. Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
Virgin Media Ireland Ltd............c..cooeveeieinnennennn. Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (14)
Coditel S.arl.....ccoooviiieiiieeeceee e Luxembourg Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 3)
Finance Center Telenet Sarl ..............ccocovevvrennnnnn. Luxembourg Ordinary 100.0% Finance (15)
Liberty Property Holdco I Sarl.............ccccuvnene. Luxembourg Ordinary 100.0% Holding (15)
Liberty Property Holdco II Sarl ........................... Luxembourg Ordinary 100.0% Holding (15)
Telenet Finance Luxembourg Notes Sarl.............. Luxembourg Ordinary  100.0% Finance (15)
Holding/
Telenet International Finance Sarl........................ Luxembourg Ordinary 100.0% Finance (15)
Telenet Luxembourg Finance Center Sarl............ Luxembourg Ordinary 100.0% Finance (15)
Telenet Solutions Luxemburg NV ........................ Luxembourg Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (15)
UPC DTH Leasing Sarl.......c.ccccoveneneninenenennene Luxembourg Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms (15)
UPC DTH Sarl ....ccoeiiiiiieiieeeceee e Luxembourg Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (15)
UPC DTH Slovakia Sarl ........coccooeveninineninenne Luxembourg Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms (15)
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Liberty Global Holding Company Limited.......... Malta Ordinary  99.99% Holding (16)
Liberty Global Insurance Company Limited ....... Malta Ordinary 100.0% Holding (16)
Binan Investments B.V........c.ccccoovvveeiiieininenn. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17
Labesa Holding B.V. ......ccocoveieiiiiiiicieeeieee Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17)
LGCIHOIdCOIBV ..o Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17
LGIMobile BV .....c.coveiiiieiiieieceee e Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 17)
LGI Ventures B.V. ....ccocooovieiiiiiiiceee e Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17
Liberty Global B.V.......cccoveviieiiiirieiecieeeieee Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17)
Ordinary &
Liberty Global CE Holding B.V...........ccccceuee.. Netherlands Preference 100.0% Holding 17)
Liberty Global CEE Group Holding BV .............. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding an
Liberty Global Communication Services BV ...... Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17)
Liberty Global Content Investments BV .............. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding an
Liberty Global Europe Financing B.V.................. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17)
Ordinary &
Liberty Global Europe HoldCo 2 B.V.................. Netherlands Preference 100.0% Holding (17)
Liberty Global Europe Holding B.V..................... Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding an
Ordinary &
Liberty Global Europe Holding I B.V................. Netherlands Preference ~ 100.0% Holding a7
Ordinary &
Liberty Global Europe Holding III B.V................ Netherlands Preference 100.0% Holding 17)
Liberty Global Europe Investments B.V. ............. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding an
Management
Liberty Global Europe Management B.V............. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% company an
Liberty Global Holding B.V..........cccoeeveirnnn. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding (17)
Management
Liberty Global Management BV .......................... Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% company a7
Liberty Global Services B.V.......c..cccoevvvenirenennen. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17)
Liberty Global Ventures Group Holding BV ....... Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding a7
Liberty Global Ventures Holding BV................... Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17)
UPC Broadband B.V...........cccoooviviiiiiciceee. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding a7
UPC Broadband Holding B.V. ..........ccccvevvrennnnen. Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17)
Ordinary &
UPC CEE Holding BV ......ccocooiiiiiiiieeee Netherlands Preference ~ 100.0% Holding a7
Ordinary &
UPC CHAT Holding B.V......coocooiiiiiie Netherlands Preference ~ 100.0% Holding a7
UPC Direct Programming Il B.V. ... Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms an
UPC DTH Holding BV ......ccoooiiiiiiiiee Netherlands Ordinary  100.0% Holding a7
UPC France Holding B.V.......cccoooiininininiie Netherlands Ordinary  100.0% Holding an
UPC Germany Holding B.V........ccoocovvniniee Netherlands Ordinary  100.0% Holding a7
UPC Holding B.V......cccoveieiiiiiicieeceeeee Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17
UPC Holding II B.V.....ocoveiiiiiiiieeceeeee Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding (17)
UPC Poland Holding B.V.......c.ccocooiiininiiine Netherlands Ordinary  100.0% Holding an
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UPC Slovakia Group Holding BV ....................... Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding 17
Ordinary &
UPC Slovakia Holding I BV ..o Netherlands Preference ~ 100.0% Holding an
UPC Slovakia Holding I BV ... Netherlands Ordinary  100.0% Holding a7
UPC Switzerland Holding BV ..o Netherlands Ordinary 100.0% Holding an
VodafoneZiggo Group Holding BV ..................... Netherlands Ordinary 50.0% Holding (18)
UPC Poland Property SP Z0O.......c.ccccevenienieniennne Poland Ordinary  100.0% Holding 19)
Telecoms/
UPC Polska Sp. Z 0.0 .eccvveieiicieiecieeeeeeee Poland Ordinary 100.0% Holding (19)
Focus Sat Romania S.A.............cccoevveeveeieiieiene. Romania Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (20)
UPC External Services S.R.L......ccccoeveneninennns Romania Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (20)
UPC Romania S.A.......cccoovevierieiiceee e Romania Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (20)
UPC Services S R.L. ....ccoocveviiieiiieeeieeeiene Romania Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 21
no shares
(joint-stock)
issued,
comparable to
Slovak partnership Telecoms/
UPC Broadband Slovakia Sro.......c..cccceevevvenuennne Republic interest ~ 100.0% Holding (22)
Ordinary/
SHEL SA. .ot Switzerland bearer shares 66.7% Telecoms (23)
Ordinary/
registered
Teledistal SA........coveeiiiiieeeeeece e Switzerland shares 58.3% Telecoms (24)
Ordinary/
registered
TelelavauX SA.......cooooieieiieieeeeeeeeee e Switzerland shares 80.0% Telecoms 25)
UPC Schweiz GmbH.........c.coocoviiinininieieene Switzerland Ordinary  100.0% Holding (26)
Ordinary/
registered
Video 2000 SA .....coveieiieieeeee e Switzerland shares 60.0% Telecoms 27
UK-England Joint Venture
All3Media Holdings Limited .............cccceovreerennen. & Wales Ordinary 50.0% Subsidiary (28)
UK-England
Avon Cable Investments Limited......................... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England
BCMV Limited........ccooevvevrieiiirieiicieie e & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England
Birmingham Cable Corporation Limited ............. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England
Birmingham Cable Limited.........c..c.cccccoeneninnnee. & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England
Bitbuzz UK Limited..........cccoovveviirierieiieieenenene & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England
Blue Yonder Workwise Limited...............c..ccue.... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England
Cable Internet Limited ..........ocooceiirenineneeee & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
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UK-England

Cable London Limited ...........cccoevvevneiienieinnennene & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

Cable on Demand Limited .............ccccceevenrennnnen. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

CableTel Herts and Beds Limited ........................ & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

CableTel Surrey and Hampshire Limited............. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

CableTel West Riding Limited..............c.cceoueene. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

Catalyst NewCo 1 Limited.........c..ccceovvrvenrinenennn. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England

Catalyst NewCo 2 Limited.........c..cccovvevenneennenen. & Wales Ordinary 50.0% Holding (30)
UK-England

Catalyst NewCo 3 Limited.........c..cceeveeeenirennennn. & Wales Ordinary 50.0% Holding (30)
UK-England

Crystal Palace Radio Limited..............ccceeveneneene. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

Diamond Cable Communications Limited........... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

DLG Acquisitions Limited.............cccoerverrernennen. & Wales Ordinary 50.0% Joint Venture (28)
UK-England Joint Venture

DLG Financing 1 Limited..........c..cccoevvevennrnrennen. & Wales Ordinary 50.0% Subsidiary (28)
UK-England Joint Venture

DLG Financing 2 Limited..........cc.cccoovveierirennennen. & Wales Ordinary 50.0% Subsidiary (28)
UK-England

Eurobell (Holdings) Limited..............ccccovevvrennnnnn. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (29)
UK-England

Filegale Limited ...........ccovvevvieieceiiiereceecieeeenee & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

Flextech (1992) Limited..........cccccevverervenienrennnn. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% In Liquidation 3D
UK-England

Flextech Broadband Limited..........c..ccccoereneenee. & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

Flextech Interactive Limited ............ccccoeevvrrnnnnnn. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

Flextech Limited ..........ccoovvevieieiiiieiecieieeeeee & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

General Cable Limited ...........cccocoevveeiiiennenennn. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

General Cable Programming Limited .................. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England Mobile

Global Handset Finco Ltd (1).....c...cccovvvenivnnennen. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Financing 30)
UK-England

LGCI HoldCo HI Ltd (1).ccveverinenininieienieeene & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Holding 30)
UK-England

LGCI Holdings Limited (1)........ccccceevvervennennennen. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
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Liberty Global Broadband Germany Holding I  UK-England
Limited.....cocovevviiieiieieceeeeeeeeeee e & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
Liberty Global Broadband Germany Holding UK-England
Limited......ocvevvieieiieieeeeeeece e & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Broadband Holding Limited........ & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Broadband I Limited (1).............. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Broadband II Limited .................. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 30)
Liberty Global Content Investments Holding UK-England
Limited.....coooveviiiieiieieceeieeee e & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Content Investments Limited....... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Europe 2 Limited (1) ................... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Europe Limited................c.c........ & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Finance I (UK) Limited............... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Finance II (UK) Limited.............. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Incorporated Limited (1) ............. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England
Liberty Global plc ........ccovevieiiiiiieieceeeeieee & Wales Common 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Technology Limited (1)............... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Ventures Group Limited (1)......... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 30)
UK-England
Liberty Global Ventures Holding Limited............ & Wales 100.0% (30)
UK-England
Liberty Property Co I Limited..........c.ccoereeneenee. & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England
Liberty Property Co II Limited .............ccovvuene. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (29)
UK-England
Liberty Property Holdco III Limited.................... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (32)
UK-England
Matchco Limited .........ccoevvevieieceiiieiecieieeeeee & Wales Ordinary 76.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England
MXLG Acquisitions Limited ............c..cceevrenrnnen. & Wales Ordinary 50.0% Joint Venture 33)
UK-England
ntl (Aylesbury and Chiltern) Limited................... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England
ntl (B) Limited.........ccccoooviiiiiiiiiiiiiceecic e & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England
ntl (BMC Plan) Pension Trustees Limited ........... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
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UK-England

ntl (Broadland) Limited..........c.coocovenininenienne & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

ntl (CWC) Corporation Limited...............c..cuoe.... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

ntl (CWC) Limited .......cooovveiriiieiireieieieene & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

ntl (South East) Limited ........c.ccocevenenenenenenne. & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

NEL(V) e & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

ntl Business Limited..............cccoovieveniecieneenennen. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

ntl CableComms Bolton ............cccooceviiinenenenne & Wales Ordinary 100.0% In Liquidation 3D
UK-England Ordinary &

ntl CableComms Bromley...........ccocovererienienieenne & Wales Preference  100.0%  In Liquidation 3D
UK-England Ordinary &

ntl CableComms Cheshire..........c...cccoveeveiurennennn. & Wales Preference 100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

ntl CableComms Derby ........ccoveninininincncnne. & Wales Ordinary  100.0%  In Liquidation (€28
UK-England Ordinary &

ntl CableComms East Lancashire ...........c..c......... & Wales Preference 100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

ntl CableComms Greater Manchester .................. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

ntl CableComms Group Limited............ccceruenee & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

ntl CableComms Holdings No 1 Limited............. & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England

ntl CableComms Holdings No 2 Limited............. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England Ordinary &

ntl CableComms Solent............ccceveveverienennennen. & Wales Preference 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England Ordinary &

ntl CableComms SUITEY .....c..cocevevereniinienieniene & Wales Preference ~ 100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England Ordinary &

ntl CableComms SUSSEX..........ccevvreeverreeierieenennnns & Wales Preference 100.0% In Liquidation (€2))]
UK-England Ordinary &

ntl CableComms WeSSeX........cccererverueruereenienieens & Wales Preference 100.0% In Liquidation (€2))]
UK-England Ordinary &

ntl CableComms Wirral...........c.ccoeevevieieniennennnn. & Wales Preference 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

ntl Cambridge Limited ............ccoooeeveiieieinrenenne. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

ntl Communications Services Limited & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

ntl Glasgow Holdings Limited...........c..ccccoeneennee. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 34)
UK-England

........................................................... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
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ntl Kirklees Holdings Limited...............ccccueeuvenne.
ntl Manchester Cablevision Holding Company ...

ntl Midlands Limited.........ccccoeeveieieioiiieieeeee.

ntl Pension Trustees Limited...........c.cccceverenennene
ntl Rectangle Limited..........ccooceiiiiniiiniiiee
ntl South Central Limited.........c.coocevinirienienienne
ntl Telecom Services Limited............ccccoevevvenenee
ntl Trustees Limited.........cccocevinenineninenenennene.
ntl UK Telephone and Cable TV Holding
Company Limited .........cocooceveninininineniinienne
ntl Victoria Limited .........ccocoeveveiininenineieene
ntl Wirral Telephone and Cable TV Company.....
Sheffield Cable Communications Limited...........
Smallworld Cable Limited ...........c.cccererrnrennee.
Smashedatom Limited..........ccccocevineninincnenene.
Telewest Communications (Cotswolds) Limited .

Telewest Communications (London South)
Limited....c.coveenieineinicincincinceeceeeeeeiene

Telewest Communications (Midlands and North
West) Limited .......cccoeevevieiiiieieeieeeieceeee

Telewest Communications (North East) Limited.

Telewest Communications (North East)
Partnership .......ccceeeveeeiieiieeciecieceece e

Telewest Communications (South East) Limited.
Telewest Communications (South Thames

Estuary) Limited .........cccooceverineninineieieeee

Telewest Communications (South West) Limited

Proportion
of voting
Country of rights and Nature of Registered

incorporation Holdings shares held business address
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England Ordinary &

& Wales Preference ~ 100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England Corporate

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Trustee 29)
UK-England Corporate

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Trustee 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England Ordinary &

& Wales Deferred 100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0%  In Liquidation 3D
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% In Liquidation 3D
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 60.0% In Liquidation (€28
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England Partnership

& Wales Interests 100.0% Partnership 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 29)
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Telewest Communications (Tyneside) Limited....
Telewest Communications Cable Limited ...........
Telewest Communications Holdco Limited.........
Telewest Communications Holdings Limited......
Telewest Communications Networks Limited......
Telewest Limited..........cccevevirinineninieiereeee
Telewest Workwise Limited..........ccccocevenenenene.
The Yorkshire Cable Group Limited....................
Theseus No. 1 Limited .........cccooevrvreriinienieiennne
Theseus No. 2 Limited .......ccccoceveneneninenenenne.
Virgin Media Business Limited............c.cccevenee
Virgin Media Communications Limited...............
Virgin Media Employee Medical Trust Limited ..
Virgin Media Finance plc..........cccovvevviieiieennennn.
Virgin Media Finco Limited.........c..ccccceevveeveennnn.
Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited ........
Virgin Media Investments Limited.......................
Virgin Media Limited.............cccoovrvveneecienennennen.
Virgin Media Mobile Finance Limited.................
Virgin Media Operations Limited ........................
Virgin Media Payments Limited ..........................
Virgin Media PCHC II Limited...........ccocceenuennene
Virgin Media PCHC Limited ..........cccooceveninenene

Virgin Media Secretaries Limited ..............cccc.....

Proportion
of voting
Country of rights and Nature of Registered

incorporation Holdings shares held business address
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England Corporate

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Trustee 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Financing 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Financing 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Financing 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England Handset

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Financing 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary  100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England Guarantor

& Wales Ordinary 100.0% (PPF Levy) 29)
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UK-England

Virgin Media Secured Finance plc............c......... & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Financing 29)
UK-England

Virgin Media Senior Investments Limited........... & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Financing 29)
UK-England Strike-off

Virgin Media Senior Secured Notes Issuer plc .... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Requested (29)
UK-England

Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited ..................... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Financing 29)
UK-England

Virgin Media Wholesale Limited.............cccceuee & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

Virgin Mobile Group (UK) Limited..................... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) Limited ................ & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Dormant 29)
UK-England

Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited.......................... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

Virgin Net Limited .........cccoevievieeiiieieciecieeeenee & Wales Ordinary 100.0% In Liquidation 3D
UK-England

Virgin WiFi Limited.........ccoocooeeviiieninieeeieene & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-England

VM Ireland Group Limited .........coccverenenienenene & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Holding 29)
UK-England

VM Transfers (No 4) Limited ...........c.ccevvrennnnen. & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (29)
UK-England Ordinary &

VM Transfers (No 5) Limited ...........ccccoeevvrennnnnn. & Wales Deferred 100.0% Holding (29)
UK-England Ordinary &

VMFH Limited........ccoeevevieiiiiiiiciee e & Wales Deferred 100.0% Dormant (29)
UK-England

VMIH Sub Limited .........cccooeveviieiiieiecieceeienee & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Financing 29)
UK-England

VMWH Limited ........ccoovvvieniiieiinieeeieeeeene & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Holding (29)
UK-England

Windsor Television Limited........c..c.ccocevenenenee. & Wales Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 29)
UK-England

X-TANT Limited.......ccccceevveviiiirrriiereeiesieerenns & Wales Ordinary 100.0% In Liquidation (€2))]
UK-England

Yorkshire Cable Communications Limited.......... & Wales Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (29)
UK-Northern

CableTel Northern Ireland Limited...................... Ireland Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (35)

CableTel Scotland Limited..........ccccoceveveneniennee. UK-Scotland Ordinary  100.0% Telecoms 36)

Nl GlaSZOW ..oovviveciieiieieceeee e UK-Scotland Ordinary 100.0% Telecoms (36)

Telewest Communications (Cumbernauld)

Limited.....cooveeieieieieieeeeee e UK-Scotland Ordinary 100.0% In Liquidation 3D
Telewest Communications (Dumbarton) Limited UK-Scotland Ordinary 100.0% In Liquidation 3D
Telewest Communications (Dundee & Perth)

Limited.....coooveviiiieiieieceeeeeeeeeee e UK-Scotland Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (36)
Telewest Communications (Falkirk) Limited....... UK-Scotland Ordinary 100.0% In Liquidation 3D
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Telewest Communications (Glenrothes) Limited.

Telewest Communications (Motherwell)

Limited......................

Telewest Communications (Scotland Holdings)

Limited......................

Telewest Communications (Scotland) Limited....

LGI Technology Holdings Inc
Liberty Global Management, LLC

Liberty Global Services, LLC

TCI US West Cable Communications Group.......

Tyneside Cable Limited Partnership.....................

UIM Aircraft, LLC

United Cable (London South) Limited

Partnership

Virgin Media Finance Holdings Inc. ....................

Virgin Media Group LLC

Virgin Media Inc. .......cccooeveviiiiniicienecieseeieee

Associated SMR, Inc

LGI International LLC

LGI Slovakia Holdings Inc. .......c..ccccevevveiurennennnn.

LGI Ventures Management, Inc. ...........cccceeeeeee.

Liberty Global Japan, LLC
Liberty Global, Inc. (1)

Liberty Japan MC, LLC
Liberty Programming Japan, LLC
Liberty Spectrum Inc
NTL (Triangle) LLC

NTL CableComms Group LLC

Proportion
of voting
Country of rights and Nature of Registered
incorporation Holdings shares held business address
UK-Scotland Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (36)
UK-Scotland Ordinary 100.0% In Liquidation (€28
UK-Scotland Ordinary 100.0% Dormant 36)
UK-Scotland Ordinary 100.0% Dormant (36)
USA-
Colorado Common 100.0% Holding 37
USA- Membership
Colorado Interests 100.0% Services 37
USA- Membership
Colorado Interests 100.0% Services 37
USA- Partnership
Colorado Interests ~ 100.0% Partnership 37
USA- Partnership
Colorado Interests 100.0% Partnership (37
USA- Membership
Colorado Interests 100.0% Partnership (37)
USA- Partnership
Colorado Interests 100.0% Partnership 37
USA-
Colorado Common 100.0% Holding 37
USA- Membership
Colorado Interests 100.0% Holding 37
USA-
Colorado Common  100.0% Holding 37
USA-
Delaware Common 100.0% Holding (37)
USA- Membership
Delaware Interests 100.0% Holding (37)
USA-
Delaware Common 100.0% Holding 37
USA-
Delaware Common 100.0% Holding 37
USA- Membership
Delaware Interests 100.0% Holding 37
USA-
Delaware Common 100.0% Holding (37
USA- Membership
Delaware Interests 100.0% Holding (37
USA- Membership
Delaware Interests 100.0% Holding (37)
USA-
Delaware Common 100.0% Holding 37
USA- membership
Delaware interests 100.0% Holding (38)
USA- membership
Delaware interests 100.0% Holding (39)
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Proportion
of voting
Country of rights and Nature of Registered
Name of subsidiary incorporation Holdings shares held business address
USA- Membership
Telenet Financing USD LLC............cccocovevrennennnn. Delaware Interests 100.0% Holding (38)
USA- Membership
UnitedGlobalCom LLC...........c.ccoeeveieeieireenrene. Delaware Interests 100.0% Holding 37
USA- Membership
Unitymedia Finance LLC..........c.ccocovinininiinennne Delaware Interests ~ 100.0% Holding 37
USA- Partnership
UPC Financing Partnership.......c..ccccocevenenenennne Delaware Interests ~ 100.0% Holding 37
USA- Membership
Virgin Media Bristol LLC .............cccooveienienenen. Delaware Interests 100.0% Holding (37

(1)  Subsidiary is a direct subsidiary of Liberty Global plc.

(2)  Wolfganggasse 58 - 60, 1120 Vienna, Austria

(3)  Tweekerkenstraat 26, 1000 Brussels, Belgium

(4)  Harensesteenweg 228, 1800 Vilvoorde, Belgium

(5) Liersesteenweg 4, B-2800, Mechelen, Belgium

(6) Lozenberg 9, 1932 Zaventem, Belgium

(7)  Schalienhoevedreef 20C, B-2800 Mechelen, Belgium

(8)  Koralenhoeve 15, 2160 Wommelgem, Belgium

(9)  Neerveldstraat 105, 1200 Sint Lambrechts Woluwe - Brussels, Belgium
(10) Zavisova 502/5, 14000, Praha 4, District of Prague 4, Czech Republic
(11) 52 Boulevard Sebastopol, 75003, Paris, France

(12) Aachener Strasse 746-750, Cologne, 50933-Germany

(13) Soroksari Ut 30-34, Haller Gardens Building, Budapest 1095, Hungary
(14) Building P2, East Point Business Park, Clontarf, Dublin 3, Republic of Ireland
(15) 89F, Rue de Pafebruch, L-8303 Capellen, Luxembourg

(16) Development House, St. Anne Street, Floriana FRN 9010, Malta

(17) Boeing Avenue 53, 1119 PE Schiphol-Rijk, The Netherlands

(18) Atoomweg 100, 3542AB Utrecht, The Netherlands

(19) Al Jana Pawla I 27, 00-867 Warszawa, Poland
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(20)
@)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)
(26)
@27)
(28)
(29)
(30)
31
(32)
(33)
(34)
(35)
(36)
(37)

(3%)

LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017

Strada Nordului nr. 62 D Sector 1, 014104 Bucharest, Romania

Nordului nr. 62 D Sector 1, 014104 Bucharest, Romania

Sevéenkova 36, 851 01 Bratislava, Slovak Republic

Rue de Lausanne 53, 1110 Morges, Vaud, Switzerland

Passage du Lion d'Or, Case Postale 292, 1040 Echallens

Route de Lausanne 2, 1096 Cully, Vaud, Switzerland

Richtiplatz 5, 8304 Wallisellen/ZH

Avenue de la Gare 15, 2000 Neuchatel, Switzerland

Berkshire House, 168-173 High Holborn, London WC1V 7AA, England

Media House, Bartley Wood Business Park, Hook, Hampshire, RG27 9UP, England
Griffin House, 161 Hammersmith Road, London W6 8BS, England

c/o Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF

2 Rue Peternelchen, L-2370 Howald, Luxembourg

100 Fetter Lane, London EC4A 1BN, England

1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF, England

Unit 3, Blackstaff Road, Kennedy Way Industrial Estate, Belfast, BT11 9AP, Northern Ireland
1 South Gyle Crescent Lane, Edinburgh, EH12 9EG, Scotland

Triangle Building, 1550 Wewatta Street, Suite 1000, Denver, CO 80202, USA

251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE 19808, USA
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(28) Subsequent Events

On February 27, 2019, we entered into an agreement to sell our operations in Switzerland, “UPC Switzerland,” to Sunrise
Communications Group AG (“Sunrise”) for a total enterprise value of CHF 6.3 billion ($6.3 billion at the February 27, 2019 rate).
Sunrise will acquire UPC Switzerland inclusive of the UPC Holding borrowing group’s existing senior and senior secured notes
and associated derivatives (together, the “UPC Holding Notes™’) and certain other debt items, which have an aggregate value equal
to approximately CHF 3.7 billion ($3.7 billion at the February 27, 2019 rate) at December 31, 2018. The net cash proceeds are
expected to be CHF 2.6 billion ($2.6 billion at the February 27, 2019 rate), subject to customary other liabilities and working
capital adjustments at completion, and are expected to be used for general corporate purposes.

As the transaction is structured, a change of control will not be triggered under the UPC Holding Notes. UPC Facility AR
under the UPC Holding Bank Facility, which had an outstanding balance at December 31, 2018 of $1,645.0 million, is expected
to be repaid in full at or prior to closing.

Closing of the transaction is subject to regulatory approval, which is expected prior to year-end 2019, and approval by Sunrise’s
shareholders with respect to an associated capital increase.

In connection with the sale of UPC Switzerland, we have agreed to provide certain transitional services to Sunrise for a period
of up to five years following completion. Such transitional services principally comprise network and information technology-
related functions. The annual charges for such transitional services will depend on the actual level of transitional services required
by Sunrise.
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LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2018 and 2017

(Parent Company Only)
December 31,
2018 2017
in millions
Fixed assets:
Investments — group undertakings (NOLE 3) .......cceeveeiririririinienineneneneteetee et $ 43,161.8 $ 40,376.7
Property and equipment, NEt (MO ) ......oueiiieiiiiieiieiiitet ettt 7.9 8.8
Intangible assets not subject to amortization (NOLE€ 9) ........cecveruiererrieririereee e 3.0 3.0
TOtAl fIXEA ASSELS ..eevvieiieiieiieiieieeie ettt ettt ettt e e teesbeste e besreesseeseesseessesseessesseessenssenns 43,172.7 40,388.5
Current assets:
Notes receivable — group undertakings (all due after more than one year) (note 4)................... 1,145.9 918.2
Accrued interest receivable — group undertakings (NOt€ 4).........coceeererinenenenierienieneeieencenens 69.7 56.9
Other receivables — group undertakings (NOtE 4) .......c.eeeeuiririririneriereeereeeeeee e 7.5 22.2
Other assets: amounts recoverable in less than 0Ne year ........c..cocceeverenenieneneniecieeeeeenencenens 1.9 0.7
Deferred income taxes (all due after more than one year) .........ccccevveeveevieienieciesieieceeeeeenns 4.8 4.8
Total debtors and Other ASSELS.......c.ieciiieiieiiieiieetiecte ettt e b e seb e e reesaeeebeesseeeareas 1,229.8 1,002.8
Cash and cash eqUIVALENLS ...........ooiiiriiieieeeeee ettt eae 10.8 73.2
RESIIICEEA CASN. ...ttt sttt st ettt ne s 5.2 5.2
Total current assets (including $1,150.7 million and $923.0 million, respectively, due after
MOTE thAN ONE YEAT) .....vvveveieieieiaeeeseee et s ettt 1,245.8 1,081.2
TOtAL ASSELS.....vereiieeiietciietcet ettt 44,418.5 41,469.7
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (current liabilities):
Note payable — group undertakings (NOtE 4) .......cccceeriririrenerinenere ettt 3,033.3 2,834.7
TTAAE CIEAILOTS .....eveiiiirtieiiie sttt ettt ettt bbbttt eaeeaeeaeeueas 3.5 0.9
Other accrued and current liabilities:
Group undertakings (IOt 4) .......oouieiuirierieee ettt ettt ettt e e et teeaeesteeseesbeeneesbeennens 902.5 1,043.0
TRITA-PATLY -ttt ettt b bbbt b e bbbttt et ebeebes 7.4 3.5
Total creditors: amounts falling due within one year (current liabilities)..........c.cccoceereneenee. 3,946.7 3,882.1
Net CUITENt HADIIIHES .....euvevieeeiieeiiiteiitet ettt esenes (2,700.9) (2,800.9)
Total assets less current Habilities. ... ...ccuveeverueriereriesieiest ettt ettt esseseaessesaesseennens 40,471.8 37,587.6
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year:
Notes payable — group undertakings (N0t€ 4)........ccueoveveeerireririneneresenesereeee et 13,796.7 7,884.1
Other non-current liabilities:
Group UNdertakings (NOTE 4) .......ccerereririrtintenereteee ettt sttt sttt — 983.5
TRITA-PATLY ettt st sttt 33 2.7
Total creditors: amounts falling due after One Year........c..cccecevevenirenenenenicieeeeeeeeeaens 13,800.0 8,870.3
TOtAl HADIIITIES ....eeuveeetenieeiiete ettt ettt et e s e e sbe e 17,746.7 12,752.4
INCT ASSELS .vvevreerieirieiteeeieeteesteeteestbeesteesese e seaesseessaesssaenseesssaessseasseessseassaensseansaenseessseesssannseenses $ 266718 $§ 28,717.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Parent Company Only)
December 31,
2018 2017
in millions
Capital and reserves (note 6):

Called up share capital (NOE 5)....c.coverieieierieiiiiieieiree ettt ettt $ 74 % 8.1
Share PremIUM TESEIVE ........c.erueutrietrieteteeeteeetetetenteuestestrteetsteetsaeseeseasebe s s ensesessestssesessesessenessenes 1,121.5 1,115.4
IMLETZET TESEIVE.....eeneeeiutieeiieeiee ettt ettt et ettt et sa bt e s bt e s bt e s bt e eabe e bt e sabe e bt e sabeesbbesabeenbaeenseenbeeeas 4,749.3 4,749.3
Capital redeMPLION TESEIVE. ...c..iitirteieteieieteiett ettt ettt ettt ete sttt st et sbe st e e te e et ens et eneeneeseeneeaeas 3.0 23
L0 13153 g (<) SRS 131.7 131.7
Profit and 10SS @CCOUNT ......ccuiiiiiiieiiiieie ettt et b e e re b e eseesaeesaesreesbesseessesseessenseenns 20,659.0 22,710.6
Treasury Shares, t COST ......coiriririririeieietet ettt ettt sttt sttt et et neebeeaeeaeeaeas (0.1) (0.1)

Shareholders” fUNAS .........ccveiieiiiieiecceceee et b et sb e e e ereesaesaeennas $ 26,671.8 $§ 28,717.3

The financial statements were approved by our board of directors and were signed on its behalf on April 25, 2019 by:

/s/ Michael T. Fries
Michael T. Fries

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director

Company registered number: 8379990

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance at January 1,
2017 i

Share issues, less
EXPENSES.....cvenrerrreninne

Purchase and
cancellation of our
shares.......ccooeeveuvenene.

Fair value of LILAC
Group distributed in
Split-off Transaction...

Merger reserve release....

Share-based
compensation..............

Treasury shares...............

Purchase and
cancellation of our
shares........c.cccceeeveeunne

Share-based
compensation..............

Balance at December 31,

LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Parent Company Only)
Called up Share Capital Profit and Treasury
share premium Merger redemption Other loss shares, at Shareholders’
capital reserve reserve reserve reserves account cost funds
in millions

$ 106 $ 11,1035 $ 10,0835 § 1.5 131.7 $ 249083 $ (0.3) § 36,2388
— — — — — (1,198.0) — (1,198.0)

— 119 — — — — — 11.9
(2.5) — — 0.8 — (2,948.2) — (2,949.9)
— — — — — (3,474.3) — (3,474.3)

— — (5,334.2) — — 5,334.2 — —

— — — — — 88.9 — 88.9

— — — — — — 0.2 0.2
— — — — — 0.3) — 0.3)

8.1 1,115.4 4,749.3 23 131.7 22,710.6 (0.1) 28,717.3
— — — — — (183.0) — (183.0)
0.7) — — 0.7 — (2,010.0) — (2,010.0)

— 6.1 — — — 141.4 — 147.5

$ 74 $ 1,121.5 § 47493 $ 3.0 131.7 $ 20,659.0 $ 0.1) $ 26,671.8



LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
Notes to Parent Company Only Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2018 and 2017

aQ Basis of Presentation

Liberty Global plc (Liberty Global) is a public limited company organized under the laws of England and Wales. In these

EENT3 EENT3

notes, the terms “we,” “our,” “our company” and “us” refer to Liberty Global. Liberty Global is an international provider of video,
broadband internet, fixed-line telephony and mobile communications services to residential customers and businesses in Europe.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, Reduced Disclosure
Framework (FRS 101).

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the following
disclosures:

o Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

o Comparative period reconciliations for share capital, tangible fixed assets and intangible assets;
o Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

o Disclosures in respect of capital management;

o The effects of new but not yet effective International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS);

o Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel; and

o Disclosures of transactions with a management entity that provides key management personnel services to the
company.

The capitalized terms used throughout this annual report are defined in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for
year ended December 31, 2018 included elsewhere in this annual report (the Consolidated Financial Statements). As the
Consolidated Financial Statements include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also taken the exemptions under FRS 101
available in respect of the following disclosures:

* IFRS 2, Share Based Payments, in respect of group settled share-based payments.

These accounts present information about Liberty Global as an individual undertaking and not about its consolidated group.
Under section 408 of the Companies Act, we are exempt from the requirement to present our own profit and loss account.

Unless otherwise indicated, translations into U.S. dollars are calculated as of December 31, 2018.

2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies set forth below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these financial statements.

Foreign Currency
Our presentation and functional currency is the U.S. dollar.
Estimates

See note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for significant estimates and judgments which are reflected in our
investments in subsidiaries. No additional significant estimates or judgments have been identified for the Company.

173



LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
Notes to Parent Company Only Statements of Financial Position — (Continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017

Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements are prepared under the assumption that we will continue to operate as a going concern,
which contemplates the realization of assets and the liquidation of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. Our ability to
continue as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to generate sufficient cash flows and earnings from our group undertakings’
operations. We have evaluated and consider our business to be a going concern based on our capital resources, the historical
operating profitability of our group undertakings, the long-term nature of our commitments and the prospects of our group
undertakings.

Share Issues
Share issues are recorded at fair value of the net proceeds.
Investments

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost. Where investments are acquired in exchange for a share issue we
record the investment at fair value of the underlying share capital on the transaction date. For further information regarding our
investments, see note 3.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset. Useful lives
used to depreciate our property and equipment are assessed periodically and are adjusted when warranted. For additional information
regarding the useful lives of our property and equipment, see note 9.

Additions, replacements and improvements that extend the asset life are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance are charged to
operations.

Impairment of Property and Equipment and Intangible Assets

When circumstances warrant, we review the carrying amounts of our property and equipment and our intangible assets to
determine whether such carrying amounts continue to be recoverable. Such changes in circumstance may include (i) an expectation
of a sale or disposal of a non-current asset or asset group, (ii) adverse changes in market or competitive conditions, (iii) an adverse
change in legal factors or business climate in the markets in which we operate and (iv) operating or cash flow losses. For purposes
of impairment testing, non-current assets are grouped at the lowest level for which cash flows are largely independent of other
assets and liabilities, generally at or below the cash-generating unit level. If the carrying amount of the asset or asset group is
greater than the expected discounted cash flows to be generated by such asset or asset group, an impairment adjustment is recognized.
Such adjustment is measured by the amount that the carrying value of such asset or asset group exceeds its fair value. We generally
measure fair value by considering (a) sale prices for similar assets, (b) discounted estimated future cash flows using an appropriate
discount rate and/or (c) estimated replacement cost. Assets to be disposed of are carried at the lower of their financial statement
carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

Interest-bearing Borrowings

Debt is stated at the fair value of the consideration received on the issue of the capital instrument after deduction of issue
costs. The finance cost of the debt is amortized over the term of the debt at a constant rate on the carrying amount.

Share-Based Compensation
We recognize all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee share incentive awards, based on their

grant-date fair values and our estimates of forfeitures. We recognize the fair value of outstanding awards as a charge to operations
over the vesting period.
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We have calculated the expected life of options and SARs granted by Liberty Global to employees based on historical exercise
trends. The expected volatility for Liberty Global options and SARs is generally based on a combination of (i) historical volatilities
of Liberty Global ordinary shares for a period equal to the expected average life of the Liberty Global awards and (ii) volatilities
implied from publicly traded Liberty Global options.

Where we grant options over our own shares to the employees of our subsidiaries we recognize an increase in the cost of
investment in our subsidiaries equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge recognized in our subsidiary’s financial
statements with the corresponding credit being recognized directly in equity. Amounts recharged to and reimbursed by the subsidiary
are recognized as a reduction in the cost of investment in subsidiary. If the cumulative amount recharged and reimbursed exceeds
the increase in the cost of investment the excess is recognized as a dividend.

We generally issue new shares of Liberty Global ordinary shares when Liberty Global options or SARs are exercised and
when restricted share units and performance-based restricted share units vest. Although we repurchase Liberty Global ordinary
shares from time to time, the parameters of our share purchase and redemption activities are not established solely with reference
to the dilutive impact of our share-based compensation plans.

Income Taxes

The charge for taxation is based on the profit or loss for the period and takes into account deferred taxation related to temporary
differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which differences
reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that the directors consider it more likely than not that there will be suitable
taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying temporary differences can be deducted.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions denominated in currencies other than our functional currency are recorded based on exchange rates at the time
such transactions arise. Changes in exchange rates with respect to amounts recorded in our statements of financial position related
to these non-functional currency transactions result in transaction gains or losses that are reflected in our profit and loss accounts
as unrealized (based on the applicable period end exchange rates) or realized upon settlement of the transactions.

A3) Investments in Group Undertakings

The details of our investment in group undertakings during 2018 and 2017 are set forth below (in millions):

Balance at JanUAry 1, 2017 . ...c.cciviirieieieieieieeeit ettt ettt sttt ettt esa e sttt etaeteeseeteebeebe b e b e bessesbenbentessesseneens $ 32,766.5
Additions, other than share-based cOMPENSALION (A) .......cc.eeeeiuieiiiiieieiiieiecte ettt ereesre e e eee e eaneas 7,445.0
Amounts related to share-based compPensation (D) ........ccccveceeririieririieniieieseeieeeeie ettt sseeee e ae e ennens 165.2
Balance at DeCemMDET 31, 2017 ... .uoiieii ettt ettt e et et e et e e et e e ettt e e et e e eae e e et e e sanaeeas 40,376.7
Additions, other than share-based compensation (c) 3,187.2
Amounts related to share-based compensation (b) .......... (402.1)
Balance at DECeMBDET 31, 2018 ... . .eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et e et e e e e e e eee e e et e eeeaeeeseaeeeseaeeeseseesaereesseeeeseaeesaaeens $ 43,161.8

(a)  The increase in our investment during 2017 is primarily due to the net effect of (i) our company subscribing to 85 ordinary
shares of Liberty Global, Inc. (LGI) in order to facilitate the conversion of a note receivable from LGI into an additional
investment in LGI and (ii) the impact of the Split-off Transaction. For additional information regarding the Split-off
Transaction, see note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(b)  Represents additions attributable to share-based compensation associated with employees of our subsidiaries, less amounts
that we recharge to our subsidiaries in connection with the exercise of our SARs and options and the vesting of our restricted
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share awards held by employees of our subsidiaries, as adjusted to reflect any deemed dividends arising from amounts
charged in excess of the allocated share-based compensation with respect to certain of our subsidiaries.

(¢)  The increase in our investment during 2018 is primarily due to the sale of the share capital of Binan Investments BV by
LG Broadband II Limited, a subsidiary of Liberty Global, to Liberty Global.

Subsidiaries
For a listing of our subsidiaries at December 31, 2018, see note 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

“) Transactions with Group Undertakings

The following table provides details of our group undertaking balances:

December 31,
2018 2017
in millions

Notes receivable:

LG Incorporated Limited NOTE (&) .....c.coveueeeuiietiietieeeeieeeeeeeeeeteee ettt eaeas $ 8239 § 753.5
LG Ventures Group Limited NOte (D).......coveouirieiiiieiesieieeee et 114.1 81.9
LG Property Holdco Sarl NOE (C).....coviiieriiiiiiieeiiciiciecieeieete ettt sre e sreeae s eae e esseeneens 70.7 —
LGCI Holdings Limited NOte (d) .....coveeeriiriiiieiecieiesiieieeiee ettt eneens 66.1 65.6
LG Technology Limited NOLE (€) ......covieeeruieiiiiieiiiieiesieeteeteereeteesreesee e eeesreeae e essesseessesseens 59.1 —
LGCI Holdco TIT Ltd NOtE (£)..cveevereieiieiieiiiieieieieieieieteiete ettt esbesa s ese e eseeneenas 12.0 11.9
LG Content Investments BV NOE (£).....coveuiiieiiiiiieciieieeteeieeeere et sre et sve e seesnesinens — 53
TOtal NOLES TECEIVADIE. .....oiiueeiiiiiiiieiiee ettt e ettt e e s et e e e es st e e eessasaeeeessnnes 1,1459 918.2
Interest reCeivable () .......ccviiiiiiiiiiii ettt aeens 69.7 56.9
Other TECEIVADIES (1)...iivieiuiieiieiiieeiiecie ettt ettt e et e eete e st e eteesabeesbeaeaaeeaseesebeeseesaseesaessneenses 7.5 22.2
TOAL ..ttt e st b et a e e bttt beeh et et et et en e e et et en e ebeeneeaeere b ee $ 1,223.1 $ 997.3

Non-current notes payable:

LG Broadband I Limited NOE I (1) ..eevveeveriirieiieiecieiesiieie ettt enens $ 7,272.1 $ 5,502.3
LG Broadband IT Limited NOte (K) ......cccvevieiiiieiiiieieciicieeteereeeere ettt eeeens 3,175.5 —
LG Broadband I Limited NoOte ITT (1).....cc.ccouieiiiiiiiiiiccieeeie ettt e 1,642.8 1,578.0
LG Incorporated Limited NOtE (IN) .....ecveruiiiiiiieiiiieiecieeieeee ettt ee e e sreesae e esseseeens 977.0 —
LG Broadband I Limited NOte IT (1) ....ccveeivieiiieiieciiiecieecee ettt et e 729.3 803.8
Total non-current NOtES PAYADIC ...........covieiiiiiiieiieeie ettt ettt r e e sae e saeennas 13,796.7 7,884.1
Current NOte PAYADIE (0) .veviruieiieieiieiereee sttt ettt st et sttt ensenaeenes 3,033.3 2,834.7
Other accrued and current lHabilitieS (D) ....ccvevvveveieeriieieiieierre ettt ere e 902.5 1,043.0
Other non-current Habiliti€S (D) ....oveeververeirrierieieeeeie ettt ettt se e seeenes — 983.5
TORAL ..ot e ettt b bt ettt b e bbbttt et en e bt neeaeebe et ee $ 17,7325 % 12,745.3

(a)  Represents a note receivable from Liberty Global Incorporated Ltd (LG Incorporated Limited). Pursuant to the loan
agreement the maturity date is November 30, 2026, however Liberty Global may agree to advance additional amounts to
LG Incorporated Limited at any time and LG Incorporated Limited may, with agreement from Liberty Global, repay all or
part of the outstanding principal at any time prior to the maturity date. The note receivable is subject to further borrowings
and repayments. The interest rate on this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 7.02% as of December 31, 2018.

(b)  Represents a note receivable from Liberty Global Ventures Group Limited (LG Ventures Group Limited). Pursuant to the
loan agreement the maturity date is August 3, 2024, however Liberty Global may agree to advance additional amounts to
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LG Ventures Group Limited at any time and LG Ventures Group Limited may, with agreement from Liberty Global, repay
all or part of the outstanding principal at any time prior to the maturity date. The note receivable is subject to further
borrowings and repayments. The interest rate on this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 6.95% as of December 31,
2018.

Represents a British pound sterling denominated note receivable from LG Property Holdco Sarl. Pursuant to the loan
agreement the maturity date is November 30, 2028, however Liberty Global may agree to advance additional amounts to
LG Property Holdco Sarl at any time and LG Property Holdco Sarl may, with agreement from Liberty Global, repay all or
part of the outstanding principal at any time prior to the maturity date. The note receivable is subject to further borrowings
and repayments. The interest rate on this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 6.24% as of December 31, 2018.

Represents a euro denominated note receivable from LGCI Holdings Limited. Pursuant to the loan agreement the maturity
date is March 9, 2024, however Liberty Global may agree to advance additional amounts to LGCI Holdings Limited at any
time and LGCI Holdings Limited may, with agreement from Liberty Global, repay all or part of the outstanding principal
at any time prior to the maturity date. The note receivable is subject to further borrowings and repayments. The interest rate
on this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 5.16% as of December 31, 2018.

Represents a British pound sterling denominated note receivable from LG Technology Limited. Pursuant to the loan
agreement the maturity date is March 23, 2028, however Liberty Global may agree to advance additional amounts to LG
Technology Limited at any time and LG Technology Limited may, with agreement from Liberty Global, repay all or part
of the outstanding principal at any time prior to the maturity date. The note receivable is subject to further borrowings and
repayments. The interest rate on this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 5.94% as of December 31, 2018.

Represents a British pound sterling denominated note receivable from LGCI Holdco III Ltd. Pursuant to the loan agreement
the maturity date is September 11, 2024, however Liberty Global may agree to advance additional amounts to LGCI Holdco
IIT Ltd at any time and LGCI Holdco III Ltd may, with agreement from Liberty Global, repay all or part of the outstanding
principal at any time prior to the maturity date. The note receivable is subject to further borrowings and repayments. The
interest rate on this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 6.74% as of December 31, 2018.

Represents a euro denominated note receivable from Liberty Global Content Investments BV (LG Content Investments
BYV). Pursuant to the loan agreement the maturity date is September 23, 2022, however Liberty Global may agree to advance
additional amounts to LG Content Investments BV at any time and LG Content Investments BV may, with agreement from
Liberty Global, repay all or part of the outstanding principal at any time prior to the maturity date. The note receivable is
subject to further borrowings and repayments. The interest rate on this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 7.33% as
of December 31, 2018.

Represents interest related to our various notes receivable as discussed above.
Represents certain receivables from other Liberty Global subsidiaries arising in the normal course of business.

Represents a euro denominated note payable to Liberty Global Broadband I Limited (LG Broadband I Limited). Pursuant
to the loan agreement the maturity date is January 31, 2024, however LG Broadband I Limited may agree to advance
additional amounts to our company at any time and our company may, with agreement from LG Broadband I Limited, repay
all or part of the outstanding principal at any time prior to the maturity date. The note payable is subject to further borrowings
and repayments. The interest rate on this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 4.88% as of December 31, 2018.

Represents a euro denominated note payable to LG Broadband II Limited. Pursuant to the loan agreement the maturity date
is December 27, 2028, however LG Broadband II Limited may agree to advance additional amounts to our company at any
time and our company may, with agreement from LG Broadband II Limited, repay all or part of the outstanding principal
at any time prior to the maturity date. The note payable is subject to further borrowings and repayments. The interest rate
on this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 5.61% as of December 31, 2018.

Represents a euro denominated note payable to LG Broadband I Limited. Prior to January 1, 2018, this note payable was
British pound sterling denominated. Pursuant to the loan agreement the maturity date is December 28, 2026, however LG
Broadband I Limited may agree to advance additional amounts to our company at any time and our company may, with
agreement from LG Broadband I Limited, repay all or part of the outstanding principal at any time prior to the maturity
date. The note payable is subject to further borrowings and repayments. The interest rate on this loan, which is subject to
adjustment, was 4.64% as of December 31, 2018.
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Represents a note payable to LG Incorporated Limited. Pursuant to the loan agreement the maturity date is January 1, 2028,
however LG Incorporated Limited may agree to advance additional amounts to our company at any time and our company
may, with agreement from LG Incorporated Limited, repay all or part of the outstanding principal at any time prior to the
maturity date. The note payable is subject to further borrowings and repayments. The interest rate on this loan, which is
subject to adjustment, was 6.49% as of December 31, 2018.

Represents a euro denominated note payable to LG Broadband I Limited. Pursuant to the loan agreement the maturity date
is November 30, 2026, however LG Broadband I Limited may agree to advance additional amounts to our company at any
time and our company may, with agreement from LG Broadband I Limited, repay all or part of the outstanding principal at
any time prior to the maturity date. The note payable is subject to further borrowings and repayments. The interest rate on
this loan, which is subject to adjustment, was 5.36% as of December 31, 2018.

Represents a revolving credit facility with Liberty Global Europe 2 Limited (LG Europe 2). Pursuant to the loan agreement
the maturity date is July 16, 2023, however LG Europe 2 may agree to advance additional amounts to our company at any
time and our company may, with agreement from LG Europe 2, repay all or part of the outstanding principal at any time
prior to the maturity date. The note payable is subject to further borrowings and repayments. The interest rate on this loan,
which is subject to adjustment, was 5.68% as of December 31, 2018.

On December 31, 2018, a payable to LG Incorporated Limited was converted to the LG Incorporated Limited Note, as
described in note (m) above.

Called Up Share Capital

Our share capital comprises the following at December 31, 2018:

Shares Amount

in millions

Allotted, called up and fully paid Liberty Global Shares:

Class A OF $O.0T CACK ... e e 204,450,499 $ 2.0
Class B Of $0.01 €aCH........ooiiiiiiiiieceeeeee et sttt 11,099,593 0.1
Class € OF $0.0T @ACK.......eeeeeeeee e e 531,174,389 5.3

TOtal SKATE CAPILAL.......c.iovieiitiiii ettt ettt ettt s et sbesseseeseesserseseeteeteeseeseebessessessensesseseas $ 7.4

The details of our share activity during 2018 are set forth below:

Class A of Class B of Class C of

$0.01 each $0.01 each $0.01 each Total Shares
Balance at January 1, 2018 .......ccocoviviieiiiicieeeeieeeeeeee e 219,668,579 11,102,619 584,332,055 815,103,253
Additional ISSUANCES .......ccovveueeiieiieeiiieeeeeeeeeee e e eeeaaeee s 410,541 — 1,007,590 1,418,131
RepUIChases .........c.coiieeiiieiiieceeecee e (15,649,900) — (54,211,059)  (69,860,959)
(0111 1<) oSO RR 21,279 (3,026) 45,803 64,056
Balance at December 31, 2018 ........oooviiiiiiiiiiieeeieeeee e, 204,450,499 11,099,593 531,174,389 746,724,481

For additional information regarding our share repurchases, see note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(6) Reserves

Our called up share capital and reserves comprise the following at December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Called up Share Capital Profit and Treasury
share premium Merger redemption Other loss shares, at Shareholders’
capital reserve reserve reserve reserves account cost funds
in millions
Balance at January 1,
2017 i, $ 106 $ 1,103.5 $ 10,0835 § 15 % 131.7 $ 249083 $ (03) $ 36,2388
Loss for the financial
period......cccoeveivieinnns — — — — — (1,198.0) — (1,198.0)
Share issues, less
EXPENSES...eerrerreaerennns — 119 — — — — — 119
Purchase and
cancellation of our
shares (a).......c.coceeenne (2.5) — — 0.8 — (2,948.2) — (2,949.9)
Fair value of LILAC
Group distributed in
Split-off Transaction... — — — — — (3,474.3) — (3,474.3)
Merger reserve release
(5] I — — (5,334.2) — — 5,334.2 — —
Share-based
compensation.............. — — — — — 88.9 — 88.9
Treasury shares............... — — — — — — 0.2 0.2
Other......coceovvinieiienns — — — — — 0.3) — (0.3)
Balance at December 31,
2017 i 8.1 1,115.4 4,749.3 23 131.7 22,710.6 (0.1) 28,717.3
Loss for the financial
period......coceeeinecnene — — — — — (183.0) — (183.0)
Purchase and
cancellation of our
shares........ccccceeeveenne. 0.7) — — 0.7 — (2,010.0) — (2,010.0)
Share-based
compensation.............. — 6.1 — — — 141.4 — 147.5
Balance at December 31,
2018, $ 74§ 1,121.5 $§ 47493 § 30 % 1317 $ 20,659.0 $ 0.1)

§ 26,6718

(a)  Includes the impact of the Split-off Transaction. For additional information regarding the Split-off Transaction, see note 6

to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(b)  During 2017, in connection with the completion of the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction, our company received an equalization
payment from Vodafone of €806.8 million ($845.3 million at the applicable rates). This payment realized an element of the
merger reserve related to the 2014 acquisition of the shares of Ziggo Holding B.V. that we did not already own. During
2017, we released all realized values in merger reserves, including both the $845.3 million and the $4,488.9 million related

to the VodafoneZiggo JV Transaction and Split-off Transaction, respectively.

Share Repurchases

Our board of directors has approved share repurchase programs for our Liberty Global Shares. In addition, from November
2016 through the completion of the Split-off Transaction, we were authorized to repurchase our LILAC Shares. In accordance
with English law, we may implement the program in conjunction with our brokers and other financial institutions with whom we
have relationships within certain preset parameters. The timing of the repurchase of shares pursuant to our share repurchase
programs, which may be suspended or discontinued at any time, is dependent on a variety of factors, including market conditions
and applicable law and may continue during closed periods in accordance with applicable restrictions. As of December 31, 2018,

the remaining amount authorized for repurchases of Liberty Global Shares was $566.2 million.

179



LIBERTY GLOBAL PLC
Notes to Parent Company Only Statements of Financial Position — (Continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017

The following table provides details of our share repurchases during 2018 and 2017:

Class A ordinary shares Class C ordinary shares

Average price Average price

Shares paid per Shares paid per
repurchased share (a) repurchased share (a) Total cost (a)
in millions
Liberty Global Shares:
2018 i 15,649,900 §$ 29.67 54,211,059 $ 28.51 $ 2,010.0
2007 e 34,881,510 § 33.73 52,523,651 § 3271 $ 2,894.7
LiLAC Shares:
2007 e 2,062,233 § 22.84 285,572 $ 2225 $ 535
(a)  Includes direct acquisition costs, where applicable.
(@) Debtors and Other Assets
Debtors and other assets consist of the following:
December 31,
2018 2017
in millions
Amounts owed by group undertakings:
NOtes 1eCEIVADIE (MOTE 4)....cuviivieiieiieitieeieeieet ettt ettt e steeaeste e b e te e b e etsesbesssesseesaesseessesaeaneas $ 1,1459 § 918.2
Interest and other receivables (N0 4) ........ccuiiiiieiiiciieciee ettt et ve e aae v s 77.2 79.1
Total amounts owed by group undertakings ............cceecvevveeiirrieriieeenie e 1,223.1 997.3
ORI BSSEES ...ttt ettt et eb bttt ettt b e bbbttt ettt ettt et ebe b e 1.9 0.7
Deferred INCOME tAXES ....cvieuiirieiiciieie ettt ettt et e et e te e s e eteesseereesseeseesseessesbeessebeessesseessenseenns 4.8 4.8
Total debtors and Other aSSELS (@) ........cccveeriiiiiieeiiecieecie ettt eve s eeeve e s teeereesree e $ 1,229.8 $ 1,002.8

(a)

further information see note 4.
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®) Creditors
Creditors consists of the following:

December 31,
2018 2017

in millions

Amounts falling due within one year:

Note payable — group undertakings (NOt€ 4) .........ceovieeiriieiiiiereceere ettt ere e eve e $ 3,0333 $§ 2,8347
Other accrued and current liabilities — group undertakings (N0t€ 4)..........coevvevveverervenericrcnenne. 902.5 1,043.0
Other accrued and current liabilities — third-party ............cccoevveiiiieiinieciceee e 7.4 35
TTAAE CIEAILOTS .....eueiiiieiietieiert ettt ettt sttt ettt ettt et ebe e bt bt e b enes 3.5 0.9

Total creditors — amounts falling due within 0ne year..............cccceevviiieviiceenieieceeeeeeeeeee, $§ 39467 $§  3,882.1

Amounts falling due after one year:

Notes payable — group undertakings (NOt€ 4).........c.ecvieierieiieriee et $§ 13,7967 §  7.,884.1
Other non-current liabilities — group undertakings (N0t€ 4).........c..ccveieveieierriiienecierie e — 983.5
Other non-current liabilities — thirtd-Party ..........cccoeireieririieriieee e 33 2.7
Total creditors — amounts falling due after one year.............cccceevveviiieeniiceeneceeceeeeeee e $ 13,8000 $ 8,870.3

) Non-Current Assets

Property and Equipment, Net

Changes in our property and equipment and the related accumulated depreciation are set forth below (in millions):

Cost:

JaNUATY 1, 2018 ...ttt b et b et e a et e a e te e et e bt e n e e eae et e bt et e bt e nteene et e eneenes $ 10.5
AQAILIONS ..ttt ettt et et e e e et et eesa et e esee st estesseessesseessesseenseeseenseessenseessenseessenseesaenseenteneensenseeneas 0.6

DEeCemMDEr 31, 2008 . ..ot e e e e et e e e e e e e et e e eetteeeeteeeeraeeaeanaean $ 11.1

Accumulated depreciation:

JanuAry 1, 20L8 ..o ettt e $ (1.7)
DEPIECIALION ...ttt (1.5)
DecembBET 31, 2018 ......coiiiiiieiiiciieteeeet etttk et st sa ettt ettt et $ (3.2)

Property and equipment, net:
DeCemMDEr 31, 2008 . ..ot e e e e e et e e e e te e e eeaeeeeetteeeateeeeraeeaeanaean $ 7.9

(a)  The estimated useful lives at December 31, 2018 range from 3 to 10 years.
Other Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

Our intangible assets relate to our domain names. These intangible assets are considered to have indefinite lives and had an
aggregate carrying value of $3.0 million at each of December 31, 2018 and 2017.
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10) Guarantees

We have issued guarantees for certain intra-group loans from Virgin Media Finco Limited to LG Europe 2. Interest on these
loans is either (i) payable semi-annually at the applicable rate on April 15 and October 15 each year or (ii) upon mutual agreement
between the debtor and creditor, is added to the principal outstanding.

The details of the loans that we have guaranteed at December 31, 2018 are as follows:

Interest Borrowing US.$
Loan due from LG Europe 2 Maturity date rate currency equivalent

in millions

Intra-group debt Aand B........ccccoeoieiieinieeeeee April 15, 2023 8.500% £ 1,501.5 $ 1,913.7
Intra-group debt C......ccoocveeiieieiieieeeeeee s July 16, 2023 4.825% £ 3,324.5 4,237.2

TOUAL ..o ettt e e et e e et e et e e et e e et e e e —ee e et e e et te e e —te e e te e e e teeeaatesaateesateeeareesanes $ 6,150.9
a1 Directors’ Remuneration

Information regarding directors’ compensation (remuneration), interests in shares and share options for consolidated Liberty
Global is included within the Directors’ Remuneration Report contained elsewhere in this annual report.

182



	Cover Page
	Table of Contents
	Strategic Report
	MD&A
	Overview
	Results of Operations
	Discussion and Analysis of our Reportable Segments
	General
	Revenue
	2018 vs 2017

	Adjusted EBITDA

	Discussion and Analysis of our Consolidated Operating Results
	2018 vs 2017

	Liquidity and Capital Resources

	Critical Accounting Policies
	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
	Risk Factors
	Strategic Report Sign off

	Directors' Report
	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	Directors' Responsibility
	KPMG Audit Report
	Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings
	Consolidated Statements of Equity
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	(1) Basis of Presentation
	(2) Recent Accounting Pronouncements
	(3) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
	(4) Revenue
	(5) Acquisitions
	(6) Discontinued Operations and Dutch JV Transaction
	(7) Long-lived Assets
	(8) Investments
	(9) Derivative Instruments
	(10) Fair Value Measurements
	(11) Income Taxes
	(12) Trade Receivables
	(13) Equity
	(14) Share-based Compensation
	(15) Debt and Finance Lease Obligations
	(16) Provisions
	(17) Employee Benefit Plans
	(18) Segment Reporting
	(19) Financial Risk Management
	(20) Commitments and Contingencies
	(21) Income and Expenses
	(22) Key Management Compensation
	(23) Finance Costs and Income
	(24) Other Comprehensive Earnings accumulated in Reserves
	(25) Reconciliation of Movements in Liabilities to Cash Flows from Financing Activities
	(26) Supplemental Companies Act Disclosures
	(27) List of Subsidiaries
	(28) Subsesquent Events


	PARENT ONLYS
	Parent Company Consolidated Financial Statements
	Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity
	PO (1) Basis of Presentation
	PO (2) Accounting Policies
	PO (3) Investments in Subsidiaries
	PO (4) Related Parties
	PO (5) Called Up Share Capital
	PO (6) Reserves
	PO (7) Debtors
	PO (8) Creditors
	PO (9) Long-lived Assets
	PO (10) Guarantees
	PO (11) Directors' Renumeration


